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PART I

This Annual Report (including all of its Parts) for Protein Design Labs, 
Inc. (PDL) includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 , as amended,  and Section 21E 
of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements 
other than statements of historical facts are "forward looking 
statements" for purposes of these provisions, including any projections 
of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any statements of the 
plans and objectives of management for future operations, any statements 
concerning proposed new products or services, any statements regarding 
future economic conditions or performance, and any statement of 
assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. In some cases, forward- 
looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as 
"may," "will," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," estimates," 
"potential," or "continue" or the negative thereof or other comparable 
terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the 
forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, there can be 
no assurance that such expectations or any of the forward-looking 
statements will prove to be correct, and actual results could differ 
materially from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking 
statements. Our future financial condition and results of operations, as 
well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to inherent risks 
and uncertainties, including but not limited to the risk factors set 
forth below, and for the reasons described elsewhere in this Annual 
Report. All forward-looking statements and reasons why results may 
differ included in this Annual Report are made as of the date hereof, 
and we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements 
or reasons why actual results might differ. 
 



As used in this Annual Report, the terms "we," "us," "our," the 
"Company" and "PDL" mean Protein Design Labs, Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(unless the context indicates a different meaning). 
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

     OVERVIEW 
 

PDL is a leader in the development of humanized monoclonal antibodies 
for the prevention and treatment of disease. We have licensed rights to 
our first humanized antibody product, Zenapax® (daclizumab) to Hoffmann- 
La Roche Inc. and its affiliates (Roche), which markets it in the U.S., 
Europe and other countries for the prevention of kidney transplant 
rejection. We are also testing Zenapax for the treatment of autoimmune 
disease. We have announced seven other humanized antibodies in clinical 
development for autoimmune and inflammatory conditions, transplantation 
and cancer. 
 

PDL has fundamental patents in the U.S., Europe and Japan, which we 
believe cover most humanized antibodies. To date we have licensed eleven 
companies under these patents for humanized antibodies that they have 
developed. We receive royalties on sales of the two humanized antibodies 
developed by other companies that are currently being marketed. 
 

During the past several years, there has been a resurgence of interest 
in the medical and commercial potential of monoclonal antibodies. The 
Food and Drug Administration has approved eight therapeutic antibodies, 
six of them in the last three years, with total sales in 1999 in excess 
of $1.0 billion. This resurgence has been made possible by the use of 
genetic engineering to create improved forms of antibodies. In 
particular, we developed and patented computer-aided technology to make 
"humanized" antibodies, which are antibodies that capture the benefits 
of traditional mouse-derived monoclonal antibodies while avoiding their 
limitations in treating humans. 
 

Three of the therapeutic antibodies approved for marketing by the FDA 
are humanized antibodies, and more than 30 other humanized antibodies 
are currently in clinical trials. These humanized antibodies address 
many large markets, including cancer, stroke, heart disease, asthma, and 
autoimmune diseases such as psoriasis, multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid 
arthritis. A number of these antibodies have entered or completed the 
later phases of clinical development and, depending on satisfactory 
clinical results, may reach the marketplace in the next few years. As 
discussed further below, many of these antibodies are licensed under our 
patents, or are being developed by our company. 
 

In addition, with the sequencing of the human genome nearly complete, 
large numbers of new, potentially important therapeutic targets are 
being identified. Humanized antibodies can be routinely and reliably 
developed against almost any cell surface or extracellular target. 
Hence, we believe that humanized antibodies will be a key part of the 
next generation of pharmaceutical products. 
 

In addition to our antibody-based product development programs, we have 
efforts underway to discover and develop novel antibiotics to treat 
microbial infections, including infections caused by some types of 
bacteria that have developed resistance to available antibiotics. This 
program includes identifying microbial genes that are expressed within 
the infected person and screening compounds that may be active against 
the genes or their products. 
 

Our objective is to leverage our product pipeline and patent portfolio 
in the field of antibodies to become a fully-integrated, profitable, 
research-based biopharmaceutical company. We derive revenues, and expect 
to derive revenues in the future, from three major sources: 
 

Sales of products we have developed. We receive royalties on sales of 
Zenapax by our licensee, Roche. We have announced seven other 



humanized antibodies in clinical development. We plan to market some 
of our products, once approved, in North America, especially for 
specialty markets such as cancer that we believe can be effectively 
serviced with a relatively small sales force. We may license 
marketing rights for some antibodies or some geographic areas to 
other pharmaceutical companies. 
 

Royalties from the sale of humanized antibodies developed by other 
companies. We license our patents covering humanized antibodies in 
return for license fees, annual maintenance payments and royalties on 
product sales. The two humanized antibodies currently approved by the 
FDA in addition to Zenapax are licensed under our patents, and we 
receive royalties on their sales. These antibodies are Herceptin® 
(trastuzumab) from Genentech, Inc. and Synagis® (palivizumab) from 
MedImmune, Inc., which had reported sales totaling approximately $480 
million in 1999. We have licensed nine other companies to date for 
humanized antibodies they are developing. 
 

Research and development contracts with other companies. We humanize 
antibodies for other companies in return for upfront fees, milestone 
payments and royalties on any product sales. In some cases we also 
receive the right to co-promote these products in designated 
territories. We also sometimes license out marketing rights to a 
humanized antibody that we are developing, and then typically receive 
upfront fees and milestone payments and/or research funding, in 
addition to royalties on any product sales by our licensee. 

Our patents for humanized antibodies are being opposed in patent office 
proceedings in Europe and Japan, and a successful challenge could limit 
our future revenues from licensing these patents. At an oral hearing in 
March 2000, the Opposition Division of the European Patent Office 
decided to revoke the broad claims in our first European patent 
pertaining generally to antibody humanization.  We plan to appeal this 
decision to the Technical Board of Appeals of the European Patent 
Office.  See "Risk Factors - Our humanization patents are being opposed 
and a successful challenge could limit our future revenues." 
 
 

     PRODUCTS IN DEVELOPMENT 
 

We are a leader in the development of therapeutic humanized antibodies. 
For example, we created Zenapax, the first humanized antibody approved 
for marketing in the U.S., Europe and other countries. We also have 
announced seven other humanized antibodies that are currently in 
clinical development. 
 

The following table summarizes the potential therapeutic applications, 
development status and commercial rights for our approved product and 
clinical product candidates and is qualified in its entirety by the more 
detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. The 
development and commercialization of our product candidates is subject 
to numerous risks and uncertainties. See "Risk Factors - If we cannot 
successfully complete our clinical trials, we will be unable to obtain 
regulatory approvals required to market our products." 
 

Antibody Product             Indication(s)                    Status 
- ---------------------------- -------------------------------  --------------------- 
Zenapax (1)                  Kidney transplant rejection      Marketed 
                             Psoriasis                        Phase II 
                             Uveitis                          Phase I/II 
 
SMARTTM M195                  Acute myeloid leukemia           Phase III 
 
SMART Anti-CD3               Transplantation                  Phase II (2) 
                             Psoriasis                        Phase I/II 
                             Graft-versus-host disease        Phase I 
 
SMART Anti-L-Selectin (3)    Trauma                           Phase IIa 
 
SMART 1D10                   Non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphoma    Phase I 
 
SMART Anti-E/P-Selectin      Stroke, asthma                   Phase I 
 



Humanized Anti-IL-4 (4)      Asthma                           Phase I 
 
SMART Anti-Gamma Interferon  Autoimmune diseases              Phase I 

(1)  Roche has marketing rights to Zenapax for transplantation. PDL and 
Roche share marketing rights for Zenapax's autoimmune indications. 

(2)  The U.S. Phase II clinical trials for kidney transplant rejection 
are currently on hold pending submission of additional data 
satisfactory to the FDA. 

(3)  Scil Biomedicals GmbH (Scil, formerly BioNet Pharma GmbH) has 
European development and marketing rights to the SMART Anti-L- 
Selectin Antibody and is conducting the Phase IIa trial. 

(4)  PDL licensed the humanized anti-IL-4 antibody from SmithKline 
Beecham Corporation, which can opt in after a specified Phase II 
trial and share development costs and profits from product sales. 

Zenapax. The FDA approved Zenapax in December 1997 for the prevention of 
kidney transplant rejection. It has since been approved in Europe and 
other countries. Zenapax was the first humanized antibody to be approved 
anywhere in the world. The Zenapax approvals are based on two Phase III 
clinical trials, both of which demonstrated that Zenapax-treated 
patients had a statistically significant reduction in acute rejection 
episodes compared to patients who did not receive Zenapax. Also, Zenapax 
treatment was not associated with any observed side effects in addition 
to those typically seen in the transplant setting. Our licensee Roche 
sells Zenapax in the U.S., Europe and other territories for the 
transplant indication and we receive royalties on Zenapax sales. 
 

Roche has sponsored or authorized several additional Zenapax clinical 
trials in other transplant settings, including liver transplants, 
pediatric kidney transplants, in combination with Roche's drug CellCept® 
with and without certain other immunosuppressive drugs in kidney 
transplants, and for the treatment of graft-versus-host disease in donor 
bone marrow transplants. Roche is currently conducting a Phase III trial 
in heart transplant patients. In addition, we are aware of numerous 
independent clinical studies using Zenapax in settings including heart, 
lung, pancreas and combined intestinal and liver transplants. 
 

Zenapax binds to the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor on immune system 
cells known as T cells. IL-2 is a lymphokine, one of the substances 
released by cells as part of the immune response that occurs in 
autoimmune diseases and often following organ transplants. IL-2 
stimulates T cells to divide and participate in an immune response. 
Zenapax blocks the binding of IL-2 to its receptor on T cells, 
suppressing an immune response by inhibiting the proliferation of 
activated T cells. 
 

Because of its specificity, Zenapax is the first effective 
immunosuppressive drug without significant side effects. For example, 
Zenapax is more specific and less toxic than other immunosuppressive 
drugs such as cyclosporine or ORTHOCLONE OKT®3 (OKT3) which suppress 
essentially all T cells and possibly other cells. As a result, we 
believe Zenapax may be useful for the long-term treatment of autoimmune 
diseases such as psoriasis and multiple sclerosis. 
 

In 1999, we reacquired from Roche specific development and marketing 
rights to Zenapax for autoimmune diseases. We will fund  costs of 
clinical trials for Zenapax in autoimimune diseases. In return, we have 
the right to market Zenapax for approved autoimmune indications in the 
U.S. and Canada, and will receive a major portion of the revenues from 
sales for these diseases. Roche will continue to manufacture Zenapax and 
pay for cost of goods from its share of the revenues. In Europe and 
other countries, Roche can elect to market Zenapax for approved 
autoimmune indications or to allow us to market it, and revenues will be 
shared. 
 

Zenapax is currently in two Phase II trials  in psoriasis, a common 
autoimmune disease of the skin. We plan to conduct additional trials in 
psoriasis and other autoimmune diseases. Also, in an early stage 
clinical trial in uveitis, an autoimmune disease of the eye, Zenapax was 



safely administered to patients for one year and was effective in 
controlling the disease in most patients, some of whom have continued to 
receive Zenapax for up to three years. 
 

SMART M195 Antibody. SMART M195 binds to the cancer cells of most 
patients with myeloid leukemias. Myeloid leukemia is the major type of 
adult leukemia. It is classified into two types: acute myeloid leukemia, 
or AML, and chronic myelogenous leukemia. At least 14,000 new cases of 
myeloid leukemia occur each year in the U.S., and 10,000 or more of 
these cases are AML. The current survival rate from myeloid leukemia is 
very low, despite aggressive chemotherapy and multiple, expensive 
hospitalizations. 
 

Several clinical trials using SMART M195 have been conducted. These 
include: 
 

a multicenter Phase II/III trial designed to evaluate the antibody 
for prolonging remission in AML patients; 

a Phase II trial to evaluate whether the antibody could induce 
remission in patients whose AML had relapsed; 

a physician-sponsored Phase II trial of the antibody in patients with 
newly diagnosed acute promyelocytic leukemia, a subtype of AML; and 

physician-sponsored trials using the antibody linked to the 
radioisotopes 90-Yttrium or 213-Bismuth. 

In general, these trials have demonstrated that SMART M195 has some 
biological activity and potential for efficacy.  In November 1999, we 
began a randomized, multicenter, international Phase III study of the 
antibody in patients with refractory or first-relapsed AML. Patients 
receive a regimen of either SMART M195 plus standard chemotherapy or 
standard chemotherapy alone. Up to 200 patients may be enrolled in the 
trial, which is designed to evaluate the frequency of complete remission 
and other endpoints. The study design also includes an interim analysis 
to be conducted by an independent data safety monitoring board after 60 
patients have completed treatment. If the interim results show either a 
highly favorable complete response rate among SMART M195-treated 
patients or a low probability of achieving statistical significance of 
the primary endpoint, the trial may be terminated. The trial also could 
be terminated if certain safety criteria are not met. 
 

In addition to the Phase III trial, in 1999 a Phase II trial began to 
test the safety and efficacy of SMART M195 in patients with high risk 
myelodysplastic syndrome, a precancerous condition. The study is being 
conducted by the European Organization for the Research and Treatment of 
Cancer. 
 

We originally granted exclusive development and marketing rights to 
SMART M195 in Asia to Kanebo, Ltd. In 1999, these rights were assigned 
to Nippon Organon K.K.  Nippon Organon recently returned these rights to 
us. 
 

SMART Anti-CD3 Antibody. We are developing this antibody for the 
treatment of autoimmune diseases and for transplantation. It binds to 
the CD3 antigen, a key receptor for stimulating T cells. A mouse anti- 
CD3 antibody, OKT3, from Johnson & Johnson, is marketed for the 
treatment of acute kidney, liver and heart transplant rejection. While 
highly effective, OKT3 use is often limited by serious toxicity as well 
as formation of anti-OKT3 antibodies because it is a mouse antibody. In 
contrast,  SMART Anti-CD3 is humanized and also has been specifically 
engineered to reduce certain immune system interactions that we believe 
contribute to the toxicity of OKT3. 
 

Although both SMART Anti-CD3 and Zenapax may target some of the same 
diseases, we believe they may have complementary roles in medical 
treatment. SMART Anti-CD3 may be more potent than Zenapax, but may not 
be suitable for chronic administration, so it may be most useful to 
treat acute episodes of autoimmune disease and to induce remissions. 



Zenapax may be useful to maintain the remissions for longer periods. 
 

SMART Anti-CD3 is currently in clinical development for psoriasis, 
transplant rejection and graft-versus-host disease. In December 1999, 
the FDA placed a clinical hold on all U.S. clinical trials for kidney 
transplant indications until it could evaluate additional data from us. 
We have  provided additional data to the FDA and are in the process of 
determining what further data is required by the FDA. The clinical 
trials in psoriasis and graft-versus-host disease are not affected by 
this clinical hold and are continuing to enroll patients. 
 

We have retained worldwide rights to SMART Anti-CD3. 
 

SMART Anti-L-Selectin Antibody. This antibody inhibits the process of 
neutrophil binding to the lining of blood vessels. It may be useful for 
preventing multiple organ failure and mortality that often follows 
severe injury. In primate studies carried out by independent 
investigators, SMART Anti-L-Selectin treatment resulted in a 
statistically significant improvement in survival in a model that 
simulates severe trauma. We believe this antibody also may be useful to 
treat adult respiratory distress syndrome and reperfusion injury due to 
heart attacks. 
 

In May 1999, we licensed European marketing rights for this antibody to 
Scil, a privately held European biotechnology company. Scil paid us a 
licensing fee and agreed to conduct and pay for clinical trials in 
Europe and to provide us with the data; in return, we are making 
milestone payments to Scil, at our election, on the achievement of 
defined clinical and regulatory goals. Scil has completed a Phase I 
trial of  SMART Anti-L-Selectin and is now conducting a Phase IIa trial 
for treatment of trauma. If the results from that Phase IIa trial are 
encouraging, we may initiate clinical development in the U.S. 
 

SMART 1D10 Antibody. The National Cancer Institute is sponsoring a Phase 
I trial of this antibody for non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphoma. If the 
results of the Phase I trial are sufficiently encouraging, we plan to 
conduct a potentially pivotal Phase II trial. 
 

SMART 1D10 targets an antigen present on B cells in many patients with 
non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphoma, which is a different target on B cells 
than that targeted by either Rituxanr, the antibody currently marketed 
for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, or Bexaarr, an antibody in clinical 
development for the same condition. As a result, we believe SMART 1D10 
may provide an alternative or complementary therapy. In the U.S. and 
Europe, approximately 560,000 patients have this disease, and 100,000 
new cases occur annually. 
 

We have retained worldwide rights to SMART 1D10. 
 

Humanized Anti-IL-4 Antibody. This antibody blocks the effects of 
interleukin 4, which is believed to play a key role in initiating the 
series of biological  processes that lead to allergy and asthma. We 
licensed this antibody from SmithKline Beecham (SB) in September 1999. 
SB had begun a Phase I trial of this antibody, which we have 
reinitiated. If Phase I is successfully completed, we then plan to 
conduct a Phase II trial in asthma patients. We will conduct and pay for 
initial clinical trials of the antibody and pay SB to manufacture the 
antibody. SB has agreed to make milestone payments to us upon the 
achievement of specified clinical goals. At the completion of a 
specified Phase II trial, SB may choose to pay us an "opt-in" fee. In 
that case, PDL and SB will share future development costs and profits 
from any product sales. If SB elects not to opt in, we will have the 
right to develop and market the antibody. 
 

SMART Anti-Gamma Interferon Antibody.  This antibody targets gamma 
interferon, a protein that stimulates several types of white blood cells 
and that may be involved in some autoimmune diseases. In February 2000, 
we began a Phase I trial of SMART Anti-Gamma Interferon in normal 
volunteers. In the future, we may initiate clinical trials in one or 
more autoimmune diseases, particularly Crohn's disease. 
 

We have retained worldwide rights to SMART Anti-Gamma Interferon. 
 



SMART Anti-E/P-Selectin Antibody. This antibody targets substances on 
the inside of blood vessels that may be involved in inflammation. We 
have completed a Phase I trial of  SMART Anti-E/P-Selectin in healthy 
volunteers which showed that the antibody is safe in a range of doses. 
 

We have retained worldwide rights to SMART Anti-E/P-Selectin and are 
seeking a partner for its further development. 
 

     PDL TECHNOLOGIES 
 

ANTIBODY BACKGROUND INFORMATION.  Antibodies are protective proteins 
released by the immune system's B cells, a type of white blood cell, in 
response to the presence of a foreign substance in the body, such as a 
virus, or due to an aberrant autoimmune response. B cells produce 
millions of different kinds of antibodies, which have slightly different 
shapes that enable them to bind and, as a result, inactivate different 
targets. Antibodies that have identical molecular structure that bind to 
a specific target are called monoclonal antibodies. 
 

Typically, mice have been used to produce monoclonal antibodies to a 
wide range of targets, including targets to which the human body does 
not normally produce antibodies. Specifically, many mouse, or murine, 
antibodies have been developed as potential therapeutics to inhibit 
immune function, destroy cancer cells or neutralize viruses. 
 

Although murine monoclonal antibodies are relatively easy to generate, 
they have significant drawbacks as therapeutics. Murine antibodies have 
a relatively short half-life in human patients, requiring them to be 
administered frequently. In addition, murine antibodies are not adapted 
to work effectively with the human immune system and therefore often 
have limited ability to destroy the target, such as cancer cells. Most 
importantly, when injected into humans, a murine antibody is usually 
recognized by the body's immune system as foreign. The immune system 
therefore responds with a human anti-mouse antibody, or HAMA, response, 
which rapidly neutralizes the murine antibody and renders it ineffective 
for further therapy. These problems have largely prevented murine 
antibodies from fulfilling their promise as therapeutics. 
 

More recently, improved forms of antibodies, such as humanized, human 
and chimeric antibodies, have been developed using recombinant DNA and 
other technologies. These new antibodies can minimize or avoid many of 
the problems associated with murine antibodies and have led to a 
resurgence of interest in antibody therapeutics by the pharmaceutical 
and biotechnology industries. As a result of these advances, many 
monoclonal antibodies are now progressing into clinical trials.  In a 
list of biotechnology medicines under clinical development in the U.S. 
published in 1998 by the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of 
America, antibodies comprised the single largest category (excluding 
vaccines), representing 74 of 350 products listed. In particular, PDL is 
aware of more than 30 humanized antibodies in clinical trials, including 
several antibodies addressing large markets that are being developed by 
major pharmaceutical companies. Seven humanized or chimeric antibodies 
have already been approved for marketing by the FDA, and generated more 
than $1.0 billion in revenues in 1999. 
 

OUR  SMART ANTIBODY TECHNOLOGY.  Our patented SMART antibody technology 
has positioned us as a leader in the development of therapeutic 
antibodies that overcome the problems associated with murine antibodies. 
Our SMART antibodies are human-like antibodies designed using structural 
information from promising murine antibodies to capture the benefits of 
those antibodies while overcoming many of their limitations in 
treating humans. Clinical trials and preclinical studies have shown that 
our SMART antibodies generally avoid a HAMA response and have a longer 
half-life than murine antibodies. 
 

Every antibody contains two regions: a variable domain that binds to 
the target antigen and a constant domain that interacts with other 
portions of the immune system. The variable domain is composed of the 
complementarity determining regions (CDRs) that directly bind to the 
target antigen and the framework region that holds the CDRs in position 
and helps maintain their required shape.  Researchers have used genetic 
engineering to construct "humanized" antibodies that consist of the CDRs 
from a murine antibody with the framework region and constant domain 
from a human antibody. However, when the CDRs from the murine antibody 



are combined with the framework of the human antibody, the human 
framework often distorts the shape of the CDRs so they no longer bind 
well to the target. Therefore, it is usually necessary to substitute one 
or more amino acids from the murine antibody into the framework of the 
humanized antibody for it to maintain the binding ability of the murine 
antibody. 
 

A SMART antibody is a humanized antibody designed by using 
our proprietary computer technology to guide the choice of substitutions 
of amino acids from the murine antibody into the human antibody 
framework, based on structural information derived from the murine 
antibody. The construction of a SMART antibody starts with the 
identification of a murine antibody that has demonstrated favorable 
results in laboratory, animal or human studies. A model of the murine 
antibody is generated using proprietary computer modeling software that 
predicts the shapes of antibodies and eliminates the need for more time- 
consuming laboratory techniques. The resulting model is carefully 
analyzed to identify the few key amino acids in the framework most 
responsible for maintaining the shape of the CDRs. Software we developed 
as well as the experience of our computational chemists is important in 
this analysis. These few key murine amino acids are substituted into the 
human framework of the SMART antibody along with the murine CDRs in 
order to maintain their ability to bind well to the target. The 
resulting SMART antibody retains most or all of the binding ability of 
the murine antibody, but is about 90% human. 
 

We have been issued patents in the  U.S., Europe and Japan which we 
believe cover many or most humanized antibodies. Some of these patents 
also cover other aspects of PDL's SMART antibody technology. We have 
filed similar patent applications in other countries. 
 

Our patents for humanized antibodies are being opposed in patent office 
proceedings in Europe and Japan, and a successful challenge could limit 
our future revenues from licensing these patents. At an oral hearing in 
March 2000, the Opposition Division of the European Patent Office 
decided to revoke the broad claims in our first European patent 
pertaining generally to antibody humanization.  We plan to appeal this 
decision to the Technical Board of Appeals of the European Patent 
Office.  See "Risk Factors - Our humanization patents are being opposed 
and a successful challenge could limit our future revenues." 
 

OUR OTHER  TECHNOLOGIES.  In addition to our SMART antibody technology, 
we use additional antibody-based drug development technologies to 
overcome shortcomings of murine antibodies. We also are pursuing a 
program to discover novel antibiotics and a rational drug design program 
that leverages our computer expertise to potentially develop new drug 
candidates. 
 

Novel Antibiotics.  We have a research program underway to discover and 
develop new antibiotics for the treatment of certain microbial 
infections, including infections caused by microbes that have developed 
resistance to available antibiotics. This program uses technology to 
identify microbial genes that are differentially expressed when microbes 
infect a host. These microbial genes and their products could be 
potential targets for novel antibiotics, which we may identify by high 
throughput screening and medicinal chemistry. We anticipate that aspects 
of this work will be conducted by our corporate partners. We have 
entered into a collaborative agreement with Eli Lilly & Company (Lilly), 
under which Lilly will receive rights to products generated under this 
research program involving seven specific types of bacteria. 
 

Rational Drug Design.  We are pursuing a rational drug design 
program focusing on small molecules by extending our computer modeling 
tools originally developed for the SMART antibody program. Rational drug 
design uses computer models of proteins and their interactions with 
smaller molecules to accelerate discovery and optimization of new 
drug compounds. Although our technology is at an early stage, we 
believe that this application of our modeling algorithms may ultimately 
be used to develop non-antibody, small-molecule drug candidates. For 
that purpose, we have initiated a program in medicinal and combinatorial 
chemistry. 
 

     BUSINESS STRATEGY 
 



We actively seek collaborative relationships and licensing agreements 
with other companies. In many cases, the breadth of our antibody 
technology and our patent position are key assets in attracting 
companies to enter into agreements with us. These types of 
collaborations include: 
 

We license certain marketing rights to antibodies we have developed 
in exchange for a licensing and signing fee, research funding and 
milestone payments, and royalties on any product sales. Our 
relationships with Roche for Zenapax and Scil for the SMART Anti-L- 
Selectin Antibody are examples of this type of collaboration. 
 

We use our proprietary technology to develop a SMART antibody based 
on a promising mouse antibody provided by another company. In these 
arrangements, we typically receive a licensing and signing fee and 
other payments, royalties on any product sales and, in some cases, an 
option to co-promote the antibody in North America. Our 
collaborations with Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. for an antibody 
to treat inflammatory and immunologically-based diseases and with 
Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for an antibody to treat HIV 
infection are examples of this type of arrangement. 
 

We license our humanized antibody patent rights to companies that 
have independently developed humanized antibodies in exchange for 
licensing and signing fees, royalties on any product sales and, in 
some cases, milestone payments. Our agreements with MedImmune for 
Synagis, with Genentech for Herceptin and with a subsidiary of Elan 
Pharmaceuticals plc for Antegren are examples of this type of patent 
license arrangement. 
 

 
 
Our objective is to leverage our product pipeline and patent portfolio 
in the field of antibodies to become a fully-integrated, profitable, 
research-based pharmaceutical company. We derive revenues, and expect to 
derive revenues in the future, from sales of products we have developed 
and are developing, royalties from sales of humanized antibodies 
developed by other companies, and research and development contracts 
with other companies. 
 
We have entered into numerous arrangements with pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies based on our own antibodies or technologies, our 
expertise in antibody humanization and/or our antibody humanization 
patents. 
 

     COLLABORATIVE, HUMANIZATION AND PATENT LICENSING ARRANGEMENTS 
 

     Collaborative Arrangements. 
 

Roche.  In 1989, we entered into agreements with Roche to collaborate on 
the research and development of antibodies which bind to the IL-2 
receptor, including Zenapax. Under these agreements, Roche had 
exclusive, worldwide rights to manufacture, market and sell Zenapax. We 
began receiving royalties on sales of Zenapax in 1998. Royalties due to 
us are subject to certain offsets for milestones, third party license 
fees and royalties and patent expenses paid by Roche. 
 

In October 1999, Roche and PDL replaced the 1989 agreements with new 
agreements under which we assumed worldwide responsibility for the 
clinical development of Zenapax for the potential treatment of 
autoimmune diseases. Roche retained exclusive worldwide rights to 
Zenapax for non-autoimmune diseases and is continuing to market Zenapax 
for the prevention of kidney transplant rejection. In return for 
undertaking clinical development in autoimmune indications, we will 
receive a significant share of Zenapax revenues from sales for 
autoimmune indications, either from our own marketing efforts or from 
revenue sharing with Roche. 
 



In the U.S. and Canada, we will have the right to market  Zenapax in 
autoimmune indications and will pay for these activities from our share 
of revenues. Outside the U.S. and Canada, Roche may choose to market 
Zenapax in autoimmune indications. In this case, we will receive a 
substantial portion of Zenapax revenue from these indications.  For 
countries and indications for which Roche elects not to market, we will 
receive an exclusive license to market Zenapax and pay Roche a small 
royalty. 
 

Lilly.  In December 1997, we signed a collaborative agreement with Lilly 
to discover and develop new small molecule drugs for the treatment of 
certain infections, including those caused by organisms that are 
resistant to available antibiotics. The agreement involves a program to 
identify microbial genes that are differentially expressed when an 
infectious agent, such as a bacteria, infects a host. 
 

We received an initial $3.0 million payment under the agreement and have 
received ongoing research funding which could total up to $9.6 million 
over five years, unless the agreement is terminated earlier. We also may 
receive milestone payments for identification of gene targets and for 
each compound selected for development by Lilly. Lilly will receive 
exclusive worldwide rights to gene targets and human pharmaceutical and 
related diagnostic products generated under the research program 
directed to seven specific types of bacteria. We are entitled to 
royalties on any product sales, and Lilly and PDL have agreed to 
negotiate co-promotion rights in the U.S. and Canada. In addition, under 
certain conditions, we will have an option to develop compounds 
identified through the collaboration. 
 

Nippon Organon/Kanebo.  In February 1992, PDL and Kanebo entered into a 
product licensing agreement whereby Kanebo received an exclusive license 
to the SMART M195 Antibody for therapeutic uses in certain Asian 
countries, including Japan, in exchange for a licensing and signing fee, 
research funding, milestone payments and royalties on product sales, if 
any. In 1999, in connection with the transfer of Kanebo's research 
efforts in this area to the pharmaceutical division of Akzo Nobel N.V., 
Kanebo's rights under this agreement were assigned to Nippon Organon. In 
January 2000, Nippon Organon relinquished its rights to this antibody. 
 

Scil. In March 1999, we entered into an agreement with Scil for rights 
to develop and market the SMART Anti-L-Selectin Antibody in Europe. Scil 
paid us a $3.0 million signing and licensing fee for these rights, and 
PDL will be entitled to royalties on any product sales. We agreed to 
make milestone payments to Scil, at our election, upon the achievement 
of specified clinical and regulatory goals. 
 

SmithKline Beecham. In September 1999, we signed agreements with SB 
involving two humanized antibodies for the possible treatment of asthma. 
We obtained a license to SB's humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and granted 
an exclusive license under our antibody humanization patents to SB for 
its humanized anti-IL-5 antibody. We are completing the Phase I clinical 
program for the humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and plan to conduct Phase 
II trials in asthma patients. We will be entitled to exclusive, 
worldwide development, marketing and sales rights to the anti-IL-4 
antibody unless SB pays an opt-in fee at the end of a specified Phase II 
trial. If SB decides to participate in the further development of the 
antibody, we will share future development costs and profits at a pre- 
agreed ratio. We also may receive certain co-promotion rights in the 
U.S. 
 

     Humanization and Patent Licensing Arrangements. 
 

Yamanouchi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd..  In February 1991, we entered into 
an agreement with Yamanouchi to humanize a mouse anti-platelet (anti- 
gpIIb/IIIa) antibody developed by Yamanouchi for cardiovascular 
disorders. Yamanouchi is conducting a Phase II clinical trial with the 
antibody we humanized for them. Yamanouchi has exclusive, worldwide 
rights to the antibody and is responsible for all development 
activities. We have received milestone payments and will be entitled to 
royalties on any sales of the antibody. 
 

Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd . In December 1995, we entered into an 
agreement with Mochida to humanize a mouse antibody for use in 
infectious disease.  We received a licensing and signing fee and 



milestone payments and can earn royalties on any product sales. In 
addition, we have an option to co-promote the antibody in North America. 
 

Toagosei Co., Ltd.  In September 1996, we entered into an agreement with 
Toagosei to humanize a mouse antibody for treating cancer. We received a 
licensing and signing fee and milestone payments and can earn royalties 
on any product sales. In 1997, Toagosei made a $2.0 million private 
equity investment in our company. 
 

Genetics Institute, Inc.  In December 1996, we entered into an agreement 
with Genetics Institute, now a wholly-owned subsidiary of American Home 
Products Corporation, to initially humanize three mouse antibodies that 
regulate an immune system pathway. To date, we have received a $2.5 
million licensing and signing fee and three milestone payments.  We are 
entitled to royalties on any product sales. We also received an option 
to co-promote the products in North America under certain conditions. 
 

Teijin Limited.  In March 1997, we entered into an agreement with Teijin 
to humanize a mouse antibody to a toxin produced by the E. coli O157 
bacteria that can cause serious illness or death from the consumption of 
contaminated food. We have received a licensing and signing fee and 
milestone payment and are entitled to royalties on any product sales. 
 

Ajinomoto Co., Inc. In July 1997, we entered into an agreement with 
Ajinomoto to humanize a mouse antibody directed at cardiovascular 
conditions. We have received a licensing and signing fee and milestone 
payments and are entitled to royalties on any product sales. In 
addition, we received certain rights to obtain co-promotion rights to 
the antibody in North America. 
 

Genentech.  In September 1998, we entered into an agreement covering 
certain patent rights under our humanization patents and under Genentech 
patents relating to antibody engineering. Genentech paid us a $6.0 
million fee, and we paid Genentech a $1.0 million fee. Each company can 
obtain up to six licenses for humanized antibodies upon payment of an 
additional fee of at least $1.0 million per antibody, as well as 
royalties on any product sales. The number of licensed antibodies may be 
increased and the term of the agreement extended upon payment of 
additional fees. In November 1998, Genentech exercised certain of its 
rights under the agreement and obtained a nonexclusive license for 
Herceptin. Genentech paid us a $1.0 million licensing and signing fee 
and we currently receive royalties on Herceptin sales. 
 

Progenics. In April 1999, we entered into an agreement to humanize PRO 
140, Progenic's novel anti-CCR5 monoclonal antibody that inhibits HIV 
replication in the laboratory. Progenics paid us a licensing and signing 
fee and has agreed to make additional payments upon the achievement of 
certain milestones and to pay royalties on any sales of the antibody. 
 

Fujisawa. In June 1999, we entered into a research agreement with 
Fujisawa to engineer certain antibodies targeted to the treatment of 
inflammatory and immunologically-based disorders. The engineering 
included the use of PDL's patented modification of the constant region 
of certain types of antibodies. In February 2000, we entered into an 
agreement to humanize one of these antibodies. Fujisawa paid us a $1.5 
million licensing and signing fee. We  are entitled to receive milestone 
payments, annual maintenance fees and royalties on any product sales. 
 

Celltech Chiroscience plc. In December 1999, we entered into a patent 
rights agreement with Celltech covering certain patents relating to 
humanized monoclonal antibodies. Under the agreement, Celltech paid us a 
$3.0 million fee for the right to obtain worldwide licenses under our 
antibody humanization patents for up to three Celltech antibodies. We 
paid Celltech an undisclosed fee for the right to obtain worldwide 
licenses under Celltech's antibody humanization patent for up to three 
PDL antibodies. When a license is taken by either company, the other 
will be entitled to an additional license fee. Each company will pay 
royalties to the other on any sales of licensed antibodies. 
 

Other Patent License Agreements.  We have entered into patent license 
agreements with a number of other companies that are independently 
developing humanized antibodies. In each license agreement, we granted a 
worldwide, exclusive or nonexclusive license under our patents to the 
other company for an antibody to a specific target antigen. In general, 



we received a licensing and signing fee and the right to receive annual 
maintenance fees and royalties on any product sales. Under some of these 
agreements, we also may receive milestone payments. In addition to 
Herceptin, we receive royalties on sales of Synagis, an antibody 
developed by MedImmune which is currently marketed in the U.S. and 
Europe. In addition to Genentech and MedImmune we have entered into 
patent license agreements since November 1996 with these companies: 
Sankyo Co., Ltd., Biogen, Inc., IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation, NeoRx 
Corporation, Elan, Tanox, Inc., Medarex, Inc., SmithKline Beecham and a 
pharmaceutical company whose identity has not been disclosed. 
 

For a discussion of certain risks related to our collaborative, 
humanization and patent licensing arrangements, see "Risk Factors  - Our 
humanization patents are being opposed and a successful challenge could 
limit our future revenues; If our collaborations are not successful, we 
may not be able to effectively develop and market some of our products."  
 

     MANUFACTURING 
 

PDL leases approximately 47,000 square feet of manufacturing, laboratory 
and office space in Plymouth, Minnesota. Our lease will terminate on 
February 29, 2004, subject to our options to extend the lease for two 
additional five year terms. Although these facilities are sufficient for 
our present manufacturing operations, we believe that we may have to 
obtain additional manufacturing space in the future and may lease or 
acquire additional space as required. 
 

Of the products that we currently have in clinical development, Roche is 
responsible for manufacturing Zenapax, SmithKline Beecham is responsible 
for manufacturing the humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and Scil is 
responsible for manufacturing the SMART Anti-L-Selectin Antibody. We are 
responsible for manufacturing our other products for our own 
development. We intend to continue to manufacture potential products for 
use in preclinical and clinical trials using our manufacturing facility 
in accordance with standard procedures that comply with appropriate 
regulatory standards. 
 

The manufacture of sufficient quantities of antibody products that 
comply with these standards is an expensive, time-consuming and complex 
process and is subject to a number of risks that could result in delays. 
See "Risk Factors - Manufacturing difficulties could delay 
commercialization of our products; Manufacturing changes may result in 
delays in obtaining regulatory approval or marketing for our products; 
Our business may be harmed if we cannot obtain sufficient quantities of 
raw materials."  
 

     PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY 
 

Our success depends significantly on our ability to obtain and maintain 
patent protection for our products and technologies, to preserve our 
trade secrets and to operate without infringing on the proprietary 
rights of third parties. While we file and prosecute patent applications 
to protect our inventions, our pending patent applications may not 
result in the issuance of valid patents or our issued patents may not 
provide competitive advantages. Also, our patent protection may not 
prevent others from developing competitive products using related or 
other technology. 
 

A number of companies, universities and research institutions have filed 
patent applications or received patents in the areas of antibodies and 
other fields relating to our programs. Some of these applications or 
patents may be competitive with our applications or contain material 
which could prevent the issuance of patents to us or result in a 
significant reduction in the scope of our issued patents. 
 

The scope, enforceability and effective term of patents issued to 
companies, universities and research institutions  can be highly 
uncertain and often involve complex legal and factual questions. No 
consistent policy has emerged regarding the breadth of claims in 
biotechnology patents, so that even issued patents may later be modified 
or revoked by the relevant patent authorities or courts. Moreover, the 
issuance of a patent in one country does not assure the issuance of a 
patent with similar claims in another country, and claim interpretation 
and infringement laws vary among countries, so we are unable to predict 



the extent of any patent protection in different countries. 
 

We have been issued patents in the  U.S., Europe and Japan which we 
believe cover many or most humanized antibodies. Some of these patents 
also cover other aspects of PDL's SMART antibody technology. We have 
filed similar patent applications in other countries. 
 

PDL's two humanization patents issued by the European Patent Office 
(EPO) apply in the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Italy and eight 
other European countries. The EPO procedures provide for an opposition 
period in which other parties may submit arguments as to why a patent 
was incorrectly granted and should be withdrawn or limited. Eighteen 
notices of opposition to our first European patent were filed during the 
opposition period for the patent, including oppositions by major 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies  At an oral hearing in March 
2000, the Opposition Division (OD) of the EPO decided to revoke the 
broad claims in our first European patent based on formal matters of 
European patent law, specifically that there had been an impermissible 
addition of subject matter after the filing of the original European 
patent application, but did not provide the rationale behind its 
decision. The decision upheld claims that protect Zenapax.   The OD did 
not otherwise announce a decision on the issue of whether the claims in 
our patent are inventive in light of the prior art or other issues of 
patentability. We plan to appeal the OD's decision to the Technical 
Board of Appeals at the EPO.  The Technical Board of Appeals will 
consider all issues anew.  The appeal suspends the decision of the OD 
during the appeals process, which is likely to take several years. 
 

Until our appeal regarding our first European patent is resolved, we may 
be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate future 
licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based 
on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if our appeal is 
unsuccessful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of 
antibodies humanized by others would depend on the scope and validity of 
our second European patent, whether the antibodies are manufactured in a 
country outside of Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, 
and in that case the terms of our license agreements with respect to 
that situation. Also, the OD's decision could encourage challenges of 
our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the U.S. The OD's 
decision may lead some of our licensees to stop making royalty payments 
or lead potential licensees not to take a license, which might result in 
us initiating formal legal actions to enforce our rights under our 
various humanization patents.  In such a situation, a likely defensive 
strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that 
jurisdiction.   During the appeals process with respect to our first 
European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action to 
enforce that patent, such an action would likely be stayed until the 
appeal is decided by the EPO. We have no assurance that we will 
successfully enforce our rights under our European or related U.S. and 
Japanese patents. The nine month opposition period for our second 
European antibody humanization patent ends in May 2000, and we expect 
that a significant number of notices of opposition will be filed with 
respect to this patent. We have also been advised that three opposition 
statements have been filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect 
to our humanization patent issued in Japan in late 1998. 
 

We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese 
patent in these proceedings; however, we may not prevail in the 
opposition proceedings or any litigation contesting the validity of 
these patents. If our appeal with respect to our first European patent 
is unsuccessful or if the outcome of the other European or Japanese 
opposition proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody 
humanization patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect 
royalties on existing licensed products and to license our patents 
relating to humanized antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, 
these proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual 
property rights or defend against infringement claims by others, could 
result in substantial costs and diversion of management's time and 
attention, which could materially harm our business and financial 
condition. 
 

Other companies, universities and research institutions may obtain 
patents that could limit our ability to use, import, manufacture, market 
or sell our products or impair our competitive position. As a result, we 
might be required to obtain licenses from others before we could 
continue using, importing, manufacturing, marketing, or selling our 
products. We may not be able to obtain required licenses on terms 



acceptable to us, if at all. If we do not obtain required licenses, we 
may encounter significant delays in product development while we 
redesign potentially infringing products or methods or may not be able 
to market our products at all.   For a discussion of certain risks 
related to competition with our patents and proprietary technology, see 
"Risk Factors - We may require additional patent licenses in order to 
manufacture or sell our potential products." 
 

In addition to seeking the protection of patents and licenses, we also 
rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological 
innovation which we seek to protect, in part, by confidentiality 
agreements with employees, consultants, suppliers and licensees. If 
these agreements are not honored, we might not have adequate remedies 
for any breach. Additionally, our trade secrets might otherwise become 
known or patented by our competitors. 
 

     GOVERNMENT REGULATION 
 

The manufacturing, testing and marketing of our products are subject to 
regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the U.S. and other 
countries. In the U.S., pharmaceutical products are subject to rigorous 
FDA regulation. Additionally, other federal, state and local regulations 
govern the manufacture, testing, clinical and nonclinical studies to 
assess safety and efficacy, approval, advertising and promotion of 
pharmaceutical products. The process of obtaining approval for a new 
pharmaceutical product or for additional therapeutic indications within 
this regulatory framework requires a number of years and the expenditure 
of substantial resources. Companies in the pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology industries, including us, have suffered significant 
setbacks in various stages of clinical trials, even in advanced clinical 
trials after promising results had been obtained in earlier trials. 
 

In addition to the requirement for FDA approval of each pharmaceutical 
product, each pharmaceutical product manufacturing facility must be 
registered with, and approved by, the FDA. The manufacturing and quality 
control procedures must conform to rigorous guidelines in order to 
receive FDA approval. Pharmaceutical product manufacturing 
establishments are subject to inspections by the FDA and local 
authorities as well as inspections by authorities of other countries. To 
supply pharmaceutical products for use in the U.S., foreign 
manufacturing establishments must comply with these FDA approved 
guidelines. These foreign manufacturing establishments are subject to 
periodic inspection by the FDA or by corresponding regulatory agencies 
in these countries under reciprocal agreements with the FDA. Moreover, 
pharmaceutical product manufacturing facilities may also be regulated by 
state, local and other authorities. 
 

For marketing of pharmaceutical products outside the U.S., we and our 
collaborative partners are subject to foreign regulatory requirements 
and, if the particular product is manufactured in the U.S., FDA and 
other U.S. export provisions. Requirements relating to the 
manufacturing, conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, promotion, 
pricing and reimbursement vary widely in different countries. 
Difficulties or unanticipated costs or price controls may be encountered 
by us or our licensees or marketing partners in our respective efforts 
to secure necessary governmental approvals. This could delay or prevent 
us or our licensees or our marketing partners from marketing potential 
pharmaceutical products. 
 

Both before and after approval is obtained, a pharmaceutical product, 
its manufacturer and the holder of the Biologics License Application 
(BLA) for the pharmaceutical product are subject to comprehensive 
regulatory oversight. The FDA may deny a BLA if applicable regulatory 
criteria are not satisfied. Moreover, even if regulatory approval is 
granted, such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated 
uses for which the pharmaceutical product may be marketed. Further, 
marketing approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory 
standards is not maintained or if problems with the pharmaceutical 
product occur following approval. In addition, under a BLA, the 
manufacturer continues to be subject to facility inspection and the 
applicant must assume responsibility for compliance with applicable 
pharmaceutical product and establishment standards. Violations of 
regulatory requirements at any stage may result in various adverse 
consequences, which may include, among other adverse actions, withdrawal 
of the previously approved pharmaceutical product or marketing approvals 
and/or the imposition of criminal penalties against the manufacturer 



and/or BLA holders. 
 

     COMPETITION 
 

We are aware that potential competitors have developed and are 
developing human and humanized antibodies or other compounds for 
treating autoimmune diseases, transplantation, inflammatory conditions 
and cancers. In addition, a number of academic and commercial 
organizations are actively pursuing similar technologies, and several 
companies have developed or may develop technologies that may compete 
with our SMART antibody technology. Competitors may succeed in more 
rapidly developing and marketing technologies and products that are more 
effective than our products or that would render our products or 
technology obsolete or noncompetitive. Our collaborative partners may 
also independently develop products that are competitive with products 
that we have licensed to them. This could reduce our revenues under our 
agreements with these partners. 
 

Any product that we or our collaborative partners succeed in developing 
and for which regulatory approval is obtained must then compete for 
market acceptance and market share. The relative speed with which we and 
our collaborative partners can develop products, complete the clinical 
testing and approval processes, and supply commercial quantities of the 
products to the market compared to competitive companies will affect 
market success. For example, Novartis, which has a significant marketing 
and sales force directed to the transplantation market, has received 
approval to market Simulect®, a product competitive with Zenapax, in the 
U.S. and Europe. Since Novartis launched Simulect in the European Union 
earlier than Roche, Zenapax may have a smaller market share than 
Simulect and other available products. 
 

Other competitive factors include: 
 

the capabilities of our collaborative partners 
 

product efficacy and safety 
 

timing and scope of regulatory approval 
 

product availability, marketing and sales capabilities 
 

reimbursement coverage 
 

the amount of clinical benefit of our products relative to their cost 
 

method of and frequency of administration of our products 
 

price of our products, and 
 

patent protection of our products. 

     HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

As of December 31, 1999, we had 284 full-time employees.  Of the total, 
100 employees were engaged in research and development, 50 in quality 
assurance and compliance, 52 in clinical and regulatory, 38 in 
manufacturing and 44 in general and administrative functions. Our 
scientific staff members have diversified experience and expertise in 
molecular and cell biology, biochemistry, virology, immunology, protein 
chemistry, computational chemistry and computer modeling. Our success 
will depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain skilled 
and experienced employees. None of our employees are covered by a 
collective bargaining agreement, and we consider our relations with our 



employees to be good. 
 

     ENVIRONMENT 
 

We seek to comply with environmental statutes and the regulations of 
federal, state and local governmental agencies. We have put into place 
processes and procedures and maintain records in order to monitor 
environmental compliance. We may invest additional resources, if 
required, to comply with applicable regulations, and the cost of such 
compliance may increase significantly. 
 

     RISK FACTORS 
 

We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve profitability.

Our expenses have generally exceeded revenues. As of December 31, 1999, 
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $79.2 million. We believe 
that our losses may increase because of the extensive resource 
commitments required to achieve regulatory approval and commercial 
success for any individual product. For example, over the next several 
years, we will incur substantial additional expenses as we continue to 
develop and manufacture our potential products, invest in new research 
areas and improve and expand our manufacturing capabilities. Since we or 
our collaborative partners or licensees may not be able to successfully 
develop additional products, obtain required regulatory approvals, 
manufacture products at an acceptable cost and with appropriate quality, 
or successfully market such products with desired margins, we may never 
achieve profitable operations. The amount of net losses and the time 
required to reach sustained profitability are highly uncertain. We 
cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve or sustain 
profitability. 
 

Our commitment of resources to the development of Zenapax and the 
humanized anti-IL-4 antibody, two humanized antibodies with respect to 
which we recently obtained development rights, taken together with the 
continued development of our existing products, will require significant 
additional funds for development. Our operating expenses may also 
increase as: 
 

some of our earlier stage potential products move into later stage 
clinical development 
 

additional potential products are selected as clinical candidates 
for further development 
 

we invest in additional manufacturing capacity 
 

we defend or prosecute our patents and patent applications, and 
 

we invest in research or acquire additional technologies, product 
candidates or businesses. 

In the absence of substantial revenues from new corporate collaborations 
or patent licensing or humanization agreements, significant royalties on 
sales of products licensed under our intellectual property rights, 
product sales or other uncertain sources of revenue, we will incur 
substantial operating losses. 
 

Our revenues, expenses and operating results will likely fluctuate in 
future periods.

Our revenues have varied in the past and will likely continue to 
fluctuate considerably from quarter to quarter and from year to year. As 
a result, our revenues in any period may not be predictive of revenues 
in any subsequent period. Our royalty revenues may be unpredictable and 



may fluctuate since they depend upon: 
 

the seasonality of sales of licensed products 
 

the existence of competing products 
 

the marketing efforts of our licensees 
 

potential reductions in royalties payable to us due to credits for 
prior payments to us 
 

the timing of royalty reports, some of which are required quarterly 
and others semi-annually, 
 

our method of accounting for royalty revenues from our licensees, 
and 
 

our ability to successfully defend and enforce our patents. 

Other revenue may also be unpredictable and may fluctuate due to the 
timing of payments of non-recurring licensing and signing fees and 
payments for manufacturing services and achievement of milestones under 
new and existing collaborative, humanization, and patent licensing 
agreements. Revenue historically recognized under our prior agreements 
may not be an indicator of non-royalty revenue from any future 
collaborations. 
 

In addition, our expenses may be unpredictable and may fluctuate  from 
quarter to quarter due to the timing of expenses, which may include 
payments owed by us under licensing arrangements. 
 

Our humanization patents are being opposed and a successful challenge 
could limit our future revenues.

PDL's two humanization patents issued by the European Patent Office 
(EPO) apply in the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Italy and eight 
other European countries. The EPO procedures provide for an opposition 
period in which other parties may submit arguments as to why a patent 
was incorrectly granted and should be withdrawn or limited. Eighteen 
notices of opposition to our first European patent were filed during the 
opposition period for the patent, including oppositions by major 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies  At an oral hearing in March 
2000, the Opposition Division (OD) of the EPO decided to revoke the 
broad claims in our first European patent based on formal matters of 
European patent law, specifically that there had been an impermissible 
addition of subject matter after the filing of the original European 
patent application, but did not provide the rationale behind its 
decision. The decision upheld claims that protect Zenapax.   The OD did 
not otherwise announce a decision on the issue of whether the claims in 
our patent are inventive in light of the prior art or other issues of 
patentability. We plan to appeal the OD's decision to the Technical 
Board of Appeals at the EPO.  The Technical Board of Appeals will 
consider all issues anew.  The appeal suspends the decision of the OD 
during the appeals process, which is likely to take several years. 
 

Until our appeal regarding our first European patent is resolved, we may 
be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate future 
licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based 
on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if our appeal is 
unsuccessful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of 
antibodies humanized by others would depend on the scope and validity of 
our second European patent, whether the antibodies are manufactured in a 
country outside of Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, 
and in that case the terms of our license agreements with respect to 
that situation. Also, the OD's decision could encourage challenges of 
our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the U.S. The OD's 



decision may lead some of our licensees to stop making royalty payments 
or lead potential licensees not to take a license, which might result in 
us initiating formal legal actions to enforce our rights under our 
various humanization patents.  In such a situation, a likely defensive 
strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that 
jurisdiction.   During the appeals process with respect to our first 
European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action to 
enforce that patent, such an action would likely be stayed until the 
appeal is decided by the EPO. We have no assurance that we will 
successfully enforce our rights under our European or related U.S. and 
Japanese patents. The nine month opposition period for our second 
European antibody humanization patent ends in May 2000, and we expect 
that a significant number of notices of opposition will be filed with 
respect to this patent. We have also been advised that three opposition 
statements have been filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect 
to our humanization patent issued in Japan in late 1998. 
 

We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese 
patent in these proceedings; however, we may not prevail in the 
opposition proceedings or any litigation contesting the validity of 
these patents. If our appeal with respect to our first European patent 
is unsuccessful or if the outcome of the other European or Japanese 
opposition proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody 
humanization patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect 
royalties on existing licensed products and to license our patents 
relating to humanized antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, 
these proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual 
property rights or defend against infringement claims by others, could 
result in substantial costs and diversion of management's time and 
attention, which could materially harm our business and financial 
condition. 
 

If we are unable to protect our patents and proprietary technology, we 
may not be able to compete successfully. 

Our success depends significantly on our ability to obtain and maintain 
patent protection for our products and technologies, to preserve our 
trade secrets and to operate without infringing on the proprietary 
rights of third parties. While we file and prosecute patent applications 
to protect our inventions, our pending patent applications may not 
result in the issuance of valid patents or our issued patents may not 
provide competitive advantages. Also, our patent protection may not 
prevent others from developing competitive products using related or 
other technology. 
 

A number of companies, universities and research institutions have filed 
patent applications or received patents in the areas of antibodies and 
other fields relating to our programs. Some of these applications or 
patents may be competitive with our applications or contain material 
which could prevent the issuance of patents to us or result in a 
significant reduction in the scope of our issued patents. 
 

The scope, enforceability and effective term of patents issued to 
companies, universities and research institutions can be highly 
uncertain and often involve complex legal and factual questions. No 
consistent policy has emerged regarding the breadth of claims in 
biotechnology patents, so that even issued patents may later be modified 
or revoked by the relevant patent authorities or courts. Moreover, the 
issuance of a patent in one country does not assure the issuance of a 
patent with similar claims in another country, and claim interpretation 
and infringement laws vary among countries, so we are unable to predict 
the extent of any patent protection in different countries. 
 

In addition to seeking the protection of patents and licenses, we also 
rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological 
innovation which we seek to protect, in part, by confidentiality 
agreements with employees, consultants, suppliers and licensees. If 
these agreements are not honored, we might not have adequate remedies 
for any breach. Additionally, our trade secrets might otherwise become 
known or patented by our competitors. 
 
 
 
 

We may require additional patent licenses in order to manufacture or 
sell our potential products. 



Other companies, universities and research institutions may obtain 
patents that could limit our ability to use, import, manufacture, market 
or sell our products or impair our competitive position. As a result, we 
might be required to obtain licenses from others before we could 
continue using, importing, manufacturing, marketing, or selling our 
products. We may not be able to obtain required licenses on terms 
acceptable to us, if at all. If we do not obtain required licenses, we 
may encounter significant delays in product development while we 
redesign potentially infringing products or methods or may not be able 
to market our products at all. 
 

Celltech Chiroscience plc has been granted a patent by the EPO covering 
humanized antibodies (European Adair Patent), which we have opposed. 
Celltech has also been issued a corresponding U.S. patent (U.S. Adair 
Patent) that contains claims that may be considered broader in scope 
than the European Adair Patent. Recently, we entered into an agreement 
with Celltech providing each company with the right to obtain 
nonexclusive licenses for up to three antibody targets under the other 
company's humanization patents. Nevertheless, if our SMART antibodies 
were covered by the European or U.S. Adair Patent and if we were to need 
more than the three licenses under those patents currently available to 
us under the agreement, we would be required to negotiate additional 
licenses under those patents or to significantly alter our processes or 
products. We might not be able to successfully alter our processes or 
products to avoid conflict with these patents or to obtain the required 
additional licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. 
 

In addition, if the U.S. Adair Patent or any related patent applications 
conflict with our U.S. patents or patent applications, we may become 
involved in proceedings to determine which company was the first to 
invent the products or processes contained in the conflicting patents. 
These proceedings could be expensive, last several years and either 
prevent issuance of additional patents to us relating to humanization of 
antibodies or result in a significant reduction in the scope or 
invalidation of our patents. Any limitation would reduce our ability to 
negotiate or collect royalties or to negotiate future collaborative 
research and development agreements based on these patents. 
 

Lonza Biologics, Inc. has a patent issued in Europe to which we do not 
have a license (although we have been advised by Roche that it has a 
license covering Zenapax), which may cover a process that we use to 
produce our potential products. If our processes were covered by this 
patent, we might be required to obtain a license under this patent or to 
significantly alter our processes or products in Europe. We might not be 
able to successfully alter our processes or products to avoid conflict 
with this patent or to obtain a license on commercially reasonable 
terms. 
 

We do not have a license to an issued U.S. patent assigned to Stanford 
University and Columbia University, which may cover a process we use to 
produce our potential products. We have been advised that an exclusive 
license has been previously granted to a third party under this patent. 
If our processes were covered by this patent, we might be required to 
obtain a license or to significantly alter our processes or products in 
the U.S. We might not be able to successfully alter our processes or 
products to avoid conflict with this patent or to obtain a license on 
acceptable terms. Moreover, if we do not obtain the required licenses, 
any alteration of processes or products to avoid conflict with a 
competitive patent could result in a significant delay in our achieving 
regulatory approval for the products affected by these alterations. 
 

If we cannot successfully complete our clinical trials, we will be 
unable to obtain regulatory approvals required to market our products. 

To obtain regulatory approval for the commercial sale of any of our 
potential products or to promote these products for expanded 
indications, we must demonstrate through preclinical testing and 
clinical trials that each product is safe and effective for use in 
indications for which approval is requested. We have conducted only a 
limited number of clinical trials to date. We may not be able to 
successfully commence and complete all of our planned clinical trials 
without significant additional resources and expertise. Our potential 
inability to commence or continue clinical trials, to complete the 
clinical trials on a timely basis or to demonstrate the safety and 
efficacy of our potential products, further adds to the uncertainty of 
regulatory approval for our potential products. 
 



Larger and later stage clinical trials may not produce the same results 
as early stage trials. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology industries, including PDL, have suffered significant 
setbacks in clinical trials, including advanced clinical trials, even 
after promising results had been obtained in earlier trials. 
 

Research, preclinical testing and clinical trials may take many years to 
complete and the time required can vary depending on the indication 
being addressed and the nature of the product. We may at times elect to 
use aggressive clinical strategies in order to advance potential 
products through clinical development as rapidly as possible. For 
example, we may commence clinical trials without conducting preclinical 
animal testing, where an appropriate animal testing model does not 
exist, or we may conduct later stage trials based on limited early stage 
data. As a result, we anticipate that only some of our potential 
products may show safety and efficacy in clinical trials and some may 
encounter difficulties or delays during clinical development. 
 

For example, PDL has entered the SMART M195 Antibody into a Phase III 
clinical trial in acute myelogenous leukemia with a clinical regimen 
that has not been tested previously with this antibody. Results from our 
prior Phase II and Phase II/III studies showed only a limited number of 
complete and partial remissions. In addition, we initiated a Phase III 
study without a meeting with the FDA or European regulatory authorities 
to discuss the protocol and its adequacy to support approval of the 
SMART M195 Antibody. We believe that our Phase III program is reasonable 
in view of the nature and severity of the disease. We cannot assure you 
that the study will be successful or that the FDA or European regulatory 
authorities will agree that the study will be adequate to obtain 
regulatory approval, even if the study is successful. In addition, the 
protocol for our Phase III trial includes an interim review by an 
independent data safety monitoring board. It is possible that the trial 
could be terminated upon such a review if the interim data do not show a 
sufficient probability of the trial being successful or if specified 
safety criteria are not met. 
 

As a second example, the FDA recently placed a clinical hold on clinical 
trials of our SMART Anti-CD3 Antibody for kidney transplant indications 
due to their belief that we have not supplied adequate data from our 
prior trials to support our proposed dosage modifications to the Phase 
II study for prevention of kidney transplant rejection. Although our 
clinical trials of this antibody in other indications, such as 
psoriasis, are not affected by this hold, our clinical studies of this 
potential product for prevention or treatment of kidney transplant 
rejection will be delayed in the U.S. until we supply sufficient data to 
the FDA to justify our desired clinical study designs. Also, we may be 
required to further modify our clinical study designs to comply with FDA 
requirements and possibly to conduct additional Phase I trials before 
proceeding with Phase II trials.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance 
that we will be able, or will choose, to proceed with development of 
this antibody for either or both of the transplant indications. 
 

We may be unable to enroll sufficient patients to complete our clinical 
trials. 

The rate of completion of our clinical trials, and those of our 
collaborators, is significantly dependent upon the rate of patient 
enrollment. Patient enrollment is a function of many factors, including: 

the size of the patient population 
 

perceived risks and benefits of the drug under study 
 

availability of competing therapies 
 

availability of clinical trial sites 
 

design of the protocol 
 



proximity of and access by patients to clinical sites 
 

patient referral practices of physicians 
 

eligibility criteria for the study in question, and 
 

efforts of the sponsor of and clinical sites involved in the trial 
to facilitate timely enrollment. 

We may have difficulty obtaining sufficient patient enrollment or 
clinician support to conduct our clinical trials as planned, and we may 
have to expend substantial additional funds to obtain access to 
resources or delay or modify our plans significantly. These 
considerations may lead us to consider the termination of ongoing 
clinical trials or development of a product for a particular indication. 
 

We may be unable to obtain or maintain regulatory approval for our 
products.

The manufacturing, testing and marketing of our products are subject to 
regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the U.S. and other 
countries. In the U.S., pharmaceutical products are subject to rigorous 
FDA regulation. Additionally, other federal, state and local regulations 
govern the manufacture, testing, clinical and nonclinical studies to 
assess safety and efficacy, approval, advertising and promotion of 
pharmaceutical products. The process of obtaining approval for a new 
pharmaceutical product or for additional therapeutic indications within 
this regulatory framework requires a number of years and the expenditure 
of substantial resources. Companies in the pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology industries, including us, have suffered significant 
setbacks in various stages of clinical trials, even in advanced clinical 
trials after promising results had been obtained in earlier trials. 
 

In addition to the requirement for FDA approval of each pharmaceutical 
product, each pharmaceutical product manufacturing facility must be 
registered with, and approved by, the FDA. The manufacturing and quality 
control procedures must conform to rigorous guidelines in order to 
receive FDA approval. Pharmaceutical product manufacturing 
establishments are subject to inspections by the FDA and local 
authorities as well as inspections by authorities of other countries. To 
supply pharmaceutical products for use in the U.S., foreign 
manufacturing establishments must comply with these FDA approved 
guidelines. These foreign manufacturing establishments are subject to 
periodic inspection by the FDA or by corresponding regulatory agencies 
in these countries under reciprocal agreements with the FDA. Moreover, 
pharmaceutical product manufacturing facilities may also be regulated by 
state, local and other authorities. 
 

For marketing of pharmaceutical products outside the U.S., we and our 
collaborative partners are subject to foreign regulatory requirements 
and, if the particular product is manufactured in the U.S., FDA and 
other U.S. export provisions. Requirements relating to the 
manufacturing, conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, promotion, 
pricing and reimbursement vary widely in different countries. 
Difficulties or unanticipated costs or price controls may be encountered 
by us or our licensees or marketing partners in our respective efforts 
to secure necessary governmental approvals. This could delay or prevent 
us or our licensees or our marketing partners from marketing potential 
pharmaceutical products. 
 

Both before and after approval is obtained, a pharmaceutical product, 
its manufacturer and the holder of the BLA for the pharmaceutical 
product are subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight. The FDA may 
deny a BLA if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied. 
Moreover, even if regulatory approval is granted, such approval may be 
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the 
pharmaceutical product may be marketed. Further, marketing approvals may 
be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained 
or if problems with the pharmaceutical product occur following approval. 
In addition, under a BLA, the manufacturer continues to be subject to 
facility inspection and the applicant must assume responsibility for 
compliance with applicable pharmaceutical product and establishment 
standards. Violations of regulatory requirements at any stage may result 
in various adverse consequences, which may include, among other adverse 



actions, withdrawal of the previously approved pharmaceutical product or 
marketing approvals and/or the imposition of criminal penalties against 
the manufacturer and/or BLA holders. 
 

Our revenues from licensed technologies depend on the efforts and 
successes of our licensees. 

In those instances where we have licensed rights to our technologies, 
the product development and marketing efforts and successes of our 
licensees will determine the amount and timing of royalties we may 
receive, if any. We have no assurance that any licensee will 
successfully complete the product development, regulatory and marketing 
efforts required to sell products. The success of products sold by 
licensees, such as Roche, will be affected by competitive products, 
including potential competing therapies that are marketed by the 
licensee or others. 
 

If our collaborations are not successful, we may not be able to 
effectively develop and market some of our products. 

We have collaborative agreements with several pharmaceutical and other 
companies to develop, manufacture and market Zenapax and some of our 
potential products. In some cases, we are relying on our collaborative 
partners to manufacture such products, to conduct clinical trials, to 
compile and analyze the data received from these trials, to obtain 
regulatory approvals and, if approved, to market these licensed 
products. As a result, we may have little or no control over the 
manufacturing, development and marketing of these potential products and 
little or no opportunity to review clinical data prior to or following 
public announcement. 
 

Our collaborative agreements can generally be terminated by our partners 
on short notice. A collaborator may terminate its agreement with us or 
separately pursue alternative products, therapeutic approaches or 
technologies as a means of developing treatments for the diseases 
targeted by us or our collaborative effort. Even if a collaborator 
continues its contributions to the arrangement, it may nevertheless 
determine not to actively pursue the development or commercialization of 
any resulting products. In these circumstances, our ability to pursue 
potential products could be severely limited. 
 

Continued funding and participation by collaborative partners will 
depend on the timely achievement of our research and development 
objectives, the retention of key personnel performing work under those 
agreements and on each collaborative partner's own financial, 
competitive, marketing and strategic considerations. Such considerations 
include: 
 

the commitment of management of the collaborative partners to the 
continued development of the licensed products or technology 
 

the relationships among the individuals responsible for the 
implementation and maintenance of the collaborative efforts, and 
 

the relative advantages of alternative products or technology being 
marketed or developed by the collaborators or by others, including 
their relative patent and proprietary technology positions, and 
their ability to manufacture potential products successfully. 

Our ability to enter into new collaborations and the willingness of our 
existing collaborators to continue development of our potential products 
depends upon, among other things, our patent position with respect to 
such products. If we are unable to successfully maintain our patents we 
may be unable to collect royalties on existing licensed products or 
enter into additional collaborations and agreements. 
 

Our lack of experience in sales, marketing and distribution may hamper 
market introduction and acceptance of our products. 



We intend to market and sell a number of our products either directly or 
through sales and marketing partnership arrangements with collaborative 
partners. To market products directly, we must either establish a 
marketing group and direct sales force or obtain the assistance of 
another company. We may not be able to establish marketing, sales and 
distribution capabilities or succeed in gaining market acceptance for 
our products. If we were to enter into co-promotion or other marketing 
arrangements with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies, our 
revenues would be subject to the payment provisions of these 
arrangements and dependent on the efforts of third parties. 
 

Manufacturing difficulties could delay commercialization of our 
products. 

Of the products that we currently have in clinical development, Roche is 
responsible for manufacturing Zenapax, SmithKline Beecham is responsible 
for manufacturing the humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and Scil is 
responsible for manufacturing the SMART Anti-L-Selectin Antibody. We are 
responsible for manufacturing our other products for our own 
development. We intend to continue to manufacture potential products for 
use in preclinical and clinical trials using our manufacturing facility 
in accordance with standard procedures that comply with appropriate 
regulatory standards. The manufacture of sufficient quantities of 
antibody products that comply with these standards is an expensive, 
time-consuming and complex process and is subject to a number of risks 
that could result in delays. For example, we and our collaborative 
partners have experienced some manufacturing difficulties. Product 
supply interruptions could significantly delay clinical development of 
our potential products, reduce third party or clinical researcher 
interest and support of proposed clinical trials, and possibly delay 
commercialization and sales of these products. Manufacturing 
difficulties can even interrupt the supply of marketed products, thereby 
reducing revenues and risking loss of market share. For example, Roche 
has received a warning letter from the FDA regarding deficiencies in the 
manufacture of various products. Although the letter primarily related 
to products other than Zenapax, at least two deviations in the 
manufacture of Zenapax were noted. If Roche were not able to correct 
these and any other deficiencies in the manufacture of Zenapax in a 
timely manner, Zenapax supplies could be interrupted, which could cause 
a delay or termination of our clinical trials of Zenapax in autoimmune 
disease and could force Roche to withdraw Zenapax from the market 
temporarily or permanently, resulting in loss of revenue to us. These 
occurrences could materially impair our competitive position. 
 

We do not have experience in manufacturing commercial quantities of our 
potential products, nor do we currently have sufficient capacity to 
manufacture all of our potential products on a commercial scale. In 
order to obtain regulatory approvals and to create capacity to produce 
our products for commercial sale at an acceptable cost, we will need to 
improve and expand our existing manufacturing capabilities. We are 
reviewing plans to expand our manufacturing capacity, including possible 
acquisition and conversion of an existing building into a manufacturing 
plant. If we implement these plans we will incur substantial costs. Any 
construction delays could impair our ability to produce adequate 
supplies of our potential products for clinical use or commercial sale 
on a timely basis. Further, we may be unable to improve and expand our 
manufacturing capability sufficiently to obtain necessary regulatory 
approvals and to produce adequate commercial supplies of our potential 
products on a timely basis. Failure to do so could delay 
commercialization of these products and could impair our competitive 
position. 
 

Manufacturing changes may result in delays in obtaining regulatory 
approval or marketing for our products.

Manufacturing of antibodies for use as therapeutics in compliance with 
regulatory requirements is complex, time-consuming and expensive. If we 
make changes in the manufacturing process, we may be required to 
demonstrate to the FDA and corresponding foreign authorities that the 
changes have not caused the resulting drug material to differ 
significantly from the drug material previously produced. This is 
particularly important if we want to rely on results of prior 
preclinical studies and clinical trials performed using the previously 
produced drug material. Depending upon the type and degree of 
differences between the newer and older drug material, we may be 
required to conduct additional animal studies or human clinical trials 
to demonstrate that the newly produced drug material is sufficiently 
similar to the previously produced drug material. We have made 
manufacturing changes and are likely to make additional manufacturing 



changes for the production of our products currently in clinical 
development, such as the SMART M195 and SMART Anti-CD3 Antibodies. These 
manufacturing changes could result in delays in development or 
regulatory approvals or in reduction or interruption of commercial sales 
and could impair our competitive position. 
 

Our business may be harmed if we cannot obtain sufficient quantities of 
raw materials.

We depend on outside vendors for the supply of raw materials used to 
produce our product candidates. Once a supplier's materials have been 
selected for use in our manufacturing process, the supplier in effect 
becomes a sole or limited source of that raw material due to regulatory 
compliance procedures. If the third party suppliers were to cease 
production or otherwise fail to supply us with quality raw materials and 
we were unable to contract on acceptable terms for these services with 
alternative suppliers, our ability to produce our products and to 
conduct preclinical testing and clinical trials of product candidates 
would be adversely affected. This could impair our competitive position. 
 

Our revenue may be adversely affected by competition and rapid 
technological change.

We are aware that potential competitors have developed and are 
developing human and humanized antibodies or other compounds for 
treating autoimmune diseases, transplantation, inflammatory conditions 
and cancers. In addition, a number of academic and commercial 
organizations are actively pursuing similar technologies, and several 
companies have developed or may develop technologies that may compete 
with our SMART antibody technology. Competitors may succeed in more 
rapidly developing and marketing technologies and products that are more 
effective than our products or that would render our products or 
technology obsolete or noncompetitive. Our collaborative partners may 
also independently develop products that are competitive with products 
that we have licensed to them. This could reduce our revenues under our 
agreements with these partners. 
 

Any product that we or our collaborative partners succeed in developing 
and for which regulatory approval is obtained must then compete for 
market acceptance and market share. The relative speed with which we and 
our collaborative partners can develop products, complete the clinical 
testing and approval processes, and supply commercial quantities of the 
products to the market compared to competitive companies will affect 
market success. For example, Novartis, which has a significant marketing 
and sales force directed to the transplantation market, has received 
approval to market Simulectr, a product competitive with Zenapax, in the 
U.S. and Europe. Since Novartis launched Simulect in the European Union 
earlier than Roche, Zenapax may have a smaller market share than 
Simulect and other available products. 
 

Other competitive factors include: 
 

the capabilities of our collaborative partners 
 

product efficacy and safety 
 

timing and scope of regulatory approval 
 

product availability, marketing and sales capabilities 
 

reimbursement coverage 
 

the amount of clinical benefit of our products relative to their cost 
 

method of and frequency of administration of our products 
 



price of our products, and 
 

patent protection of our products. 

If we do not attract and retain key employees, our business could be impaired.

To be successful, we will have to retain our qualified clinical, 
manufacturing, scientific and management personnel. Because we are 
located in a high technology area, we face competition for personnel 
from other companies, academic institutions, government entities and 
other organizations. We are currently conducting a search for a chief 
financial officer and a vice president of marketing, as well as other 
senior management positions. If we are unsuccessful in filling these 
positions or retaining qualified personnel, our business could be 
impaired. 
 

We may be subject to product liability claims, and our insurance 
coverage may not be adequate to cover these claims. 

We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability 
claims in the event that the use of products during research and 
development efforts or after commercialization results in adverse 
effects. This risk will exist even with respect to any products that 
receive regulatory approval for commercial sale. While we have obtained 
liability insurance for our products, it may not be sufficient to 
satisfy any liability that may arise. Also, adequate insurance coverage 
may not be available in the future at acceptable cost, if at all. 
 

We may require additional funds that may be difficult to obtain in order 
to continue our business activities as planned. 

Our operations to date have consumed substantial amounts of cash. We 
will be required to spend substantial funds in conducting clinical 
trials, to expand our marketing capabilities and efforts, to expand 
existing research and development programs, to develop and expand our 
development and manufacturing capabilities and to defend or prosecute 
our patents and patent applications. 
 

In order to develop and commercialize our products, we may need to raise 
substantial additional funds through equity or debt financings, 
collaborative arrangements, the use of sponsored research efforts or 
other means. Additional financing may not be available on acceptable 
terms, if at all, and may only be available on terms dilutive to 
existing stockholders or that would increase the amount of our 
indebtedness. Our inability to secure adequate funds on a timely basis 
could result in the delay or cancellation of programs that we might 
otherwise pursue. 
 

We may incur significant costs in order to comply with environmental 
regulations or to defend claims arising from accidents involving the use 
of hazardous materials. 

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations 
governing the use, discharge, handling and disposal of materials and 
wastes used in our operations. As a result, we may be required to incur 
significant costs to comply with these laws and regulations. We cannot 
eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these 
materials. In the event of such an accident, we could be held liable for 
any resulting damages and incur liabilities which exceed our resources. 
In addition, we cannot predict the extent of the adverse effect on our 
business or the financial and other costs that might result from any new 
government requirements arising out of future legislative, 
administrative or judicial actions. 
 

Changes in the U.S. and international health care industry could 
adversely affect our revenues. 

The U.S. and international health care industry is subject to changing 
political, economic and regulatory influences that may significantly 
affect the purchasing practices and pricing of pharmaceuticals. Cost 
containment measures, whether instituted by health care providers or 
imposed by government health administration regulators or new 
regulations, could result in greater selectivity in the purchase of 
drugs. As a result, third-party payors may challenge the price and cost 
effectiveness of our products. In addition, in many major markets 



outside the U.S., pricing approval is required before sales can 
commence. As a result, significant uncertainty exists as to the 
reimbursement status of approved health care products. 
 

We may not be able to obtain or maintain our desired price for our 
products. Our products may not be considered cost effective relative to 
alternative therapies. As a result, adequate third-party reimbursement 
may not be available to enable us to maintain prices sufficient to 
realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development. 
Also, the trend towards managed health care in the U.S. and the 
concurrent growth of organizations such as health maintenance 
organizations, as well as legislative proposals to reform health care or 
reduce government insurance programs, may all result in lower prices, 
reduced reimbursement levels and diminished markets for our products. 
These factors will also affect the products that are marketed by our 
collaborative partners. 
 

Our common stock price is volatile and an investment in our company 
could decline in value. 

Market prices for securities of biotechnology companies (including PDL) 
have been highly volatile so that investment in our securities involves 
substantial risk. Additionally, the stock market from time to time has 
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that may be 
unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. The 
following are some of the factors that may have a significant effect on 
the market price of our common stock: 
 

developments or disputes as to patent or other proprietary rights 
 

disappointing sales of approved products 
 

approval or introduction of competing products and technologies 
 

results of clinical trials 
 

failures or unexpected delays in obtaining regulatory approvals or 
FDA advisory panel recommendations 
 

delays in manufacturing or clinical trial plans 
 

fluctuations in our operating results 
 

disputes or disagreements with collaborative partners 
 

market reaction to announcements by other biotechnology or 
pharmaceutical companies 
 

announcements of technological innovations or new commercial 
therapeutic products by us or our competitors 
 

initiation, termination or modification of agreements with our 
collaborative partners 
 

loss of key personnel 
 

litigation or the threat of litigation 
 

public concern as to the safety of drugs developed by us 
 

sales of our common stock held by collaborative partners or 
insiders 



 

comments and expectations of results made by securities analysts, 
and 
 

general market conditions. 
 

If any of these factors causes us to fail to meet the expectations of 
securities analysts or investors, or if adverse conditions prevail or 
are perceived to prevail with respect to our business, the price of the 
common stock would likely drop significantly. A significant drop in the 
price of a company's common stock often leads to the filing of 
securities class action litigation against the company. This type of 
litigation against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion 
of management's attention and resources. 
 

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

PDL owns two buildings comprising approximately 92,000 square feet of 
research and development and general office space in Fremont, 
California. We relocated our California headquarters and research and 
development facilities to this space beginning in September 1998. We 
also lease an additional 43,000 square feet of laboratory and office 
space at the site of our former headquarters and research and 
development facilities in Mountain View, California. In 1998, we 
subleased all of that space to two other companies. The subleases are 
scheduled to terminate on December 31, 2000, the termination date of our 
lease with respect to that space. 
 

PDL also leases approximately 47,000 square feet of manufacturing, 
laboratory and office space in Plymouth, Minnesota. Our lease will 
terminate on February 29, 2004, subject to our options to extend the 
lease for two additional five year terms. Although these facilities are 
sufficient for our present manufacturing operations, we believe that we 
may have to obtain additional manufacturing space in the future and may 
lease or acquire additional space as required. 
 

We own substantially all of the equipment used in our facilities. See 
Note 4 to the financial statements. 
 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

PDL is involved in administrative opposition proceedings being conducted 
by the European Patent Office with respect to our first European patent 
relating to humanized antibodies. Eighteen notices of opposition to our 
first European patent were filed during the opposition period for the 
patent, including oppositions by major pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
companies. At an oral hearing in March 2000, the Opposition Division 
(OD) of the EPO decided to revoke the broad claims in our first European 
patent based on formal matters of European patent law, specifically that 
there had been an impermissible addition of subject matter after the 
filing of the original European patent application, but did not provide 
the rationale behind its decision. The decision upheld claims that 
protect Zenapax.   The OD did not otherwise announce a decision on the 
issue of whether the claims in our patent are inventive in light of the 
prior art or other issues of patentability. We plan to appeal the OD's 
decision to the Technical Board of Appeals at the EPO.  The Technical 
Board of Appeals will consider all issues anew.  The appeal suspends the 
decision of the OD during the appeals process, which is likely to take 
several years. 
 

Until our appeal regarding our first European patent is resolved, we may 
be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate future 
licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based 
on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if our appeal is 
unsuccessful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of 
antibodies humanized by others would depend on the scope and validity of 
our second European patent, whether the antibodies are manufactured in a 
country outside of Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, 
and in that case the terms of our license agreements with respect to 
that situation. Also, the OD's decision could encourage challenges of 
our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the U.S. The OD's 



decision may lead some of our licensees to stop making royalty payments 
or lead potential licensees not to take a license, which might result in 
us initiating formal legal actions to enforce our rights under our 
various humanization patents.  In such a situation, a likely defensive 
strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that 
jurisdiction.   During the appeals process with respect to our first 
European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action to 
enforce that patent, such an action would likely be stayed until the 
appeal is decided by the EPO. We have no assurance that we will 
successfully enforce our rights under our European or related U.S. and 
Japanese patents. The nine month opposition period for our second 
European antibody humanization patent ends in May 2000, and we expect 
that a significant number of notices of opposition will be filed with 
respect to this patent. We have also been advised that three opposition 
statements have been filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect 
to our humanization patent issued in Japan in late 1998. 
 

We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese 
patent in these proceedings; however, we may not prevail in the 
opposition proceedings or any litigation contesting the validity of 
these patents. If our appeal with respect to our first European patent 
is unsuccessful or if the outcome of the other European or Japanese 
opposition proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody 
humanization patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect 
royalties on existing licensed products and to license our patents 
relating to humanized antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, 
these proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual 
property rights or defend against infringement claims by others, could 
result in substantial costs and diversion of management's time and 
attention, which could materially harm our business and financial 
condition. 
 

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITYHOLDERS

Not applicable. 
 

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED  STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

MARKET INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND POLICY ($)

 
          1998               High       Low 
- ------------------------- ---------- ---------- 
First Quarter                 46.25      34.63 
Second Quarter                39.50      20.13 
Third Quarter                 26.25      16.75 
Fourth Quarter                27.25      16.50 
 
 
          1999               High       Low 
- ------------------------- ---------- ---------- 
First Quarter                 26.50      13.25 
Second Quarter                22.00      14.38 
Third Quarter                 36.13      22.13 
Fourth Quarter                72.63      32.25 
 

Our Common Stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol 
"PDLI." Prices indicated above are the high and low closing bid prices 
as reported by the Nasdaq National Market System for the periods 
indicated. We have never paid any cash dividends on our capital stock 
and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. 
 

As of December 31, 1999, we had approximately 174 common stockholders of 
record. Because many of these shares are held by brokers and other 
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the 
total number of stockholders represented by these record holders. The 
market for the our securities is volatile. See "Risk Factors." 
 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except net loss per share data) 



                                               Years Ended December 31, 
                                 ------------------------------------------------- 
                                   1999      1998      1997      1996      1995 
                                 --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
OPERATIONS DATA: 
  Revenues: 
   Revenue under agreements with 
    third parties - related (1)      $ --      $ --      $ --   $11,000   $10,333 
   Revenue under agreements with 
    third parties - other (1)      26,811    21,325    11,137     5,500     1,075 
   Interest and other income        8,943     9,503     9,118     6,100     6,205 
                                 --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
      Total revenues               35,754    30,828    20,255    22,600    17,613 
 Costs and expenses: 
   Research and development        36,090    31,645    25,614    28,795    20,803 
   General and administrative       9,842     8,685     6,629     5,601     5,163 
   Special charge (2)                 --        --     11,887       --        -- 
   Interest expense                   155       --        --        --          1 
                                 --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
      Total costs and expenses     46,087    40,330    44,130    34,396    25,967 
                                 --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
 Net loss                        ($10,333)  ($9,502) ($23,875) ($11,796)  ($8,354) 
                                 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 Basic and diluted net loss 
 per share (3)                     ($0.55)   ($0.51)   ($1.35)   ($0.76)   ($0.54) 
                                 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 Shares used in computation of 
 basic and diluted net loss 
 per share                         18,698    18,525    17,649    15,604    15,343 
                                 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 
 
                                                  December 31, 
                                ------------------------------------------------- 
                                     1999      1998      1997      1996      1995 
                                --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Cash, cash equivalents and 
  investments                   $137,237  $143,439  $163,655   $99,667  $107,065 
Working capital                   22,669    82,394    66,490    74,221    43,522 
Total assets                     182,551   171,850   175,026   110,331   116,412 
Accumulated deficit              (79,217)  (68,884)  (59,382)  (35,507)  (23,711) 
Total stockholders' equity       164,743   162,496   168,468   105,112   112,856 
 

(1)  Certain amounts in the category "Revenue under agreements with 
third parties-related" for the years ended December 31, 1995 and 
1996 have been reclassified under the category "Revenue under 
agreements with third parties-other" based on a determination that 
one of the Company's collaborative partners was not a related party 
during these periods.  The total research and development revenue 
for these periods is unchanged. 
 

(2)  Represents a non-cash special charge of approximately $11.9 million 
related to the extension of the term of all outstanding stock 
options held by employees, officers, directors and consultants to 
the Company that were granted prior to February 1995, with the 
single exception of stock options granted to one non-employee 
director.  The extension conforms the term of previously granted 
stock options, which was six years, to those granted since February 
1995, ten years. 
 

(3)  For a description of the computation of net loss per share, see 
Note 1 to the Financial Statements. 
 

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

     OVERVIEW 
 

Since our founding in 1986, a primary focus of our operations has been 
research and development. Achievement of successful research and 
development and commercialization of products derived from our efforts 



is subject to high levels of risk and significant resource commitments. 
Our expenses have generally exceeded revenues. As of December 31, 1999, 
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $79.2 million. We believe 
that our losses may increase because of the extensive resource 
commitments required to achieve regulatory approval and commercial 
success for any individual product. For example, over the next several 
years, we will incur substantial additional expenses as we continue to 
develop and manufacture our potential products, invest in new research 
areas and improve and expand our manufacturing capabilities. Since we or 
our collaborative partners or licensees may not be able to successfully 
develop additional products, obtain required regulatory approvals, 
manufacture products at an acceptable cost and with appropriate quality, 
or successfully market such products with desired margins, we may never 
achieve profitable operations. The amount of net losses and the time 
required to reach sustained profitability are highly uncertain. We 
cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve or sustain 
profitability. 
 

Our commitment of resources to the development of Zenapax® and the 
humanized anti-IL-4 antibody, two humanized antibodies with respect to 
which we recently obtained development rights, taken together with the 
continued development of our existing products, will require significant 
additional funds for development. These operating expenses may also 
increase as some of our earlier stage potential products move into later 
stage clinical development, as additional potential products are 
selected as clinical candidates for further development, as we invest in 
additional manufacturing capacity, as we defend or prosecute our patents 
and patent applications, and as we invest in research or acquire 
additional technologies, product candidates or businesses. 
 

In the absence of substantial revenues from new corporate collaborations 
or patent licensing or humanization agreements, significant royalties on 
sales of products licensed under our intellectual property rights, 
product sales or other uncertain sources of revenue, we will incur 
substantial operating losses. 
 

Our revenues have varied in the past and will likely continue to 
fluctuate considerably from quarter to quarter and from year to year. As 
a result, our revenues in any period may not be predictive of revenues 
in any subsequent period. Our royalty revenues may be unpredictable and 
may fluctuate since they depend upon the seasonality of sales of 
licensed products, the existence of competing products, the marketing 
efforts of our licensees, potential reductions in royalties payable to 
us due to credits for prior payments to us, the timing of royalty 
reports, some of which are required quarterly and others semi-annually, 
our method of accounting for royalty revenues from our licensees and our 
ability to successfully defend and enforce our patents. Other revenue 
may also be unpredictable and may fluctuate due to the timing of 
payments of non-recurring licensing and signing fees and payments for 
manufacturing services and achievement of milestones under new and 
existing collaborative, humanization, and patent licensing agreements. 
Revenue historically recognized under our prior agreements may not be an 
indicator of revenue from any future collaborations. In December 1999, 
the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 
No. 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" (SAB 101). We are 
evaluating the effects, if any, that SAB 101 and the adoption of SAB 101 
in the second quarter of 2000, may have on the results of our operations 
or our financial position. 
 

In addition, our expenses may be unpredictable and may fluctuate from 
quarter to quarter due to the timing of expenses, which may include 
payments owed by us under licensing arrangements and due to our policy 
of recording expenses under collaborative agreements during the quarter 
in which such expenses are reported to us. 
 

     RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
 

     Years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997  
 

Our total revenues were $35.8 million in 1999 as compared to $30.8 
million in 1998 and $20.3 million in 1997. 
 



Total research and development revenues represented $26.8 million, $21.3 
million and $11.1 million of total revenues in 1999, 1998 and 1997, 
respectively. Research and development revenues include royalties, 
licensing and signing fees, milestone payments, research and development 
reimbursement funding and license maintenance fees. The increase in 
total research and development revenues in 1999 from the prior years was 
primarily attributable to an increase in royalties during the period. 
Of the amounts we expended  for research and development, $2.4 million 
in 1999, $1.8 million in 1998 and $0.1 million in 1997 represented 
third-party funded research and development activities (not including 
licensing and signing fees, milestone payments and product sales). 
 

Interest and other income decreased to $8.9 million in 1999 from $9.5 
and $9.1 million in 1998 and 1997, respectively.  This decrease in 1999 
is primarily attributable to the decreased interest earned on our lower 
investment balances as a result of cash used in our operating 
activities. 
 

Total costs and expenses increased  to $46.1 million in 1999 from $40.3 
million in 1998 and $44.1 million in 1997. In 1997, we incurred a non- 
cash special charge of $11.9 million associated with the extension of 
the term of certain stock options that were granted prior to February 
1995.  The special charge is expected to be non-recurring and conforms 
the term of previously granted stock options, which was six years, to 
those granted beginning February 1995, ten years. Exercise prices of the 
stock options were not altered. 
 

Research and development expenses in 1999 increased  to $36.1 million 
from $31.6 million in 1998 and $25.6 million in 1997.  The increase  in 
1999 costs and expenses as compared to 1998 was primarily a result of 
the addition of staff, the initiation and continuation of clinical 
trials and expansion of pharmaceutical development capabilities 
including support for both clinical development and manufacturing 
process development. 
 

General and administrative expenses for 1999 increased to $9.8 million 
from $8.7 million in 1998 and $6.6 million in 1997.  These increases 
were primarily the result of increased staffing and associated expenses 
necessary to manage and support our expanding operations. 
 

     LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 

To date we have financed our operations primarily through public and 
private placements of equity securities, research and development 
revenues, interest income on invested capital and a private placement of 
$150 million in convertible subordinated notes in February 2000. At 
December 31, 1999, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments in the 
aggregate of $137.2 million, compared to $143.4 million at December 31, 
1998 and $163.7 million at December 31, 1997.  This decrease in cash 
resources in 1999 primarily reflects our purchase of our Fremont, 
California headquarters and research and development facility in 
September 1999 and increased research and development expenditures. In 
1998, we invested approximately $12.2 million in our new Fremont, 
California headquarters and research and development facility for 
construction of these new facilities and related improvements, including 
expanded laboratory and development facilities. 
 

As set forth in the Statements of Cash Flows, net cash used in our 
operating activities was approximately $11.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 1999 compared to approximately $6.5 million in 1998 and 
$7.6 million in 1997.  The increase in 1999 was primarily due to our 
purchase of our Fremont, California headquarters and research and 
development facility in September 1999 and increased research and 
development expenditures. 
 

As set forth in the Statements of Cash Flows, net cash used in our 
investing activities for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $24.7 
million compared to net cash provided by our investing activities of 
$21.2 million in 1998 and used in our investing activities of $72.1 
million in 1997.  The change in 1999 was primarily the result of our 
reinvestment activities associated with the purchases of short- and 
long-term investments. 
 



As set forth in the Statements of Cash Flows, net cash provided by our 
financing activities for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $24.9 
million compared to $3.9 million in 1998 and $74.9 million in 1997. The 
change in 1999 was primarily the result of the exercise of outstanding 
stock options and proceeds associated with the long-term financing of 
our purchase of our Fremont, California facilities. 
 

Our future capital requirements will depend on numerous factors, 
including, among others, royalties from sales of products of third party 
licensees, including Synagis, Herceptin and  Zenapax; our ability to 
enter into additional collaborative, humanization and patent licensing 
arrangements; progress of product candidates in clinical trials; the 
ability of our licensees to obtain regulatory approval and successfully 
manufacture and market products licensed under our patents; the 
continued or additional support by our collaborative partners or other 
third parties of research and development efforts and clinical trials; 
enhancement of existing and investment in new research and development 
programs; time required to gain regulatory approvals; resources we 
devote to self-funded products, manufacturing facilities and methods and 
advanced technologies; our ability to obtain and retain funding from 
third parties under collaborative arrangements; our continued 
development of internal marketing and sales capabilities; the demand for 
our potential products, if and when approved; potential acquisitions of 
technology, product candidates or businesses by us; and the costs of 
defending or prosecuting any patent opposition or litigation necessary 
to protect our proprietary technology. In order to develop and 
commercialize our potential products we may need to raise substantial 
additional funds through equity or debt financings, collaborative 
arrangements, the use of sponsored research efforts or other means. No 
assurance can be given that such additional financing will be available 
on acceptable terms, if at all, and such financing may only be available 
on terms dilutive to existing stockholders. We believe that existing 
capital resources including the proceeds of the issue and sale in 
February 2000 of $150,000,000 of our 5.50% Convertible Subordinated 
Notes due February 15, 2007, will be adequate to satisfy our capital 
needs through at least 2002. 
 

     YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE UPDATE 
 

We did not experience any computer or systems problems relating to the 
Year 2000. Upon review of our internal and external systems during 1999, 
we determined that we did not have any material exposure to such 
computer problems and that the software and systems required to operate 
our business and provide our services were Year 2000 compliant. As a 
result, we did not incur, and do not expect to incur, any material 
expenditures relating to Year 2000 systems remediation. 
 

ITEM 7a.        MARKET RISKS

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or 
trading purposes. We maintain a non-trading investment portfolio of 
investment grade, highly liquid, debt securities which limits the amount 
of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer, or type of instrument. The 
securities in our investment portfolio are not leveraged and are 
classified as available for sale and therefore are subject to interest 
rate risk. We do not currently hedge interest rate exposure. The 
modeling technique used measures the change in fair values arising from 
an immediate hypothetical shift in market interest rates and assumes 
ending fair values include principal plus accrued interest. If market 
interest rates were to increase by 100 basis points from December 31, 
1999 levels, the fair value of the portfolio would decline by 
approximately $2.0 million. 
 
 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

 
                  PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
 
                  CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS



 
         (In thousands, except par value per share) 

 
                                                             December 31, 
                                                        ---------------------- 
                                                           1999        1998 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
                     ASSETS 
  Current assets: 
     Cash and cash equivalents                            $17,138     $27,907 
     Short-term investments                                 6,896      59,233 
     Contract receivable                                    3,000          -- 
     Other current assets                                   3,719       4,608 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
      Total current assets                                 30,753      91,748 
     Property and equipment, net                           38,047      23,016 
     Long-term investments                                113,202      56,299 
     Other assets                                             549         787 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
                                                         $182,551    $171,850 
                                                        ==========  ========== 
        LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
  Current liabilities: 
     Accounts payable                                        $877      $1,310 
     Accrued compensation                                   1,090         925 
     Other accrued liabilities                              3,474       4,884 
     Deferred revenue                                       2,275       2,235 
     Current portion of long-term debt                        368          -- 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
      Total current liabilities                             8,084       9,354 
 
     Long-term debt                                         9,724          -- 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
       Total liabilities                                   17,808       9,354 
 
  Commitments 
 
  Stockholders' equity: 
     Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per 
      share, 10,000 shares authorized; 
      no shares issued and outstanding                        --          -- 
     Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 
      40,000 shares authorized; 19,281 
      and 18,595 issued and outstanding at 
      December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998, 
      respectively                                            193         186 
     Additional paid-in capital                           245,812     231,035 
     Accumulated deficit                                  (79,217)    (68,884) 
     Accumulated other comprehensive income                (2,045)        159 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
      Total stockholders' equity                          164,743     162,496 
                                                        ----------  ---------- 
                                                         $182,551    $171,850 
                                                        ==========  ========== 
 

 See accompanying notes

 
 
                            PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
 
                       CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 
                   (In thousands, except net loss per share data) 

 
                                              Year Ended December 31, 
                                         --------------------------------- 
                                            1999       1998       1997 



                                         ---------- ---------- ----------- 
Revenues: 
 Revenue under agreements with third 
   parties - other                         $26,811    $21,325     $11,137 
 Interest and other income                   8,943      9,503       9,118 
                                         ---------- ---------- ----------- 
 Total revenues                             35,754     30,828      20,255 
 
Costs and expenses: 
 Research and development                   36,090     31,645      25,614 
 General and administrative                  9,842      8,685       6,629 
 Special charge                                 --         --      11,887 
 Interest expense                              155         --         -- 
                                         ---------- ---------- ----------- 
 Total costs and expenses                   46,087     40,330      44,130 
                                         ---------- ---------- ----------- 
Net loss                                  ($10,333)   ($9,502)   ($23,875) 
                                         ========== ========== =========== 
 
Basic and diluted net loss per share        ($0.55)    ($0.51)     ($1.35) 
                                         ========== ========== =========== 
Shares used in computation of basic 
   and diluted net loss per share           18,698     18,525      17,649 
                                         ========== ========== ============= 
 

 See accompanying notes

 
 
                            PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
 
                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
 
        (In thousands, except per share and shares of common stock data) 

 
 
                                                                                 Accumulated 
                                                                                    Other       Total 
                                      Common Stock     Additional                 Compre-      Stock- 
                                   --------------------   Paid-in   Accumulated    hensive     holders' 
                                     Shares     Amount    Capital     Deficit      Income       Equity 
                                   ----------- -------- ----------- ------------ -----------  ---------- 
Balance at December 31, 1996       15,759,089     $158    $140,328     ($35,507)       $133    $105,112 
Follow-on public offering of 
  common stock at $32.00 per 
  share (net underwriters 
  discount of $4,004 and 
  offering expenses of $665)        2,275,000       22      68,109                               68,131 
Issuance of common stock to 
  investor at $44.875 per 
  share                                44,568                2,000                                2,000 
Issuance of common stock to 
  employees, consultants and 
  outside directors for cash          269,320        3       4,769                                4,772 
Extension of term of certain 
  stock options                                             11,887                               11,887 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
  Net loss                                                              (23,875)                (23,875) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 
  Unrealized gain on 
  securities                                                                            441         441 
                                                                                              ---------- 
Total comprehensive income (loss)                                                               (23,434) 
                                   ----------- -------- ----------- ------------ -----------  ---------- 
Balance at December 31, 1997       18,347,977      183     227,093      (59,382)        574     168,468 
Issuance of common stock to 
  employees, consultants and 
  outside directors for cash          247,272        3       3,942                                3,945 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
  Net loss                                                               (9,502)                 (9,502) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 
  Unrealized loss on 
  securities                                                                           (415)       (415) 
                                                                                              ---------- 
Total comprehensive income (loss)                                                                (9,917) 
                                   ----------- -------- ----------- ------------ -----------  ---------- 
Balance at December 31, 1998       18,595,249      186     231,035      (68,884)        159     162,496 



Issuance of common stock to 
  employees, consultants and 
  outside directors for cash          686,510        7      14,777                               14,784 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
  Net loss                                                              (10,333)                (10,333) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 
  Unrealized loss on 
  securities                                                                         (2,204)     (2,204) 
                                                                                              ---------- 
Total comprehensive income (loss)                                                               (12,537) 
                                   ----------- -------- ----------- ------------ -----------  ---------- 
Balance at December 31, 1999       19,281,759     $193    $245,812     ($79,217)    ($2,045)   $164,743 
                                   =========== ======== =========== ============ ===========  ========== 
 
 

  See accompanying notes

 
                            PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
 
                       CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 
                       INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 
                                       (In thousands) 

 
                                                   Year Ended December 31, 
                                                ----------------------------- 
                                                  1999      1998      1997 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net loss                                      ($10,333)  ($9,502) ($23,875) 
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net 
    cash used in operating activities 
    Depreciation and amortization                  3,538     3,690     3,244 
    Other                                           (413)      303      (706) 
    Special charge                                    --        --    11,887 
  Changes in assets and liabilities: 
    Other current assets                          (2,111)   (3,829)      470 
    Accounts payable                                (433)      835      (554) 
    Accrued liabilities                           (1,245)    1,330       289 
    Deferred revenue                                  40       631     1,604 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
Total adjustments                                   (624)    2,960    16,234 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
    Net cash used in operating activities        (10,957)   (6,542)   (7,641) 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchases of short and long term investments   (81,336) (166,120) (317,482) 
  Maturities of short and long term investments   74,900   204,300   249,681 
  Capital expenditures                           (18,815)  (16,751)   (4,565) 
  Proceeds from sale of equipment                    325        --        -- 
  Decrease (increase) in other assets                238      (191)      229 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
    Net cash provided by (used in) 
       investing activities                      (24,688)   21,238   (72,137) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Proceeds from issuance of capital stock         14,784     3,945    74,903 
  Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt        10,150        --        -- 
  Payments on long-term debt                         (58)       --        -- 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
    Net cash provided by financing activities     24,876     3,945    74,903 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
  cash equivalents                               (10,769)   18,641    (4,875) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    27,907     9,266    14,141 
                                                --------- --------- --------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year         $17,138   $27,907    $9,266 



                                                ========= ========= ========= 
 

  See accompanying notes

 
                            PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

 
                          NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
                                December 31, 1999 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization and Business 
 

Since our founding in 1986, a primary focus of our operations has been 
research and development. Achievement of successful research and 
development and commercialization of products derived from our efforts 
is subject to high levels of risk and significant resource commitments. 
Our expenses have generally exceeded revenues. As of December 31, 1999, 
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $79.2 million. We believe 
that our losses may increase because of the extensive resource 
commitments required to achieve regulatory approval and commercial 
success for any individual product. For example, over the next several 
years, we will incur substantial additional expenses as we continue to 
develop and manufacture our potential products, invest in new research 
areas and improve and expand our manufacturing capabilities. Since we or 
our collaborative partners or licensees may not be able to successfully 
develop additional products, obtain required regulatory approvals, 
manufacture products at an acceptable cost and with appropriate quality, 
or successfully market such products with desired margins, we may never 
achieve profitable operations. The amount of net losses and the time 
required to reach sustained profitability are highly uncertain. We 
cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve or sustain 
profitability. 
 

Our commitment of resources to the development of Zenapax and the 
humanized anti-IL-4 antibody, two humanized antibodies with respect to 
which we recently obtained development rights, taken together with the 
continued development of our existing products, will require significant 
additional funds for development. These operating expenses may also 
increase as some of our earlier stage potential products move into later 
stage clinical development, as additional potential products are 
selected as clinical candidates for further development, as we invest in 
additional manufacturing capacity, as we defend or prosecute our patents 
and patent applications, and as we invest in research or acquire 
additional technologies, product candidates or businesses. 
 

In the absence of substantial revenues from new corporate collaborations 
or patent licensing or humanization agreements, significant royalties on 
sales of products licensed under our intellectual property rights, 
product sales or other uncertain sources of revenue, we will incur 
substantial operating losses. 
 

Our revenues have varied in the past and will likely continue to 
fluctuate considerably from quarter to quarter and from year to year. As 
a result, our revenues in any period may not be predictive of revenues 
in any subsequent period. Our royalty revenues may be unpredictable and 
may fluctuate since they depend upon the seasonality of sales of 
licensed products, the existence of competing products, the marketing 
efforts of our licensees, potential reductions in royalties payable to 



us due to credits for prior payments to us, the timing of royalty 
reports, some of which are required quarterly and others semi-annually, 
our method of accounting for royalty revenues from our licensees and our 
ability to successfully defend and enforce our patents. Other revenue 
may also be unpredictable and may fluctuate due to the timing of 
payments of non-recurring licensing and signing fees and payments for 
manufacturing services and achievement of milestones under new and 
existing collaborative, humanization, and patent licensing agreements. 
Revenue historically recognized under our prior agreements may not be an 
indicator of revenue from any future collaborations. 
 

In addition, our expenses may be unpredictable and may fluctuate from 
quarter to quarter due to the timing of expenses, which may include 
payments owed by us under licensing arrangements and due to our policy 
of recording expenses under certain collaborative agreements during the 
quarter in which such expenses are reported to us. 
 

Principles of Consolidation 
 

During the third quarter of 1999, we formed two wholly owned 
subsidiaries to facilitate the purchase of the Company's Fremont, 
California facilities. The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of Protein Design labs, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Fremont Holding L.L.C. and Fremont Management, Inc., after elimination 
of inter-company accounts and transactions. 
 

Cash Equivalents, Investments and Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The 
"Other" adjustments line item in the Statements of Cash Flows represents 
the accretion of the book value of certain debt securities. We place our 
cash, short-term and long-term investments with high-credit-quality 
financial institutions and in securities of the U.S. government and U.S. 
government agencies and, by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure 
in any one financial instrument. To date, we have not experienced credit 
losses on investments in these instruments. 
 

Revenue Recognition 
 

Contract revenues from research and development arrangements are 
recorded as earned based on the performance requirements of the 
contracts.  Revenues from achievement of milestone events are recognized 
when the funding party agrees that the scientific or clinical results 
stipulated in the agreement have been met. Deferred revenue arises 
principally due to timing of cash payments received under research and 
development contracts. 
 

Our collaborative, humanization and patent licensing agreements with 
third parties provide for the payment of royalties to us based on net 
sales of the licensed product under the agreement.  The agreements 
generally provide for royalty payments to us following completion of 
each calendar quarter or semi-annual period and royalty revenue is 
recognized when royalty reports are received from the third party. Non- 
refundable signing and licensing fees under collaborative and 
humanization agreements are recognized over the period in which 
performance obligations are achieved. Non-refundable signing and 
licensing fees under patent licensing agreements are recognized as 
revenue when there are no future performance obligations remaining with 
respect to such fees. 
 

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff 
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial 
Statements" (SAB 101). We are evaluating the effects, if any, that SAB 
101 and the adoption of SAB 101 in the second quarter of 2000, may have 
on the results of our operations or our financial position. 
 

Net Loss Per Share 
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 
128, "Earnings Per Share" (FAS 128), net loss per share is calculated 
using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding 



during the period. Common stock equivalents from outstanding stock 
options are not included as their effect is antidilutive.Had we been in 
a net income position, diluted earnings per share for 1999, 1998, and 
1997 would have included an additional 615,000, 527,000, and 1,052,000 
shares, respectively, related to our outstanding stock options. 
 

Comprehensive Loss 
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 130, 
"Reporting Comprehensive Income" (FAS 130), we are required to display 
comprehensive loss and its components as part of our complete set of 
financial statements. The measurement and presentation of net loss did 
not change. Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other 
comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss includes certain changes in 
equity that are excluded from our net loss, Specifically FAS 130 
requires unrealized gains and losses on our holdings of available-for- 
sale securities. Comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 
1999, 1998 and 1997 is reflected in the Statements of Stockholders' 
Equity. 
 

Segment Disclosure 
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 131, 
"Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" 
(FAS 131), we are required to report operating segments and related 
disclosures about our products, services, geographic areas and major 
customers. We have no significant product revenue and have only one 
segment with facilities solely within the United States. As a result, 
the adoption of FAS 131 had no impact on our reporting. 
 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
 

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement 
No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" 
(FAS 133). FAS 133 provides a comprehensive and consistent standard for 
the recognition and measurement of derivatives and hedging activites. In 
July 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board announced the delay 
of the effective date of FAS 133 for one year, to the first quarter of 
2001. However, we have reviewed FAS 133 and because we do not use 
derivatives, the adoption of FAS 133 is not expected to have an effect 
on our results of operations or our financial position. 
 

Management Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States requires the use of 
management's estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. For example, we have 
a policy of recording expenses for clinical trials based upon pro rating 
estimated total costs of a clinical trial over the estimated length of 
the clinical trial and the number of patients anticipated to be enrolled 
in the trial. Expenses related to each patient are recognized ratably 
beginning upon entry into the trial and over the course of the trial. In 
the event of early termination of a clinical trial, management accrues 
an amount based on its estimate of the remaining non-cancellable 
obligations associated with the winding down of the clinical trial. Our 
estimates and assumptions could differ significantly from the amounts 
which may actually be realized. 
 
 

Property and Equipment 
 

Land, property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
straight-line depreciation and amortization and consist of the 
following: 
 

(In thousands) 
 

 
                                                 December 31, 
                                            --------------------- 



                                               1999       1998 
                                            ---------- ---------- 
 Land                                          $6,790         -- 
 Building and improvements                     21,720         -- 
 Leasehold improvements                         4,322     16,967 
 Laboratory and manufacturing equipment        18,057     16,468 
 Computer and office equipment                  4,785      4,625 
 Furniture and fixtures                         1,294      1,015 
                                            ---------- ---------- 
                                               56,968     39,075 
 Less accumulated depreciation                (18,921)   (16,059) 
                                            ---------- ---------- 
                                              $38,047    $23,016 
                                            ========== ========== 
 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings and improvements                      15 to 30 years 

Leasehold improvements                          Term of lease 

Laboratory and manufacturing equipment          7 years 

Computer and office equipment                   3 years 

Furniture and fixtures                          7 years 
 

2.      Collaborative, Humanization and Patent Licensing Arrangements 

Roche 
 

We have entered into product licensing agreements with Hoffmann-La Roche 
Inc. and its affiliates (Roche) for Zenapax, a humanized antibody 
created by us. Since 1998, we have received royalties from the sales of 
Zenapax by Roche. Royalties payable to us are subject to certain offsets 
for milestones, patent expenses, third party license fees and royalties 
paid by Roche under the agreements. The product licensing agreements may 
be terminated by Roche upon 90 days notice, in which event rights 
licensed to Roche will revert back to us. 
 

In October 1999, we entered into agreements with Roche to accelerate the 
development of Zenapax for the potential treatment of autoimmune 
diseases.  We assumed worldwide responsibility for the clinical 
development of Zenapax in autoimmune diseases at our cost.  Roche is to 
supply, at no cost to us, certain quantities of Zenapax for use in 
clinical testing; we may, but are under no obligation to, purchase 
additional quantities. 
 

In return for undertaking clinical development in autoimmune 
indications, we will receive a significant share of Zenapax revenues 
from sales for autoimmune indications in the form of revenue sharing 
with Roche.  We will receive the majority of net sales for all 
autoimmune indications in the United States and Canada. 
 

SmithKline 
 

In September 1999, we entered into agreements with SmithKline Beecham 
(SB) relating to two humanized antibodies discovered by SB for the 
potential treatment of asthma.  Under the terms of the agreements, we 
obtained a license to SB's humanized antibody to interleukin-4 (anti-IL- 
4).  We granted an exclusive license under our antibody humanization 
patents to SB for our humanized antibody to interleukin-5 (anti-IL-5). 
 

Under the arrangement, we will be entitled to exclusive, worldwide 
development, marketing and sales rights to the anti-IL-4 antibody unless 
SB pays an opt-in fee at the end of Phase II clinical development.  If 
SB elects to participate, the two companies will share future 
development costs and profits at a pre-agreed ratio.  We may also 
receive certain co-promotion rights in the U.S. 
 

We granted SB a worldwide, exclusive license to humanized antibodies 
directed to IL-5 under our humanization patents.  SB paid us a licensing 
fee and will pay maintenance fees and royalties on future sales, if any. 



We also granted SB an option to three licenses under our humanization 
patents for which SB will make additional payments to us upon exercise. 
 

Scil Biomedicals GmbH 
 

In March 1999, we entered into an agreement with Scil Biomedicals GmbH 
(Scil) for rights to develop and market our SMARTTM (humanized) Anti-L- 
Selectin Antibody in Europe. Scil paid us a $3.0 million non-refundable, 
non-creditable signing and licensing fee for rights to the SMART Anti-L- 
Selectin Antibody in the territory, and we will be entitled to royalties 
on sales, if any.  The agreement provides for us to make milestone 
payments to Scil, at our election, upon the achievement of specified 
clinical and regulatory goals. 
 

Lilly 
 

In December 1997, we entered into a research, development and licensing 
agreement with Eli Lilly & Company (Lilly). We received a non-refundable 
licensing and signing fee under the agreement of $3.0 million in 1997, 
of which we recognized $1.35 million in 1997. We recognized $2.4 million 
and $1.8 million in research and development funding under the agreement 
in 1999 and 1998, respectively. Related costs under the agreement are 
anticipated to approximate the related research and development funding 
revenue and the costs incurred are included in research and development 
expenses in the accompanying financial statements. The agreement further 
provides for additional annual research funding of $2.4 million for the 
third through fifth years if the agreement is not earlier terminated. In 
addition, under this agreement we can earn milestones, receive royalty 
payments on net sales of licensed products and negotiate co-promotion 
rights in the U.S. and Canada. The agreement may be terminated by Lilly 
upon written notice ranging from 90-180 days upon the occurrence of 
certain events, including the event that certain key personnel are no 
longer associated with us or are unable to fulfill certain obligations 
under the agreement with Lilly. 
 

Humanization Agreements 
 

We have entered into a number of antibody humanization agreements 
pursuant to which we have performed antibody humanization services and 
granted patent licenses to specified antibody targets. Generally, under 
these agreements, we received a licensing and signing fee and the right 
to receive milestone payments for achievement of certain specified 
milestones, as well as royalties on product sales, if any.  Under some 
of these agreements, we received certain rights to co-promote the 
product. 
 

Patent Licensing Arrangements 
 

In December 1999, we entered into a patent rights agreement with 
Celltech Chiroscience plc (Celltech) covering certain intellectual 
property in the field of humanized monoclonal antibodies. Under the 
agreement, Celltech paid a $3.0 million non-creditable, non-refundable 
up-front fees for rights to worldwide non-exclusive licenses under our 
antibody humanization patents (generally referred to as the Queen et al. 
patents) for up to three Celltech antibodies. Concurrently, we paid 
Celltech a non-creditable, non-refundable up-front fee for rights to 
worldwide non-exclusive licenses under Celltech's antibody humanization 
patent (Adair patent) for up to three of our antibodies. Further, upon 
exercise of a license for a particular antibody, we or Celltech will pay 
an additional license fee to the other company. Each company will pay 
royalties to the other on potential sales of licensed antibodies, if 
any. 
 

In 1998, we entered into an arrangement with Genentech, Inc. (Genentech) 
pursuant to which either party may obtain a nonexclusive license to 
certain intellectual property rights related to monoclonal antibodies 
held by the other party. Under the arrangement, we received a $6.0 
million non-refundable signing and licensing fee recognized as revenue 
and paid $1.0 million in expenses in 1998. In 1998, Genentech exercised 
its rights to obtain a license under the arrangement and entered into a 
nonexclusive license agreement for Herceptin® pursuant to which we 
recognized an additional $1.0 million in income. The license for 
Herceptin also includes the payment of royalties to us based on product 



sales. 
 

We have entered into numerous patent licensing agreements relating to 
antibodies humanized by other companies. Generally, under these 
agreements, we granted a worldwide, nonexclusive or exclusive license 
under our humanized antibody patents to the other company for an 
antibody to a specific target antigen. In each case, we received a 
licensing and signing fee and the right to receive royalties on net 
sales of licensed products.  Under some of these agreements, we could 
also receive milestone payments. 
 

3.      Other Accrued Liabilities 

At December 31, other accrued liabilities consisted of the following: 
 

(In thousands) 
 
 

 
                                                 December 31, 
                                            --------------------- 
                                               1999       1998 
                                            ---------- ---------- 
   Employee stock purchase plan                  $477       $443 
   Clinical trials                                712      1,293 
   Accrued rent                                    19         21 
   Construction payable                            --      1,307 
   Contract payable                               660         -- 
   Other accrued liabilities                    1,606      1,820 
                                            ---------- ---------- 
                                               $3,474     $4,884 
                                            ========== ========== 
 

We have a policy of recording expenses for clinical trials based upon 
pro rating estimated total costs of a clinical trial over the estimated 
length of the clinical trial and the number of patients anticipated to 
be enrolled in the trial. Expenses related to each patient are 
recognized ratably beginning upon entry into the trial and over the 
course of the trial. In the event of early termination of a clinical 
trial, management accrues an amount based on our estimate of the 
remaining non-cancellable obligations associated with the winding down 
of the clinical trial. 
 

4. Commitments 

We occupy or are responsible for leased facilities under agreements that 
expire in 2000 and 2004. We also have leased certain office equipment 
under operating leases. Rental expense under these arrangements totaled 
approximately $2.7 million, $2.5 million, and $1.7 million for the years 
ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. In December 1998, 
the Company subleased its Mountain View, California facility to two 
third parties. Under these subleases, the Company recognized rental 
income of approximately $1.2 million and $0.1 million for the years 
ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. 
 

At December 31, 1999 the total future minimum non-cancelable payments 
under these operating lease agreements are approximately as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

 
   2000                                        $1,545 
   2001                                           525 
   2002                                           520 
   2003                                           495 
   2004                                           160 
                                            ---------- 
   Total                                       $3,245 
                                            ========== 
 

Effective in June 1997, the Company entered into a Sponsored Research 
Agreement with Stanford University (Stanford) to provide funding and 
equipment support over a period of 3 years for the laboratory of Stanley 
Falkow, Ph.D.  In 1999 and 1998, the Company provided approximately $0.6 
million in annual funding and equipment support  under this commitment. 



Dr. Falkow resigned as a member of the Board of Directors in September 
1998. The funding arrangement provides us with certain exclusive rights 
to intellectual property resulting from the research efforts in Dr. 
Falkow's laboratory at Stanford during the funding period. 
 

5. Short- and Long-Term Investments 

We invest our excess cash balances primarily in short-term and long-term 
marketable securities and U.S. government and government agency notes. 
These securities are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for- 
sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and 
losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders' 
equity. The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for 
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such 
amortization is included in interest income. The cost of securities sold 
is based on the specific identification method, when applicable. 
 

The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities. Estimated 
fair value is based upon quoted market prices for these or similar 
instruments. 
 

 
                                           Available-for-Sale Securities 
                                     ----------------------------------------- 
                                                  Gross      Gross     Estimated 
                                                Unrealized Unrealized    Fair 
                                       Cost       Gains      Losses      Value 
                                     ---------  ---------  ---------  --------- 
December 31, 1999 
 
Securities of the 
 U.S. Government and 
 its agencies                        $115,385        $ --    ($2,183)  $113,202 
 U.S. corporate securities              9,808         138         --      9,946 
                                     ---------   ---------   --------- --------- 
Total debt securities                $125,193        $138    ($2,183)  $123,148 
                                     =========   =========   ========= ========= 
 
December 31, 1998 
 
Securities of the 
 U.S. Government and 
 its agencies                        $115,373        $232       ($99)  $115,506 
 U.S. corporate securities             13,922          27         (1)    13,948 
                                     ---------   ---------   --------- --------- 
Total debt securities                $129,295        $259      ($100)  $129,454 
                                     =========   =========   ========= ========= 
 

During 1999 and 1998, there were no realized gains or losses on the sale 
of available-for-sale securities, as all securities liquidated in each 
of these years were held to maturity. The remaining contractual period 
until maturity of short-term and long-term investments generally range 
from 0 to 1 month, and 16 to 28 months, respectively. 
 

6. Stockholders' Equity 

1997 Public Offering 
 

In March 1997, we completed a public offering in which we sold 2,275,000 
shares of common stock at a price per share of $32.00.  The net proceeds 
of this offering were approximately $68.2 million. 
 

1997 Private Placement 
 

In October 1997, we entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with 
Toagosei pursuant to which we sold 44,568 shares of our Common Stock to 
Toagosei at a price of $44.875.  The net proceeds of this offering were 
approximately $2.0 million. 
 

1991 Stock Option Plan  
 

In December 1991, the Board of Directors adopted the 1991 Stock Option 
Plan (Option Plan). We reserved 4,000,000 shares of common stock for the 



grant of options under the Option Plan. At December 31, 1999, 237,346 
shares were available for grant. 
 

At December 31, 1999, options to purchase 960,460 shares were 
exercisable at prices ranging from $6.25 to $43.75. Options granted 
under the Option Plan generally vest at the rate of 25 percent at the 
end of the first year, with the remaining balance vesting monthly over 
the next three years in the case of employees, and ratably over two or 
five years in the case of advisors and consultants. 
 

Outside Directors' Stock Option Plan 
 

In February 1992 the Board of Directors adopted the Outside Directors' 
Stock Option Plan (Directors' Plan). We reserved 200,000 shares of 
common stock for the grant of options under the Directors' Plan. Through 
December 31, 1999, the Company granted  options to purchase 165,000 
shares at exercise prices ranging from $7.25 to $38.75 per share, of 
which 25,000 were canceled. At December 31, 1999 55,500 were 
exercisable. Options granted pursuant to the Directors' Plan vest 
ratably over five years. A total of 33,000 options were exercised 
through December 31, 1999. 
 

1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan  
 

In February 1993, the Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (Employee Purchase Plan). We reserved 300,000 shares of 
common stock for the purchase of shares by employees under the Employee 
Purchase Plan, At December 31, 1999, 65,304 shares remain available for 
purchase.  Eligibility to participate in the Employee Purchase Plan is 
essentially limited to full time employees who own less than 5% of the 
outstanding shares. Under the Employee Purchase Plan, eligible employees 
can purchase shares of our common stock based on a percentage of their 
compensation, up to certain limits. The purchase price per share must 
equal at least the lower of 85% of the market value on the date offered 
or on the date purchased. During 1999, an aggregate of 46,200 shares 
were purchased by employees under the Employee Purchase Plan at prices 
of $18.86 or $19.66 per share. 
 

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan 
 

In August 1999, the Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Nonstatutory 
Stock Option Plan (the Nonstatutory Option Plan). We reserved 1,000,000 
shares of common stock for the grant of options under the Nonstatutory 
Option Plan. As of December 31, 1999, 721,883 shares were available for 
grant. 
 

At December 31, 1999, options to purchase 20,256 shares were exercisable 
at a price of $26.56. Options granted under the Nonstatutory Option 
Plan, pursuant to the standard form of option agreement for employees, 
vest at the rate of 25 percent at the end of the first year, with the 
remaining balance vesting monthly over the next three years. 
 

In August 1999, we granted supplemental options under the Nonstatutory 
Option Plan to employees (excluding officers and directors) who had 
options with exercise prices greater than $29.00 under the 1991 Stock 
Option Plan, the then current market price of our common stock. These 
supplemental grants vest monthly over a two year period beginning 
September 1999. The vesting on the corresponding original grants under 
the 1991 Stock Option Plan was halted and will resume in September 2001. 
 

1999 Stock Option Plan 
 

In April 1999, the Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan 
(the 1999 Option Plan) subject to approval by our stockholders, which 
approval occurred in June 1999. We reserved 925,000 shares of common 
stock for the grant of options under the 1999 Option Plan. As of 
December 31, 1999, 784,958 shares were available for grant. 
 

At December 31, 1999, options to purchase 17,673 shares were exercisable 
at a price of  $26.56. Options granted under the 1999 Option Plan, 
pursuant to the standard form of option agreement for employees, vest at 



the rate of 25 percent at the end of the first year, with the remaining 
balance vesting monthly over the next three years. 
 

In August 1999, we granted supplemental options under the 1999 Option 
Plan to officers and directors (but excluding employee directors) who 
had options with exercise prices greater than $29.00 under the 1991 
Stock Option Plan, the then current market price of our common stock. 
These supplemental grants vest monthly over a two year period beginning 
September 1999. The vesting on the corresponding original grants under 
the 1991 Stock Option Plan was halted and will resume in September 2001. 
 

Stock Option Activity 
 

Included in other current assets at December 31, 1999 is an aggregate 
receivable from third parties of $2.5 million related to stock option 
exercises. 
 

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
 

We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
"Accounting of Stock Issued to Employees" (APB 25) and related 
interpretations, in accounting for stock-based awards to employees, 
consultants and directors under the Option Plan, Directors' Plan, the 
1999 Nonstatutory Option Plan and the 1999 Option Plan because, as 
discussed below, the alternative fair value accounting provided for 
under Financial Accounting Standard 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation" (FAS 123) requires use of option valuation models that 
were not developed for use in valuing employee stock-based awards. 
Under APB 25, because the exercise price of our stock options equals the 
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no 
compensation expense is recognized.  Pro forma information regarding net 
income and earnings per share in 1999, 1998 and 1997 has been determined 
as if we had accounted for our stock-based awards under the fair value 
method prescribed by FAS 123.  The resulting effect on pro forma net 
income and earnings per share on a pro forma basis disclosed for 1999, 
1998 and 1997 is not likely to be representative of the effects on net 
income and earnings per share on a pro forma basis in future years, 
because subsequent years will include additional years of vesting. The 
1997 pro forma net loss excludes the $11.9 million non-cash special 
charge related to the extension of all stock options granted prior to 
February 1995 except stock options granted to one non-employee director 
(See Note 9).  The special charge represents the intrinsic value of the 
modified options calculated in accordance with APB 25.  Under FAS 123, 
only the additional compensation cost related to the time value of the 
modified options is included in pro forma net losses. 
 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

 
                                          Year Ended December 31, 
                                     ----------------------------- 
                                       1999      1998      1997 
                                     --------- --------- --------- 
Net loss: 
  As reported                        ($10,333)  ($9,502) ($23,875) 
  Pro forma                          ($17,435) ($17,626) ($17,727) 
Loss per share: 
  As reported                          ($0.55)   ($0.51)   ($1.35) 
  Pro forma                            ($0.93)   ($0.95)   ($1.00) 
 

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes options pricing model with the following 
weighted-average assumptions used for grants in each of 1999, 1998 and 
1997, respectively: (a) no dividends; (b) expected volatility of 72% for 
1999, 75% for 1998 and 55% for prior years; (c) weighted-average risk- 
free interest rates of 5.39%, 5.45% and 6.22%; and (d) expected lives of 
5 years. 
 

A summary of the status of our stock option plans at December 31, 1999, 
1998 and 1997, and changes during the years ending those dates is 
presented below. 
 
(In thousands, except exercise price data) 
 



 
                                            1999                1998                1997 
                                    ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
                                              Weighted            Weighted            Weighted 
                                               Average             Average             Average 
                                              Exercise            Exercise            Exercise 
                                     Shares     Price    Shares     Price    Shares     Price 
                                    --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- 
Outstanding at beginning of year       2,487    $25.90     2,100    $22.25     1,941    $18.44 
    Granted                            1,095     22.05       803     32.70       448     36.25 
    Exercised                           (639)    21.65      (215)    15.06      (237)    17.16 
    Forfeited                           (265)    26.78      (200)    26.48       (52)    23.66 
                                    ---------           ---------           --------- 
Outstanding at end of year             2,678     25.17     2,488     25.90     2,100     22.25 
                                    =========           =========           ========= 
 
Weighted average fair value of 
  options granted during the year               $13.92              $21.23              $21.33 
                                              =========           =========           ========= 
 
Exercisable at end of year                       1,054               1,200                 998 
                                              =========           =========           ========= 
 

The following information applies to all stock options outstanding under 
our stock option plans at December 31, 1999: 
 

 (In thousands, except exercise prices and remaining contractual life 
data) 
 

 
                          Options Outstanding          Options Exercisable 
                   --------------------------------- ---------------------- 
                                Weighted- 
                                 Average   Weighted-             Weighted- 
                                Remaining   Average               Average 
    Range of         Number    Contractual Exercise    Number     Exercise 
   Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (years)  Price   Exercisable   Price 
- ------------------ ----------- ----------- --------- ----------- ---------- 
 $6.25  to $10.50          57        2.41     $7.69          57      $7.69 
$12.13  to $18.13         916        6.92    $16.37         428     $15.36 
$19.06  to $29.25         970        8.38    $24.18         325     $24.37 
$31.50  to $48.00         735        8.12    $38.70         244     $38.10 
                   -----------                       ----------- 
                        2,678                $25.17       1,054     $23.11 
                   ===========                       =========== 
 

7. Income Taxes 

As of December 31, 1999, we have federal and California state net 
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $69,900,000  and 
$4,800,000, respectively. We also have federal and California state 
research and other tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4,200,000 
and $2,100,000, respectively. The federal net operating loss and credit 
carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year 2002 
through 2019, if not utilized.  The California state net operating 
losses will expire at various dates beginning in 2000 through 2004, if 
not utilized. 
 

Utilization of the federal and California state net operating loss and 
credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation 
due to the "change in ownership" provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net 
operating losses and credits before utilization. 
 

Significant components of our deferred tax assets for federal and state 
income taxes as of December 31 are as follows: 
 

(In thousands) 
 

 
                                                 1999      1998 
                                               --------- --------- 
 Deferred tax assets: 
    Net operating loss carryforwards            $24,000   $18,800 
    Research and other credits                    6,300     5,600 



    Deferred revenue                                900       900 
    Capitalized research and development          2,100     3,800 
    Other                                         1,900      (100) 
                                               --------- --------- 
 Total deferred tax assets                       35,200    29,000 
 Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset     (35,200)  (29,000) 
                                               --------- --------- 
 Net deferred tax assets                          $  --     $  -- 
                                               ========= ========= 
 

Because of our lack of earnings history, the deferred tax assets have 
been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance 
increased by $900,000 and $11,000,000 during the years ended December 
31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. 
 

Approximately $5,000,000 of the valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets relates to benefits of stock option deductions which, when 
recognized, will be allocated directly to contributed capital. 
 

8. Legal Proceedings 

PDL is involved in administrative opposition proceedings being conducted 
by the European Patent Office (EPO) with respect to our first European 
patent relating to humanized antibodies. Eighteen notices of opposition 
to our first European patent were filed during the opposition period for 
the patent, including oppositions by major pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies, which cited references and made arguments not 
considered by the EPO before grant of the patent. We expect a decision 
from the EPO at an oral hearing currently scheduled to take place in 
March 2000. A non-binding, preliminary view from the EPO received in May 
1999 raised significant questions regarding the validity of the first 
European patent, which, if not satisfactorily responded to by us in the 
oral hearing, could result in revocation of certain claims or the entire 
European patent. At the oral hearing, we expect that the EPO will either 
maintain the patent in full, maintain the patent in an amended version 
in which the scope of the patent's coverage is narrowed, or revoke the 
patent. Any of the parties to the opposition, including PDL, may appeal 
this decision to a board of appeals within the EPO, and any appeal could 
be pending for several years. 
 

Until the uncertainty regarding our first European patent is resolved we 
may be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate 
future licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements 
based on this patent. An unfavorable result could also jeopardize our 
royalty payments and potential license arrangements and could encourage 
challenges of related patents in other jurisdictions, including the U.S. 
In addition, an unfavorable result may lead some of our licensees to 
stop making royalty payments, which would require us to initiate formal 
legal actions to enforce our rights under our various humanization 
patents, including the European patent. In addition, if we were to 
commence an infringement action against a company that is not a party to 
the opposition proceedings, it is possible that that company would be 
permitted to become a party in the opposition proceedings. We have no 
assurance that we will successfully enforce our rights under our 
European or related U.S. and Japanese patents. The nine month opposition 
period for our second European antibody humanization patent ends in May 
2000, and we expect that a significant number of notices of opposition 
will be filed with respect to this patent. We have also been advised 
that three opposition statements have been filed with the Japanese 
Patent Office with respect to our humanization patent issued in Japan in 
late 1998. 
 

We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese 
patent in these proceedings; however, we may not prevail in the 
opposition proceedings or any litigation contesting the validity of 
these patents. If the outcome of the European or Japanese opposition 
proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody humanization 
patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect royalties on 
existing licensed products and to license our patents relating to 
humanized antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, these 
proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual property 
rights or defend against infringement claims by others, could result in 
substantial costs and diversion of management's time and attention, 
which could materially harm our business and financial condition. 
 

9. Special Charge



In 1997, we incurred a non-cash special charge of approximately $11.9 
million related to the extension of the term of all our stock options 
held by employees, officers, directors and consultants that were granted 
prior to February 1995, with the single exception of stock options 
granted to one non-employee director. The non-cash special charge 
conforms the term of previously granted stock options, which was six 
years, to those granted since February 1995, ten years. The special 
charge resulted in an increase in additional paid-in capital of 
approximately $11.9 million, although no proceeds were received by us. 
 

10.  Long-Term Debt

In September 1999, Fremont Holding L.L.C. (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Protein Design Labs, Inc.) obtained a $10.2 million term loan to 
purchase our Fremont, California facilities. The loan bears interest at 
the rate of 7.64% per year amortized over 15 years with principal and 
interest payable monthly. The loan is secured by our Fremont, California 
facilities and is subject to the terms and covenants of the loan 
agreement. 
 

At December 31, 1999 the total future minimum non-cancelable principal 
payments under this term loan are approximately as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

 
   2000                                          $368 
   2001                                           400 
   2002                                           432 
   2003                                           466 
   2004                                           502 
   Thereafter                                   7,924 
                                            ---------- 
   Total                                       $3,245 
                                            ========== 
 

11. Subsequent Events

In February 2000, we issued 5.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 
February 15, 2007 with a principal amount of $150 million (the 
Convertible Notes). The Convertible Notes are convertible into our 
common stock at a conversion price of $151.00 per share, subject to 
adjustment in certain events and at the holders' option. Interest on the 
Convertible Notes is payable semiannually in arrears on February 15 and 
August 15 of each year. The Convertible Notes are unsecured and are 
subordinated to all our existing and future Senior Indebtedness (as 
defined in the indenture relating to the Convertible Notes). The 
Convertible Notes may be redeemed at our option, in whole or in part, 
beginning on February 15, 2003 at the redemption prices set forth in the 
Convertible Notes indenture. We plan to file a shelf registration 
statement covering resales of the Convertible Notes and the common stock 
issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes. 
 

At an oral hearing in March 2000, the Opposition Division (OD) of the 
EPO decided to revoke the broad claims in our first European patent 
based on formal matters of European patent law, specifically that there 
had been an impermissible addition of subject matter after the filing of 
the original European patent application, but did not provide the 
rationale behind its decision. The decision upheld claims that protect 
Zenapax.   The OD did not otherwise announce a decision on the issue of 
whether the claims in our patent are inventive in light of the prior art 
or other issues of patentability. We plan to appeal the OD's decision to 
the Technical Board of Appeals at the EPO.  The Technical Board of 
Appeals will consider all issues anew.  The appeal suspends the decision 
of the OD during the appeals process, which is likely to take several 
years. 
 

Until our appeal regarding our first European patent is resolved, we may 
be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate future 
licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based 
on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if our appeal is 
unsuccessful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of 
antibodies humanized by others would depend on the scope and validity of 
our second European patent, whether the antibodies are manufactured in a 
country outside of Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, 
and in that case the terms of our license agreements with respect to 
that situation. Also, the OD's decision could encourage challenges of 



our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the U.S. The OD's 
decision may lead some of our licensees to stop making royalty payments 
or lead potential licensees not to take a license, which might result in 
us initiating formal legal actions to enforce our rights under our 
various humanization patents.  In such a situation, a likely defensive 
strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that 
jurisdiction.   During the appeals process with respect to our first 
European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action to 
enforce that patent, such an action would likely be stayed until the 
appeal is decided by the EPO. We have no assurance that we will 
successfully enforce our rights under our European or related U.S. and 
Japanese patents. The nine month opposition period for our second 
European antibody humanization patent ends in May 2000, and we expect 
that a significant number of notices of opposition will be filed with 
respect to this patent. We have also been advised that three opposition 
statements have been filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect 
to our humanization patent issued in Japan in late 1998. 
 

We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese 
patent in these proceedings; however, we may not prevail in the 
opposition proceedings or any litigation contesting the validity of 
these patents. If our appeal with respect to our first European patent 
is unsuccessful or if the outcome of the other European or Japanese 
opposition proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody 
humanization patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect 
royalties on existing licensed products and to license our patents 
relating to humanized antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, 
these proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual 
property rights or defend against infringement claims by others, could 
result in substantial costs and diversion of management's time and 
attention, which could materially harm our business and financial 
condition. 
 
 
 

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Protein Design Labs, Inc. 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Protein 
Design Labs, Inc. as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these - 
financial statements based on our audits. 
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinion. 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Protein Design Labs, Inc. as of  December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the 
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP



 
 
Palo Alto, California 
February 1, 2000 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 9.       CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

       Not Applicable. 
 
 
 
 
 

PART III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Report in 
that the Registrant will file in a definitive proxy statement pursuant 
to Regulation 14A for the 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the 
"Proxy Statement") not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal 
year covered by this Report, and certain information included therein is 
incorporated by reference. 
 
 

ITEM 10.      EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The information concerning our directors as required by this Item is 
incorporated by reference to the Section entitled "Nomination of 
Director" of the Proxy Statement. 
 

The information concerning our executive officers as required by this 
Item is incorporated by reference to the Section entitled "Executive 
Officers of the Registrant" of the Proxy Statement. 
 

The information concerning compliance with requirements regarding 
reporting of timely filing of statements regarding changes in beneficial 
ownership of our securities as required by this Item is incorporated by 
reference to the Section entitled "Section 16(a) Reporting"  of the 
Proxy Statement. 
 
 

ITEM 11.      EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by 
reference to the Section entitled "Executive Compensation and Other 
Matters" of the Proxy Statement. 
 
 

ITEM 12.     SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

        The information required by this Item is incorporated by 
reference to the Section entitled "Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management" of the Proxy Statement. 
 

ITEM 13.     CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 

        The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference 
to the Section entitled "Executive Compensation and Other Matters - 
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" of the 
Proxy Statement. 
 



 

PART IV

ITEM 14.     EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON  FORM  8-K

(a)     The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
 

(1)     Index to financial statements 
 

        The following financial statements of the Company and the Report 
of the Independent Auditors are included in Part II, Item 8. 
 
 

 
Balance Sheets

 
Statements of Operations

 
Statements of Stockholders' Equity

 
Statements of Cash Flows

 
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors 
 

(2)     All financial statement schedules are omitted 
        because the information is inapplicable or presented 
        in the Financial Statements or notes. 
 
 
 

(3)     The items listed on the Index to Exhibits on page __ 
        are incorporated herein by reference. 
 

(b)     Reports on Form 8-K. 

        None. 

(c)     See (a)(3) above. 
 

(d)     See (a)(3) above. 
 
 

 
                                   SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

Delaware 94-3023969
  (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)



 PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
 By: /s/ LAURENCE JAY KORN

Date:  March 28, 2000 
 
 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report 
has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and 
in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

 
        Signature                          Title                      Date 
- -------------------------- ------------------------------------- -------------- 
   /s/ LAURENCE JAY KORN   Chief Executive Officer and           March 28, 2000 
- -------------------------- Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
(Laurence Jay Korn)        (Principal Executive Officer) 
 
 
   /s/ ROBERT L. KIRKMAN   Vice President, Business Development  March 27, 2000 
- -------------------------- and Corporate Communications 
(Robert L. Kirkman)        (Principal Accounting Officer) 
 
 
 
   /s/ JON S. SAXE         President and Director                March 29, 2000 
- -------------------------- (Principal Accounting Officer) 
(Jon S. Saxe) 
 
 
   /s/ CARY L. QUEEN       Director                              March 28, 2000 
- -------------------------- 
(Cary L. Queen) 
 
 
   /s/ GEORGE M. GOULD     Director                              March 21, 2000 
- -------------------------- 
(George M. Gould) 
 
 
   /s/ MAX LINK            Director                              March 15, 2000 
- -------------------------- 
(Max Link) 
 
 
   /s/ JURGEN DREWS        Director                              March 28, 2000 
- -------------------------- 
(Jurgen Drews) 
 

          INDEX TO EXHIBITS

  

 
 Laurence Jay Korn,
 Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of the Board of Directors

____________ 

         * Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement 
 
 





 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.33

PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC., as Issuer 

CHASE MANHATTAN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
a national banking association, 
as Trustee

INDENTURE

Dated as of February 15, 2000

Up to  $150,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount

5.50% CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES DUE FEBRUARY 15, 2007

INDENTURE, dated as of February 15, 2000, between Protein Design 
Labs, Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the 
State of Delaware, having its principal office at 34801 Campus Drive, Fremont, 
California 94555 (herein called the "Company"), and Chase Manhattan Bank and 
Trust Company, National Association, a national banking association, as 
Trustee hereunder (herein called the "Trustee"). 
 

        RECITALS OF THE COMPANY

The Company has duly authorized the creation of an issue of its 5.50% 
Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007 (herein called the 
"Securities"), of substantially the tenor and amount hereinafter set forth, 
and to provide therefor the Company has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Indenture. 
 

All things necessary to make the Securities, when the Securities are 
executed by the Company and authenticated and delivered hereunder, the valid 
obligations of the Company and to make this Indenture a valid agreement of the 
Company, in accordance with their and its terms, have been done.  Further, all 



things necessary to duly authorize the issuance of shares of common stock of 
the Company issuable upon the conversion of the Securities, and to duly 
reserve for issuance the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon such 
conversion, have been done. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH: 
 
For and in consideration of the premises and the purchase of the 
Securities by the Holders thereof, it is mutually covenanted and agreed, for 
the equal and proportionate benefit of all Holders of the Securities, as 
follows: 
 

        ARTICLE ONE

        DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS 
        OF GENERAL APPLICATION

SECTION 1.1     Definitions.

For all purposes of this Indenture, except as otherwise expressly 
provided or unless the context otherwise requires: 
 

(a)     the terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to 
them in this Article and include the plural as well as the singular; 
 

(b)     all accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the 
meanings assigned to them in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States; and 
 
 

(c)     the words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of 
similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular 
Article, Section or other subdivision. 
 

"Act," when used with respect to any Holder of a Security, has the 
meaning specified in Section 1.4. 
 

"Affiliate" of any specified Person means any other Person directly or 
indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common 
control with such specified Person.  For the purposes of this definition, 
"control," when used with respect to any specified Person, means the power to 
direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, 
whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; 
and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have meanings correlative to the 
foregoing. 
 

"Member" means any member of, or participant in, the Depositary. 
 

"aggregate current market price" has the meaning specified in Section 
10.4(e). 
 

"Applicable Procedures" means, with respect to any transfer or 
transaction involving a Global Security or beneficial interest therein, the 
rules and procedures of the Depositary for such Security, to the extent 
applicable to such transaction and as in effect from time to time. 
 

"Authenticating Agent" means any Person authorized pursuant to 
Section 5.12 to act on behalf of the Trustee to authenticate Securities. 
 

"Average Sales Price Per Share" means, with respect to the Common Stock 
of the Company, for any day, (1) the average of the high and low sales price 
per share regular way on a national securities exchange or, (2) if the Common 
Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, the average of the high 



and low sales price per share regular way on The Nasdaq National Market, or 
(3) if the Common Stock is not quoted on The Nasdaq National Market or listed 
or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the average of the 
high and low sales prices in the over-the-counter market as furnished by any 
New York Stock Exchange member firm selected from time to time by the Company 
for that purpose. 
 

"Board of Directors" means either the board of directors of the Company 
or any duly authorized committee of that board. 
 

"Board Resolution" means a resolution duly adopted by the Board of 
Directors, a copy of which, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant 
Secretary of the Company to have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors 
and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification, shall 
have been delivered to the Trustee. 
 

"Business Day," when used with respect to any Place of Payment, Place of 
Conversion or any other place, as the case may be, means each Monday, Tuesday, 
Wednesday, Thursday and Friday that is not a day on which banking institutions 
in such Place of Payment, Place of Conversion or other place, as the case may 
be, are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close; provided, 
however, that a day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are 
authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close shall not be a 
Business Day for purposes of Section 9.6 or Section 10.5. 
 

"Cash Equivalents" means (1) securities issued or directly and fully 
guaranteed or insured by the United States government or any agency or 
instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of the United 
States is pledged in support thereof) having maturities of not more than six 
months from the date of acquisition, (2) certificates of deposit and 
eurodollar time deposits with maturities of six months or less from the date 
of acquisition, bankers' acceptances with maturities not exceeding six months 
and overnight bank deposits, in each case with any domestic commercial bank 
having capital and surplus in excess of U.S.$500,000,000 and a Thompson Bank 
Watch Rating of "B" or better, (3) repurchase obligations with a term of not 
more than seven days for underlying securities of the types described in 
clause (1) above entered into with any financial institution meeting the 
qualifications specified in clause (2) above, (4) commercial paper having the 
highest rating obtainable from Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & 
Poor's Ratings Services and in each case maturing within six months after the 
date of acquisition and (5) money market funds at least 95% of the assets of 
which constitute Cash Equivalents of the kinds described in clauses (1)-(4) of 
this definition, including any portfolios for which the Trustee or any of its 
Affiliates provides investment advisory or management services. 
 

"Change in Control" means the occurrence at any time, after the original 
issuance of the Securities, of any of the following events: 
 

(1)     the acquisition by any Person (including any syndicated 
group that would be deemed to be a "person" under Section 13(d) (3) of 
the Exchange Act) of beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, 
through a purchase, merger or other acquisition transaction or series of 
transactions, of shares of capital stock of the Company entitling such 
Person to exercise more than 50% of the total voting power of all shares 
of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the 
elections of directors, other than any such acquisition by the Company, 
any Subsidiary or any employee benefit plan of the Company; or 
 

(2)     any Person shall succeed in having sufficient of its 
nominees (who are not 
supported by a majority of the then current Board of Directors of the 
Company) elected to the Board of Directors of the Company such that such 
nominees, when added to any existing directors remaining on the Board of 
Directors of the Company after such election who are Affiliates of or 
acting in concert with any such Person, shall constitute a majority of 
the Board of Directors of the Company; or 
 

(3)     any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any 
other   Person, or any merger of another Person with or into the 
Company (other than (A) a merger (i) that does not result in any 
reclassification, conversion, exchange or cancellation of outstanding 
shares of the Company's capital stock and (ii) pursuant to which holders 
of Common Stock immediately prior to such transaction have the 
entitlement to exercise, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the 



total voting power of all shares of capital stock or other ownership 
interests entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the 
continuing or surviving Person immediately after such transaction and 
(B) any merger that is effected solely to change the jurisdiction of 
incorporation of the Company and results in a reclassification, 
conversion or exchange of outstanding shares of Common Stock solely into 
shares of common stock of the Company or another Person); or 
 

(3)     any conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition 
of all or substantially all of the Company's assets to another 
Person; 
 

provided, however, that a Change in Control shall not be deemed to have 
occurred if the Average Sales Price Per Share on any five Trading Days within 
(A) the period of 10 consecutive Trading Days ending immediately after the 
later of the date of the Change in Control or the date of the public 
announcement of the Change in Control (in the case of a Change in Control 
under clause (1) above but not clause (2) or (3) above) or (B) the period of 
10 consecutive Trading Days ending immediately prior to the date of the Change 
in Control (in the case of a Change in Control under clause (2) or (3) above) 
shall, in either case, equal or exceed 105% of the Conversion Price of the 
Securities in effect on each such Trading Day.  For the purposes of this 
definition, "beneficial owner," has the meaning attributed to it in Rules 13d- 
3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, whether or not applicable. 
 

"Code" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1. 
 

"combined cash and tender amount" has the meaning specified in Section 
10.4(e). 
 

"combined tender and cash amount" has the meaning specified in Section 
10.4(f). 
 

"Commission" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, 
as from time to time constituted, created under the Exchange Act, or, if at 
any time after the execution of this instrument such Commission is not 
existing and performing the duties now assigned to it under the Trust 
Indenture Act, then the body performing such duties at such time. 
 

"Common Stock" means the shares of the class designated as common stock 
of the Company at the date of this Indenture or as such stock may be 
reconstituted from time to time. Subject to the provisions of Section 10.11, 
shares issuable on conversion or repurchase of Securities shall include only 
shares of Common Stock or shares of any class or classes of common stock 
resulting from any reclassification or reclassifications thereof; provided, 
however, that if at any time there shall be more than one such resulting 
class, the shares so issuable on conversion of Securities shall include shares 
of all such classes, and the shares of each such class then so issuable shall 
be substantially in the proportion that the total number of shares of such 
class resulting from all such reclassifications bears to the total number of 
shares of all such classes resulting from all such reclassifications. 
 

"Company" means the Person named as the "Company" in the first paragraph 
of this instrument until a successor Person shall have become such pursuant to 
the applicable provisions of this Indenture, and thereafter "Company" shall 
mean such successor Person. 
 

"Company Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 12.3(a). 
 

"Company Request" or "Company Order" means a written request or order 
signed in the name of the Company by its Chairperson of the Board, its Vice 
Chairperson of the Board, its Chief Executive Officer, its President or a Vice 
President, and by its Chief Financial Officer, its principal financial 
officer, its principal accounting officer, its Treasurer, an Assistant 
Treasurer, its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, and delivered to the 
Trustee. 
 

"Completion Date" has the meaning specified in Section 10.4(f). 
 

"Constituent Person" has the meaning specified in Section 10.11. 
 



"Conversion Agent" means any Person authorized by the Company to convert 
Securities in accordance with Article Ten.  The Company has initially 
appointed the Trustee as its Conversion Agent. 
 

"Conversion Price" means the amount equal to U.S. $1,000 divided by the 
Conversion Rate. 
 

"Conversion Rate" has the meaning specified in Section 10.1. 
 

"Conversion Shares" has the meaning specified in Section 10.4(m). 
 

"Corporate Trust Office" means the office of the Trustee at which at any 
particular time its corporate trust business shall be principally administered 
(which at the date of this Indenture is located at 101 California Street, 
Suite 2725, San Francisco, California 94111, Attention: Jim Myers); provided, 
however, that for the purposes of presentment or surrender of Securities for 
payment, for surrender of Securities for registration of transfer or exchange, 
or for surrender of Securities for conversion, "Corporate Trust Office" means 
the office of the Trustee located at 55 Water Street, Room 234, North 
Building, New York, New York 10041. 
 

"Corporation" means a corporation, company, association, joint-stock 
company or business trust. 
"Defaulted Interest" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8. 
 

"Depositary" means, with respect to any Registered Securities, a 
clearing agency that is registered as such under the Exchange Act and is 
designated by the Company to act as Depositary for such Registered Securities 
(or any successor securities clearing agency so registered). 
 

"Designated Senior Debt" means the Company's obligations under any 
particular Senior Debt in which the instrument creating or evidencing the 
same, or the assumption or guarantee thereof, or related agreements or 
documents to which the Company is a party, expressly provides that such 
indebtedness shall be "Designated Senior Debt" for purposes of this Indenture 
(provided that such instrument, agreement or other document may place 
limitations and conditions on the right of such Senior Debt to exercise the 
rights of Designated Senior Debt). 
 

"Distribution Date" has the meaning specified in Section 10.4(m). 
 

"Dollar" or "U.S.$" means a dollar or other equivalent unit in such coin 
or currency of the United States as at the time shall be legal tender for the 
payment of public and private debts. 
 

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, a New York corporation. 
 

"Event of Default" has the meaning specified in Section 4.1. 
 

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
(or any successor statute), as amended from time to time. 
 

"Global Security" means a Registered Security that is registered in the 
Security Register in the name of a Depositary or a nominee thereof. 
 

"Holder" means the Person in whose name the Security is registered in 
the Security Register. 
 

"Indenture" means this instrument as originally executed or as it may 
from time to time be supplemented or amended by one or more indentures 
supplemental hereto entered into pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof, 
including, for all purposes of this instrument and any such supplemental 
indenture, the provisions of the Trust Indenture Act that are deemed to be a 
part of and govern this instrument and any such supplemental indenture, 
respectively. 
 

"Initial Purchasers" means CIBC World Markets Corp., Credit Suisse First 
Boston Corporation, SG Cowen Securities Corporation and Warburg Dillon Read 



LLC. 
 

"Interest Payment Date" means the Stated Maturity of an installment of 
interest on the Securities. 
 

"Liquidated Damages" has the meaning specified in the Registration 
Rights Agreement. 
 

"Maturity," when used with respect to any Security, means the date on 
which the principal of such Security becomes due and payable as therein or 
herein provided, whether at the Stated Maturity or by declaration of 
acceleration, call for redemption, exercise of the repurchase right set forth 
in Article Thirteen or otherwise. 
 

"Non-electing Share" has the meaning specified in Section 10.11. 
 
"Notice of Default" has the meaning specified in Section 4.1. 
 

"Officers' Certificate" means a certificate signed by the Chairperson of 
the Board, a Vice Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the 
President or a Vice President and by the Chief Financial Officer, the 
principal financial officer, the principal accounting officer, the Treasurer, 
an Assistant Treasurer, the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the 
Company, and delivered to the Trustee. 
 

"Opinion of Counsel" means a written opinion of counsel, who may be 
counsel for or employed by the Company and who shall be acceptable to the 
Trustee. 
 

"Outstanding," when used with respect to Securities, means, as of the 
date of determination, all Securities theretofore authenticated and delivered 
under this Indenture, except: 
 

(1)     Securities theretofore cancelled by the Trustee or delivered 
to the Trustee for cancellation; 
 

(2)     Securities for the payment or redemption of which money in 
the necessary amount has been theretofore deposited with the Trustee or 
any Paying Agent (if other than the Company) in trust or set aside and 
segregated in trust by the Company (if the Company shall act as its own 
Paying Agent) for the Holders of such Securities (provided that, if such 
Securities are to be redeemed, notice of such redemption has been duly 
given pursuant to this Indenture or provision therefor satisfactory to 
the Trustee has been made); and 
 

(3)     Securities that have been paid pursuant to Section 2.7 or in 
exchange for or in lieu of which other Securities have been 
authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Indenture, other than any 
such Securities in respect of which there shall have been presented to 
the Trustee proof satisfactory to it that such Securities are held by a 
bona fide purchaser in whose hands such Securities are valid obligations 
of the Company; 
 

provided, however, that in determining whether the Holders of the requisite 
principal amount of Outstanding Securities are present at a meeting of Holders 
of Securities for quorum purposes or have given any request, demand, 
authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver hereunder, Securities 
owned by the Company or any other obligor upon the Securities or any Affiliate 
of the Company or such other obligor shall be disregarded and deemed not to be 
Outstanding, except that, in determining whether the Trustee shall be 
protected in relying upon any such determination as to the presence of a 
quorum or upon any such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, 
consent or waiver, only Securities that a Responsible Officer of the Trustee 
actually knows to be so owned shall be so disregarded.  Securities so owned 
that have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding if the 
pledgee establishes to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee's right so 
to act with respect to such Securities and that the pledgee is not the Company 
or any other obligor upon the Securities or any Affiliate of the Company or 
such other obligor. 
 



"Paying Agent" means any Person authorized by the Company to pay the 
principal of or interest on any Securities on behalf of the Company and, 
except as otherwise specifically set forth herein, such term shall include the 
Company if it shall act as its own Paying Agent.  The Company has initially 
appointed the Trustee as its Paying Agent. 
 

"Person" means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, 
partnership, joint venture, trust, estate, unincorporated organization or 
government or any agency or political subdivision thereof. 
 

"Place of Conversion" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2. 
 

"Place of Payment" has the meaning specified in Section 2.2. 
 

"Predecessor Security" of any particular Security means every previous 
Security evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as that evidenced by 
such particular Security; and, for the purposes of this definition, any 
Security authenticated and delivered under Section 2.7 in exchange for or in 
lieu of a mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security shall be deemed to 
evidence the same debt as the mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security. 
 

"Purchase Agreement" means the Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 
10, 2000, between the Company and the Initial Purchasers, as such agreement 
may be amended from time to time. 
 

"Purchased Shares" has the meaning specified in Section 10.4(f). 
 

"Purchasers" has the meaning specified in Section 9.9. 
 

"Record Date" means any Regular Record Date or Special Record Date. 
 

"Record Date Period" means the period from the close of business of any 
Regular Record Date next preceding any Interest Payment Date to the opening of 
business on such Interest Payment Date. 
"Redemption Date," when used with respect to any Security to be 
redeemed, means the date fixed for such redemption by or pursuant to this 
Indenture. 
 

"Redemption Price," when used with respect to any Security to be 
redeemed, means the price at which it is to be redeemed pursuant to this 
Indenture. 
 

"Registered Securities" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1. 
 

"Registrable Securities" has the meaning specified in the Registration 
Rights Agreement. 
 

"Registration Default" has the meaning specified in the Registration 
Rights Agreement. 
 

"Registration Rights Agreement" means the Registration Rights Agreement, 
dated the date hereof, by and among the Company and the Initial Purchasers. 
 

"Regular Record Date" for interest payable in respect of any Registered 
Security on any Interest Payment Date means the first day of February or the 
first day of August (whether or not a Business Day), as the case may be, next 
preceding such Interest Payment Date. 
 

"Representative" means (1) the indenture trustee or other trustee, agent 
or representative for any Designated Senior Debt or (2) with respect to 
Designated Senior Debt that does not have any such trustee, agent or other 
representative, (A) in the case of such Designated Senior Debt issued pursuant 
to an agreement providing for voting arrangements as among the holders or 
owners of such Designated Senior Debt, any holder or owner of such Designated 
Senior Debt acting with the consent of the required Persons necessary to bind 
such holders or owners of such Designated Senior Debt and (B) in the case of 
all other such Designated Senior Debt, the holder or owner of such Designated 



Senior Debt. 
 

"Repurchase Date" has the meaning specified in Section 12.1. 
 

"Repurchase Price" has the meaning specified in Section 12.1. 
 

"Responsible Officer," when used with respect to the Trustee, means any 
officer within the Corporate Trust Office, including without limitation any 
vice president, assistant vice president, assistant treasurer, corporate trust 
officer or other employee of the Trustee customarily performing functions 
similar to those performed by any of the above designated officers, and also 
means, with respect to a particular corporate trust matter, any other officer 
to whom such matter is referred because of his knowledge and familiarity with 
the particular subject. 
 

"Restricted Global Security" has the meaning specified in Section 2.1. 
 

"Restricted Securities Legend" means, collectively, the legends 
substantially in the forms of the legends required in the form of Security 
attached hereto as Exhibit A to be placed upon each Security. 
 

"Rule 144A" means Rule 144A under the Securities Act (or any successor 
provision), as it may be amended from time to time. 
 

"Rule 144A Information" has the meaning specified in Section 8.9. 
 

"Securities" has the meaning ascribed to it in the first paragraph under 
the caption "Recitals of the Company." 
 

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933 (or any 
successor statute), as amended from time to time. 
 

"Security Register" and "Security Registrar" have the respective 
meanings specified in Section 2.6. 
 

"Senior Debt" means the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest 
(including all interest accruing subsequent to the commencement of any 
bankruptcy or similar proceeding, whether or not a claim for post-petition 
interest is allowable as a claim in any such proceeding) on, and all fees and 
other amounts payable in connection with, the following, whether absolute or 
contingent, secured or unsecured, due or to become due, outstanding on the 
date of this Indenture or thereafter created, incurred or assumed:  (1) all 
the Company's indebtedness evidenced by a  credit or loan agreement, note, 
bond, debenture, or other similar instrument, (2) all of the Company's 
obligations for money borrowed, (3) all of the Company's obligations as lessee 
under leases required to be capitalized on the balance sheet of the lessee 
under generally accepted accounting principles, (4) all of the Company's 
obligations to the Subsidiaries as lessee under facility leases, (5) all of 
the Company's obligations under interest rate and currency swaps, caps, 
floors, collars, hedge agreements, forward contracts, or similar agreements or 
arrangements, (6) all of the Company's obligations with respect to letters of 
credit, bankers' acceptances and similar facilities, including related 
reimbursement obligations, (7) all of the Company's obligations issued or 
assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or services (but excluding 
trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course 
of business), (8) all of the Company's obligations of the type referred to in 
clauses (1) through (7) above of another Person and all dividends of another 
Person, the payment of which, in either case, the Company has assumed or 
guaranteed or for which the Company is responsible or liable, directly or 
indirectly, jointly or severally, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise or which 
is secured by a lien on the Company's property and (9) renewals, extensions, 
modifications, replacements, restatements and refundings of, or any 
indebtedness or obligation issued in exchange for, any such indebtedness or 
obligation described in clauses (1) through (8) of this definition; provided, 
however, that Senior Debt shall not include the Securities or any indebtedness 
or obligation if the terms of such indebtedness or obligation (or the terms of 
the instrument under which such indebtedness or obligation is issued) 
expressly provides that such indebtedness or obligation is not superior in 
right of payment to the Securities; and provided, further, that Senior Debt 
shall not include trade payables and any indebtedness or obligation that the 
Company may owe to any direct or indirect Subsidiary, except for the Company's 



obligations as lessee under facility leases. 
 

"Shelf Registration Statement" has the meaning specified in the 
Registration Rights Agreement. 
 

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that would be a 
"significant subsidiary" as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, 
promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such regulation is in effect on 
the date hereof. 
 

"Special Record Date" for the payment of any Defaulted Interest means a 
date fixed by the Company pursuant to Section 2.8. 
 

"Stated Maturity," when used with respect to any Security, any 
installment of interest thereon or any Liquidated Damages payable with respect 
thereto, means the date specified in such Security as the fixed date on which 
the principal of such Security or such installment of interest is due and 
payable. 
 

"Subsidiary" means a corporation more than 50% of the outstanding voting 
stock of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company or by one or 
more other Subsidiaries, or by the Company and one or more other Subsidiaries. 
 For the purposes of this definition, "voting stock" means stock or other 
similar interests in the corporation that ordinarily has or have voting power 
for the election of directors or Persons performing similar functions, whether 
at all times or only so long as no senior class of stock or other interests 
has or have such voting power by reason of any contingency. 
 

"Successor Security" of any particular Security means every Security 
issued after, and evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as that 
evidenced by, such particular Security; and, for the purposes of this 
definition, any Security authenticated and delivered under Section 2.7 in 
exchange for or in lieu of a mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security 
shall be deemed to evidence the same debt as the mutilated, destroyed, lost or 
stolen Security. 
 

"Trading Days" means (1) if the Common Stock is listed or admitted for 
trading on any national securities exchange, days on which such national 
securities exchange is open for business; (2) if the Common Stock is quoted on 
The Nasdaq National Market or any other system of automated dissemination of 
quotations of securities prices, days on which trades may be effected through 
such system; or (3) if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted for trading 
on any national securities exchange or quoted on The Nasdaq National Market or 
any other system of automated dissemination of quotation of securities prices, 
days on which the Common Stock is traded regular way in the over-the-counter 
market and for which a closing bid and a closing asked price for the Common 
Stock are available. 
"Trust Indenture Act" means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 as in force 
at the date as of which this instrument was executed; provided, however, that 
in the event the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 is amended after such date, 
"Trust Indenture Act" means, to the extent required by any such amendment, the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939 as so amended. 
 

"Trustee" means the Person named as the "Trustee" in the first paragraph 
of this instrument until a successor Trustee shall have become such pursuant 
to the applicable provisions of this Indenture, and thereafter "Trustee" shall 
mean such successor Trustee. 
 

"United States" means the United States of America (including the 
several States and the District of Columbia), its territories, its possessions 
and other areas subject to its jurisdiction (its "possessions" including 
Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, Guam, American Samoa, Wake 
Island and the Northern Mariana Islands). 
 

"Vice President," when used with respect to the Company, means any vice 
president, whether or not designated by a number or a word or words added 
before or after the title "vice president." 
 

SECTION 1.2     Compliance Certificates and Opinions.



Upon any application or request by the Company to the Trustee to take 
any action under any provision of this Indenture, the Company shall furnish to 
the Trustee an Officers' Certificate stating that all conditions precedent, if 
any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have been 
complied with and, if required by the Trust Indenture Act, an Opinion of 
Counsel stating that in the opinion of such counsel all such conditions 
precedent, if any, have been complied with, except that in the case of any 
such application or request as to which the furnishing of such documents is 
specifically required by any provision of this Indenture relating to such 
particular application or request, no additional certificate or opinion need 
be furnished. Every certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a 
condition or covenant provided for in this Indenture (including certificates 
provided for in Section 8.8) shall include: 
 

(a)     a statement that each individual signing such certificate or 
opinion has read such covenant or condition and the definitions herein 
relating thereto; 
 

(b)     a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or 
investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such 
certificate or opinion are based; 
 

(c)     a statement that, in the opinion of such individual, he has made 
such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him to express an 
informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been 
complied with; and 
 

(d)     a statement as to whether, in the opinion of each such individual, 
such condition or covenant has been complied with. 

SECTION 1.3     Form of Documents Delivered to the Trustee.

In any case where several matters are required to be certified by, or 
covered by an opinion of, any specified Person, it is not necessary that all 
such matters be certified by, or covered by the opinion of, only one such 
Person, or that they be so certified or covered by only one document, but one 
such Person may certify or give an opinion with respect to some matters and 
one or more other such Persons as to other matters, and any such Person may 
certify or give an opinion as to such matters in one or several documents. 
 

Any certificate or opinion of an officer of the Company may be based, 
insofar as it relates to legal matters, upon a certificate or opinion of, or 
representations by, counsel, unless such officer knows, or in the exercise of 
reasonable care should know, that the certificate or opinion or 
representations with respect to the matters upon which such certificate or 
opinion is based are erroneous.  Any such certificate or opinion of counsel 
may be based, insofar as it relates to factual matters, upon a certificate or 
opinion of, or representations by, an officer or officers of the Company or 
any other Person stating that the information with respect to such factual 
matters is in the possession of the Company or such other Person, unless such 
counsel knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know, that the 
certificate or opinion or representations with respect to such matters are 
erroneous. 
 

Where any Person is required to make, give or execute two or more 
applications, requests, consents, certificates, statements, opinions or other 
instruments under this Indenture, they may, but need not, be consolidated and 
form one instrument. 
 

SECTION 1.4     Acts of Holders of Securities.

(a)     Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, 
waiver or other action provided or permitted by this Indenture to be given or 
taken by Holders of Securities may be embodied in and evidenced by one or more 
instruments of substantially similar tenor signed by such Holders in person or 
by an agent or proxy duly appointed in writing by such Holders.  Such action 
shall become effective when such instrument or instruments is delivered to the 
Trustee and, where it is hereby expressly required, to the Company.  The 
Trustee shall promptly deliver to the Company copies of all such instruments 
delivered to the Trustee.  Such instrument or instruments (and the action 



embodied therein and evidenced thereby) are herein sometimes referred to as 
the "Act" of the Holders of Securities signing such instrument or instruments. 
 Proof of execution of any such instrument or of a writing appointing any such 
agent or proxy, or of the holding by any Person of a Security, shall be 
sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and (subject to Section 5.1) 
conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the Company if made in the manner 
provided in this Section 1.4. 
 

(b)     The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such 
instrument or writing may be proved by the affidavit of a witness of such 
execution or by a certificate of a notary public or other officer authorized 
by law to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the individual 
signing such instrument or writing acknowledged to him the execution thereof. 
 Where such execution is by a signer acting in a capacity other than his 
individual capacity, such certificate or affidavit shall also constitute 
sufficient proof of his authority. 
 

(c)     The principal amount and serial number of any Registered Security 
held by any Person, and the date of his holding the same, shall be proved by 
the Security Register. 
 

(d)     The fact and date of execution of any such instrument or writing 
and the authority of the Person executing the same may also be proved in any 
other manner that the Trustee deems sufficient; and the Trustee may in any 
instance require further proof with respect to any of the matters referred to 
in this Section 1.4. 
 

(e)     The Company may set any day as the record date for the purpose of 
determining the Holders entitled to give or take any request, demand, 
authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, or to vote 
on any action, authorized or permitted by this Indenture to be given or taken 
by Holders.  Promptly and in any case not later than ten days after setting a 
record date, the Company shall notify the Trustee and the Holders of such 
record date.  If not set by the Company prior to the first solicitation of a 
Holder made by any Person in respect of any such action, or, in the case of 
any such vote, prior to such vote, the record date for any such action or vote 
shall be the thirtieth day (or, if later, the date of the most recent list of 
Holders required to be provided pursuant to Section 13.1) prior to such first 
solicitation or vote, as the case may be.  With regard to any record date, the 
Holders on such date (or their duly appointed agents or proxies), and only 
such Persons, shall be entitled to give or take, or vote on, the relevant 
action, whether or not such Holders remain Holders after such record date. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not set a record date for, 
and the provisions of this paragraph shall not apply with respect to, any 
notice, declaration or direction referred to in the next paragraph. 
 

Upon receipt by the Trustee from any Holder of (1) any notice of default 
or breach referred to in Section 4.1(d), if such default or breach has 
occurred and is continuing and the Trustee shall not have given such a notice 
to the Company, (2) any declaration of acceleration referred to in Section 
4.2, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Trustee 
shall not have given such a declaration to the Company, or (3) any direction 
referred to in Section 4.12, if the Trustee shall not have taken the action 
specified in such direction, then, with respect to clauses (2) and (3), a 
record date shall automatically and without any action by the Company or the 
Trustee be set for determining the Holders entitled to join in such 
declaration or direction, which record date shall be the close of business on 
the tenth day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding 
Business Day) following the day on which the Trustee receives such declaration 
or direction, and, with respect to clause (1), the Trustee may set any day as 
a record date for the purpose of determining the Holders entitled to join in 
such notice of default.  Promptly after such receipt by the Trustee of any 
such declaration or direction referred to in clause (2) or (3), and promptly 
after setting any record date with respect to clause (1), and as soon as 
practicable thereafter, the Trustee shall notify the Company and the Holders 
of any such record date so fixed.  The Holders on such record date (or their 
duly appointed agents or proxies), and only such Persons, shall be entitled to 
join in such notice, declaration or direction, whether or not such Holders 
remain Holders after such record date; provided, however, that, unless such 
notice, declaration or direction shall have become effective by virtue of 
Holders of the requisite principal amount of Securities on such record date 
(or their duly appointed agents or proxies) having joined therein on or prior 
to the ninetieth day after such record date, such notice, declaration or 
direction shall automatically and without any action by any Person be 
cancelled and of no further effect.  Nothing in this paragraph shall be 
construed to prevent a Holder (or a duly appointed agent or proxy thereof) 
from giving, before or after the expiration of such 90-day period, a notice, 



declaration or direction contrary to or different from, or, after the 
expiration of such period, identical to, the notice, declaration or direction 
to which such record date relates, in which event a new record date in respect 
thereof shall be set pursuant to this paragraph.  In addition, nothing in this 
paragraph shall be construed to render ineffective any notice, declaration or 
direction of the type referred to in this paragraph given at any time to the 
Trustee and the Company by Holders (or their duly appointed agents or proxies) 
of the requisite principal amount of Securities on the date such notice, 
declaration or direction is so given. 
 

(f)     Except as provided in Sections 4.2 and 4.13, any request, demand, 
authorization, direction, notice, consent, election, waiver or other Act of 
the Holder of any Security shall bind every future Holder of the same Security 
and the Holder of every Security issued upon the registration of transfer 
thereof or in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof in respect of anything 
done, omitted or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the Company in reliance 
thereon, whether or not notation of such action is made upon such Security. 
 

SECTION 1.5     Notices, Etc., to Trustee and Company.

Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, 
election, waiver or other Act of Holders of Securities or other document 
provided or permitted by this Indenture to be made upon, given or furnished 
to, or filed with, 
 

(a)     the Trustee by any Holder of Securities or by the Company shall be 
sufficient for every purpose hereunder if made, given, furnished or filed in 
writing to or with the Trustee and received at the Corporate Trust Office, 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department, and shall be deemed given when 
received, 
 

(b)     the Company by the Trustee or by any Holder of Securities shall be 
sufficient for every purpose hereunder (unless otherwise herein expressly 
provided) if in writing, mailed, first-class postage prepaid, or telecopied 
and confirmed by mail, first-class postage prepaid, or delivered by hand or 
overnight courier, addressed to the Company at 34801 Campus Drive, Fremont, 
California 94555, Attention: Senior Vice President, Legal and Licensing 
(telecopy no.: (510) 574-1500), or at any other address previously furnished 
in writing to the Trustee by the Company, and shall be deemed given when 
received. 
 

Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, election 
or waiver required or permitted under this Indenture shall be in the English 
language, except that any published notice may be in an official language of 
the country of publication. 
 

SECTION 1.6     Notice to Holders of Securities; Waiver.

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, where this Indenture 
provides for notice to Holders of Securities of any event, such notice shall 
be sufficiently given to Holders if in writing and mailed, first-class postage 
prepaid, to each Holder of a Security affected by such event, at the address 
of such Holder as it appears in the Security Register, not earlier than the 
earliest date and not later than the latest date prescribed for the giving of 
such notice. 
 

Neither the failure to mail such notice, nor any defect in any notice so 
mailed, to any particular Holder of a Registered Security shall affect the 
sufficiency of such notice with respect to other Holders of Registered 
Securities.  In case by reason of the suspension of regular mail service or by 
reason of any other cause it shall be impracticable to give such notice by 
mail, then such notification to Holders of Registered Securities as shall be 
made with the approval of the Trustee, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed, shall constitute a sufficient notification 
to such Holders for every purpose hereunder. 
 

Such notice shall be deemed to have been given when such notice is 
mailed. 
 



Where this Indenture provides for notice in any manner, such notice may 
be waived in writing by the Person entitled to receive such notice, either 
before or after the event, and such waiver shall be the equivalent of such 
notice.  Waivers of notice by Holders of Securities shall be filed with the 
Trustee, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of 
any action taken in reliance upon such waiver. 
 

In addition, all notices or communications addressed to Holders of 
Securities shall be given by release made to Reuters Economic Services and 
Bloomberg Business News.  The foregoing notwithstanding, such notices and 
communications given to Holders of Securities pursuant to the Registration 
Rights Agreement do not have to be released to Reuters Economics Services or 
Bloomberg Business News. 
 

SECTION 1.7     Effect of Headings and Table of Contents.

The Article and Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are 
for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof. 
 

SECTION 1.8     Successors and Assigns.

All covenants and agreements in this Indenture by the Company and by the 
Trustee shall bind its successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 
SECTION 1.9     Separability Clause. 
 

In case any provision in this Indenture or the Securities shall be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability 
of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby. 
 

SECTION 1.10    Benefits of Indenture.

Except as provided in the next sentence, nothing in this Indenture or in 
the Securities, express or implied, shall give to any Person, other than the 
parties hereto and their successors and assigns hereunder and the Holders of 
Securities, any benefit or legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under 
this Indenture.  The provisions of Article Eleven are intended to be for the 
benefit of, and shall be enforceable directly by, the holders of Senior Debt. 
 

SECTION 1.11    Governing Law.

THIS INDENTURE AND THE SECURITIES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, THE UNITED STATES OF 
AMERICA, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW 
 5-1401. 
 

SECTION 1.12    Legal Holidays.

In any case where any Interest Payment Date, Redemption Date, Repurchase 
Date or Stated Maturity of any Security or the last day on which a Holder of a 
Security has a right to convert his Security shall not be a Business Day at a 
Place of Payment or Place of Conversion, as the case may be, then 
(notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture or of the Securities) 
payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or the payment of 
the Repurchase Price (whether the same is payable in cash or in shares of 
Common Stock) with respect to, or delivery for conversion of, such Security 
need not be made at such Place of Payment or Place of Conversion, as the case 
may be, on or by such day, but may be made on or by the next succeeding 
Business Day at such Place of Payment or Place of Conversion, as the case may 
be, with the same force and effect as if made on the Interest Payment Date, 
Redemption Date or Repurchase Date, or at the Stated Maturity or by such last 
day for conversion; provided, however, that in the case that payment is made 



on such succeeding Business Day, no interest shall accrue on the amount so 
payable for the period from and after such Interest Payment Date, Redemption 
Date, Repurchase Date, Stated Maturity or last day for conversion, as the case 
may be. 
 

SECTION 1.13    Conflict with Trust Indenture Act.

If any provision hereof limits, qualifies or conflicts with a provision 
of the Trust Indenture Act that is required under such act to be a part of and 
govern this Indenture, the latter provision shall control.  If any provision 
of this Indenture modifies or excludes any provision of the Trust Indenture 
Act that may be so modified or excluded, the latter provision shall be deemed 
to apply to this Indenture as so modified or to be excluded, as the case may 
be.  Until such time as this Indenture shall be qualified under the Trust 
Indenture Act, this Indenture, the Company and the Trustee shall be deemed for 
all purposes hereof to be subject to and governed by the Trust Indenture Act 
to the same extent as would be the case if this Indenture were so qualified on 
the date hereof. 
 

SECTION 1.14    Counterparts.

This instrument may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 
which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts 
shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 

ARTICLE TWO

THE SECURITIES

SECTION 2.1     Form Generally.

The Securities and the Trustee's Certificate of Authentication shall be 
in substantially the form set forth in  Exhibit A hereto, which Exhibit is a 
part of this Indenture, with such appropriate insertions, omissions, 
substitutions and other variations as are required or permitted by this 
Indenture, and may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification 
and such legends or endorsements placed thereon as may be required to comply 
with the rules of any securities exchange or the Internal Revenue Code of 
l986, as amended, and regulations thereunder (the "Code"), or as may, 
consistently herewith, be determined by the officers executing such 
Securities, as evidenced by their execution thereof.  All Securities shall be 
issued in registered form, as opposed to bearer form, and shall sometimes be 
referred to as the "Registered Securities." 
 

The Securities shall be printed, lithographed, typewritten or engraved 
or produced by any combination of these methods on steel engraved borders, if 
so required by any securities exchange upon which the Securities may be 
listed, or may be produced in any other manner permitted by the rules of any 
such securities exchange, or, if the Securities are not listed on a securities 
exchange, in any other manner approved by the Company, all as determined by 
the officers executing such Securities, as evidenced by their execution 
thereof. 
 

Upon their original issuance, Securities shall be issued in the form of 
one or more Global Securities without interest coupons and shall be registered 
in the name of DTC, as Depositary, or its nominee and deposited with the 
Trustee, as custodian for DTC, for credit by DTC to the respective accounts of 
beneficial owners of the Securities represented thereby (or such other 
accounts as they may direct).  Such Global Security, together with its 
Successor Securities that are Global Securities, are collectively herein 
called the "Restricted Global Security." 
SECTION 2.2     Title and Terms. 
 



The aggregate principal amount of Securities that may be authenticated 
and delivered under this Indenture is limited to U.S.$125,000,000 
(U.S.$150,000,000 if the over-allotment is fully exercised), except for 
Securities authenticated and delivered in exchange for, or in lieu of, other 
Securities pursuant to Section 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 7.5, 9.8, 10.2 or 12.3(e). 
 

The Securities shall be known and designated as the "5.50% Convertible 
Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007" of the Company.  Their Stated 
Maturity shall be February 15, 2007 and they shall bear interest on their 
principal amount from February 15, 2000, payable semiannually in arrears on 
February 15 and August 15 in each year, commencing August 15, 2000, at the 
rate of 5.50% per annum until the principal thereof is due and at the rate 
then in effect on any overdue principal and, to the extent permitted by law, 
on any overdue interest; provided, however, that payments shall only be made 
on Business Days as provided in Section 1.12. 
 

The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Securities shall 
be payable as provided in the form of Securities attached hereto as Exhibit A, 
and the Repurchase Price, whether payable in cash or in shares of Common 
Stock, shall be payable at such places as are identified in the Company Notice 
given pursuant to Section 12.3 (any city in which any Paying Agent is located 
being herein called a "Place of Payment"). 
 

The Registrable Securities are entitled to the benefits of a 
Registration Rights Agreement as provided by the form of Securities attached 
hereto as Exhibit A.  The Securities are entitled to the payment of Liquidated 
Damages as provided in the Registration Rights Agreement. Whenever in this 
Indenture there is a reference, in any context, to the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or in respect of, any Security, 
such mention shall be deemed to include mention of the payment of Liquidated 
Damages payable as described in the Registration Rights Agreement to the 
extent that, in such context, Liquidated Damages are, were or would be payable 
in respect of the Security pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, and 
an express mention of the payment of Liquidated Damages (if applicable) in any 
provisions of the Security shall not be construed as excluding Liquidated 
Damages in those provisions of the Security where such express mention is not 
made. Liquidated Damages, if any, shall be paid on an Interest Payment Date. 
 

The Securities shall be redeemable at the option of the Company, as 
provided in Article Nine and in the form of Securities attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 
 

The Securities shall be convertible as provided in Article Ten (any city 
in which any Conversion Agent is located being herein called a "Place of 
Conversion"). 
 

The Securities shall be subordinated in right of payment to Senior Debt 
of the Company as provided in Article Eleven. 
The Securities shall be subject to repurchase by the Company at the 
option of the Holders as provided in Article Twelve. 
 

SECTION 2.3     Denominations.

The Securities shall be issuable only in registered form, without 
coupons, in denominations of U.S.$1,000 and integral multiples thereof. 
 

SECTION 2.4     Execution, Authentication, Delivery and Dating.

The Securities shall be executed on behalf of the Company by its 
Chairperson of the Board, its Vice Chairperson of the Board, its Chief 
Executive Officer, its President, one of its Vice Presidents, its Chief 
Financial Officer, its principal financial officer, its principal accounting 
officer, its Treasurer or its Controller under a facsimile of its corporate 
seal reproduced thereon attested by its Secretary or one of its Assistant 
Secretaries.  Any such signature may be manual or facsimile. 
 

Securities bearing the manual or facsimile signature of individuals who 
were at any time the proper officers of the Company shall bind the Company, 



notwithstanding that such individuals or any of them have ceased to hold such 
offices prior to the authentication and delivery of such Securities or did not 
hold such offices at the date of such Securities. 
 

At any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of 
this Indenture, the Company may deliver Securities executed by the Company to 
the Trustee or to its order for authentication, together with a Company Order 
for the authentication and delivery of such Securities, and the Trustee in 
accordance with such Company Order shall authenticate and make available for 
delivery such Securities as provided in this Indenture and not otherwise. 
 

Each Security shall be dated the date of its authentication. 
 

No Security shall be entitled to any benefit under this Indenture or be 
valid or obligatory for any purpose unless there appears on such Security a 
certificate of authentication substantially in the form provided for herein 
executed by the Trustee by manual signature of an authorized signatory, and 
such certificate upon any Security shall be conclusive evidence, and the only 
evidence, that such Security has been duly authenticated and delivered 
hereunder. 
 

SECTION 2.5     Global Securities; Non-Global Securities.

(a)     Global Securities 
 

(1)     Each Global Security authenticated under this Indenture 
shall be registered in the name of the Depositary designated by the 
Company for such Global Security or a nominee thereof and delivered to 
such Depositary or a nominee thereof or custodian therefor, and each 
such Global Security shall constitute a single Security for all purposes 
of this Indenture. 
 

(2)     Notwithstanding any other provision in this Indenture, no 
Global Security may be exchanged in whole or in part for Securities 
registered, and no transfer of a Global Security in whole or in part may 
be registered, in the name of any Person other than the Depositary for 
such Global Security or a nominee thereof unless (A) such Depositary (i) 
has notified the Company that it is unwilling or unable to continue as 
Depositary for such Global Security or (ii) has ceased to be a clearing 
agency registered as such under the Exchange Act or announces an 
intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so or (B) 
there shall have occurred and be continuing an Event of Default with 
respect to such Global Security. 
 

(3)     If any Global Security is to be exchanged for other 
Securities or cancelled in whole, it shall be surrendered by or on 
behalf of the Depositary or its nominee to the Trustee, as Security 
Registrar, for exchange or cancellation, as provided in this Article 
Two.  If any Global Security is to be exchanged for other Securities or 
cancelled in part, or if another Security is to be exchanged in whole or 
in part for a beneficial interest in any Global Security, in each case, 
as provided in Section 2.6, then either (A) such Global Security shall 
be so surrendered for exchange or cancellation, as provided in this 
Article Two, or (B) the principal amount thereof shall be reduced or 
increased by an amount equal to the portion thereof to be so exchanged 
or cancelled or equal to the principal amount of such other Security to 
be so exchanged for a beneficial interest therein, as the case may be, 
by means of an appropriate adjustment made on the records of the 
Trustee, as Security Registrar, whereupon the Trustee, in accordance 
with the Applicable Procedures, shall instruct the Depositary or its 
authorized representative to make a corresponding adjustment to its 
records.  Upon any such surrender or adjustment of a Global Security, 
the Trustee shall, subject to Section 2.6(c) and as otherwise provided 
in this Article Two, authenticate and make available for delivery any 
Securities issuable in exchange for such Global Security (or any portion 
thereof) to or upon the order of, and registered in such names as may be 
directed by, the Depositary or its authorized representative.  Upon the 
request of the Trustee in connection with the occurrence of any of the 
events specified in the preceding paragraph, the Company shall promptly 
make available to the Trustee a reasonable supply of Securities that are 
not in the form of Global Securities.  The Trustee shall be entitled to 
rely upon any order, direction or request of the Depositary or its 
authorized representative which is given or made pursuant to this 



Article Two if such order, direction or request is given or made in 
accordance with the Applicable Procedures. 
 

(4)     Every Security authenticated and delivered upon registration 
of transfer of, or in exchange for or in lieu of, a Global Security or 
any portion thereof, whether pursuant to this Article Two or otherwise, 
shall be authenticated and delivered in the form of, and shall be, a 
registered Global Security, unless such Security is registered in the 
name of a Person other than the Depositary for such Global Security or a 
nominee thereof, in which case such Registered Security shall be 
authenticated and delivered in definitive, fully registered form, 
without interest coupons. 
 

(5)     The Depositary or its nominee, as registered owner of a 
Global Security, shall be the Holder of such Global Security for all 
purposes under the Indenture and the Registered Securities, and owners 
of beneficial interests in a Global Security shall hold such interests 
pursuant to the Applicable Procedures.  Accordingly, any such owner's 
beneficial interest in a Global Security shall be shown only on, and the 
transfer of such interest shall be effected only through, records 
maintained by the Depositary or its nominee or its Agent Members, and 
such owners of beneficial interests in a Global Security shall not be 
considered the owners or holders thereof. 
 

(b)     Non-Global Securities 
 

Pending the preparation of definitive Securities, the Company may 
execute, and upon Company Order the Trustee shall authenticate and make 
available for delivery, temporary Securities which are printed, lithographed, 
typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in any authorized 
denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Registered 
Securities in lieu of which they are issued and with such appropriate 
insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers 
executing such Registered Securities may determine, as evidenced by their 
execution of such Securities. 
 

If temporary Securities are issued, the Company shall cause definitive 
Securities to be prepared without unreasonable delay.  After the preparation 
of definitive Securities, the temporary Securities shall be exchangeable for 
definitive Securities upon surrender of the temporary Securities at any office 
or agency of the Company designated pursuant to Section 8.2, without charge to 
the Holder.  Upon surrender for cancellation of any one or more temporary 
Securities, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and 
make available for delivery in exchange therefor a like principal amount of 
definitive Securities of authorized denominations.  Until so exchanged, the 
temporary Securities shall in all respects be entitled to the same benefits 
under this Indenture as definitive Securities. 
 

SECTION 2.6     Registration, Registration of Transfer and Exchange; 
Restrictions on Transfer.

(a)     The Company shall cause to be kept at the Corporate Trust Office a 
register (the register maintained in such office and in any other office or 
agency of the Company designated pursuant to Section 8.2 being herein 
sometimes collectively referred to as the "Security Register") in which, 
subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall 
provide for the registration of Registered Securities and of transfers of 
Registered Securities.  The Trustee is hereby appointed "Security Registrar" 
for the purpose of registering Registered Securities and transfers and 
exchanges of Registered Securities as herein provided. 
Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Security at an office 
or agency of the Company designated pursuant to Section 8.2 for such purpose, 
the Company shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, in 
the name of the designated transferee or transferees, one or more new 
Securities of any authorized denominations and of a like aggregate principal 
amount and bearing such restrictive legends as may be required by this 
Indenture. 
 

At the option of the Holder, and subject to the other provisions of this 
Section 2.6, Securities may be exchanged for other Securities of any 
authorized denomination and of a like aggregate principal amount, upon 
surrender of the Securities to be exchanged at any such office or agency. 
Whenever any Securities are so surrendered for exchange, and subject to the 



other provisions of this Section 2.6, the Company shall execute, and the 
Trustee shall authenticate and make available for delivery, the Securities the 
Holder making the exchange is entitled to receive.  Every Security presented 
or surrendered for registration of transfer or for exchange shall (if so 
required by the Company or the Security Registrar) be duly endorsed, or be 
accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the 
Company and the Security Registrar, duly executed by the Holder thereof or his 
attorney duly authorized in writing. 
 

All Securities issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of 
Securities shall be the valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same 
debt, subject to the other provisions of this Section 2.6, and entitled to the 
same benefits under this Indenture, as the Securities surrendered upon such 
registration of transfer or exchange. 
 

No service charge shall be made for any registration of transfer or 
exchange of Securities except as provided in Section 2.7, but the Company may 
require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental 
charge that may be imposed in connection with any registration of transfer or 
exchange of Securities, other than exchanges pursuant to Section 2.5, 7.5, 
9.8, 10.2 or 12.3(e) (other than where the shares of Common Stock are to be 
issued or delivered in a name other than that of the Holder of the Security) 
not involving any transfer and other than any stamp and other duties, if any, 
that may be imposed in connection with any such transfer or exchange by the 
United States or any political subdivision thereof or therein, which shall be 
paid by the Company. 
 

In the event of a redemption of the Securities, the Company shall not be 
required (1) to register the transfer of or exchange Securities for a period 
of 15 days immediately preceding the date notice is given identifying the 
serial numbers of the Securities called for such redemption or (2) to register 
the transfer of or exchange any Security, or portion thereof, called for 
redemption. 
 

(b)     Restricted Securities Legends.  All Securities shall bear the 
applicable Restricted Securities Legend subject to the following: 
 

(1)     subject to the following clauses of this Section 2.6(b), a 
Security or any         portion thereof that is exchanged, upon transfer or 
otherwise, for a Global Security or any portion thereof shall bear the 
Restricted Securities Legend borne by such Global Security while 
represented thereby; 
 

(2)     subject to the following clauses of this Section 2.6(b), a 
new Security that is not a Global Security and is issued in exchange for 
another Security (including a Global Security) or any portion thereof, 
upon transfer or otherwise, shall bear the Restricted Securities Legend 
borne by such other Security; 
 

(3)     any Securities that are sold or otherwise disposed of 
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act 
(including the Shelf Registration Statement), together with their 
Successor Securities, shall not bear a Restricted Securities Legend; the 
Company shall give the Trustee notice in writing of the effective date 
of any such registration statement registering the Securities under the 
Securities Act and permitting Securities to be sold without a Restricted 
Securities Legend.  The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken 
or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the 
aforementioned notice of the Company; 
 

(4)     at any time after the Securities may be freely transferred 
without registration under the Securities Act or without being subject 
to transfer restrictions pursuant to the Securities Act, a new Security 
that does not bear a Restricted Securities Legend may be issued in 
exchange for or in lieu of a Security (other than a Global Security) or 
any portion thereof that bears such a legend if the Trustee has received 
appropriate documentation that the certificate need not bear a 
Restricted Securities Legend, satisfactory to the Trustee and duly 
executed by the Holder of such legended Security or his attorney duly 
authorized in writing, and after such date and receipt of such 
documentation, the Trustee shall authenticate and make available for 
delivery such a new Security in exchange for or in lieu of such other 
Security as provided in this Article Two; 
 



(5)     a new Security that does not bear a Restricted Securities 
Legend may be issued in exchange for or in lieu of a Security (other 
than a Global Security) or any portion thereof that bears such a legend 
if, in the Company's judgment evidenced by an Officers' Certificate, 
placing such a legend upon such new Security is not necessary to ensure 
compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act, and 
the Trustee, at the written direction of the Company, shall authenticate 
and make available for delivery such a new Security as provided in this 
Article Two; and 
 

(6)     notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 
2.6(b), a Successor Security of a Security that does not bear a 
particular form of Restricted Securities Legend shall not bear such form 
of legend unless the Company has reasonable cause to believe that such 
Successor Security is a "restricted security" within the meaning of Rule 
144, in which case the Trustee, at the written direction of the Company, 
shall authenticate and make available for delivery a new Security 
bearing a Restricted Securities Legend in exchange for such Successor 
Security as provided in this Article Two. 
(c)     Neither the Trustee, the Paying Agent nor any of their agents 
shall (1) have any duty to monitor compliance with or with respect to any 
federal or state or other securities or tax laws or (2) have any duty to 
obtain documentation on any transfers or exchanges other than as specifically 
required hereunder. 
 

SECTION 2.7     Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Securities.

If any mutilated Security is surrendered to the Trustee, the Company 
shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and make available for 
delivery in exchange therefor a new Security of like tenor and principal 
amount and bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. 
 

If there be delivered to the Company and to the Trustee: 
 

(a)     evidence to their satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft 
of any Security, and 
 

(b)     such security or indemnity as may be satisfactory to the Company 
and the Trustee to save each of them and any agent of either of them harmless, 
 

then, in the absence of actual notice to the Company or the Trustee that such 
Security has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Company shall execute 
and the Trustee shall authenticate and make available for delivery, in lieu of 
any such destroyed, lost or stolen Security, a new Security of like tenor and 
principal amount and bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. 
 

In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security has 
become or is about to become due and payable, the Company in its discretion, 
but subject to any conversion rights, may, instead of issuing a new Security, 
pay such Security, upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the 
preceding paragraph. 
 

Upon the issuance of any new Security under this Section 2.7, the 
Company may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto (other than any 
stamp and other duties, if any, that may be imposed in connection therewith by 
the United States or any political subdivision thereof or therein, which shall 
be paid by the Company) and any other expenses (including the fees and 
expenses of the Trustee) connected therewith. 
 

Every new Security issued pursuant to this Section 2.7 in lieu of any 
mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security shall constitute an original 
additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the 
mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Security shall be at any time enforceable 
by anyone, and such new Security shall be entitled to all the benefits of this 
Indenture equally and proportionately with any and all other Securities duly 
issued hereunder. 
 

The provisions of this Section 2.7 are exclusive and shall preclude (to 
the extent lawful) all other rights and remedies of any Holder with respect to 



the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Securities. 
 

SECTION 2.8     Payment of Interest; Interest Rights Preserved.

Interest on any Security that is payable, and is punctually paid or duly 
provided for, on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the Person in 
whose name that Security (or one or more Predecessor Securities) is registered 
at the close of business on the Regular Record Date for such interest. 
 

Any interest on any Security that is payable, but is not punctually paid 
or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment Date ("Defaulted Interest") 
shall forthwith cease to be payable to the Holder on the relevant Regular 
Record Date by virtue of having been such Holder, and such Defaulted Interest 
may be paid by the Company, at its election in each case, as provided in 
clause (a) or (b) below: 
 

(a)     The Company may elect to make payment of any Defaulted Interest to 
the Persons in whose names the Securities (or their respective Predecessor 
Securities) are registered at the close of business on a Special Record Date 
for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which shall be fixed in the 
following manner.  The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the 
amount of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each Security, the date of 
the proposed payment and the Special Record Date, and at the same time the 
Company shall deposit with the Trustee an amount of money equal to the 
aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such Defaulted Interest or 
shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit prior to 
the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to be held in 
trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled to such Defaulted Interest as 
provided in this clause.  The Special Record Date for the payment of such 
Defaulted Interest shall be not more than 15 days and not less than 10 days 
prior to the date of the proposed payment and not less than 10 days after the 
receipt by the Trustee of the notice of the proposed payment.  The Trustee, in 
the name and at the expense of the Company, shall cause notice of the proposed 
payment of such Defaulted Interest and the Special Record Date therefor to be 
mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to each Holder at such Holder's address 
as it appears in the Security Register, not less than 10 days prior to such 
Special Record Date. Notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest 
and the Special Record Date therefor having been so mailed, such Defaulted 
Interest shall be paid to the Persons in whose names the Securities (or their 
respective Predecessor Securities) are registered at the close of business on 
such Special Record Date and shall no longer be payable pursuant to the 
following clause (b). 
 

(b)     The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Interest in any 
other lawful manner not inconsistent with the requirements of any securities 
exchange on which the Securities may be listed, and upon such notice as may be 
required by such exchange, if, after notice given by the Company to the 
Trustee of the proposed payment pursuant to this clause, such manner of 
payment shall be deemed practicable by the Trustee. 
 

Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.8 and Section 2.6, 
each Security delivered under this Indenture upon registration of transfer of 
or in exchange for or in lieu of any other Security shall carry the rights to 
interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, that were carried by such other 
Security. 
 

Interest on any Security that is converted in accordance with Section 
10.2 during a Record Date Period shall be payable in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 10.2. 
 

SECTION 2.9     Persons Deemed Owners.

Prior to due presentment of a Security for registration of transfer, the 
Company, the Trustee and any agent of the Company or the Trustee may treat the 
Person in whose name such Security is registered as the owner of such Security 
for the purpose of receiving payment of principal of, premium, if any, and 
(subject to Section 2.8) interest on such Security and for all other purposes 
whatsoever, whether or not such Security be overdue, and neither the Company, 
the Trustee nor any agent of the Company or the Trustee shall be affected by 



notice to the contrary. 
 

SECTION 2.10    Cancellation.

All Securities surrendered for payment, redemption, repurchase, 
registration of transfer or exchange or conversion shall, if surrendered to 
any Person other than the Trustee, be delivered to the Trustee.  All 
Securities so delivered to the Trustee shall be cancelled promptly by the 
Trustee.  No Securities shall be authenticated in lieu of or in exchange for 
any Securities cancelled as provided in this Section 2.10.  The Trustee shall 
dispose of all cancelled Securities in accordance with applicable law and its 
customary practices in effect from time to time. 
 

SECTION 2.11    Computation of Interest.

Interest on the Securities shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day 
year of twelve 30-day months.  Liquidated Damages, if any, shall be computed 
on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 
 

SECTION 2.12    CUSIP Numbers.

The Company in issuing Securities may use "CUSIP" numbers (if then 
generally in use) in addition to serial numbers; the Trustee shall use such 
CUSIP numbers in addition to serial numbers in notices of redemption and 
repurchase as a convenience to Holders; provided, however, that any such 
notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of such 
CUSIP numbers either as printed on the Securities or as contained in any 
notice of a redemption or repurchase and that reliance may be placed only on 
the serial or other identification numbers printed on the Securities, and any 
such redemption or repurchase shall not be affected by any defect in or 
omission of such CUSIP numbers.  The Company shall promptly notify the Trustee 
in writing of any change in any such CUSIP number. 
 

        ARTICLE THREE

        SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

SECTION 3.1     Satisfaction and Discharge of Indenture.

This Indenture shall upon Company Request cease to be of further effect 
(except as to any surviving rights of conversion, or registration of transfer 
or exchange, or replacement of Securities herein expressly provided for and 
any right to receive Liquidated Damages as provided in the form of Securities 
attached hereto as Exhibit A and the Company's obligations to the Trustee 
pursuant to Section 5.7), and the Trustee, at the expense of the Company, 
shall execute proper instruments in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Trustee acknowledging satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, when 
 

(a)     either 
 

(1)     all Securities theretofore authenticated and delivered 
(other than (A) Securities that have been destroyed, lost or stolen and 
that have been replaced or paid as provided in Section 2.7 and (B) 
Securities for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in 
trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and thereafter 
repaid to the Company or discharged from such trust, as provided in 
Section 8.3) have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or 
 



(2)     all such Securities not theretofore delivered to the Trustee 
or its agent for cancellation (other than Securities referred to in 
clauses (A) and (B) of clause (a)(1) above) 
 

(i)     have become due and payable, or 
 

(ii)    will have become due and payable at their Stated Maturity 
within one      year, or 
 

(iii)   are to be called for redemption within one year under 
arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of 
redemption by the Trustee in the name, and at the expense, of the 
Company, 
 

and the Company, in the case of clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, has 
deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds 
(immediately available to the Holders in the case of clause (i) above) 
an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire principal, premium, 
if any, interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, on such Securities not 
theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, to the date of 
such deposit (in the case of Securities that have become due and 
payable) or to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date, as the case may 
be; 
 

(b)     the Company has paid or caused to be paid all other sums payable 
hereunder by the Company; and 
 

(c)     the Company has delivered to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate 
stating that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to the 
satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture have been complied with. 
 

Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, the 
obligations of the Company to the Trustee under Section 5.7, the obligations 
of the Company to any Authenticating Agent under Section 5.12, the obligation 
of the Company to pay Liquidated Damages, if money shall have been deposited 
with the Trustee pursuant to clause (a)(2) of this Section 3.1, the 
obligations of the Trustee under Section 3.2 and the last paragraph of Section 
8.3, and the obligations of the Company and the Trustee under Section 2.6 and 
Article Ten shall survive. Funds held in trust pursuant to this Section 3.1 
are not subject to the provisions of Article Eleven. 
 

SECTION 3.2     Application of Trust Money.

Subject to the provisions of the last paragraph of Section 8.3, all 
money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 3.1 shall be held in 
trust and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Securities 
and this Indenture, to the payment, either directly or through any Paying 
Agent (including the Company acting as its own Paying Agent), to the Persons 
entitled thereto, of the principal, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if 
any, and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the 
Trustee. 
 

All moneys deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 3.1 (and held 
by it or any Paying Agent) for the payment of Securities subsequently 
converted shall be returned to the Company upon Company Request. 
 

ARTICLE FOUR

REMEDIES

SECTION 4.1     Events of Default.



"Event of Default," wherever used herein, means any one of the following 
events (whatever the reason for such Event of Default and whether it shall be 
occasioned by the provisions of Article Eleven or be voluntary or involuntary 
or be effected by operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or 
order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative or 
governmental body): 
 

(a)     default in the payment of the principal of or premium, if any, on 
any Security at its Maturity, whether or not such payment is prohibited by the 
subordination provisions of this Indenture; or 
 

(b)     default in the payment of any interest or Liquidated Damages, if 
any, upon any Security when it becomes due and payable, and continuance of 
such default for a period of 30 days, whether or not such payment is 
prohibited by the subordination provisions of this Indenture; or 
 

(c)     failure by the Company to give the Company Notice in accordance 
with Section 12.3, whether or not such notice is prohibited by the 
subordination provisions of this Indenture; or 
 

(d)     default in the performance, or breach, of any covenant or warranty 
of the Company in this Indenture (other than a covenant or warranty a default 
in the performance or breach of which is specifically dealt with elsewhere in 
this Section 4.1), and continuance of such default or breach for a period of 
60 days after there has been given, by registered or certified mail, to the 
Company by the Trustee or to the Company and the Trustee by the Holders of at 
least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Securities, a 
written notice specifying such default or breach and requiring it to be 
remedied and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default" hereunder; or 
 

(e)     default in the payment when due of the principal of any 
indebtedness under any bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness 
for money borrowed by the Company or any Subsidiary or under any mortgage, 
indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may 
be secured or evidenced any indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or 
any Subsidiary with a principal amount then outstanding in excess of 
U.S. $10,000,000, whether such indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be 
created, if the indebtedness is not discharged and such default continues for 
a period of 20 days or more, or if such indebtedness has been accelerated, 
such acceleration is not rescinded or annulled, within a period of 30 days 
after there shall have been given, by registered or certified mail, to the 
Company by the Trustee or to the Company and the Trustee by the Holders of at 
least 25% in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities a written notice 
specifying such default and requiring the Company to cause such indebtedness 
to be discharged or such acceleration to be rescinded or annulled and stating 
that such notice is a "Notice of Default" hereunder; or 
 

(f)     the entry by a court having jurisdiction in the premises of (1) a 
decree or order for relief in respect of the Company or any Significant 
Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding under any applicable federal 
or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law or (2) a 
decree or order adjudging the Company or any Significant Subsidiary a bankrupt 
or insolvent, or approving as properly filed a petition seeking 
reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the 
Company or any Significant Subsidiary under any applicable federal or state 
law, or appointing a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, 
sequestrator or other similar official of the Company or any Significant 
Subsidiary or of any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding 
up or liquidation of its affairs, and the continuance of any such decree or 
order for relief or any such other decree or order unstayed and in effect for 
a period of 60 consecutive days; or 
 

(g)     the commencement by the Company or any Significant Subsidiary of a 
voluntary case or proceeding under any applicable federal or state bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other similar law or of any other case or 
proceeding to be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, or the consent by it to 
the entry of a decree or order for relief in respect of the Company or any 
Significant Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding under any 
applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other 
similar law or to the commencement of any bankruptcy or insolvency case or 
proceeding against it, or the filing by it of a petition or answer or consent 
seeking reorganization or similar relief under any applicable federal or state 
law, or the consent by it to the filing of such petition or to the appointment 
of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, 
trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the Company or any 



Significant Subsidiary or of any substantial part of its property, or the 
making by it of an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the admission 
by it in writing of its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 
due, or the taking of corporate action by the Board of Directors or the board 
of directors of any Significant Subsidiary in furtherance of any such action. 
 

SECTION 4.2     Acceleration of Maturity; Rescission and Annulment.

If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in 
Section 4.1(f) or 4.1(g)) occurs and is continuing, then in every such case 
the Trustee or the Holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Securities may declare the principal of all the Securities to be 
due and payable immediately, by a notice in writing to the Company (and to the 
Trustee if given by the Holders), and upon any such declaration, such 
principal and all accrued interest thereon shall become immediately due and 
payable.  If an Event of Default specified in Section 4.1(f) or 4.1(g) occurs, 
the principal of, and accrued interest on, all the Securities shall ipso facto 
become immediately due and payable without any declaration or other Act of the 
Holder or any act on the part of the Trustee. 
 

At any time after such declaration of acceleration has been made and 
before a judgment or decree for payment of the money due has been obtained by 
the Trustee as hereinafter in this Article Four provided, the Holders of a 
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities, by written notice 
to the Company and the Trustee, may rescind and annul such declaration and its 
consequences if: 
 

(a)     the Company has paid or deposited with the Trustee a sum 
sufficient to pay 
 

(1)     all overdue interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, on all 
Securities, 
 

(2)     the principal of and premium, if any, on any Securities that 
have become     due otherwise than by such declaration of acceleration 
and any interest thereon at the rate borne by the Securities, 
 

(3)     to the extent permitted by applicable law, interest upon 
overdue interest at     the rate then in effect, and 
 

(4)     all sums paid or advanced by the Trustee hereunder and the 
reasonable      compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the 
Trustee, its agents and its counsel; and 
 

(b)     all Events of Default, other than the non-payment of the principal 
of, and any premium and interest on, Securities that have become due solely by 
such declaration of acceleration, have been cured or waived as provided in 
Section 4.13. 
 

No rescission or annulment referred to above shall affect any subsequent 
default or impair any right consequent thereon. 
 

SECTION 4.3     Collection of Indebtedness and Suits for Enforcement by 
Trustee.

The Company covenants that if: 
 

(a)     default is made in the payment of any interest or Liquidated 
Damages on any Security when it becomes due and payable and such default 
continues for a period of 30 days, or 
 

(b)     default is made in the payment of the principal of or premium, if 
any, on any Security at the Maturity thereof, 
 



the Company will upon demand of the Trustee pay to it, for the benefit of the 
Holders of such Securities, the whole amount then due and payable on such 
Securities for principal, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, and 
interest on any overdue principal, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if 
any, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, on any overdue interest 
at the rate then in effect, and in addition thereto, such further amount as 
shall be sufficient to cover the reasonable costs and expenses of collection, 
including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of 
the Trustee, its agents and its counsel. 
 

If the Company fails to pay such amounts forthwith upon such demand, the 
Trustee, in its own name and as trustee of an express trust, may institute a 
judicial proceeding for the collection of the sums so due and unpaid, may 
prosecute such proceeding to judgment or final decree and may enforce the same 
against the Company or any other obligor upon the Securities and collect the 
moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable in the manner provided by law out of 
the property of the Company or any other obligor upon the Securities, wherever 
situated. 
 

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may in its 
discretion proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the 
Holders of Securities by such appropriate judicial proceedings as the Trustee 
shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any such rights, whether for 
the specific enforcement of any covenant or agreement in this Indenture or in 
aid of the exercise of any power granted herein, or to enforce any other 
proper remedy. 
 

SECTION 4.4     Trustee May File Proofs of Claim.

In case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, 
bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, composition or other 
judicial proceeding relating to the Company or any other obligor upon the 
Securities or the property of the Company or of such other obligor or the 
creditors of either, the Trustee (irrespective of whether the principal of, 
and any interest on, the Securities shall then be due and payable as therein 
expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the 
Trustee shall have made any demand on the Company for the payment of overdue 
principal or interest) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in 
such proceeding or otherwise, 
 

(a)     to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of principal, 
premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, and interest owing and unpaid in 
respect of the Securities and take such other actions, including participating 
as a member, voting or otherwise, of any official committee of creditors 
appointed in such matter, and to file such other papers or documents, in each 
of the foregoing cases, as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the 
claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, 
expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and its 
counsel) and of the Holders of Securities allowed in such judicial proceeding, 
and 
 

(b)     to collect and receive any moneys or other property payable or 
deliverable on any such claim and to distribute the same; and any custodian, 
receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar 
official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder 
of Securities to make such payments to the Trustee and, in the event that the 
Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Holders 
of Securities, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the reasonable 
compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents 
and its counsel and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 5.7. 
 

Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to 
authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder of a 
Security any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition 
affecting the Securities or the rights of any Holder thereof or to authorize 
the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder of a Security in any 
such proceeding; provided, however, that the Trustee may, on behalf of such 
Holders, vote for the election of a trustee in bankruptcy or similar official. 
 

SECTION 4.5     Trustee May Enforce Claims without Possession of Securities.



All rights of action and claims under this Indenture or the Securities 
may be prosecuted and enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of 
the Securities or the production thereof in any proceeding relating thereto, 
and any such proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its own 
name as trustee of an express trust, and any recovery of judgment shall, after 
provision for the payment of the reasonable compensation, expenses, 
disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and its counsel, be for 
the ratable benefit of the Holders of the Securities in respect of which 
judgment has been recovered. 
 

SECTION 4.6     Application of Money Collected.

Subject to Article Eleven, any money collected by the Trustee pursuant 
to this Article Four shall be applied in the following order, at the date or 
dates fixed by the Trustee and, in case of the distribution of such money on 
account of principal, premium, if any, or interest, upon presentation of the 
Securities and the notation thereon of the payment if only partially paid and 
upon surrender thereof if fully paid: 
 

FIRST: To the payment of all amounts due the Trustee under Section 5.7; 
 

SECOND: To the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid for principal 
of, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, or interest on, the 
Securities in respect of which or for the benefit of which such money has been 
collected, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind, according to 
the amounts due and payable on such Securities for principal, premium, if any, 
Liquidated Damages, if any, and interest, respectively; and 
 

THIRD: Any remaining amounts shall be repaid to the Company. 
 

SECTION 4.7     Limitation on Suits.

No Holder of any Security shall have any right to institute any 
proceeding, judicial or otherwise, with respect to this Indenture, or for the 
appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any other remedy hereunder, 
unless: 
 

(a)     such Holder has previously given written notice to the Trustee of 
a continuing Event of Default; 
 

(b)     the Holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Securities shall have made written request to the Trustee to 
institute proceedings in respect of such Event of Default in its own name as 
Trustee hereunder; 
 

(c)     such Holder or Holders have offered to the Trustee reasonable 
indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in 
compliance with such request; and 
 

(d)     the Trustee for 60 days after its receipt of such notice, request 
and offer of indemnity has failed to institute any such proceeding; 
 

it being understood and intended that no one or more of such Holders shall 
have any right in any manner whatever by virtue of, or by availing of, any 
provision of this Indenture to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of any 
other of such Holders, or to obtain or seek to obtain priority or preference 
over any other of such Holders or to enforce any right under this Indenture, 
except in the manner herein provided and for the equal and ratable benefit of 
all such Holders. 
 

SECTION 4.8     Unconditional Right of Holders to Receive Principal, Premium 
and Interest and to Convert.



Notwithstanding any other provision in this Indenture, the Holder of any 
Security shall have the right, which is absolute and unconditional, to receive 
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, and 
(subject to Section 2.8) interest on such Security on the respective Stated 
Maturities expressed in such Security (or, in the case of redemption or 
repurchase, on the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date, as the case may be), 
and to convert such Security in accordance with Article Ten, and to institute 
suit for the enforcement of any such payment and right to convert, and such 
rights shall not be impaired without the consent of such Holder. 
 

SECTION 4.9     Restoration of Rights and Remedies.

If the Trustee or any Holder of a Security has instituted any proceeding 
to enforce any right or remedy under this Indenture and such proceeding has 
been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or has been determined 
adversely to the Trustee or to such Holder, then and in every such case, 
subject to any determination in such proceeding, the Company, the Trustee and 
the Holders of Securities shall be restored severally and respectively to 
their former positions hereunder and thereafter all rights and remedies of the 
Trustee and such Holders shall continue as though no such proceeding had been 
instituted. 
 

SECTION 4.10    Rights and Remedies Cumulative.

Except as otherwise provided with respect to the replacement or payment 
of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Securities in the last paragraph of 
Section 2.7, no right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee or to the Holders of Securities is intended to be exclusive of any 
other right or remedy, and every right and remedy shall, to the extent 
permitted by law, be cumulative and in addition to every other right and 
remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or 
otherwise.  The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or 
otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any 
other appropriate right or remedy. 
 

SECTION 4.11    Delay or Omission Not Waiver.

No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Holder of any Security to 
exercise any right or remedy accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair 
any such right or remedy or constitute a waiver of any such Event of Default 
or any acquiescence therein.  Every right and remedy given by this Article 
Four or by law to the Trustee or to the Holders of Securities may be exercised 
from time to time, and as often as may be deemed expedient, by the Trustee or 
(subject to the limitations contained in this Indenture) by the Holders of 
Securities, as the case may be. 
 

SECTION 4.12    Control by Holders of Securities.

The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Outstanding 
Securities shall have the right to direct the time, method and place of 
conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or 
exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee, provided that 
 

(a)     such direction shall not be in conflict with any rule of law or 
with this Indenture, and 
 

(b)     the Trustee may take any other action deemed proper by the Trustee 
that is not inconsistent with such direction. 
 

SECTION 4.13    Waiver of Past Defaults.



The Holders, either (a) through the written consent of not less than a 
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities or (b) by the 
adoption of a resolution, at a meeting of Holders of the Outstanding 
Securities at which a quorum is present, by the Holders of at least a majority 
in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities represented at such meeting, 
may on behalf of the Holders of all the Securities waive any past default 
hereunder and its consequences, except a default (1) in the payment of the 
principal of, premium, if any, interest, the Repurchase Price or Liquidated 
Damages, if any, on any Security or (2) in respect of a covenant or provision 
hereof that under Article Seven cannot be modified or amended without the 
consent of the Holder of each Outstanding Security affected. 
 

Upon any such waiver, such default shall cease to exist, and any Event 
of Default arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured, for every 
purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent 
or other default or impair any right consequent thereon. 
 

SECTION 4.14    Undertaking for Costs.

All parties to this Indenture agree, and each Holder of any Security by 
his acceptance thereof shall be deemed to have agreed, that any court may in 
its discretion require, in any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy 
under this Indenture, or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken, 
suffered or omitted by it as Trustee, the filing by any party litigant in such 
suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of such suit, and that such court may 
in its discretion assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees and expenses, against any party litigant in such suit, having due regard 
to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by such party 
litigant; but the provisions of this Section 4.14 shall not apply to any suit 
instituted by the Company, to any suit instituted by the Trustee, to any suit 
instituted by any Holder, or group of Holders, holding in the aggregate more 
than 10% in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities, or to any suit 
instituted by any Holder of any Security for the enforcement of the payment of 
the principal of, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, or interest on 
any Security on or after the respective Stated Maturity or Maturities 
expressed in such Security (or, in the case of redemption or repurchase, on or 
after the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date, as the case may be) or for the 
enforcement of the right to convert any Security in accordance with Article 
Ten. 
 

SECTION 4.15    Waiver of Stay, Usury or Extension Laws.

The Company covenants (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) that it 
will not at any time insist upon, or plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim 
or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, usury or extension law wherever 
enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, that may affect the covenants 
or the performance of this Indenture; and the Company (to the extent that it 
may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waives all benefit or advantage of any 
such law and covenants that it will not hinder, delay or impede by reason of 
such law the execution of any power herein granted to the Trustee but will 
suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no such law had 
been enacted. 
 

        ARTICLE FIVE

        THE TRUSTEE

SECTION 5.1     Certain Duties and Responsibilities.

(a)     Except during the continuance of an Event of Default, 
 

(1)     the Trustee undertakes to perform such duties and only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied 



covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the 
Trustee; and 
 

(2)     in the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may 
conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness 
of the opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions 
furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this 
Indenture; but in the case of any such certificates or opinions that by 
any provision hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the 
Trustee, the Trustee shall be under a duty to examine the same to 
determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this 
Indenture but not to verify or confirm the contents thereof. 
 

(b)     In case an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the 
Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this 
Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a 
prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of 
his own affairs. 
 

(c)     No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the 
Trustee from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent failure 
to act, or its own willful misconduct, except that 
 

(1)     this paragraph (c) shall not be construed to limit the 
effect of paragraph (a) of this Section 5.1; 
 

(2)     the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment 
made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it shall be proved 
that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts; 
 

(3)     the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action 
taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in accordance with the 
direction of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Securities relating to the time, method and place of 
conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or 
exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, under this 
Indenture; and 
 

(4)     no provision of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to 
expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability 
in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of 
any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for 
believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against 
such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it. 
 

(d)     Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of 
this Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or 
affording protection to the Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of this 
Section 5.1. 
 

SECTION 5.2     Notice of Defaults.

Within 90 days after the occurrence of any default hereunder as to which 
a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has actually received written notice, the 
Trustee shall give to all Holders of Securities, in the manner provided in 
Section 1.6, notice of such default, unless to the actual knowledge of the 
Trustee such default shall have been cured or waived; provided, however, that, 
except in the case of a default in the payment of the principal of, premium, 
if any, or interest on any Security, the Trustee shall be protected in 
withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the 
executive committee or a trust committee of directors or Responsible Officers 
of the Trustee in good faith determine that the withholding of such notice is 
in the interest of the Holders; and provided, further, that in the case of any 
default of the character specified in Section 4.1(d), no such notice to 
Holders of Securities shall be given until at least 60 days after the 
occurrence thereof.  For the purpose of this Section 5.2, the term "default" 
means any event that is, or after notice or lapse of time or both would 
become, an Event of Default. 
 

SECTION 5.3     Certain Rights of Trustee.



Subject to the provisions of Section 5.1: 
 

(a)     the Trustee may rely and shall be protected in acting or 
refraining from acting upon any resolution, Officers' Certificate, other 
certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, 
direction, consent, order, bond, debenture, note, coupon, other evidence of 
indebtedness or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to 
have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties; 
 

(b)     any request or direction of the Company mentioned herein shall be 
sufficiently evidenced by a Company Request or Company Order and any 
resolution of the Board of Directors shall be sufficiently evidenced by a 
Board Resolution; 
 

(c)     whenever in the administration of this Indenture the Trustee shall 
deem it desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking, 
suffering or omitting any action hereunder, the Trustee (unless other evidence 
be herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of bad faith on its 
part, request and rely upon an Officers' Certificate; 
 

(d)     the Trustee may consult with counsel of its selection and the 
advice of such counsel or any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete 
authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or 
omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon; 
 

(e)     the Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the 
rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request or direction of 
any of the Holders of Securities pursuant to this Indenture, unless such 
Holders shall have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity 
against the costs, expenses and liabilities that might be incurred by it in 
compliance with such request or direction; 
 

(f)     the Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the 
facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, 
opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, debenture, 
note, coupon, other evidence of indebtedness or other paper or document, but 
the Trustee may make such further inquiry or investigation into such facts or 
matters as it may see fit, and, if the Trustee shall determine to make such 
further inquiry or investigation, it shall be entitled to examine the books, 
records and premises of the Company, personally or by agent or attorney; 
 

(g)     the Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or 
perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or 
attorneys, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any misconduct or 
negligence on the part of any agent or attorney appointed with due care by it 
hereunder; 
 

(h)     the rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given 
to the Trustee hereunder, including without limitation its right to be 
indemnified, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, the Trustee in each 
of its capacities hereunder, and each Paying Agent, Authenticating Agent, 
Conversion Agent, or Security Registrar acting hereunder; 
 

(i)     the Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to 
be taken by it in good faith that it believed to be authorized or within the 
discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture, unless the 
Trustee's conduct constitutes negligence; 
 

(j)     the permissive rights of the Trustee to do things enumerated in 
this Indenture shall not be construed as a duty unless so specified herein; 
and 
 

(k)     the Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice or actual knowledge 
of any Event of Default or Registration Default unless a Responsible Officer 
of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or has received written notice 
thereof at the Corporate Trust Office. 
 

SECTION 5.4     Not Responsible for Recitals or Issuance of Securities.



The recitals contained herein and in the Securities (except the 
Trustee's certificates of authentication) shall be taken as the statements of 
the Company, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for their correctness. 
 The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity, sufficiency or 
priority of this Indenture, of the Securities or of the Common Stock issuable 
upon the conversion of the Securities.  The Trustee shall not be accountable 
for the use or application by the Company of Securities or the proceeds 
thereof. 
 

SECTION 5.5     May Hold Securities, Act as Trustee under Other Indentures.

The Trustee, any Authenticating Agent, any Paying Agent, any Conversion 
Agent or any other agent of the Company or the Trustee, in its individual or 
any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Securities and may 
otherwise deal with the Company with the same rights it would have if it were 
not Trustee, Authenticating Agent, Paying Agent, Conversion Agent or such 
other agent. 
 

The Trustee may become and act as trustee under other indentures under 
which other securities, or certificates of interest or participation in other 
securities, of the Company are outstanding in the same manner as if it were 
not Trustee hereunder. 
 

SECTION 5.6     Money Held in Trust.

Money held by the Trustee in trust hereunder need not be segregated from 
other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee shall be under 
no liability for interest on any money received by it hereunder, except as 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Company. 
 

SECTION 5.7     Compensation and Reimbursement.

The Company agrees 
 

(a)     to pay to the Trustee from time to time such reasonable 
compensation as the Company and the Trustee shall from time to time agree in 
writing for all services rendered by it hereunder (which compensation shall 
not be limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a 
trustee of an express trust); 
 

(b)     except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to reimburse the 
Trustee upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and 
advances incurred or made by the Trustee in accordance with any provision of 
this Indenture (including the reasonable compensation and the expenses and 
disbursements of its agents and counsel), except any such expense, disburse- 
ment or advance as may be attributable to its negligence or willful 
misconduct; and 
 

(c)     to indemnify the Trustee (and its directors, officers, employees 
and agents) for, and to hold it harmless against, any and all loss, damage, 
claim, liability or expense, including taxes (other than taxes based on the 
income of the Trustee), incurred without negligence, bad faith or willful 
misconduct on its part, arising out of or in connection with the acceptance or 
administration of this trust, including the reasonable costs, expenses and 
reasonable attorneys' fees of defending itself against any claim or liability 
in connection with the exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties 
hereunder. 
 

When the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services in connection with 
an Event of Default specified in Section 4.1(f) or Section 4.1(g) with respect 
to the Company, the expenses (including the reasonable charges of its counsel) 
and the compensation for the services are intended to constitute expenses of 
the administration under any applicable federal or state bankruptcy, 



insolvency or other similar law. 
 

The Trustee shall have a lien prior to the Securities as to all property 
and funds held by it hereunder for any amount owing it or any predecessor 
Trustee pursuant to this Section 5.7, except with respect to funds held in 
trust for the benefit of the Holders of particular Securities. 
 

The provisions of this Section 5.7 shall survive the termination of this 
Indenture or the earlier resignation or removal of the Trustee. 
 

SECTION 5.8     Corporate Trustee Required; Eligibility.

There shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder which shall be a Person 
that is eligible pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act to act as such, having a 
combined capital and surplus (or for such purposes, the combined capital and 
surplus of any parent holding company) of at least U.S. $25,000,000, subject 
to supervision or examination by federal or state authority, in good standing 
and having an established place of business in the Borough of Manhattan, The 
City of New York.  If such corporation publishes reports of condition at least 
annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of said supervising or 
examining authority, then for the purposes of this Section 5.8, the combined 
capital and surplus of such corporation shall be deemed to be its combined 
capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent report of condition so 
published.  If at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.8, it shall resign 
immediately in the manner and with the effect hereinafter specified in this 
Article and a successor shall be appointed pursuant to Section 5.9. 
 

SECTION 5.9     Resignation and Removal; Appointment of Successor.

(a)     No resignation or removal of the Trustee and no appointment of a 
successor Trustee pursuant to this Article shall become effective until the 
acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee in accordance with the 
applicable requirements of Section 5.10. 
 

(b)     The Trustee may resign at any time by giving written notice 
thereof to the Company.  If the instrument of acceptance by a successor 
Trustee required by Section 5.10 shall not have been delivered to the Trustee 
within 30 days after the giving of such notice of resignation, the resigning 
Trustee or the Company may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for 
the appointment of a successor Trustee. 
 

(c)     The Trustee may be removed at any time by Act of the Holders of a 
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities, delivered to the 
Trustee and the Company.  If the instrument of acceptance by a successor 
Trustee required by Section 5.10 shall not have been delivered to the Trustee 
within 30 days after the giving of such notice of removal, the removed Trustee 
or the Company may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the 
appointment of a successor Trustee. 
 

(d)     If at any time: 
 

(1)     the Trustee shall cease to be eligible under Section 5.8 and 
shall fail to resign after written request therefor by the Company or by 
any Holder of a Security who has been a bona fide Holder of a Security 
for at least six months, or 
 

(2)     the Trustee shall become incapable of acting or shall be 
adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent or a receiver of the Trustee or of its 
property shall be appointed or any public officer shall take charge or 
control of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of 
rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation, 
 

then, (i) in any such case the Company may remove the Trustee, or (ii) in the 
case of clause (d)(1) above only and subject to Section 4.14, any Holder of a 
Security who has been a bona fide Holder of a Security for at least six months 
may, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, petition any 



court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the 
appointment of a successor Trustee. 
 

(e)     If the Trustee shall resign, be removed or become incapable of 
acting, or if a vacancy shall occur in the office of Trustee for any cause, 
the Company shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee and shall comply with 
the applicable requirements of this Section 5.9 and Section 5.10.  If, within 
one year after such resignation, removal or incapability, or occurrence of 
such vacancy, a successor Trustee shall be appointed by Act of the Holders of 
a majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities delivered to the 
Company and the retiring Trustee, the successor Trustee so appointed shall, 
forthwith upon its acceptance of such appointment in accordance with the 
applicable requirements of Section 5.10, become the successor Trustee and 
supersede the successor Trustee appointed by the Company.  If no successor 
Trustee shall have been so appointed by the Company or the Holders of 
Securities and accepted appointment in the manner required by this Section 5.9 
and Section 5.10, any Holder of a Security who has been a bona fide Holder of 
a Security for at least six months may, on behalf of himself and all others 
similarly situated, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the 
appointment of a successor Trustee. 
 

(f)     The successor Trustee shall give notice of each resignation and 
each removal of the Trustee and each appointment of a successor Trustee to all 
Holders of Securities in the manner provided in Section 1.6.  Each notice 
shall include the name of the successor Trustee and the address of its 
Corporate Trust Office. 
 

SECTION 5.10    Acceptance of Appointment by Successor.

Every successor Trustee appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge 
and deliver to the Company and to the retiring Trustee an instrument accepting 
such appointment, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the retiring 
Trustee shall become effective and such successor Trustee, without any further 
act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, 
trusts and duties of the retiring Trustee.  Such retiring Trustee shall, upon 
payment of its charges, promptly execute and deliver an instrument 
transferring to such successor Trustee all the rights, powers and trusts of 
the retiring Trustee and shall duly assign, transfer and deliver to such 
successor Trustee all property and money held by such retiring Trustee 
hereunder.  Upon request of any such successor Trustee, the Company shall 
execute any and all instruments for more fully and certainly vesting in and 
confirming to such successor Trustee all such rights, powers and trusts. 
 

No successor Trustee shall accept its appointment unless at the time of 
such acceptance such successor Trustee shall be eligible under this Article. 
 

SECTION 5.11    Merger, Conversion, Consolidation or Succession to 
Business. 

Any corporation into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or 
with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any 
merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Trustee shall be a party, or 
any corporation succeeding by sale or otherwise to all or substantially all of 
the corporate trust business of the Trustee, shall be the successor of the 
Trustee hereunder (provided such corporation shall be otherwise eligible under 
this Article), without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act 
on the part of any of the parties hereto.  In case any Securities shall have 
been authenticated, but not delivered, by the Trustee then in office, any 
successor by merger, conversion or consolidation to such authenticating 
Trustee may adopt such authentication and deliver the Securities so 
authenticated with the same effect as if such successor Trustee had itself 
authenticated such Securities. 
 

SECTION 5.12    Authenticating Agents.

The Trustee may, with the consent of the Company, appoint an 
Authenticating Agent or Agents acceptable to the Company with respect to the 
Securities, which shall be authorized to act on behalf of the Trustee to 



authenticate Securities issued upon exchange or substitution pursuant to this 
Indenture. 
 

Securities authenticated by an Authenticating Agent shall be entitled to 
the benefits of this Indenture and shall be valid and obligatory for all 
purposes as if authenticated by the Trustee hereunder, and every reference in 
this Indenture to the authentication and delivery of Securities by the Trustee 
or the Trustee's certificate of authentication shall be deemed to include 
authentication and delivery on behalf of the Trustee by an Authenticating 
Agent and a certificate of authentication executed on behalf of the Trustee by 
an Authenticating Agent.  Each Authenticating Agent shall be subject to 
acceptance by the Company and shall at all times be a corporation organized 
and doing business under the laws of the United States of America, any state 
thereof or the District of Columbia, authorized under such laws to act as 
Authenticating Agent and subject to supervision or examination by government 
or other fiscal authority.  If at any time an Authenticating Agent shall cease 
to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.12, such 
Authenticating Agent shall resign immediately in the manner and with the 
effect specified in this Section 5.12. 
 

Any corporation into which an Authenticating Agent may be merged or 
converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting 
from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which such Authenticating 
Agent shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to the corporate agency 
or corporate trust business of an Authenticating Agent, shall continue to be 
an Authenticating Agent (provided such corporation shall be otherwise eligible 
under this Section 5.12), without the execution or filing of any paper or any 
further act on the part of the Trustee or the Authenticating Agent. 
 

An Authenticating Agent may resign at any time by giving written notice 
thereof to the Trustee and to the Company.  The Trustee may at any time 
terminate the agency of an Authenticating Agent by giving written notice 
thereof to such Authenticating Agent and to the Company.  Upon receiving such 
a notice of resignation or upon such a termination, or in case at any time 
such Authenticating Agent shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 5.12, the Trustee may appoint a successor 
Authenticating Agent, which shall be subject to acceptance by the Company. 
Any successor Authenticating Agent, upon acceptance of its appointment 
hereunder, shall become vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its 
predecessor hereunder, with like effect as if originally named as an 
Authenticating Agent.  No successor Authenticating Agent shall be appointed 
unless eligible under the provisions of this Section 5.12. 
 

The Company agrees to pay to each Authenticating Agent from time to time 
reasonable compensation for its services under this Section 5.12. 
 

If an Authenticating Agent is appointed with respect to the Securities 
pursuant to this Section 5.12, the Securities may have endorsed thereon, in 
addition to or in lieu of the Trustee's certification of authentication, an 
alternative certificate of authentication in the following form: 
 

This is one of the Securities referred to in the within-mentioned 
Indenture. 
 

as Trustee 

By [Authenticating Agent], 

as Authenticating Agent 
 

By _____________________________ 

Authorized Signature 

SECTION 5.13    Disqualification; Conflicting Interests.

If the Trustee has or shall acquire a conflicting interest within the 
meaning of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee shall either eliminate such 
interest or resign as Trustee hereunder, to the extent and in the manner 
provided by, and subject to the provisions of, the Trust Indenture Act and 
this Indenture. 
 



SECTION 5.14    Preferential Collection of Claims against Company.

If and when the Trustee shall be or become a creditor of the Company (or 
any other obligor upon the Securities), the Trustee shall be subject to the 
provisions of the Trust Indenture Act regarding the collection of claims 
against the Company (or any such other obligor). 
 

        ARTICLE SIX

        CONSOLIDATION, MERGER, CONVEYANCE, TRANSFER OR LEASE

SECTION 6.1     Company May Consolidate, Etc., Only on Certain Terms.

The Company shall not consolidate with or merge into any other Person or 
convey, transfer or lease its properties and assets substantially as an 
entirety to any Person, and the Company shall not permit any Person to 
consolidate with or merge into it or convey, transfer, sell or lease such 
Person's properties and assets substantially as an entirety to it, unless: 
 

(a)     the Person formed by such consolidation or into or with which the 
Company is merged, or the Person to which the Company's properties and assets 
are conveyed, transferred, sold or leased, shall be (1) a corporation, limited 
liability company, partnership or trust organized and validly existing under 
the laws of the United States of America, any state thereof or the District of 
Columbia or (2) organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United 
States of America and have (i) common stock or American Depositary Shares 
representing such common stock traded on a national securities exchange in the 
United States, including The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and (ii) a worldwide 
total market capitalization of its equity securities (before giving effect to 
such consolidation or merger) of at least U.S.$5,000,000,000, and, in each 
case, if other than the Company, shall expressly assume, by an indenture 
supplemental hereto, executed and delivered to the Trustee, in form 
satisfactory to the Trustee, the due and punctual payment of the principal of, 
premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, and interest on all of the 
Securities as applicable, and the performance or observance of every covenant 
of this Indenture on the part of the Company to be performed or observed and 
shall have provided for conversion rights in accordance with Article Ten; 
 

(b)     immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of 
Default, and no event that, after notice or lapse of time or both, would 
become an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing; and 
(c)     the Company has delivered to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate 
and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger, 
conveyance, transfer or lease and, if a supplemental indenture is required in 
connection with such transaction, such supplemental indenture comply with this 
Article and that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to such 
transaction have been complied with, together with any documents required 
under Section 7.3. 
 

SECTION 6.2     Successor Substituted.

Upon any consolidation of the Company with, or merger of the Company 
into, any other Person or any conveyance, transfer or lease of all or 
substantially all the properties and assets of the Company in accordance with 
Section 6.1, the successor Person formed by such consolidation or into or with 
which the Company is merged or to which such conveyance, transfer or lease is 
made shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right 
and power of, the Company under this Indenture with the same effect as if such 
successor Person had been named as the Company herein, and thereafter, except 
in the case of a lease, the predecessor Person shall be relieved of all 
obligations and covenants under this Indenture and the Securities. 
 

        ARTICLE SEVEN



        SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

SECTION 7.1     Supplemental Indentures without Consent of Holders of Securities.-

Without the consent of any Holders of Securities, the Company, when 
authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee, at any time and from time 
to time, may enter into one or more indentures supplemental hereto for any of 
the following purposes: 
 

(a)     to evidence the succession of another Person to the Company and 
the assumption by any such successor of the covenants and obligations of the 
Company herein and in the Securities as permitted by this Indenture; or 
 

(b)     to add to the covenants of the Company for the benefit of the 
Holders of Securities or to surrender any right or power herein conferred upon 
the Company; or 
 

(c)     to secure the Securities; or 
 

(d)     to make provision with respect to the conversion rights of Holders 
of Securities pursuant to Section 10.11; or 
 

(e)     to make any changes or modifications to this Indenture necessary 
in connection with the registration of any Registrable Securities under the 
Securities Act as contemplated by the Registration Rights Agreement (provided 
such action pursuant to this clause (e) shall not, in the judgment of the 
Company, adversely affect the interests of the Holders of Securities in any 
material respect); or 
 

(f)     to comply with the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act or the 
rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder in order to effect or 
maintain the qualification of this Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act, as 
contemplated by this Indenture or otherwise; or 
 

(g)     to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment 
hereunder by a successor Trustee; or 
 

(h)     to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision 
herein that may be inconsistent with any other provision herein or that is 
otherwise defective, or to make any other provisions with respect to matters 
or questions arising under this Indenture as the Company and the Trustee may 
deem necessary or desirable (provided such action pursuant to this clause (h) 
shall not, in the judgment of the Company, adversely affect the interests of 
the Holders of Securities in any material respect). 
 

Upon Company Request accompanied by a Board Resolution authorizing the 
execution of any such supplemental indenture, and subject to and upon receipt 
by the Trustee of the documents described in Section 7.3 hereof, the Trustee 
shall join with the Company in the execution of any supplemental indenture 
authorized or permitted by the terms of this Indenture and to make any further 
appropriate agreements and stipulations that may be therein contained. 
 

SECTION 7.2     Supplemental Indentures with Consent of Holders of Securities.-

With either (a) the written consent of the Holders of not less than a 
majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities, by the Act of said 
Holders delivered to the Company and the Trustee, or (b) by the adoption of a 
resolution, at a meeting of Holders of the Outstanding Securities at which a 
quorum is present, by the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Securities represented at such meeting, the Company, when 



authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee may enter into an indenture 
or indentures supplemental hereto for the purpose of adding any provisions to 
or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this 
Indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Holders of 
Securities under this Indenture; provided, however, that no such supplemental 
indenture shall, without the consent or affirmative vote of the Holder of each 
Outstanding Security affected thereby, 
 

(l)     change the Stated Maturity of the principal of, or any 
installment of interest on, any Security, or reduce the principal 
amount, any premium or the rate of interest payable thereon, or change 
the place at which or the coin or currency in which any Security or the 
interest or any premium thereon or any other amount in respect thereof 
is payable; or 

(2)     reduce the amount payable upon redemption at the Company's 
option; or 
 

(3)     impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of 
any payment in  respect of any Security on or after the Stated 
Maturity thereof (or, in the case of redemption or any repurchase, on or 
after the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date, as the case may be); or 
 

(4)     except as permitted by Section 10.11, adversely affect the 
right to convert any Security as provided in Article Ten; or 
 

(5)     modify the provisions of this Indenture with respect to the 
subordination of the Securities in a manner adverse to the Holders of 
Securities; or 
 

(6)     reduce the percentage in principal amount of the Outstanding 
Securities the consent of whose Holders is required for any supplemental 
indenture to modify or amend any provision of this Indenture or the 
consent of whose Holders is required for any waiver (of compliance with 
certain provisions of this Indenture or certain defaults hereunder and 
their consequences) provided for in this Indenture; or 
 

(7)     modify any of the provisions of this Section 7.2 except to 
increase any percentage contained herein or therein or to provide that 
certain other provisions of this Indenture cannot be modified or waived 
without the consent of the Holder of each Outstanding Security affected 
thereby; or 
 

(8)     amend or modify the provisions of Article Twelve in a manner 
adverse to the Holders after the Holder's right to require the Company 
to repurchase the Securities upon a Change in Control arises. 
 

It shall not be necessary for any Act of Holders of Securities under 
this Section 7.2 to approve the particular form of any proposed supplemental 
indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such Act shall approve the substance 
thereof. 
 

The quorum at any meeting called to adopt a resolution shall be Holders 
representing a majority in aggregate principal amount of Securities at the 
time Outstanding. 
 

SECTION 7.3     Execution of Supplemental Indentures.

In executing, or accepting the additional trusts created by, any 
supplemental indenture permitted by this Article or the modifications thereby 
of the trusts created by this Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled to 
receive, and (subject to Sections 5.1 and 5.3) shall be fully protected in 
relying in good faith upon, an Opinion of Counsel stating that the execution 
of such supplemental indenture is authorized or permitted by this Indenture 
and that such supplemental indenture has been duly authorized, executed and 
delivered by the Company and constitutes a valid and legally binding 
obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with 
its terms.  The Trustee may, but shall not be obligated to, enter into any 
such supplemental indenture that affects the Trustee's own rights, duties or 



immunities under this Indenture or otherwise. 
 

SECTION 7.4     Effect of Supplemental Indentures.

Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture under this Article, 
this Indenture shall be modified in accordance therewith, and such 
supplemental indenture shall form a part of this Indenture for all purposes; 
and every Holder of Securities theretofore or thereafter authenticated and 
delivered hereunder appertaining thereto shall be bound thereby. 
 

SECTION 7.5     Reference in Securities to Supplemental Indentures.

Securities authenticated and delivered after the execution of any 
supplemental indenture pursuant to this Article may, and shall if required by 
the Trustee, bear a notation in form approved by the Trustee as to any matter 
provided for in such supplemental indenture.  If the Company shall so 
determine, new Securities so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the 
Company and the Trustee, to any such supplemental indenture may be prepared 
and executed by the Company and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee in 
exchange for Outstanding Securities. 
 

SECTION 7.6     Notice of Supplemental Indentures.

Promptly after the execution by the Company and the Trustee of any 
supplemental indenture pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.2, the Company 
shall give notice to all Holders of Securities of such fact, setting forth in 
general terms the substance of such supplemental indenture, in the manner 
provided in Section 1.6.  Any failure of the Company to give such notice, or 
any defect therein, shall not in any way impair or affect the validity of any 
such supplemental indenture. 
 

ARTICLE EIGHT

COVENANTS

SECTION 8.1     Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest.

The Company covenants and agrees that it will duly and punctually pay 
the principal of and premium, if any, and interest (and Liquidated Damages, if 
any) on the Securities in accordance with the terms of the Securities and this 
Indenture. 
 

SECTION 8.2     Maintenance of Offices or Agencies.

The Company hereby appoints the Corporate Trust Office or such other 
office or agency of the Trustee as its agent in the Borough of Manhattan, The 
City of New York, where Securities may be presented or surrendered for 
payment, where Securities may be surrendered for registration of transfer or 
exchange, where Securities may be surrendered for conversion, and where 
notices and demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Securities and 
this Indenture may be served. 
 

The Company may at any time and from time to time vary or terminate the 
appointment of any such agent or appoint any additional agents for any or all 
of such purposes; provided, however, that until all of the Securities have 
been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, or moneys sufficient to pay 
the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Securities have been 



made available for payment and either paid or returned to the Company pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 8.3, the Company shall maintain in the Borough of 
Manhattan, The City of New York, an office or agency where Securities may be 
presented or surrendered for payment and conversion, where Securities may be 
surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange and where notices and 
demands to or upon the Company in respect of the Securities and this Indenture 
may be served. The Company shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee, 
and notice to the Holders in accordance with Section 1.6, of the appointment 
or termination of any such agents and of the location and any change in the 
location of any such office or agency. 
 

If at any time the Company shall fail to maintain any such required 
office or agency, or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address 
thereof, presentations and surrenders may be made and notices and demands may 
be served on the Corporate Trust Office. 
 

SECTION 8.3     Money for Security Payments to Be Held in Trust.

If the Company will act as its own Paying Agent, it shall, on or before 
each due date of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest (or Liquidated 
Damages, if any) on any of the Securities, segregate and hold in trust for the 
benefit of the Persons entitled thereto a sum sufficient to pay the principal, 
premium, if any, or interest (or Liquidated Damages, if any) so becoming due 
until such sums shall be paid to such Persons or otherwise disposed of as 
herein provided, and the Company will promptly notify the Trustee of its 
action or failure so to act. 
 

Whenever the Company shall have one or more Paying Agents, it will, no 
later than 12:00 noon Eastern time on each due date of the principal of, 
premium, if any, or interest (or Liquidated Damages, if any) on any 
Securities, deposit with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay the principal, 
premium, if any, or interest so becoming due, such sum to be held for the 
benefit of the Persons entitled to such principal, premium, if any, or 
interest (or Liquidated Damages, if any), and (unless such Paying Agent is the 
Trustee) the Company will promptly notify the Trustee of any failure so to 
act. 
 

The Company will cause each Paying Agent other than the Trustee to 
execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such Paying Agent 
shall agree with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section 8.3, 
that such Paying Agent will: 
 

(a)     hold all sums held by it for the payment of the principal of, 
premium, if any, or interest on Securities for the benefit of the Persons 
entitled thereto until such sums shall be paid to such Persons or otherwise 
disposed of as herein provided; 
 

(b)     give the Trustee notice of any default by the Company (or any 
other obligor upon the Securities) in the making of any payment of principal, 
premium, if any, or interest; and 
 

(c)     at any time during the continuance of any such default, upon the 
written request of the Trustee, forthwith pay to the Trustee all sums so held 
by such Paying Agent. 
 

The Company may at any time, for the purpose of obtaining the 
satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture or for any other purpose, pay, or 
by Company Order direct any Paying Agent to pay, to the Trustee all sums held 
in trust by the Company or such Paying Agent, such sums to be held by the 
Trustee upon the same trusts as those upon which such sums were held by the 
Company or such Paying Agent; and, upon such payment by any Paying Agent to 
the Trustee, such Paying Agent shall be released from all further liability 
with respect to such money. 
 

Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any money 
held by the Trustee or any Paying Agent in trust for the payment and discharge 
of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest (or Liquidated Damages, if 
any) on any Security that remains unclaimed for two years after the date when 
each payment of such principal, premium or interest has become payable shall 
be repaid within 60 days of such date by the Trustee to the Company as its 
absolute property free from trust, and the Trustee shall thereupon be released 



and discharged with respect thereto and the Holders shall look only to the 
Company for the payment of the principal, premium or interest on such 
Security.  The Trustee shall not be liable to the Company or any Holder for 
interest on funds held by it for the payment and discharge of the principal, 
premium or interest (or Liquidated Damages, if any) on any of the Securities 
to any Holder.  The Company shall not be liable for any interest on the sums 
paid to it pursuant to this paragraph and shall not be regarded as a trustee 
of such money. 
 

SECTION 8.4     Existence.

Subject to Article Six, the Company will do or cause to be done all 
things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its existence, 
rights (charter and statutory) and franchises; provided, however, that the 
Company shall not be required to preserve any such right or franchise if the 
Board of Directors shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer 
desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company and that the loss 
thereof is not disadvantageous in any material respect to the Holders. 
SECTION 8.5     Maintenance of Properties. 
 

The Company will cause all properties used or useful in the conduct of 
its business or the business of any Subsidiary to be maintained and kept in 
good condition, repair and working order and supplied with all necessary 
equipment and will cause to be made all necessary repairs, renewals, 
replacements, betterments and improvements thereof, all as in the judgment of 
the Company may be necessary so that the business carried on in connection 
therewith may be properly and advantageously conducted at all times; provided, 
however, that nothing in this Section 8.5 shall prevent the Company from 
discontinuing the operation or maintenance of any of such properties if such 
discontinuance is, in the judgment of the Company, desirable in the conduct of 
its business or the business of any Subsidiary and not disadvantageous in any 
material respect to the Holders. 
 

SECTION 8.6     Payment of Taxes and Other Claims.

The Company will pay or discharge, or cause to be paid or discharged, 
before the same may become delinquent, (a) all taxes, assessments and 
governmental charges levied or imposed upon the Company or any Subsidiary or 
upon the income, profits or property of the Company or any Subsidiary, (b) all 
claims for labor, materials and supplies that, if unpaid, might by law become 
a lien or charge upon the property of the Company or any Subsidiary, and (c) 
all stamps and other duties, if any, that may be imposed by the United States 
or any political subdivision thereof or therein in connection with the 
issuance, transfer, exchange or conversion of any Securities or with respect 
to this Indenture; provided, however, that, in the case of clauses (a) and 
(b), the Company shall not be required to pay or discharge or cause to be paid 
or discharged any such tax, assessment, charge or claim (1) if the failure to 
do so will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse impact on the 
Company or (2) if the amount, applicability or validity is being contested in 
good faith by appropriate proceedings. 
 

SECTION 8.7     Registration and Listing.

Within a reasonable time after the issuance of the Global Security, the 
Company (a) will effect all registrations with, and obtain all approvals by, 
all governmental authorities that may be necessary under any United States 
federal or state law (including the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and state 
securities and Blue Sky laws) before the shares of Common Stock issuable upon 
conversion of Securities may be lawfully issued and delivered, and qualified 
or listed as contemplated by clause (b) (it being understood that the Company 
shall not be required to register the Securities under the Securities Act, 
except pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement); and (b) will cause the 
shares of Common Stock required to be issued and delivered upon conversion of 
Securities, prior to such issuance or delivery, to be approved for quotation 
on The Nasdaq National Market or, if the Common Stock is not then approved for 
quotation on The Nasdaq National Market, list the Common Stock or qualify the 
Common Stock for quotation on each national securities exchange or quotation 
system on which outstanding Common Stock is listed or quoted at the time of 
such delivery.  Nothing in this Section 8.7 will limit the application of 



Section 8.11. 
 

SECTION 8.8     Statement by Officers as to Default.

The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 120 days after the end 
of each fiscal year of the Company ending after the date hereof, an Officers' 
Certificate (one of the signers of which shall be the Company's principal 
executive, principal financial or principal accounting officer), stating 
whether or not to the knowledge of the signers thereof the Company is in 
default in the performance and observance of any of the terms, provisions and 
conditions of this Indenture (without regard to any period of grace or 
requirement of notice provided hereunder) and, if the Company shall be in 
default, specifying all such defaults and the nature and status thereof of 
which they may have knowledge. 
 

The Company will deliver to the Trustee, forthwith upon becoming aware 
of any default in the performance or observance of any covenant, agreement or 
condition contained in this Indenture, or any Event of Default, an Officers' 
Certificate specifying with particularity such default or Event of Default and 
further stating what action the Company has taken, is taking or proposes to 
take with respect thereto. 
 

Any notice required to be given under this Section 8.8 shall be 
delivered to the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office. 
 

SECTION 8.9     Delivery of Certain Information.

At any time when the Company is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of 
the Exchange Act, upon the request of a Holder of a Security or the holder of 
shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof, the Company will 
promptly furnish or cause to be furnished Rule 144A Information to such Holder 
of Securities or such holder of shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion 
of Securities, or to a prospective purchaser of any such security designated 
by any such Holder or holder, as the case may be, to the extent required to 
permit compliance by such Holder or holder with Rule 144A under the Securities 
Act (or any successor provision thereto) in connection with the resale of any 
such security; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to 
furnish such information in connection with any request made on or after the 
date that is two years from the later of (a) the date such a security (or any 
such predecessor security) was last acquired from the Company or (b) the date 
such a security (or any such predecessor security) was last acquired from an 
"affiliate" of the Company within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities 
Act (or any successor provision thereto).  "Rule 144A Information" shall be 
such information as is specified pursuant to Rule 144A(d) (4) under the 
Securities Act (or any successor provision thereto). 
 

SECTION 8.10    Resale of Certain Securities; Reporting Issuer.

During the period beginning on the last date of original issuance of the 
Securities and ending on the date that is two years from such date, the 
Company will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries or other 
"affiliates" (as defined under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any 
successor provision thereto) controlled by it to, resell (a) any Securities 
that constitute "restricted securities" under Rule 144 or (b) any securities 
into which the Securities have been converted under this Indenture that 
constitute "restricted securities" under Rule 144 that, in either case, have 
been reacquired by any of them.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility in 
respect of the Company's performance of its agreement in the preceding 
sentence. 
 

SECTION 8.11    Waiver of Certain Covenants.

The Company may omit in any particular instance to comply with any 
covenant or conditions set forth in Sections 8.5 and 8.6, inclusive (other 
than a covenant or condition which under Article Seven cannot be modified or 



amended without the consent of the Holder of each Outstanding Security 
affected), if before the time for such compliance the Holders shall, through 
the written consent of, not less than a majority in principal amount of the 
Outstanding Securities, either waive such compliance in such instance or 
generally waive compliance with such covenant or condition, but no such waiver 
shall extend to or affect such covenant or condition except to the extent so 
expressly waived, and until such waiver shall become effective, the 
obligations of the Company and the duties of the Trustee or any Paying or 
Conversion Agent in respect of any such covenant or condition shall remain in 
full force and effect. 
 

        ARTICLE NINE

        REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

SECTION 9.1     Right of Redemption.

The Securities may be redeemed in accordance with the provisions of the 
form of Securities attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

SECTION 9.2     Applicability of Article.

Redemption of Securities at the election of the Company or otherwise, as 
permitted or required by any provision of the Securities or this Indenture, 
shall be made in accordance with such provision and this Article Nine. 
 

SECTION 9.3     Election to Redeem; Notice to Trustee.

In case of any redemption at the election of the Company of any of the 
Securities, the Company shall, at least 45 days prior to the Redemption Date 
fixed by the Company (unless a shorter notice shall be satisfactory to the 
Trustee), notify the Trustee in writing of such Redemption Date. 
 

SECTION 9.4     Selection by Trustee of Securities to Be Redeemed.

If less than all the Securities are to be redeemed, the particular 
Securities to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee within three 
Business Days after it receives the notice described in Section 9.3 from the 
Outstanding Securities not previously called for redemption by such method as 
the Trustee may deem fair and appropriate. 
 

If any Registered Security selected for partial redemption is converted 
in part before termination of the conversion right with respect to the portion 
of the Security so selected, the converted portion of such Security shall be 
deemed (so far as may be) to be the portion selected for redemption. 
Securities that have been converted during a selection of Securities to be 
redeemed may be treated by the Trustee as Outstanding for the purpose of such 
selection. 
 

The Trustee shall promptly notify the Company and each Security 
Registrar in writing of the Securities selected for redemption and, in the 
case of any Securities selected for partial redemption, the principal amount 
and certificate numbers thereof to be redeemed. 
 

For all purposes of this Indenture, unless the context otherwise 
requires, all provisions relating to the redemption of Securities shall 
relate, in the case of any Securities redeemed or to be redeemed only in part, 
to the portion of the principal amount of such Securities that has been or is 



to be redeemed. 
 

SECTION 9.5     Notice of Redemption.

Notice of redemption shall be given in the manner provided in Section 
1.6 to the Holders of Securities to be redeemed not less than 30 nor more than 
60 days prior to the Redemption Date, and such notice shall be irrevocable. 
 

All notices of redemption shall identify the Securities to be redeemed 
(including CUSIP numbers) and shall state: 
 

(a)     the Redemption Date, 
 

(b)     the Redemption Price, and accrued interest, if any, 
 

(c)     if less than all Outstanding Securities are to be redeemed, the 
aggregate principal amount of Securities to be redeemed, 
 
 

(d)     that on the Redemption Date the Redemption Price, and accrued 
interest, if any, will become due and payable upon each such Security to be 
redeemed, and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue on and after said 
date, 
 

(e)     the Conversion Rate, the date on which the right to convert the 
Securities to be redeemed will terminate and the places where such Securities 
may be surrendered for conversion, and 
 

(f)     the place or places where such Securities are to be surrendered 
for payment of the Redemption Price and accrued interest, if any. 
 

Notice of redemption of Securities to be redeemed at the election of the 
Company shall be given by the Company or, at the Company's written request, by 
the Trustee in the name of and at the expense of the Company.  Notice of 
redemption of Securities to be redeemed at the election of the Company 
received by the Trustee shall be given by the Trustee to each Paying Agent in 
the name of and at the expense of the Company. 
 

SECTION 9.6     Deposit of Redemption Price.

Not less than one Business Day prior to any Redemption Date, the Company 
shall deposit with the Trustee (or, if the Company is acting as its own Paying 
Agent, segregate and hold in trust as provided in Section 8.3) an amount of 
money (which shall be in immediately available funds on such Redemption Date) 
sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of, and (except if the Redemption Date 
shall be an Interest Payment Date) accrued interest on, all the Securities 
that are to be redeemed on that date other than any Securities called for 
redemption on that date that have been converted prior to the date of such 
deposit. 
 

If any Security called for redemption is converted, any money deposited 
with the Trustee or so segregated and held in trust for the redemption of such 
Security shall (subject to any right of the Holder or such Security or any 
Predecessor Security to receive interest as provided in the last paragraph of 
Section 2.8) be paid to the Company on Company Request or, if then held by the 
Company, shall be discharged from such trust. 
 

SECTION 9.7     Securities Payable on Redemption Date.

Notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, the Securities to 
be so redeemed shall, on the Redemption Date, become due and payable at the 
Redemption Price therein specified, and from and after such date (unless the 
Company shall default in the payment of the Redemption Price, including 



accrued interest) such Securities shall cease to bear interest.  Upon 
surrender of any Security for redemption in accordance with said notice, such 
Security shall be paid by the Company at the Redemption Price together with 
accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date; provided, however, that 
installments of interest on Securities whose Stated Maturity is on or prior to 
the Redemption Date shall be payable to the Holders of such Securities, or one 
or more Predecessor Securities, registered as such on the relevant Record Date 
according to their terms and the provisions of Section 2.8. 
 

If any Security called for redemption shall not be so paid upon 
surrender thereof for redemption, the principal amount of, premium, if any, 
and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, accrued interest on such 
Security shall, until paid, bear interest from the Redemption Date at the rate 
then in effect, and such Security shall remain convertible until the principal 
of such Security (or portion thereof, as the case may be) shall have been paid 
or duly provided for. 
 

SECTION 9.8     Securities Redeemed in Part.

Any Security that is to be redeemed only in part shall be surrendered at 
an office or agency of the Company designated for that purpose pursuant to 
Section 8.2 (with, if the Company or the Trustee so requires, due endorsement 
by, or a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Company 
and the Trustee duly executed by, the Holder thereof or his attorney duly 
authorized in writing), and the Company shall execute, and the Trustee shall 
authenticate and make available for delivery to the Holder of such Security 
without service charge, a new Registered Security or Securities, of any 
authorized denomination as requested by such Holder, in aggregate principal 
amount equal to and in exchange for the unredeemed portion of the principal of 
the Security so surrendered.  Upon redemption, interests in a Global Security 
shall be reduced in accordance with the Applicable Procedures. 
 

SECTION 9.9     Conversion Arrangement on Call for Redemption.

In connection with any redemption of the Securities, the Company may 
arrange for the purchase and conversion of any Securities by an agreement with 
one or more investment bankers or other purchasers (the "Purchasers") to 
purchase such Securities by paying to the Trustee in trust for the Holders, on 
or before the Redemption Date, an amount not less than the applicable 
Redemption Price, together with interest accrued and unpaid to the Redemption 
Date, of such Securities.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained 
in this Article Nine, the obligation of the Company to pay the Redemption 
Price, together with interest accrued and unpaid to the Redemption Date, shall 
be deemed to be satisfied and discharged to the extent such amount is so paid 
by such Purchasers.  If such an agreement is entered into (a copy of which 
shall be filed with the Trustee prior to the close of business on the second 
Business Day immediately prior to the Redemption Date), any Securities called 
for redemption that are not duly surrendered for conversion by the Holders 
thereof may, at the option of the Company, be deemed, to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, and consistent with any agreement or agreements with such 
Purchasers, to be acquired by such Purchasers from such Holders and 
(notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article Nine) 
surrendered by such Purchasers for conversion, all as of immediately prior to 
the close of business on the Redemption Date (and the right to convert any 
such Securities shall be extended through such time), subject to payment of 
the above amount as aforesaid.  At the direction of the Company, the Trustee 
shall hold and dispose of any such amount paid to it by the Purchasers to the 
Holders in the same manner as it would monies deposited with it by the Company 
for the redemption of Securities.  Without the Trustee's prior written 
consent, no arrangement between the Company and such Purchasers for the 
purchase and conversion of any Securities shall increase or otherwise affect 
any of the powers, duties, responsibilities or obligations of the Trustee as 
set forth in this Indenture, and the Company agrees to indemnify the Trustee 
from, and hold it harmless against, any loss, liability or expense arising out 
of or in connection with any such arrangement for the purchase and conversion 
of any Securities between the Company and such Purchasers, including the costs 
and expenses, including reasonable legal fees, incurred by the Trustee in the 
defense of any claim or liability arising out of or in connection with the 
exercise or performance of any of its powers, duties, responsibilities or 
obligations under this Indenture. 
 

        ARTICLE TEN



        CONVERSION OF SECURITIES

SECTION 10.1    Conversion Privilege and Conversion Rate.

Subject to and upon compliance with the provisions of this Article, at 
the option of the Holder thereof, any Security or any portion of the principal 
amount thereof that is U.S.$l,000 or an integral multiple of U.S.$1,000 may be 
converted into fully paid and nonassessable shares (calculated as to each 
conversion to the nearest 1/10,000th of a share) of Common Stock of the 
Company at the Conversion Rate, determined as hereinafter provided, in effect 
at the time of conversion.  Such conversion right shall commence upon the 
original issuance of the Securities and expire at the close of business on 
February 15, 2007, subject, in the case of conversion of any Global Security, 
to any Applicable Procedures.  In case a Security or portion thereof is called 
for redemption at the election of the Company or the Holder thereof exercises 
his right to require the Company to repurchase the Security, such conversion 
right in respect of the Security, or portion thereof so called, shall expire 
at the close of business on the Redemption Date or the Repurchase Date, as the 
case may be, unless the Company defaults in making the payment due upon 
redemption or repurchase, as the case may be (in each case subject, as 
aforesaid, to any Applicable Procedures with respect to any Global Security). 
 

The rate at which shares of Common Stock shall be delivered upon 
conversion (herein called the "Conversion Rate") shall be initially 6.6225 
shares of Common Stock for each U.S.$l,000 principal amount of Securities. 
The Conversion Rate shall be adjusted in certain instances as provided in this 
Article Ten. 
 

SECTION 10.2    Exercise of Conversion Privilege.

In order to exercise the conversion privilege, the Holder of any 
Security to be converted shall surrender such Security, duly endorsed or 
assigned to the Company or in blank, at any office or agency of the Company 
maintained for that purpose pursuant to Section 8.2, accompanied by a duly 
signed and completed conversion notice substantially in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit C stating that the Holder elects to convert such Security 
or, if less than the entire principal amount thereof is to be converted, the 
portion thereof to be converted.  Each Security surrendered for conversion (in 
whole or in part) during the period from the close of business on any Regular 
Record Date next preceding any Interest Payment Date to the opening of 
business on such Interest Payment Date shall (except in the case of any 
Security or portion thereof that has been called for redemption on a 
Redemption Date, or is to be repurchased on a Repurchase Date, with the 
consequence that the conversion right of such Security would terminate between 
such Regular Record Date and the close of business on such Interest Payment 
Date) be accompanied by payment in New York Clearing House funds or other 
funds acceptable to the Company of an amount equal to the interest payable on 
such Interest Payment Date on the principal amount of such Security (or part 
thereof, as the case may be) being surrendered for conversion.  The interest 
so payable on such Interest Payment Date, with respect to any Security (or 
portion thereof, if applicable) that is surrendered for conversion during the 
period from the close of business on any Record Date next preceding any 
Interest Payment Date to the opening of business on such Interest Payment 
Date, shall be paid to the Holder of such Security as of such Regular Record 
Date.  Interest payable in respect of any Security surrendered for conversion 
on or after an Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the Holder of such 
Security as of the next preceding Regular Record Date, notwithstanding the 
exercise of the right of conversion.  Except as provided in this paragraph and 
subject to the last paragraph of Section 2.8, no cash payment or adjustment 
shall be made upon any conversion on account of any interest accrued from the 
Interest Payment Date next preceding the conversion date, in respect of any 
Security (or part thereof, as the case may be) surrendered for conversion, or 
on account of any dividends on the Common Stock issued upon conversion.  The 
Company's delivery to the Holder of the number of shares of Common Stock (and 
cash in lieu of fractions thereof, as provided in this Indenture) into which a 
Security is convertible  and any rights and warrants pursuant to Section 
10.4(m) will be deemed to satisfy the Company's obligation to pay the 
principal amount of the Security. 
 



Securities shall be deemed to have been converted on the day of 
surrender of such Securities for conversion in accordance with the foregoing 
provisions, and at such time the rights of the Holders of such Securities as 
Holders shall cease, and the Person or Persons entitled to receive the Common 
Stock issuable upon conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record 
holder or holders of such Common Stock at such time.  As promptly as 
practicable on or after the conversion date, the Company shall issue and 
deliver to the Trustee, for delivery to the Holder, a certificate or 
certificates for the number of full shares of Common Stock issuable upon 
conversion, together with payment in lieu of any fraction of a share, as 
provided in Section 10.3. 
 

All shares of Common Stock delivered upon such conversion of Securities 
shall bear restrictive legends substantially in the form of the legends 
required to be set forth on the Securities pursuant to Section 2.6 and shall 
be subject to the restrictions on transfer provided in such legends.  Neither 
the Trustee nor any agent maintained for the purpose of such conversion shall 
have any responsibility for the inclusion or content of any such restrictive 
legends on such Common Stock; provided, however, that the Trustee or any agent 
maintained for the purpose of such conversion shall have provided to the 
Company or to the Company's transfer agent for such Common Stock, prior to or 
concurrently with a request to the Company to deliver such Common Stock, 
written notice that the Securities delivered for conversion are Securities. 
 

In the case of any Security that is converted in part only, upon such 
conversion the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and 
make available for delivery to the Holder thereof, at the expense of the 
Company, a new Registered Security or Securities of authorized denominations 
in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unconverted portion of the 
principal amount of such Security.  Interests in Global Securities shall be 
reduced in accordance with the Applicable Procedures.  A Security may be 
converted in part, but only if the principal amount of such Security to be 
converted is any integral multiple of U.S.$1,000 and the principal amount of 
such security to remain Outstanding after such conversion is equal to 
U.S.$l,000 or any integral multiple of U.S.$l,000 in excess thereof. 
 

SECTION 10.3    Fractions of Shares.

No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon conversion of 
any Security or Securities.  If more than one Security shall be surrendered 
for conversion at one time by the same Holder, the number of full shares that 
shall be issuable upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of 
the aggregate principal amount of the Securities (or specified portions 
thereof) so surrendered.  Instead of any fractional share of Common Stock that 
would otherwise be issuable upon conversion of any Security or Securities (or 
specified portions thereof), the Company shall calculate and pay a cash 
adjustment in respect of such fraction (calculated to the nearest 1/100th of a 
share) in an amount equal to the same fraction of the Average Sales Price Per 
Share at the close of business on the day of conversion. 
 

SECTION 10.4    Adjustment of Conversion Rate.

The Conversion Rate shall be subject to adjustments, calculated by the 
Company, from time to time as follows: 
 

(a)     In case the Company shall pay or make a dividend or other 
distribution on any class of capital stock of the Company payable in shares of 
Common Stock, the Conversion Rate in effect at the opening of business on the 
day following the date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to 
receive such dividend or other distribution shall be increased by dividing 
such Conversion Rate by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the number 
of shares of Common Stock outstanding at the close of business on the date 
fixed for such determination and the denominator shall be the sum of such 
number of shares and the total number of shares constituting such dividend or 
other distribution, such increase to become effective (subject to paragraph 
(l) of this Section 10.4) immediately after the opening of business on the day 
following the date fixed for such determination.  For the purposes of this 
paragraph (a), the number of shares of Common Stock at any time outstanding 
shall not include shares held in the treasury of the Company but shall include 
shares issuable in respect of scrip certificates issued in lieu of fractions 
of shares of Common Stock.  The Company will not pay any dividend or make any 



distribution on shares of Common Stock held in the treasury of the Company. 
 

(b)     In case the Company shall issue rights, options or warrants to all 
holders of its Common Stock entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares 
of Common Stock at a price per share less than the current market price per 
share (determined as provided in paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) of the 
Common Stock on the date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled 
to receive such rights, options or warrants (other than any rights, options or 
warrants (1) that by their terms will also be issued to any Holder upon 
conversion of a Security into shares of Common Stock without any action 
required by the Company or any other Person or (2) that are only exercisable 
upon the occurrence of specified triggering event and such triggering event 
has not occurred), the Conversion Rate in effect at the opening of business on 
the day following the date fixed for such determination shall be increased by 
dividing such Conversion Rate by a fraction of which the numerator shall be 
the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at the close of business on 
the date fixed for such determination plus the number of shares of Common 
Stock which the aggregate of the offering price of the total number of shares 
of Common Stock so offered for subscription or purchase would purchase at such 
current market price and the denominator shall be the number of shares of 
Common Stock outstanding at the close of business on the date fixed for such 
determination plus the number of shares of Common Stock so offered for 
subscription or purchase, such increase to become effective (subject to 
paragraph (l) of this Section 10.4) immediately after the opening of business 
on the day following the date fixed for such determination.  For the purposes 
of this paragraph (b), the number of shares of Common Stock at any time 
outstanding shall not include shares held in the treasury of the Company but 
shall include shares issuable in respect of scrip certificates issued in lieu 
of fractions of shares of Common Stock.  The Company will not issue any 
rights, options or warrants in respect of shares of Common Stock held in the 
treasury of the Company. 
 

(c)     In case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided 
into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Rate in effect 
at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such 
subdivision becomes effective shall be proportionately increased, and, 
conversely, in case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall each be combined 
into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Rate in effect 
at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such 
combination becomes effective shall be proportionately reduced, such increase 
or reduction, as the case may be, to become effective immediately after the 
opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision 
or combination becomes effective. 
 

(d)     In case the Company shall, by dividend or otherwise, distribute to 
all holders of its Common Stock evidences of its indebtedness, shares of any 
class of capital stock, or other property (including assets or securities, but 
excluding (1) any rights, options or warrants referred to in paragraph (b) of 
this Section 10.4, (2) any dividend or distribution paid in cash, except as 
set forth in paragraphs (e) and (f) of this Section 10.4, (3) any dividend or 
distribution referred to in paragraph (a) of this Section 10.4 and (4) any 
merger or consolidation to which Section 10.11 applies), the Conversion Rate 
shall be adjusted so that the same shall equal the rate determined by dividing 
the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the close of business on 
the date fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such 
distribution by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the current market 
price per share (determined as provided in paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) 
of the Common Stock on the date fixed for such determination less the then 
fair market value (as determined by the Board of Directors, whose determina- 
tion shall be conclusive and described in a Board Resolution) of the portion 
of the assets, shares or evidences of indebtedness so distributed applicable 
to one share of Common Stock and the denominator shall be such current market 
price per share of the Common Stock, such adjustment to become effective 
(subject to paragraph (l) of this Section 10.4) immediately prior to the 
opening of business on the day following the date fixed for the determination 
of stockholders entitled to receive such distribution. 
 

(e)     In case the Company shall, by dividend or otherwise, distribute to 
all holders of its Common Stock cash (excluding any cash that is distributed 
upon a merger or consolidation to which Section 10.11 applies) in an aggregate 
amount that, combined together with (1) the aggregate amount of any other cash 
distributions to all holders of its Common Stock made exclusively in cash 
within the 365-day period preceding the date of payment of such distribution 
and in respect of which no adjustment pursuant to this paragraph (e) has been 
made and (2) the aggregate of any cash plus the fair market value (as 
determined by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be conclusive 
and described in a Board Resolution) of consideration payable in respect of 
any tender offer by the Company or any Subsidiary for all or any portion of 



the Common Stock concluded within the 365-day period preceding the date of 
payment of such distribution and in respect of which no adjustment pursuant to 
paragraph (f) of this Section 10.4 has been made (the "combined cash and 
tender amount") exceeds 10% of the product of the current market price per 
share (determined as provided in paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) of the 
Common Stock on the date for the determination of holders of shares of Common 
Stock entitled to receive such distribution times the number of shares of 
Common Stock outstanding on such date (the "aggregate current market price"), 
then, and in each such case, immediately after the close of business on such 
date for determination, subject to paragraph (l) of Section 10.4, the 
Conversion Rate shall be adjusted so that the same shall equal the rate 
determined by dividing the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the 
close of business on the date fixed for determination of the stockholders 
entitled to receive such distribution by a fraction (A) the numerator of which 
shall be equal to the current market price per share (determined as provided 
in paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) of the Common Stock on the date fixed 
for such determination less an amount equal to the quotient of (i) the excess 
of such combined cash and tender amount over 10% of such aggregate current 
market price divided by (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
on such date fixed for determination and (B) the denominator of which shall be 
equal to the current market price per share (determined as provided in 
paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) of the Common Stock on such date fixed for 
determination. 
 

(f)     In case a tender offer made by the Company or any Subsidiary for 
all or any portion of the Common Stock shall be completed for an aggregate 
consideration consisting of cash and/or property having a fair market value 
(as determined by the Board of Directors, whose determination shall be 
conclusive and described in a Board Resolution) that combined together with 
(1) the aggregate of the cash plus the fair market value (as determined by the 
Board of Directors, whose determination shall be conclusive and described in a 
Board Resolution), of consideration payable in respect of any other tender 
offer by the Company or any Subsidiary for all or any portion of the Common 
Stock concluded within the 365-day period preceding the completion of such 
tender offer and in respect of which no adjustment pursuant to this paragraph 
(f) has been made and (2) the aggregate amount of any distributions to all 
holders of the Company's Common Stock made exclusively in cash within the 
365-day period preceding the completion of such tender offer and in respect of 
which no adjustment pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section 10.4 has been 
made (the "combined tender and cash amount") exceeds 10% of the product of the 
current market price per share of the Common Stock (determined as provided in 
paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) as of the completion of such tender offer 
(the "Completion Date") times the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
(including any tendered shares) as of the Completion Date, then, and in each 
such case, immediately prior to the opening of business on the day after the 
date of the Completion Date, the Conversion Rate shall be adjusted so that the 
same shall equal the rate determined by dividing the Conversion Rate 
immediately prior to close of business on the Completion Date by a fraction 
(A) the numerator of which shall be equal to (i) the product of (x) the 
current market price per share of the Common Stock (determined as provided in 
paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) on the Completion Date multiplied by (y) 
the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding (including any tendered 
shares) on the Completion Date less (ii) the combined tender and cash amount, 
and (B) the denominator of which shall be equal to the product of (x) the 
current market price per share of the Common Stock (determined as provided in 
paragraph (h) of this Section 10.4) as of the Completion Date multiplied by 
(y) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding (including any tendered 
shares) as of the Completion Date less the number of all shares validly 
tendered and not withdrawn as of the Completion Date (the shares deemed so 
accepted up to any such maximum, being referred to as the "Purchased Shares"). 
 

(g)     The reclassification of Common Stock into securities other than 
Common Stock (other than any reclassification upon a consolidation or merger 
to which Section 10.11 applies) shall be deemed to involve (1) a distribution 
of such securities other than Common Stock to all holders of Common Stock (and 
the effective date of such reclassification shall be deemed to be "the date 
fixed for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such 
distribution" and "the date fixed for such determination" within the meaning 
of paragraph (d) of this Section 10.4), and (2) a subdivision or combination, 
as the case may be, of the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
immediately prior to such reclassification into the number of shares of Common 
Stock outstanding immediately thereafter (and the effective date of such 
reclassification shall be deemed to be "the day upon which such subdivision 
becomes effective" or "the day upon which such combination becomes effective", 
as the case may be, and "the day upon which such subdivision or combination 
becomes effective" within the meaning of paragraph (c) of this Section 10.4) 
 

(h)     For the purpose of any computation under paragraphs (b), (d), (e) 
or (f) of this Section 10.4, the current market price per share of Common 



Stock on any date shall be calculated by the Company and be deemed to be the 
average of the daily Average Sales Prices Per Share for the five consecutive 
Trading Days selected by the Company commencing not more than 10 Trading Days 
before, and ending not later than, the earlier of the day in question and the 
day before the "ex date" with respect to the issuance or distribution 
requiring such computation.  For purposes of this paragraph, the term "ex 
date," when used with respect to any issuance or distribution, means the first 
date on which the Common Stock trades regular way in the applicable securities 
market or on the applicable securities exchange without the right to receive 
such issuance or distribution. 
 

(i)     No adjustment in the Conversion Rate shall be required unless such 
adjustment (plus any adjustments not previously made by reason of this 
paragraph (i)) would require an increase or decrease of at least one percent 
in such rate; provided, however, that any adjustments which by reason of this 
paragraph (i) are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken 
into account in any subsequent adjustment.  All calculations under this 
Article shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a 
share, as the case may be. 
 

(j)     The Company may make such increases in the Conversion Rate, for 
the remaining term of the Securities or any shorter term, in addition to those 
required by paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of this Section 10.4, 
as it considers to be advisable in order to avoid or diminish any income tax 
liability to any holders of shares of Common Stock resulting from any dividend 
or distribution of Common Stock or issuance of rights or warrants to purchase 
or subscribe for Common Stock or from any event treated as such for income tax 
purposes. 
 

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company from time to time 
may increase the Conversion Rate by any amount for any period of time if the 
period is at least twenty (20) days and the Board of Directors shall have made 
a determination that such increase would be in the best interests of the 
Company, which determination shall be conclusive; provided, however, that such 
increase shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining whether 
the Average Sales Price Per Share of the Common Stock exceeds the Conversion 
Price by 105% in connection with an event which would otherwise be a Change in 
Control.  Whenever the Conversion Rate is increased pursuant to the preceding 
sentence, the Company shall give notice of the increase to the Holders of 
Securities in the manner provided in Section 1.6 at least fifteen (15) days 
prior to the date the increased Conversion Rate takes effect, and such notice 
shall state the increased Conversion Rate and the period during which it will 
be in effect. 
 

(k)     Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 10.4, no 
adjustment of the Conversion Rate shall be required to be made (1) upon the 
issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to any present or future plan for 
the reinvestment of dividends, (2) because of a tender or exchange offer of 
the character described in Rule 13e-4(h) (5) under the Exchange Act or any 
successor rule thereto or (3) as a result of a rights plan or poison pill 
implemented by the Company. 
(l)     In any case in which this Section 10.4 shall require that an 
adjustment be made immediately following a Record Date, the Company may elect 
to defer the effectiveness of such adjustment (but in no event until a date 
later than the effective time of the event giving rise to such adjustment), in 
which case the Company shall, with respect to any Security converted after 
such Record Date and on and before such adjustment shall have become effective 
(1) defer paying any cash payment pursuant to Section 10.3 hereof or issuing 
to the Holder of such Security the number of shares of Common Stock issuable 
upon such conversion in excess of the number of shares of Common Stock 
issuable thereupon only on the basis of the Conversion Rate prior to 
adjustment, and (2) not later than five Business Days after such adjustment 
shall have become effective, pay to such Holder the appropriate cash payment 
pursuant to Section 10.3 hereof and issue to such Holder the additional shares 
of Common Stock issuable on such conversion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
no adjustment of the Conversion Rate shall be made if the event giving rise to 
such adjustment does not occur. 
 

        (m)     In the event that the Company distributes rights or warrants 
(other than those referred to in paragraph (b) above) pro rata to holders of 
Common Stock, so long as any such rights or warrants have not expired or been 
redeemed by the Company, the Company shall make proper provision so that the 
Holder of any Security surrendered for conversion will be entitled to receive 
upon such conversion, in addition to the Common Stock issuable upon conversion 
of the Securities (the "Conversion Shares"), a number of rights and warrants 
to be determined as follows:  (i) if such conversion occurs on or prior to the 
date for the distribution to the holders of rights or warrants of separate 



certificates evidencing such rights or warrants (the "Distribution Date"), the 
same number of rights or warrants to which a holder of a number of shares of 
Common Stock equal to the number of Conversion Shares is entitled at the time 
of such conversion in accordance with the terms and provisions of and 
applicable to the rights or warrants, and (ii) if such conversion occurs after 
such Distribution Date, the same number of rights or warrants to which a 
holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which the principal amount 
of such Security so converted was convertible immediately prior to such 
Distribution Date would have been entitled on such Distribution Date in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of and applicable to the rights or 
warrants. 
 

SECTION 10.5    Notice of Adjustments of Conversion Rate.

Whenever the Conversion Rate is adjusted as herein provided: 
 

(a)     the Company shall compute the adjusted Conversion Rate in 
accordance with Section 10.4 and shall prepare a certificate signed by the 
Chief Financial Officer, the principal financial officer or the principal 
accounting officer of the Company setting forth the adjusted Conversion Rate 
and showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is 
based, and such certificate shall promptly be filed with the Trustee and with 
the Conversion Agent; and 
 

(b)     upon each such adjustment, a notice stating that the Conversion 
Rate has been adjusted and setting forth the adjusted Conversion Rate shall be 
required, and as soon as practicable after it is required, such notice shall 
be provided by the Company to all Holders in accordance with Section 1.6. 
 

Neither the Trustee nor the Conversion Agent shall be under any duty or 
responsibility with respect to any such certificate or the information and 
calculations contained therein, except to exhibit the same to any Holder of 
Securities desiring inspection thereof at its office during normal business 
hours. 
 

SECTION 10.6    Notice of Certain Corporate Action.

In case: 
 

(a)     the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution) 
on its Common Stock payable (i) otherwise than exclusively in cash or (ii) 
exclusively in cash in an amount that would require any adjustment pursuant to 
Section 10.4; or 
 

(b)     the Company shall authorize the granting to the holders of its 
Common Stock of rights, options or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any 
shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights; or 
 

(c)     of any reclassification of the Common Stock of the Company, or of 
any consolidation, merger or share exchange to which the Company is a party 
and for which approval of any stockholders of the Company is required, or of 
the conveyance, sale, transfer or lease of all or substantially all of the 
assets of the Company; or 
 

(d)     of the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or 
winding up of the Company; 
 

then the Company shall cause to be filed at each office or agency maintained 
for the purpose of conversion of Securities pursuant to Section 8.2, and shall 
cause to be provided to all Holders in accordance with Section 1.6, at least 
20 days (or 10 days in any case specified in clause (a) or (b) above) prior to 
the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice 
stating (1) the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such 
dividend, distribution, rights, options or warrants, or, if a record is not to 
be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be 
entitled to such dividend, distribution, rights, options or warrants are to be 
determined or (2) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, 



merger, conveyance, transfer, sale, lease, dissolution, liquidation or winding 
up is expected to become effective, and the date as of which it is expected 
that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their 
shares of Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon 
such reclassification, consolidation, merger, conveyance, transfer, sale, 
lease, dissolution, liquidation or winding up.  Neither the failure to give 
such notice or the notice referred to in the following paragraph nor any 
defect therein shall affect the legality or validity of the proceedings 
described in clauses (a) through (d) of this Section 10.6.  If at the time the 
Trustee shall not be the Conversion Agent, a copy of such notice shall also 
forthwith be filed by the Company with the Trustee. 
 

The Company shall cause to be filed at each office or agency maintained 
for the purpose of conversion of Securities pursuant to Section 8.2, and shall 
cause to be provided to all Holders in accordance with Section 1.6, notice of 
any tender offer by the Company or any Subsidiary for all or any portion of 
the Common Stock at or about the time that such notice of tender offer is 
provided to the public generally. 
 

SECTION 10.7    Company to Reserve Common Stock.

The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from 
preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, for the 
purpose of effecting the conversion of Securities, the full number of shares 
of Common Stock then issuable upon the conversion of all Outstanding 
Securities. 
 

SECTION 10.8    Taxes on Conversions.

Except as provided in the next sentence, the Company will pay any and 
all taxes and duties that may be payable in respect of the issue or delivery 
of shares of Common Stock on conversion of Securities pursuant hereto.  The 
Company shall not, however, be required to pay any tax or duty which may be 
payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issue and delivery of 
shares of Common Stock in a name other than that of the Holder of the Security 
or Securities to be converted, and no such issue or delivery shall be made 
unless and until the Person requesting such issue has paid to the Company the 
amount of any such tax or duty or has established to the satisfaction of the 
Company that such tax or duty has been paid. 
 

SECTION 10.9    Covenant as to Common Stock.

The Company agrees that all shares of Common Stock that may be delivered 
upon conversion of Securities, upon such delivery, will be newly issued shares 
and will have been duly authorized and validly issued and will be fully paid 
and nonassessable and, except as provided in Section 10.8, the Company will 
pay all taxes, liens and charges with respect to the issue thereof. 
 

SECTION 10.10   Cancellation of Converted Securities.

All Securities delivered for conversion shall be delivered to the 
Trustee or its agent to be cancelled by or at the direction of the Trustee, 
which shall dispose of the same as provided in Section 2.10. 
 

SECTION 10.11   Provision in Case of Consolidation, Merger or Sale of 
Assets.

In case of any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any 
other Person, any merger of another Person with or into the Company (other 
than a merger that does not result in any reclassification, conversion, 
exchange or cancellation of outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company) 
or any conveyance, sale, transfer or lease of all or substantially all of the 
assets of the Company, the Person formed by such consolidation or resulting 



from such merger or that acquires such assets, as the case may be, shall 
execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture providing that the 
Holder of each Security then Outstanding shall have the right thereafter, 
during the period such Security shall be convertible as specified in Section 
1l.l, to convert such Security only into the kind and amount of securities, 
cash and other property receivable upon such consolidation, merger, 
conveyance, sale, transfer or lease by a holder of the number of shares of 
Common Stock of the Company into which such Security might have been converted 
immediately prior to such consolidation, merger, conveyance, sale, transfer or 
lease, assuming such holder of Common Stock of the Company (a) is not a Person 
with which the Company consolidated or merged with or into or that merged into 
or with the Company or to which such conveyance, sale, transfer or lease was 
made, as the case may be (a "Constituent Person"), or an Affiliate of a 
Constituent Person and (b) failed to exercise his rights of election, if any, 
as to the kind or amount of securities, cash and other property receivable 
upon such consolidation, merger, conveyance, sale, transfer or lease (provided 
that if the kind or amount of securities, cash and other property receivable 
upon such consolidation, merger, conveyance, sale, transfer, or lease is not 
the same for each share of Common Stock of the Company held immediately prior 
to such consolidation, merger, conveyance, sale, transfer or lease by others 
than a Constituent Person or an Affiliate thereof and in respect of which such 
rights of election shall not have been exercised ("Non-electing Share"), then 
for the purpose of this Section 10.11 the kind and amount of securities, cash 
and other property receivable upon such consolidation, merger, conveyance, 
sale, transfer or lease by the holders of each Non-electing Share shall be 
deemed to be the kind and amount so receivable per share by a plurality of the 
Non-electing Shares).  Such supplemental indenture shall provide for 
adjustments that, for events subsequent to the effective date of such 
supplemental indenture, shall be as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to 
the adjustments provided for in this Article.  The above provisions of this 
Section 10.11 shall similarly apply to successive consolidations, mergers, 
conveyances, sales, transfers or leases.  Notice of the execution of such a 
supplemental indenture shall be given by the Company to the Holder of each 
Security as provided in Section 1.6 promptly upon such execution. 
 

Neither the Trustee nor the Conversion Agent shall be under any 
responsibility to determine the correctness of any provisions contained in any 
such supplemental indenture relating either to the kind or amount of shares of 
stock or other securities or property or cash receivable by Holders of 
Securities upon the conversion of their Securities after any such 
consolidation, merger, conveyance, transfer, sale or lease or to any such 
adjustment but may accept as conclusive evidence of the correctness of any 
such provisions, and shall be protected in relying upon, an Officers 
Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel with respect thereto, which the Company 
shall cause to be furnished to the Trustee upon request. 
SECTION 10.12   Responsibility of Trustee for Conversion Provisions. 
 

The Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, and any 
Conversion Agent shall not at any time be under any duty or responsibility to 
any Holder of Securities to determine whether any facts exist that may require 
any adjustment of the Conversion Rate, or with respect to the nature or extent 
of any such adjustment when made, or with respect to the method employed, or 
herein or in any supplemental indenture provided to be employed, in making the 
same, or whether a supplemental indenture need be entered into.  Neither the 
Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, nor any Conversion Agent 
shall be accountable with respect to the validity or value (or the kind or 
amount) of any Common Stock, or of any other securities or property or cash, 
that may at any time be issued or delivered upon the conversion of any 
Security; and it or they do not make any representation with respect thereto. 
 Neither the Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, nor any 
Conversion Agent shall be responsible for any failure of the Company to make 
or calculate any cash payment or to issue, transfer or deliver any shares of 
Common Stock or share certificates or other securities or property or cash 
upon the surrender of any Security for the purpose of conversion; and the 
Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, and any Conversion Agent 
shall not be responsible for any failure of the Company to comply with any of 
the covenants of the Company contained in this Article. 
 

        ARTICLE ELEVEN

        SUBORDINATION OF SECURITIES

SECTION 11.1    Securities Subordinate to Senior Debt.



The Company covenants and agrees, and each Holder of a Security by his 
acceptance thereof likewise covenants and agrees, that to the extent and in 
the manner hereinafter set forth in this Article (subject to the provisions of 
Article Three) the indebtedness represented by the Securities and the payment 
of the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on, and any payment of 
the Repurchase Price with respect to, each and all of the Securities are 
hereby expressly made subordinate and subject in right of payment to the prior 
payment in full in cash or Cash Equivalents of all Senior Debt. 
 

SECTION 11.2    No Payments in Certain Circumstances; Payment Over of 
Proceeds Upon Dissolution, Etc.

No payment on account of principal of, premium, if any, or interest (and 
Liquidated Damages, if any) on, or redemption or repurchase of, the Securities 
shall be made if, at the time of such payment:  (a) a default in the payment 
of principal, premium, if any, or interest or other amounts due on any Senior 
Debt, including any default under any redemption or repurchase obligation, 
occurs and is continuing (or, in the case of Senior Debt for which there is a 
period of grace, in the event of such a default that continues beyond the 
period of grace, if any, specified in the instrument or lease evidencing such 
Senior Debt), unless and until such default shall have been cured or waived or 
shall have ceased to exist; or (b) a default, other than a payment default, on 
Designated Senior Debt occurs and is continuing that then permits holders of 
such Designated Senior Debt to accelerate its maturity and the Trustee 
receives a notice of the default (a "Payment Blockage Notice") from a 
Representative.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may make, and the 
Trustee may receive and shall apply, any payment in respect of the Securities 
(for principal, premium, if any, or interest (and Liquidated Damages, if any) 
or repurchase) if such payment was made prior to the occurrence of any of the 
contingencies specified in clauses (a) and (b) above. 
 

If the Trustee receives any Payment Blockage Notice pursuant to clause 
(b) above, no subsequent Payment Blockage Notice shall be effective for 
purposes of this Section 11.2 unless and until (1) at least 365 days shall 
have elapsed since the effectiveness of the immediately prior Payment Blockage 
Notice and (2) all scheduled payments of principal, premium, if any, interest 
and Liquidated Damages, if any, on the Securities that have come due have been 
paid in full in cash.  No nonpayment default that existed or was continuing on 
the date of delivery of any Payment Blockage Notice to the Trustee shall be, 
or be made, the basis for a subsequent Payment Blockage Notice unless such 
existing nonpayment default has been cured for a period of at least 90 days. 
 

The Company may and shall resume payments on and distributions in 
respect of the Securities (including missed payments, if any) upon the earlier 
of:  (A) the date upon which the default is cured or waived, or (B) in the 
case of a default referred to in clause (b) of the second preceding paragraph, 
179 days after the date on which notice is received by the Trustee if the 
maturity of such Designated Senior Debt has not been accelerated, unless this 
Article otherwise prohibits the payment or distribution at the time of such 
payment or distribution. 
 

Upon (i) any acceleration of the principal amount due on the Securities 
or (ii) any payment or distribution of assets of the Company of any kind or 
character, whether in cash, property or securities, to creditors upon any 
dissolution, winding up or total or partial liquidation or reorganization of 
the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or in bankruptcy, insolvency, 
receivership or other proceedings, all principal of, premium, if any, sinking 
fund and interest or other amounts due or to become due upon all Senior Debt 
shall first be paid in full in cash or Cash Equivalents, or payment thereof 
provided for in cash or Cash Equivalents in accordance with its terms, before 
any payment is made on account of the principal of, premium, if any, or 
interest (and Liquidated Damages, if any) on, or repurchase of, the 
indebtedness evidenced by the Securities, and upon any such dissolution or 
winding up or liquidation or reorganization any payment or distribution of 
assets of the Company of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or 
securities, to which the Holders of the Securities or the Trustee under this 
Indenture would be entitled, except for the provisions hereof, shall be paid 
by the Company or by any receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, liquidating trustee, 
agent or other Person making such payment or distribution, or by the Holders 
of the Securities or by the Trustee under this Indenture if received by them 
or it, as the case may be, directly to the holders of Senior Debt (pro rata to 
each such holder on the basis of the respective amounts of Senior Debt held by 



such holder) or their representatives, to the extent necessary to pay all 
Senior Debt in full, in cash or Cash Equivalents, after giving effect to any 
concurrent payment or distribution to or for the holders of Senior Debt, 
before any payment or distribution is made to the Holders of the Securities or 
to the Trustee under this Indenture. 
 

In the event that, contrary to the foregoing, any payment or 
distribution of assets of the Company of any kind or character, whether in 
cash, property or securities (other than junior securities, as defined in 
Section 11.11), shall be received by the Trustee or the Holders of the 
Securities before all Senior Debt is paid in full in cash or Cash Equivalents 
or provision made for such payment in accordance with its terms, such payment 
or distribution shall be paid over or delivered to the holders of such Senior 
Debt or their representative or representatives, or to the trustee or trustees 
under any indenture pursuant to which any instruments evidencing any of such 
Senior Debt have been issued, as their respective interests may appear, for 
application to the payment of all Senior Debt remaining unpaid to the extent 
necessary to pay all such Senior Debt in full in cash or Cash Equivalents in 
accordance with its terms, after giving effect to any concurrent payment or 
distribution to or for the holders of such Senior Debt. 
 

Subject to the payment in full in cash or Cash Equivalents of all Senior 
Debt, the Holders of the Securities (together with the holders of any other 
indebtedness of the Company that is subordinated in right of payment to the 
payment in full of all Senior Debt that is not subordinated in right of 
payment to the Securities and that by its terms grants such right of 
subrogation to the holders thereof) shall be subrogated to the rights of the 
holders of Senior Debt to receive payments or distribution of assets of the 
Company made on the Senior Debt until the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on, or amounts payable upon repurchase of, the Securities shall be 
paid in full; and, for the purposes of such subrogation, no payments or 
distributions to the holders of Senior Debt of any cash, property or 
securities to which the Holders of the Securities or the Trustee would be 
entitled except for the provisions of this Article, and no payment over 
pursuant to the provisions of this Article to the holders of Senior Debt by 
the Holders of the Securities or the Trustee, shall, as between the Company, 
its creditors other than the holders of Senior Debt, and the Holders of 
Securities, be deemed to be a payment by the Company to the holders of or on 
account of Senior Debt, it being understood that the provisions of this 
Article are and are intended solely for the purpose of defining the relative 
rights of the Holders of the Securities, on the one hand, and the holders of 
Senior Debt, on the other hand. 
 

SECTION 11.3    Trustee to Effectuate Subordination.

Each Holder of a Security by his acceptance thereof authorizes and 
directs the Trustee on his behalf to take such action as may be necessary or 
appropriate to effectuate the subordination provided in this Article and 
appoints the Trustee his attorney-in-fact for any and all such purposes. 
 

SECTION 11.4    No Waiver of Subordination Provisions.

No right of any present or future holder of any Senior Debt to enforce 
subordination as herein provided shall at any time in any way be prejudiced or 
impaired by any act or failure to act on the part of the Company or by any act 
or failure to act, in good faith, by any such holder of any Senior Debt or by 
any non-compliance by the Company with the terms, provisions and covenants of 
this Indenture, regardless of any knowledge thereof any such holder may have 
or be otherwise charged with. 
 

Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing paragraph, 
the holders of Senior Debt may, at any time and from time to time, without the 
consent of or notice to the Trustee or the Holders of the Securities, without 
incurring responsibility to the Holders of the Securities and without 
impairing or releasing the subordination provided in this Article or the 
obligations hereunder of the Holders of the Securities to the holders of 
Senior Debt, do any one or more of the following:  (a) change the manner, 
place or terms of payment or extend the time of payment of, or renew or alter, 
Senior Debt or otherwise amend or supplement in any manner Senior Debt or any 
instrument evidencing the same or any agreement under which Senior Debt is 
outstanding; (b) sell, exchange, release or otherwise deal with any property 
pledged, mortgaged or otherwise securing Senior Debt; (c) release any Person 



liable in any manner for the collection of Senior Debt; and (d) exercise or 
refrain from exercising any rights against the Company and any other Person. 
 

SECTION 11.5    Notice to Trustee.

The Company shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any fact 
known to the Company that would prohibit the making of any payment to or by 
the Trustee in respect of the Securities.  Notwithstanding the provisions of 
this Article or any other provision of this Indenture, the Trustee shall not 
be charged with knowledge of the existence of any facts that would prohibit 
the making of any payment to or by the Trustee in respect of the Securities, 
unless and until the Trustee shall have received written notice thereof from 
the Company or a holder of Senior Debt or from any trustee, agent or 
representative therefor; and, prior to the receipt of any such written notice, 
the Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, shall be entitled in 
all respects to assume that no such facts exist; provided, however, that if 
the Trustee shall not have received the notice provided for in this Section 
11.5 prior to the date upon which by the terms hereof any money may become 
payable for any purpose (including without limitation the payment of the 
principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any Security), then, 
anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, the Trustee shall 
have full power and authority to receive such money and to apply the same to 
the purpose for which such money was received and shall not be affected by any 
notice to the contrary that may be received by it within two Business Days 
prior to such date. 
 

Subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, the Trustee shall be entitled 
to rely on the delivery to it of a written notice by a Person representing 
himself to be a holder of Senior Debt (or a trustee, agent or representative 
therefor) to establish that such notice has been given by a holder of Senior 
Debt (or a trustee, agent or representative therefor).  In the event that the 
Trustee determines in good faith that further evidence is required with 
respect to the right of any Person as a holder of Senior Debt to participate 
in any payment or distribution pursuant to this Article Eleven, the Trustee 
may request such Person to furnish evidence to the reasonable satisfaction of 
the Trustee as to the amount of Senior Debt held by such Person, the extent to 
which such Person is entitled to participate in such payment or distribution 
and any other facts pertinent to the rights of such Person under this Article 
Eleven, and if such evidence is not furnished, the Trustee may defer any 
payment to such Person pending judicial determination as to the right of such 
Person to receive such payment. 
 

SECTION 11.6    Reliance on Judicial Order or Certificate of 
Liquidating Agent.

Upon any payment or distribution of assets of the Company referred to in 
this Article, the Trustee, subject to the provisions of Section 5.1, and the 
Holders of the Securities shall be entitled to rely upon any order or decree 
entered by any court of competent jurisdiction in which such insolvency, 
bankruptcy, receivership, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution, winding up 
or similar case or proceeding is pending, or a certificate of the trustee in 
bankruptcy, receiver, liquidating trustee, custodian, assignee for the benefit 
of creditors, agent or other Person making such payment or distribution, 
delivered to the Trustee or to the Holders of Securities, for the purpose of 
ascertaining the Persons entitled to participate in such payment or 
distribution, the holders of the Senior Debt and other indebtedness of the 
Company, the amount thereof or payable thereon, the amount or amounts paid or 
distributed thereon and all other facts pertinent thereto or to this Article. 
 

SECTION 11.7    Trustee Not Fiduciary for Holders of Senior Debt.

The Trustee shall not be deemed to owe any fiduciary duty to the holders 
of Senior Debt and shall not be liable to any such holders if it shall in good 
faith mistakenly pay over or distribute to Holders of Securities or to the 
Company or to any other Person cash, property or securities to which any 
holders of Senior Debt shall be entitled by virtue of this Article or 
otherwise.  With respect to the holders of Senior Debt, the Trustee undertakes 
to perform or to observe only such of its covenants or obligations as are 
specifically set forth in this Article Eleven, and no implied covenants or 
obligations with respect to holders of Senior Debt shall be read into this 



Indenture against the Trustee. 
 

SECTION 11.8    Reliance by Holders of Senior Debt on Subordination 
Provisions.

Each Holder by accepting a Security acknowledges and agrees that the 
foregoing subordination provisions are, and are intended to be, an inducement 
and a consideration to each holder of any Senior Debt, whether such Senior 
Debt was created or acquired before or after the issuance of the Securities, 
to acquire and continue to hold, or to continue to hold, such Senior Debt, and 
such holder of Senior Debt shall be deemed conclusively to have relied on such 
subordination provisions in acquiring and continuing to hold, or in continuing 
to hold, such Senior Debt. 
 

SECTION 11.9    Rights of Trustee as Holder of Senior Debt; 
Preservation of Trustee's Rights.

The Trustee in its individual capacity shall be entitled to all the 
rights set forth in this Article Eleven with respect to any Senior Debt that 
may at any time be held by it, to the same extent as any other holder of 
Senior Debt, and nothing in this Indenture shall deprive the Trustee of any of 
its rights as such holder. 
 

Nothing in this Article Eleven shall apply to claims of, or payments to, 
the Trustee under or pursuant to Section 5.7. 
 

SECTION 11.10   Article Applicable to Paying Agents.

In case at any time any Paying Agent other than the Trustee shall have 
been appointed by the Company and be then acting hereunder, the term "Trustee" 
as used in this Article shall in such case (unless the context otherwise 
requires) be construed as extending to and including such Paying Agent within 
its meaning as fully for all intents and purposes as if such Paying Agent were 
named in this Article Eleven in addition to or in place of the Trustee; 
provided, however, that Section 11.9 shall not apply to the Company or any 
Affiliate of the Company if it or such Affiliate acts as Paying Agent. 
 

SECTION 11.11   Certain Conversions and Repurchases Deemed Payment.

For the purposes of this Article Eleven only, (a) the issuance and 
delivery of junior securities upon conversion of Securities in accordance with 
Article Ten or upon the repurchase of Securities in accordance with Article 
Twelve shall not be deemed to constitute a payment or distribution on account 
of the principal of or premium or interest or Liquidated Damages on Securities 
or on account of the purchase or other acquisition of Securities, and (b) the 
payment, issuance or delivery of cash, property or securities (other than 
junior securities) upon conversion of a Security shall be deemed to constitute 
payment on account of the principal of such Security.  For the purposes of 
this Section 11.11, the term "junior securities" means (1) shares of any stock 
of any class of the Company and any cash, property or securities into which 
the Securities are convertible pursuant to Article Ten and (2) securities of 
the Company that are subordinated in right of payment to all Senior Debt that 
may be outstanding at the time of issuance or delivery of such securities to 
substantially the same extent as, or to a greater extent than, the Securities 
are so subordinated as provided in this Article Eleven.  Nothing contained in 
this Article Eleven or elsewhere in this Indenture or in the Securities is 
intended to or shall impair, as among the Company, its creditors other than 
holders of Senior Debt and the Holders of the Securities, the right, which is 
absolute and unconditional, of the Holder of any Security to convert such 
Security in accordance with Article Ten or to exchange such Security for 
Common Stock in accordance with Article Twelve if the Company elects to 
satisfy the obligations under Article Twelve by the delivery of Common Stock. 
 

        ARTICLE TWELVE



REPURCHASE OF SECURITIES AT THE OPTION OF THE HOLDER UPON A CHANGE IN CONTROL

SECTION 12.1    Right to Require Repurchase.

In the event that a Change in Control shall occur, then each Holder 
shall have the right, at the Holder's option, but subject to the provisions of 
Section 12.2, to require the Company to repurchase, and upon the exercise of 
such right the Company shall repurchase, all of such Holder's Securities not 
theretofore called for redemption, or any portion of the principal amount 
thereof that is equal to U.S.$1,000 or any greater integral multiple of 
U.S.$1,000, on the date (the "Repurchase Date") that is fixed by the Company 
that is not less than 30 days nor more than 45 days after the date the Company 
gives notice of the Change in Control as contemplated in Section 12.3(a) at a 
cash purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Securities to 
be repurchased plus interest accrued to the Repurchase Date (the "Repurchase 
Price"); provided, however, that installments of interest on Securities whose 
Stated Maturity is on or prior to the Repurchase Date shall be payable to the 
Holders of such Securities, or one or more Predecessor Securities, registered 
as such on the relevant Record Date according to their terms and the 
provisions of Section 2.8.  Such right to require the repurchase of the 
Securities shall not continue after a discharge of the Company from its 
obligations with respect to the Securities in accordance with Article Three 
unless a Change in Control shall have occurred prior to such discharge.  At 
the option of the Company, the Repurchase Price may be paid in cash or, 
subject to the fulfillment by the Company of the conditions set forth Section 
12.2, by delivery of shares of Common Stock having a fair market value equal 
to the Repurchase Price.  Whenever in this Indenture (including Sections 2.2, 
4.1(a) and 4.8) there is a reference, in any context, to the principal of any 
Security as of any time, such reference shall be deemed to include reference 
to the Repurchase Price payable in respect of such Security to the extent that 
such Repurchase Price is, was or would be so payable at such time, and express 
mention of the Repurchase Price in any provision of this Indenture shall not 
be construed as excluding the Repurchase Price in those provisions of this 
Indenture when such express mention is not made; provided, however, that for 
the purposes of Article Eleven such reference shall be deemed to include 
reference to the Repurchase Price only to the extent the Repurchase Price is 
payable in cash. 
 

For purposes of this Section 12.1, the fair market value of shares of 
Common Stock shall be determined by the Company and shall be equal to 95% of 
the average of the Average Sales Price Per Share for the five consecutive 
Trading Days immediately preceding and including the third Trading Day prior 
to the Repurchase Date. 
 

SECTION 12.2    Conditions to the Company's Election to Pay the 
Repurchase Price in Common Stock.

The Company may elect to pay the Repurchase Price by delivery of shares 
of Common Stock pursuant to Section 12.1 if and only if the following 
conditions shall have been satisfied: 
 

(a)     As to each Holder, shares of Common Stock may be issued to such 
Holder upon repurchase of Securities hereunder (1) if such shares do not as of 
the Repurchase Date require registration under any federal securities law 
before such shares may be freely transferable without being subject to any 
transfer restrictions under the Securities Act upon repurchase and (2) if such 
shares do not as of the Repurchase Date require registration with or approval 
of any governmental authority under any state law or any other federal law 
before such shares may be validly issued or delivered upon repurchase; 
 

(b)     Payment of the Repurchase Price may not be made in Common Stock 
unless such stock is, or shall have been, approved for quotation on The Nasdaq 
National Market or listed or quoted on a national securities exchange or other 
quotation system, in either case, prior to the Repurchase Date; and 
 



(c)     All shares of Common Stock that may be issued upon repurchase of 
Securities will be issued out of the Company's authorized but unissued Common 
Stock will and, upon issue, be duly and validly issued and fully paid and 
non-assessable and free of any preemptive rights. 
 

If all of the conditions set forth in this Section 12.2 are not 
satisfied in accordance with the terms thereof, the Repurchase Price shall be 
paid by the Company only in cash. 
 

SECTION 12.3    Notices; Method of Exercising Repurchase Right, Etc.

(a)     Unless the Company shall have theretofore called for redemption 
all of the Outstanding Securities, on or before the thirtieth day after the 
occurrence of a Change in Control, the Company or, at the request and expense 
of the Company on or before the thirtieth day after such occurrence, the 
Trustee, shall give to all Holders of Securities, in the manner provided in 
Section 1.6, notice (the "Company Notice") of the occurrence of the Change in 
Control and of the repurchase right set forth herein arising as a result 
thereof.  The Company shall also deliver a copy of such notice of a repurchase 
right to the Trustee. 
 

Each notice of a repurchase right shall state: 
 

(1)      the Repurchase Date, 
 

(2)     the date by which the repurchase right must be exercised, 
 

(3)     the Repurchase Price, and whether the Repurchase Price shall 
be paid by the Company in cash or by delivery of shares of Common Stock, 
 

(4)     a description of the procedure that a Holder must follow to 
exercise a      repurchase right, and the place or places where such 
Securities are to be surrendered for payment of the Repurchase Price and 
accrued interest, if any, 
 

(5)     that on the Repurchase Date, the Repurchase Price, and 
accrued interest, if any, will become due and payable upon each such 
Security designated by the Holder to be repurchased and that interest 
thereon shall cease to accrue on and after said date, 
 

(6)     the Conversion Rate then in effect, the date on which the 
right to convert the principal amount of the Securities to be 
repurchased will terminate and the place or places where such Securities 
may be surrendered for conversion, 
 

(7)     the place or places that the Notice of Election of Holder to 
Require Repurchase attached hereto as Exhibit B, shall be delivered, and 
the form of such notice, and 
 

(8)     the CUSIP number or numbers of such Securities. 
 

No failure of the Company to give the foregoing notices or defect 
therein shall limit any Holder's right to exercise a repurchase right or 
affect the validity of the proceedings for the repurchase of Securities. 
 

If any of the foregoing provisions or other provisions of this Article 
Twelve are inconsistent with applicable law, such law shall govern. 
 

(b)     To exercise a repurchase right, a Holder shall deliver to the 
Trustee on or before the thirtieth day (or such greater period as may be 
required by applicable law) after the date of the Company Notice (1) written 
notice of the Holder's exercise of such right, which notice shall set forth 
the name of the Holder, the principal amount of the Securities to be 
repurchased (and, if any Security is to repurchased in part, the serial number 
thereof, the portion of the principal amount thereof to be repurchased and the 
name of the Person in which the portion thereof to remain Outstanding after 
such repurchase is to be registered) and a statement that an election to 



exercise the repurchase right is being made thereby, and, in the event that 
the Repurchase Price shall be paid in shares of Common Stock, the name or 
names (with addresses) in which the certificate or certificates for shares of 
Common Stock shall be issued, and (2) the Securities with respect to which the 
repurchase right is being exercised.  Such written notice shall be 
irrevocable, except that the right of the Holder to convert the Securities 
with respect to which the repurchase right is being exercised shall continue 
until the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the 
Repurchase Date. 
 

(c)     In the event a repurchase right shall be exercised in accordance 
with the terms hereof, the Company shall pay or cause to be paid to the 
Trustee the Repurchase Price in cash or shares of Common Stock, as provided 
above, for payment to the Holder on the Repurchase Date or, if shares of 
Common Stock are to be paid, as promptly after the Repurchase Date as 
practicable, together with accrued and unpaid interest to the Repurchase Date 
payable with respect to the Securities as to which the purchase right has been 
exercised; provided, however, that installments of interest that mature on or 
prior to the Repurchase Date shall be payable in cash to the Holders of such 
Securities, or one or more Predecessor Securities, registered as such at the 
close of business on the relevant Regular Record Date. 
 

(d)     If any Security (or portion thereof) surrendered for repurchase 
shall not be so paid on the Repurchase Date, the principal amount of such 
Security (or portion thereof, as the case may be) shall, until paid, bear 
interest to the extent permitted by applicable law from the Repurchase Date at 
the rate then in effect per annum, and each Security shall remain convertible 
into Common Stock until the principal of such Security (or portion thereof, as 
the case may be) shall have been paid or duly provided for. 
 

(e)     Any Security that is to be repurchased only in part shall be 
surrendered to the Trustee (with, if the Company or the Trustee so requires, 
due endorsement by, or a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory 
to the Company and the Trustee duly executed by, the Holder thereof or his 
attorney duly authorized in writing), and the Company shall execute, and the 
Trustee shall authenticate and make available for delivery to the Holder of 
such Security without service charge, a new Security or Securities, containing 
identical terms and conditions, each in an authorized denomination in 
aggregate principal amount equal to and in exchange for the unrepurchased 
portion of the principal of the Security so surrendered. 
 

(f)     Any issuance of shares of Common Stock in respect of the 
Repurchase Price shall be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to 
the close of business on the Repurchase Date and the Person or Persons in 
whose name or names any certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock 
shall be issuable upon such repurchase shall be deemed to have become on the 
Repurchase Date the holder or holders of record of the shares represented 
thereby; provided, however, that any surrender for repurchase on a date when 
the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed shall constitute the 
Person or Persons in whose name or names the certificate or certificates for 
such shares are to be issued as the record holder or holders thereof for all 
purposes at the opening of business on the next succeeding day on which such 
stock transfer books are open.  No payment or adjustment shall be made for 
dividends or distributions on any Common Stock issued upon repurchase of any 
Security declared prior to the Repurchase Date. 
 

(g)     No fractions of shares shall be issued upon repurchase of 
Securities.  If more than one Security shall be repurchased from the same 
Holder and the Repurchase Price shall be payable in shares of Common Stock, 
the number of full shares that shall be issuable upon such repurchase shall be 
computed on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of the Securities so 
repurchased.  Instead of any fractional share of Common Stock that would 
otherwise be issuable on the repurchase of any Security or Securities, the 
Company will deliver to the applicable Holder its check for the current market 
value of such fractional share.  The current market value of a fraction of a 
share is determined by multiplying the current market price of a full share by 
the fraction and rounding the result to the nearest cent.  For purposes of 
this Section 12.3, the current market price of a share of Common Stock is the 
average of the high and low sales price per Share of the Common Stock on the 
Trading Day immediately preceding the Repurchase Date. 
 

(h)     Any issuance and delivery of certificates for shares of Common 
Stock on repurchase of Securities shall be made without charge to the Holder 
of Securities being repurchased for such certificates or for any tax or duty 
in respect of the issuance or delivery of such certificates or the securities 
represented thereby; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required 



to pay any tax or duty that may be payable in respect of (1) income of the 
Holder or (2) any transfer involved in the issuance or delivery of 
certificates for shares of Common Stock in a name other than that of the 
Holder of the Securities being repurchased, and no such issuance or delivery 
shall be made unless and until the Person requesting such issuance or delivery 
has paid to the Company the amount of any such tax or duty or has established, 
to the satisfaction of the Company, that such tax or duty has been paid. 
 

(i)     All Securities delivered for repurchase shall be delivered to the 
Trustee to be canceled at the direction of the Trustee, which shall dispose of 
the same as provided in Section 2.10. 
 

        ARTICLE THIRTEEN

HOLDERS LISTS AND REPORTS BY TRUSTEE AND COMPANY; NON-RECOURSE

SECTION 13.1    Company to Furnish Trustee Names and Addresses of 
Holders.

The Company will furnish or cause to be furnished to the Trustee: 
 

(a)     semi-annually, not more than 15 days after the Regular Record 
Date, a list, in such form as the Trustee may reasonably require, of the names 
and addresses of the Holders of Securities as of such Regular Record Date, and 
 

(b)     at such other times as the Trustee may reasonably request in 
writing, within 30 days after the receipt by the Company of any such request, 
a list of similar form and content as of a date not more than 15 days prior to 
the time such list is furnished; 
 

excluding from any such list names and addresses received by the Trustee in 
its capacity as Security Registrar. 
 

SECTION 13.2    Preservation of Information.

(a)     The Trustee shall preserve, in as current a form as is reasonably 
practicable, the names and addresses of Holders contained in the most recent 
list furnished to the Trustee as provided in Section 13.1 and the names and 
addresses of Holders received by the Trustee in its capacity as Security 
Registrar.  The Trustee may destroy any list furnished to it as provided in 
Section 13.1 upon receipt of a new list so furnished. 
 

(b)     After this Indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture 
Act, the rights of Holders to communicate with other Holders with respect to 
their rights under this Indenture or under the Securities, and the 
corresponding rights and duties of the Trustee, shall be as provided by the 
Trust Indenture Act. 
 

(c)     Every Holder of Securities, by receiving and holding the same, 
agrees with the Company and the Trustee that neither the Company nor the 
Trustee nor any agent of either of them shall be held accountable by reason of 
any disclosure of information as to names and addresses of Holders made 
pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act. 
 

SECTION 13.3    No Recourse against Others.

An incorporator or any past, present or future director, officer, 
employee or stockholder, as such, of the Company shall not have any liability 
for any obligations of the Company under the Securities or this Indenture or 
for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations or 



their creation.  By accepting a Security, each Holder shall waive and release 
all such liability.  Such waiver and release shall be part of the 
consideration for the issue of the Securities. 
 

SECTION 13.4    Reports by Trustee.

(a)     After this Indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture 
Act, the Trustee shall transmit to Holders such reports concerning the Trustee 
and its actions under this Indenture as may be required pursuant to the Trust 
Indenture Act at the times and in the manner provided therein.  If required by 
Section 313(a) of the Trust Indenture Act, the Trustee shall, within 60 days 
after each May 15 following the date of this Indenture, deliver to Holders a 
brief report, dated as of such May 15, that complies with the provisions of 
such Section 313(a). 
 

(b)     After this Indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture 
Act, a copy of each such report shall, at the time of such transmission to 
Holders, be filed by the Trustee with each stock exchange upon which the 
Securities are listed, with the Commission and with the Company.  The Company 
will promptly notify the Trustee when the Securities are listed on any stock 
exchange. 
 

SECTION 13.5    Reports by Company.

After this Indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act, 
the Company shall file with the Trustee and the Commission, and transmit to 
Holders, such information, documents and other reports, and such summaries 
thereof, as may be required pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act at the times 
and in the manner provided therein; provided, however, that any such 
information, documents or reports required to be filed with the Commission 
pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act shall be filed with the 
Trustee within 15 days after the same is so required to be filed with the 
Commission. 
 

Delivery of such reports, information and documents to the Trustee is 
for informational purposes only and the Trustee's receipt thereof shall not 
constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or 
determinable from information contained therein, including the Company's 
compliance with any of its covenants hereunder (as to which the Trustee is 
entitled to rely exclusively on Officers' Certificates). 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be 
duly executed, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 

Protein Design Labs, Inc. 
 
 

By _________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 
 

Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National 
       Association, a national banking 
association, as Trustee 
 
 

By _________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 
 

        EXHIBIT A



        [FORM OF FACE]

[THE FOLLOWING LEGEND SHALL APPEAR ON THE FACE OF EACH RESTRICTED SECURITY 
OTHER THAN ANY RESTRICTED GLOBAL SECURITY: 
 

THIS NOTE AND ANY COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON THE CONVERSION OF THIS NOTE 
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED 
(THE "SECURITIES ACT"), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE 
ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN APPLICABLE EXEMPTION THEREFROM.  EACH 
PURCHASER OF THIS NOTE IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THE SELLER OF THIS NOTE MAY BE 
RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES 
ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A THEREUNDER. 
 

THIS NOTE AND ANY COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS NOTE MAY 
NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (A)(1) TO A 
PERSON WHO THE TRANSFEROR REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL 
BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ACQUIRING FOR 
ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN A 
TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144A, (2) PURSUANT TO AN 
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 
THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE), (3) TO AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR THAT IS AN 
ACCREDITED INVESTOR WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 501(A)(1), (2), (3) OR (7) OF 
REGULATION D UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT THAT PRIOR TO SUCH TRANSFER PROVIDES TO 
THE TRUSTEE FOR THE NOTES A SIGNED LETTER CONTAINING CERTAIN REPRESENTATIONS 
AND AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF THE NOTES (THE FORM 
OF THE LETTER CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE TRUSTEE OF THE NOTES), (4) PURSUANT TO 
ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) 
(AND BASED UPON AN OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.) 
OR (5) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES 
ACT, AND (B) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES 
OF THE UNITED STATES AND OTHER JURISDICTIONS. 
 

THIS NOTE, ANY SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON ITS CONVERSION AND 
ANY RELATED DOCUMENTATION MAY BE AMENDED OR SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME TO 
MODIFY THE RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES AND OTHER TRANSFERS OF THIS NOTE AND ANY 
SUCH SHARES TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN APPLICABLE LAW OR REGULATION (OR THE 
INTERPRETATION THEREOF) OR IN PRACTICES RELATING TO THE RESALE OR TRANSFER OF 
RESTRICTED SECURITIES GENERALLY.  THE HOLDER OF THIS NOTE AND SUCH SHARES 
SHALL BE DEEMED BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS NOTE AND ANY SUCH SHARES TO HAVE 
AGREED TO ANY SUCH AMENDMENT OR SUPPLEMENT.] 
 

[THE FOLLOWING LEGEND SHALL APPEAR ON THE FACE OF EACH RESTRICTED GLOBAL 
SECURITY: 
 

THE SECURITIES EVIDENCED BY THIS GLOBAL SECURITY AND ANY COMMON STOCK 
ISSUABLE UPON THE CONVERSION OF THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER 
THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), AND MAY 
NOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR AN 
APPLICABLE EXEMPTION THEREFROM.  EACH PURCHASER OF ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN 
THE SECURITIES IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THE SELLER OF SUCH BENEFICIAL INTEREST 
IN THE SECURITIES MAY BE RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF 
SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A THEREUNDER. 
 

EACH BENEFICIAL OWNER OF AN INTEREST IN ANY OF THE SECURITIES EVIDENCED 
BY THIS GLOBAL SECURITY (INCLUDING ANY PARTICIPANT IN THE DEPOSITARY HOLDING 
THE GLOBAL SECURITY THAT IS SHOWN AS HOLDING SUCH AN INTEREST ON THE RECORDS 
OF SUCH DEPOSITARY AND EACH BENEFICIAL OWNER THAT HOLDS THROUGH ANY SUCH 
PARTICIPANT) AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC. (THE 
"COMPANY") THAT (A) ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES AND ANY SHARES 
OF COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON THEIR CONVERSION MAY BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED 
OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (A)(1) TO A PERSON WHO THE TRANSFEROR REASONABLY 
BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ACQUIRING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR THE ACCOUNT OF A 
QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF 
RULE 144A, (2) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES 
ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE), (3) TO AN INSTITUTIONAL 
INVESTOR THAT IS AN ACCREDITED INVESTOR WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 501(A)(1), 
(2), (3) OR (7) OF REGULATION D UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT THAT PRIOR TO SUCH 
TRANSFER PROVIDES TO THE TRUSTEE FOR THE NOTES A SIGNED LETTER CONTAINING 
CERTAIN REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON 
TRANSFER OF THE NOTES (THE FORM OF THE LETTER CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE TRUSTEE 



OF THE NOTES), (4) PURSUANT TO ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) (AND BASED UPON AN OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE 
TO PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.) OR (5) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION 
STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, AND (B) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE 
SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES OF THE UNITED STATES AND OTHER JURISDICTIONS AND 
THAT (B) THE BENEFICIAL OWNER WILL, AND EACH SUBSEQUENT BENEFICIAL OWNER OF AN 
INTEREST IN ANY OF THE SECURITIES EVIDENCED BY THIS GLOBAL SECURITY OR ANY 
COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION THEREOF IS REQUIRED TO, NOTIFY ANY 
PURCHASER OF ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OR SUCH COMMON STOCK 
ISSUABLE UPON ITS CONVERSION FROM IT OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO IN 
(A) ABOVE. 
 

THIS SECURITY, ANY SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE UPON ITS CONVERSION 
AND ANY RELATED DOCUMENTATION MAY BE AMENDED OR SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME 
TO MODIFY THE RESTRICTIONS ON RESALES AND OTHER TRANSFERS OF THIS NOTE AND ANY 
SUCH SHARES TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN APPLICABLE LAW OR REGULATION (OR THE 
INTERPRETATION THEREOF) OR IN PRACTICES RELATING TO THE RESALE OR TRANSFER OF 
RESTRICTED SECURITIES GENERALLY.  THE HOLDER OF THIS NOTE AND SUCH SHARES 
SHALL BE DEEMED BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS NOTE AND ANY SUCH SHARES TO HAVE 
AGREED TO ANY SUCH AMENDMENT OR SUPPLEMENT.] 
 

[THE FOLLOWING LEGEND SHALL APPEAR ON THE FACE OF EACH GLOBAL SECURITY: 
 

THIS SECURITY IS A GLOBAL SECURITY WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE INDENTURE 
HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AND IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF THE DEPOSITARY OR A 
NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITARY, WHICH MAY BE TREATED BY THE COMPANY, THE TRUSTEE 
AND ANY AGENT THEREOF AS OWNER AND HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY FOR ALL PURPOSES.] 
 

[THE FOLLOWING LEGEND SHALL APPEAR ON THE FACE OF EACH GLOBAL SECURITY FOR 
WHICH THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY IS TO BE THE DEPOSITARY: 
 

UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF 
THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION ("DTC"), TO THE ISSUER OR 
ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY 
CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER 
NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT 
IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR 
OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER 
HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.] 
 

        PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC. 
 

        5.50% CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES DUE FEBRUARY 15, 2007 
 

No. ____________                U.S.$_____ 
 

CUSIP No. 74369LAA1 
 

Protein Design Labs, Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Delaware (herein called the "Company," which 
term includes any successor Person under the Indenture referred to on the 
reverse hereof), for value received, hereby promises to pay to 
_______________, or registered assigns, the principal sum of _____________ 
United States Dollars (U.S.$ _____) [if this Security is a Global Security, 
then insert -- (which principal amount may from time to time be increased or 
decreased to such other principal amounts (which, taken together with the 
principal amounts of all other Outstanding Securities, shall not exceed 
U.S.$125,000,000 in the aggregate at any time, unless the Initial Purchasers 
exercise their over-allotment rights, in which case the principal amount of 
the Outstanding Securities shall not exceed U.S.$150,000,000) by adjustments 
made on the records of the Trustee hereinafter referred to in accordance with 
the Indenture)] on February 15, 2007, and to pay interest thereon, from 
February 15, 2000, or from the most recent Interest Payment Date (as defined 
below) to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, semiannually in 
arrears on February 15 and August 15 in each year (each, an "Interest Payment 
Date"), commencing August 15, 2000, at the rate of 5.50% per annum, until the 
principal hereof is due, and at the rate then in effect on any overdue 
principal and premium, if any, and, to the extent permitted by law, on any 
overdue interest.  The interest so payable, and punctually paid or duly 
provided for, on any Interest Payment Date will, as provided in the Indenture, 
be paid to the Person in whose name this Security (or one or more Predecessor 
Securities) is registered at the close of business on the Regular Record Date 



for such interest, which shall be the February 1 and August 1 (whether or not 
a Business Day), as the case may be, next preceding such Interest Payment 
Date.  Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, any such interest not so 
punctually paid or duly provided for will forthwith cease to be payable to the 
Holder on such Regular Record Date and may either be paid to the Person in 
whose name this Security (or one or more Predecessor Securities) is registered 
at the close of business on a Special Record Date for the payment of such 
Defaulted Interest to be fixed by the Company, notice whereof shall be given 
to Holders of Registered Securities not less than ten days prior to such 
Special Record Date, or be paid at any time in any other lawful manner not 
inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange on which the 
Securities may be listed, and upon such notice as may be required by such 
exchange, all as more fully provided in the Indenture.  Payments of principal 
shall be made upon the surrender of this Security at the option of the Holder 
at the Corporate Trust Office or at such other office or agency of the Company 
as may be designated by it for such purpose in the Borough of Manhattan, The 
City of New York, in such coin or currency of the United States of America as 
at the time of payment shall be legal tender for the payment of public and 
private debts, or at such other offices or agencies as the Company may 
designate, by United States Dollar check drawn on, or wire transfer to, a 
United States Dollar account (such a wire transfer to be made only to a Holder 
of an aggregate principal amount of Registered Securities in excess of 
U.S.$2,000,000 and only if such Holder shall have furnished wire instructions 
in writing to the Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the relevant payment 
date) maintained by the payee with a bank in the Borough of Manhattan, The 
City of New York.  Payment of interest on this Security may be made by United 
States Dollar check drawn on a bank in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of 
New York mailed to the address of the Person entitled thereto as such address 
shall appear in the Security Register or, upon written application by the 
Holder to the Security Registrar setting forth wire instructions not later 
than the relevant Record Date, by wire transfer to a United States Dollar 
account (such a wire transfer to be made only to a Holder of an aggregate 
principal amount of Registered Securities in excess of U.S.$2,000,000 and only 
if such Holder shall have furnished wire instructions in writing to the 
Trustee no later than 15 days prior to the relevant payment date) maintained 
by the payee with a bank in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York. 
 

Except as specifically provided herein and in the Indenture, the Company 
shall not be required to make any payment with respect to any tax, assessment 
or other governmental charge imposed by any government or any political 
subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein. 
 

Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Security set 
forth on the reverse hereof, which further provisions shall for all purposes 
have the same effect as if set forth at this place. 
 

Unless the certificate of authentication hereon has been executed by the 
Trustee referred to on the reverse hereof or an Authenticating Agent by the 
manual signature of one of their respective authorized signatories, this 
Security shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture or be valid 
or obligatory for any purpose. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Security to be duly 
executed under its corporate seal. 
 

Protein Design Labs, Inc. 
 
 

[Corporate Seal] 
 

By:______________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
 

______________________________ 



Name: 
 
 

Dated: [Date of Authentication] 
 

This is one of the Securities referred to in the within-mentioned 
Indenture. 
 
 

Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, a 
          National Association, as Trustee 
 
 
 

By:     ______________________________ 

        Authorized Signatory 
 
 

        [FORM OF REVERSE]

This Security is one of a duly authorized issue of securities of the 
Company designated as its "5.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 
15, 2007" (herein called the "Securities"), limited in aggregate principal 
amount to U.S.$125,000,000 (U.S.$150,000,000 if the over-allotment is fully 
exercised), issued and to be issued under an Indenture, dated as of February 
15, 2000 (herein called the "Indenture"), between the Company and Chase 
Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National Association, a national banking 
association, as Trustee (herein called the "Trustee," which term includes any 
successor trustee under the Indenture), to which Indenture and all indentures 
supplemental thereto reference is hereby made for a statement of the 
respective rights, limitations of rights, duties and immunities thereunder of 
the Company, the Trustee, the holders of Senior Debt and the Holders of the 
Securities and of the terms upon which the Securities are, and are to be, 
authenticated and delivered.  As provided in the Indenture and subject to 
certain limitations set forth therein, Registered Securities are exchangeable 
for a like aggregate principal amount of Registered Securities of any 
authorized denominations as requested by the Holder surrendering the same upon 
surrender of the Registered Security or Registered Securities to be exchanged 
at the Corporate Trust Office.  The Trustee upon such surrender by the Holder 
will issue the new Registered Securities in the requested denominations. 
 

No sinking fund is provided for the Securities. 
 

The Securities are subject to redemption at the option of the Company at 
any time on or after February 15, 2003, in whole or in part, upon not less 
than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Holders prior to the Redemption 
Date at the following Redemption Prices (expressed as percentages of the 
principal amount) for the twelve-month period beginning on February 15 of the 
following years: 
 

 
Year                                            Redemption Price 
2003                                               102.75% 
2004                                               101.83% 
2005                                               100.92% 

and thereafter at a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount, 
together, in each case, with accrued interest to the Redemption Date; 
provided, however, that interest installments on Securities whose Stated 
Maturity is on or prior to such Redemption Date will be payable to the Holders 
of such Securities, or one or more Predecessor Securities, of record at the 
close of business on the relevant Record Dates referred to on the face hereof, 
all as provided in the Indenture. 
 

In the event of a redemption of the Securities, the Company will not be 
required (a) to register the transfer or exchange of Registered Securities for 
a period of 15 days immediately preceding the date notice is given identifying 



the serial numbers of the Securities called for such redemption (it being 
understood that the Company will not be required to identify the serial 
numbers of Outstanding Securities if all such Securities are called for 
redemption) or (b) to register the transfer or exchange of any Registered 
Security, or portion thereof, called for redemption. 
 

Notice to the Holders will be given not less than 30 nor more than 60 
days prior to the Redemption Date as provided in the Indenture. 
 

In any case where the due date for the payment of the principal of, 
premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, or interest on any Security or 
the last day on which a Holder of a Security has a right to convert his 
Security shall be, at any Place of Payment or Place of Conversion, as the case 
may be, a day on which banking institutions at such Place of Payment or Place 
of Conversion are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close, 
then payment of principal, premium, if any, Liquidated Damages, if any, or 
interest or delivery for conversion of such Security need not be made on or by 
such date at such place but may be made on or by the next succeeding day at 
such place which is not a day on which banking institutions are authorized or 
obligated by law or executive order to close, with the same force and effect 
as if made on the date for such payment or the date fixed for redemption or 
repurchase, or by such last day for conversion, and no interest shall accrue 
on the amount so payable for the period from and after such due date. 
 

Subject to and upon compliance with the provisions of the Indenture, the 
Holder of this Security is entitled, at his option, at any time following the 
original issue date of the Securities and on or before the close of business 
on February 15, 2007, or in case this Security or a portion hereof is called 
for redemption or the Holder hereof has exercised his right to require the 
Company to repurchase this Security or such portion hereof, then in respect of 
this Security until and including, but (unless the Company defaults in making 
the payment due upon redemption or repurchase, as the case may be) not after, 
the close of business on the Redemption Date or the Repurchase Date, as the 
case may be, to convert this Security or any portion of the principal amount 
hereof that is an integral multiple of U.S.$1,000 (provided that the 
unconverted portion of such principal amount is U.S.$1,000 or any integral 
multiple of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof) into fully paid and nonassessable 
shares of Common Stock of the Company at an initial Conversion Rate of 6.6225 
(or at the current adjusted Conversion Rate if an adjustment has been made as 
provided in the Indenture) by surrender of this Security, duly endorsed or 
assigned to the Company or in blank and, in case such surrender shall be made 
during the period from the close of business on any Regular Record Date next 
preceding any Interest Payment Date to the opening of business on such 
Interest Payment Date (except if this Security has been called for redemption 
on a Redemption Date or is repurchasable on a Repurchase Date, with the conse- 
quence that the conversion right of such Security would terminate between such 
Regular Record Date and the close of business on such Interest Payment Date), 
also accompanied by payment in New York Clearing House or other funds 
acceptable to the Company of an amount equal to the interest payable on such 
Interest Payment Date on the principal amount of this Security then being 
converted, and also the conversion notice hereon duly executed, to the Company 
at the Corporate Trust Office, or at such other office or agency of the 
Company, subject to any laws or regulations applicable thereto and subject to 
the right of the Company to terminate the appointment of any Conversion Agent 
(as defined below) as may be designated by it for such purpose in the Borough 
of Manhattan, The City of New York, or at such other offices or agencies as 
the Company may designate (each a "Conversion Agent"), provided, further, that 
in case surrender of this Security for conversion shall be made during the 
period from the close of business on any Regular Record Date next preceding 
any Interest Payment Date to the opening of business on such Interest Payment 
Date and if this Security or portion hereof has been called for redemption on 
a Redemption Date or is repurchasable on a Repurchase Date, with the 
consequence that the conversion right of such Security would terminate between 
such Regular Record Date and the close of business on such Interest Payment 
Date, then the Holder of this Security will be entitled to receive the 
interest accruing hereon from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the 
date of such conversion to such succeeding Interest Payment Date and shall not 
be required to pay such interest upon surrender of this Security for 
conversion.  Subject to the provisions of the preceding sentence and, in the 
case of a conversion after the close of business on the Regular Record Date 
next preceding any Interest Payment Date and on or before the close of 
business on such Interest Payment Date, to the right of the Holder of this 
Security (or any Predecessor Security of record as of such Regular Record 
Date) to receive the related installment of interest to the extent and under 
the circumstances provided in the Indenture, no cash payment or adjustment is 
to be made on conversion for interest accrued hereon from the Interest Payment 
Date next preceding the day of conversion, or for dividends on the Common 
Stock issued on conversion hereof.  The Company shall thereafter deliver to 
the Holder the fixed number of shares of Common Stock (together with any cash 



adjustment or rights or warrants, as provided in the Indenture) into which 
this Security is convertible and such delivery will be deemed to satisfy the 
Company's obligation to pay the principal amount of this Security.  No 
fractions of shares or scrip representing fractions of shares will be issued 
on conversion, but instead of any fractional interest (calculated to the 
nearest 1/10,000th of a share) the Company shall pay a cash adjustment as 
provided in the Indenture.  The Conversion Rate is subject to adjustment as 
provided in the Indenture.  In addition, the Indenture provides that in case 
of certain consolidations or mergers to which the Company is a party or the 
conveyance, transfer, sale or lease of all or substantially all of the 
property and assets of the Company, the Indenture shall be amended, without 
the consent of any Holders of Securities, so that this Security, if then 
Outstanding, will be convertible thereafter, during the period this Security 
shall be convertible as specified above, only into the kind and amount of 
securities, cash and other property receivable upon such consolidation, 
merger, conveyance, transfer, sale or lease by a holder of the number of 
shares of Common Stock of the Company into which this Security could have been 
converted immediately prior to such consolidation, merger, conveyance, 
transfer, sale or lease (assuming such holder of Common Stock is not a 
Constituent Person, failed to exercise any rights of election and received per 
share the kind and amount received per share by a plurality of Non-electing 
Shares).  No adjustment in the Conversion Rate will be made until such 
adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least one percent of 
such rate, provided that any adjustment that would otherwise be made will be 
carried forward and taken into account in the computation of any subsequent 
adjustment. 
 

Subject to certain limitations in the Indenture, at any time when the 
Company is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the United States Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, upon the request of a Holder of a Security 
or the holder of shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof, the 
Company will promptly furnish or cause to be furnished Rule 144A Information 
(as defined below) to such Holder of Securities or such holder of shares of 
Common Stock issued upon conversion of Securities, or to a prospective 
purchaser of any such security designated by any such Holder or holder, as the 
case may be, to the extent required to permit compliance by such Holder or 
holder with Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
"Securities Act"), in connection with the resale of any such security. "Rule 
144A Information" shall be such information as is specified pursuant to Rule 
144A(d) (4) under the Securities Act (or any successor provision thereto). 
 

The Holder of this Security [if this Security is a Global Security, then 
insert--(including any Person that has a beneficial interest in this 
Security)] and the Common Stock issuable upon conversion hereof is entitled to 
the benefits of a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2000 
(the "Registration Rights Agreement"), executed by the Company.  Pursuant to 
the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company has agreed for the benefit of 
the Holders from time to time of Registered Securities and the Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion thereof, in each case, that are Registrable 
Securities, at the Company's expense, (a) to file on or before 90 days after 
the first date of original issuance of the Securities, a shelf registration 
statement (the "Shelf Registration Statement") with the Commission with 
respect to resales of the Registrable Securities, (b) thereafter to use all 
reasonable  efforts to cause such Shelf Registration Statement to be declared 
effective by the Commission on or before 180 days after the first date of 
original issuance of the Securities, and (c) to use all reasonable efforts to 
maintain such Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective under the 
Securities Act until the earlier of (1) the sale under the Shelf Registration 
Statement of all the Registrable Securities registered thereunder and (2) the 
expiration of the holding period applicable to such Registrable Securities 
held by persons that are not affiliates of the Company under Rule 144(k) under 
the Securities Act or any successor previously subject to specific permitted 
exceptions.  The Company is required to pay Liquidated Damages to holders of 
Registrable Securities for failure to comply with the foregoing registration 
obligations, all as more fully set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement. 
 

Whenever in this Security there is a reference, in any context, to the 
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or in respect 
of, any Security, such mention shall be deemed to include mention of the 
payment of Liquidated Damages payable as described in the Registration Rights 
Agreement to the extent that, in such context, Liquidated Damages are, were or 
would be payable in respect of this Security pursuant to the Registration 
Rights Agreement, and an express mention of the payment of Liquidated Damages 
(if applicable) in any provisions of this Security shall not be construed as 
excluding Liquidated Damages in those provisions of this Security where such 
express mention is not made.  If the Holder of this Security [if this Security 
is a Global Security, then insert-- (including any Person that has a 
beneficial interest in this Security)] elects to sell this Security pursuant 
to the Shelf Registration Statement then, by its acceptance hereof, such 



Holder of this Security agrees to be bound by the terms of the Registration 
Rights Agreement relating to the Registrable Securities which are the subject 
of such election. 
 

If a Change in Control occurs, the Holder of this Security, at the 
Holder's option, shall have the right, in accordance with the provisions of 
the Indenture, to require the Company to repurchase this Security (or any 
portion of the principal amount hereof that is equal to U.S.$1,000 or any 
greater integral multiple of U.S.$1,000) for cash at a Repurchase Price equal 
to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus interest accrued to the 
Repurchase Date.  At the option of the Company, the Repurchase Price may be 
paid in cash or, subject to the conditions provided in the Indenture, by 
delivery of shares of Common Stock having a fair market value equal to the 
Repurchase Price.  For purposes of this paragraph, the fair market value of 
shares of Common Stock shall be determined by the Company and shall be equal 
to 95% of the average of the Average Sales Price Per Share for the five 
consecutive Trading Days immediately preceding and including the third Trading 
Day prior to the Repurchase Date.  Whenever in this Security there is a 
reference, in any context, to the principal of any Security as of any time, 
such reference shall be deemed to include reference to the Repurchase Price 
payable in respect of such Security to the extent that such Repurchase Price 
is, was or would be so payable at such time, and express mention of the 
Repurchase Price in any provision of this Security shall not be construed as 
excluding the Repurchase Price so payable in those provisions of this Security 
when such express mention is not made; provided, however, that, for the 
purposes of the paragraph below concerning the consequences of an Event of 
Default, such reference shall be deemed to include reference to the Repurchase 
Price only to the extent the Repurchase Price is payable in cash. 
 

[The following paragraph shall appear in each Registered Security that 
is not a Global Security: 
 

In the event of redemption, repurchase or conversion of this Security in 
part only, a new Registered Security or Registered Securities for the 
unredeemed, unrepurchased or unconverted portion hereof will be issued in the 
name of the Holder hereof.] 
 

[The following paragraph shall appear in each Global Security: 
 

In the event of a deposit or withdrawal of an interest in this Security, 
including an exchange, transfer, redemption, repurchase or conversion of this 
Security in part only, the Trustee, as custodian of the Depositary, shall make 
an adjustment on its records to reflect such deposit or withdrawal in 
accordance with the Applicable Procedures.] 
 

The indebtedness evidenced by this Security is, to the extent and in the 
manner provided in the Indenture, subordinate and subject in right of payment 
to the prior payment in full in cash or Cash Equivalents of all Senior Debt of 
the Company, and this Security is issued subject to such provisions of the 
Indenture with respect thereto.  Each Holder of this Security, by accepting 
the same, 
 

(a)     agrees to and shall be bound by such provisions, 
 

(b)     authorizes and directs the Trustee on his behalf to take such 
action as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate the subordination so 
provided and 
 

(c)     appoints the Trustee his attorney-in-fact for any and all such 
purposes. 
 

If an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, the principal of 
all the Securities, together with accrued interest to the date of declaration, 
may be declared due and payable in the manner and with the effect provided in 
the Indenture.  Upon payment (i) of the amount of principal so declared due 
and payable, together with accrued interest to the date of declaration, and 
(ii) of interest on any overdue principal and, to the extent permitted by 
applicable law, overdue interest, all of the Company's obligations in respect 
of the payment of the principal of and interest on the Securities shall 
terminate. 
 



The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the 
amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations of the 
Company and the rights of the Holders of the Securities under the Indenture at 
any time by the Company and the Trustee with the written consent of the 
Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Securities at the time 
Outstanding.  The Indenture also contains provisions permitting the Holders of 
specified percentages in principal amount of the Securities at the time 
Outstanding, on behalf of the Holders of all the Securities, to waive 
compliance by the Company with certain provisions of the Indenture and certain 
past defaults under the Indenture and their consequences.  Any such consent or 
waiver by the Holder of this Security shall be conclusive and binding upon 
such Holder and upon all future Holders of this Security and of any Security 
issued in exchange herefor or in lieu hereof, whether or not notation of such 
consent or waiver is made upon this Security or such other Security. 
 

As provided in and subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the 
Holder of this Security shall not have the right to institute any proceeding 
with respect to the Indenture or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee 
or for any other remedy thereunder, unless such Holder shall have previously 
given the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default, the Holders 
of not less than 25% in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities shall 
have made written request to the Trustee to institute proceedings in respect 
of such Event of Default as Trustee and offered the Trustee reasonable 
indemnity, and shall have failed to institute any such proceeding, for 60 days 
after receipt of such notice, request and offer of indemnity.  The foregoing 
shall not apply to any suit instituted by the Holder of this Security for the 
enforcement of any payment of principal hereof, premium, if any, Liquidated 
Damages, if any, or interest hereon on or after the respective due dates 
expressed herein or for the enforcement of the right to convert this Security 
as provided in the Indenture. 
 

No reference herein to the Indenture and no provision of this Security 
or of the Indenture shall alter or impair the obligation of the Company, which 
is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of, premium, if any, 
Liquidated Damages, if any, and interest on this Security at the times, places 
and rate, and in the coin or currency, herein prescribed or to convert this 
Security as provided in the Indenture. 
 

As provided in the Indenture and subject to certain limitations therein 
set forth, the transfer of Registered Securities is registrable on the 
Security Register upon surrender of a Registered Security for registration of 
transfer at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee or at such other office 
or agency of the Company as may be designated by it for such purpose in the 
Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, or at such other offices or 
agencies as the Company may designate, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a 
written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Company and the 
Security Registrar duly executed by, the Holder thereof or his attorney duly 
authorized in writing, and thereupon one or more new Registered Securities, of 
authorized denominations and for the same aggregate principal amount, will be 
issued to the designated transferee or transferees by the Registrar.  No 
service charge shall be made for any such registration of transfer or 
exchange, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to recover 
any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith. 
 

Prior to due presentation of a Registered Security for registration of 
transfer, the Company, the Trustee and any agent of the Company or the Trustee 
may treat the Person in whose name such Registered Security is registered as 
the owner thereof for all purposes, whether or not such Security be overdue, 
and neither the Company, the Trustee nor any such agent shall be affected by 
notice to the contrary. 
 

Interest on the Securities shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day 
year of twelve 30-day months. The Indenture and this Security shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New 
York, United States of America, including, without limitation, Section 5-1402 
of the New York General Obligations Law. 
 

All terms used in this Security which are defined in the Indenture shall 
have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture. 
 

        EXHIBIT B

        ELECTION OF HOLDER TO REQUIRE REPURCHASE



1.  Pursuant to Section 12.1 of the Indenture, the undersigned hereby 
elects to have this Security repurchased by the Company. 
 

2.  The undersigned hereby directs the Trustee or the Company to pay it 
or ___________________ an amount in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount 
to be repurchased (as set forth below), plus interest accrued to the 
Repurchase Date or, at the Company's election, Common Stock, valued as set 
forth in the Indenture. 
 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Signature 
 
 

Signature Guaranteed 
 
 

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible 
guarantor institution (banks, stock brokers, savings 
and loan associations and credit unions with 
membership in an approved signature guarantee me- 
dallion program) pursuant to Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 17 Ad-15. 
 

Principal amount to be repurchased: 
 
 

(must be equal to U.S.$1,000 or any 
 greater integral multiple of U.S.$1,000): 
 

Remaining principal amount following such repurchase: 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE:         The signature to the foregoing election must correspond to the 
name as written upon the face of this Security in every 
particular, without alteration or any change whatsoever. 
 

        EXHIBIT C

        CONVERSION NOTICE

The undersigned Holder of this Security hereby irrevocably exercises the 
option to convert this Security, or any portion of the principal amount hereof 
(which is an integral multiple of U.S.$1,000) below designated, into shares of 
Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the Indenture referred to in this 
Security and directs that such shares, together with a check in payment for 
any fractional share and any Securities representing any unconverted principal 
amount hereof, be delivered to and be registered in the name of the 
undersigned unless a different name has been indicated below.  If shares of 
Common Stock or Securities are to be registered in the name of a Person other 
than the undersigned, the undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with 
respect thereto.  Any amount required to be paid by the undersigned on account 
of interest accompanies this Security. 
 
 

Dated: _________________ 
 



_____________________________________ 
 
 
 

        Signature 
 
 

If shares or Registered Securities 
are to be registered in the name of 
a Person other than the Holder, 
please print such Person's name and 
address: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        Address 
 
 
 

        Social Security or other Taxpayer 
Identification Number, if any 
 
 
 

Signature Guaranteed 
 

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by 
an eligible guarantor institution 
(banks, stock brokers, savings and 
loan associations and credit unions 
with membership in an approved 
signature guarantee medallion pro- 
gram) pursuant to Securities and 
Exchange Commission Rule 17 Ad-15. 
 

If only a portion of the Securities is 
to be converted, please indicate: 
 

1.      Principal amount to be 
converted: 
 

U.S.$___________________________ 
(any integral multiple of 
U.S.$1,000) 
 

2.      Principal amount and 
denomination of Registered 
Securities representing un- 
converted principal amount to be 
issued: 
 

Amount: 

U.S.$___________________ 
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        Protein Design Labs, Inc.

        5.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007

        Registration Rights Agreement

        February 15, 2000

CIBC World Markets Corp.

Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation

SG Cowen Securities Corporation

Warburg Dillon Read LLC

c/o CIBC World Markets Corp.

One World Financial Center

New York, New York  10281

Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

Protein Design Labs, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), 
proposes to issue and sell to the Purchasers (as defined herein) upon the 
terms set forth in the Purchase Agreement (as defined herein) its 5.50% 
Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007 (the "Securities").  As 
an inducement to the Purchasers to enter into the Purchase Agreement and in 
satisfaction of a condition to the obligations of the Purchasers thereunder, 
the Company agrees with the Purchasers for the benefit of holders (as defined 
herein) from time to time of the Registrable Securities (as defined herein) as 
follows: 
 

1.      Definitions.

(a)     Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the Purchase Agreement.  As used in this 
Agreement, the following defined terms shall have the following meanings: 
 



"Affiliate" of any specified person means any other person which, 
directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with such specified person.  For purposes of this definition, control 
of a person means the power, direct or indirect, to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of such person whether by contract or 
otherwise; and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have meanings 
correlative to the foregoing. 
 
 

"Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and 
Friday that is not a day on which banking institutions in New York, New York 
are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close. 
 

"Commission" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, 
or any other federal agency at the time administering the Exchange Act or the 
Securities Act, whichever is the relevant statute for the particular purpose. 
 

"Common Stock" means the Company's common stock, par value $0.01 per 
share. 
 

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company. 
 

"Effectiveness Period" has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 
2(b)(i) hereof. 
 

"Effective Time" means the date on which the Commission declares the 
Shelf Registration Statement effective or on which the Shelf Registration 
Statement otherwise becomes effective. 
 

"Electing Holder" has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3(a)(iii) 
hereof. 
 

"Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended. 
 

The term "holder" means, when used with respect to any Security, the 
Holder (as defined in the Indenture) and, with respect to any Common Stock, 
the record holder of such Common Stock. 
 

"Indenture" means the Indenture, dated as of February 15, 2000, between 
the Company and Chase Manhattan Bank and Trust Company, National Asssociation, 
as amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms. 
 

"Managing Underwriters" means the investment banker or investment 
bankers and manager or managers that shall administer an underwritten 
offering, if any, conducted pursuant to Section 7 hereof. 
 

"NASD Rules" means the Rules of the National Association of Securities 
Dealers, Inc., as amended from time to time. 
 

"Notice and Questionnaire" means a Notice of Registration Statement and 
Selling Securityholder Questionnaire, substantially in the form of Exhibit A 
attached hereto, relating to the Securities. 
 

The term "person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, trust 
or unincorporated organization, or a government or agency or political 
subdivision thereof. 
 

"Prospectus" means the prospectus (including, without limitation, any 
preliminary prospectus, any final prospectus and any prospectus that discloses 
information previously omitted from a prospectus filed as part of an effective 
registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A under the Securities Act) 
included in the Shelf Registration Statement, as amended or supplemented by 
any prospectus supplement with respect to the terms of the offering of any 
portion of the Registrable Securities covered by the Shelf Registration 
Statement and by all other amendments and supplements to such prospectus, 
including all material incorporated by reference in such prospectus and all 
documents filed after the date of such prospectus by the Company under the 



Exchange Act and incorporated by reference therein. 
 

"Purchase Agreement" means the Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 
10, 2000, between the Company and the Purchasers. 
 

"Purchasers" means the Purchasers named in Schedule A to the Purchase 
Agreement. 
 

"Registrable Securities" means all or any portion of the Securities 
issued from time to time under the Indenture and the shares of Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion of such Securities; provided, however, that a 
security ceases to be a Registrable Security when it is no longer a Restricted 
Security. 
 

"Restricted Security" means any Security or share of Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion thereof except any such Security or share of Common 
Stock that (i) has been registered pursuant to an effective registration 
statement under the Securities Act and sold in a manner contemplated by the 
Shelf Registration Statement, (ii) has been transferred in compliance with 
Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any successor provision thereto) or is 
transferable pursuant to paragraph (k) of such Rule 144 (or any successor 
provision thereto), or (iii) has otherwise been transferred and a new Security 
or share of Common Stock not subject to transfer restrictions under the 
Securities Act has been delivered by or on behalf of the Company in accordance 
with Section 2.6 of the Indenture. 
 

"Rules and Regulations" means the published rules and regulations of the 
Commission promulgated under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as in 
effect at any relevant time. 
 

"Securities Act" means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended. 
 

"Shelf Registration" means a registration effected pursuant to Section 2 
hereof. 
 

"Shelf Registration Statement" means a "shelf" registration statement 
filed under the Securities Act providing for the registration of, and the sale 
on a continuous or delayed basis by the holders of, all of the Registrable 
Securities pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act and/or any similar 
rule that may be adopted by the Commission, filed by the Company pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 2 of this Agreement, including the Prospectus 
contained therein, any amendments and supplements to such registration 
statement, including post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all 
material incorporated by reference in such registration statement. 
 

"Trust Indenture Act" means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, or any 
successor thereto, and the rules, regulations and forms promulgated 
thereunder, as the same shall be amended from time to time. 
 

The term "underwriter" means any underwriter of Registrable Securities 
in connection with an offering thereof under a Shelf Registration Statement. 
 

(b)     Wherever there is a reference in this Agreement to a percentage of 
the "principal amount" of Registrable Securities or to a percentage of 
Registrable Securities, Common Stock shall be treated as representing the 
principal amount of Securities which was surrendered for conversion or 
exchange in order to receive such number of shares of Common Stock. 
 

2.      Shelf Registration.

(a)     The Company shall, on or prior to 90 calendar days after the 
Closing Date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement), file with the Commission 
a Shelf Registration Statement relating to the offer and sale of the 
Registrable Securities and, thereafter, shall use all reasonable efforts to 
cause such Shelf Registration Statement to be declared effective under the 
Securities Act on or prior to 180 calendar days after the Closing Date; 
provided, however, that no holder shall be entitled to be named as a selling 



securityholder in the Shelf Registration Statement or to use the Prospectus 
for resales of Registrable Securities unless such holder is an Electing 
Holder. 
 

(b)     The Company shall use all reasonable efforts: 
 

(i)     to keep the Shelf Registration Statement continuously 
effective in order to permit the Prospectus to be usable by holders for 
resales of Registrable Securities until the earlier of (A) the sale 
under the shelf Registration Statement of all the Registrable Securities 
registered thereunder and (B) the expiration of the holding period 
applicable to such Registrable Securities held by persons who are not 
affiliates of the Company under Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act or any 
successor provision thereto (such period being referred to herein as the 
"Effectiveness Period"); 
 

(ii)    after the Effective Time, upon the request of any holder of 
Registrable Securities that is not then an Electing Holder, to take any 
action reasonably necessary to enable such holder to use the Prospectus 
for resales of Registrable Securities, including without limitation any 
action necessary to identify such holder as a selling securityholder in 
the Shelf Registration Statement; provided, however, that nothing in 
this subsection shall relieve such holder of the obligation to return a 
completed and signed Notice and Questionnaire to the Company in 
accordance with Section 3(a) (ii) hereof; and 
 

(iii)   if at any time the Securities are convertible into 
securities other than Common Stock pursuant to Article Ten of the 
Indenture, the Company shall, or shall cause any successor under the 
Indenture to, cause such securities to be included in the Shelf 
Registration Statement no later than the date on which the Securities 
may then be convertible into such securities. 
 

3.      Registration Procedures. 

In connection with the Shelf 
Registration Statement, the following provisions shall apply: 
 

(a) (i)  Not less than 30 calendar days prior to the Effective 
Time, the Company shall mail the Notice and Questionnaire to the holders 
of Registrable Securities.  No holder shall be entitled to be named as a 
selling securityholder in the Shelf Registration Statement as of the 
Effective Time, and no holder shall be entitled to use the Prospectus 
for resales of Registrable Securities at any time unless such holder has 
returned a completed and signed Notice and Questionnaire to the Company 
by the deadline for response set forth therein; provided, however, a 
holder of Registrable Securities shall have at least 20 calendar days 
from the date on which the Notice and Questionnaire is first mailed to 
such holder to return a completed and signed Notice and Questionnaire to 
the Company. 
 

(ii)    After the Effective Time, the Company shall, upon the 
request of any holder of Registrable Securities that is not then an 
Electing Holder, promptly send a Notice and Questionnaire to such 
holder.  The Company shall not be required to take any action to name 
such holder as a selling securityholder in the Shelf Registration 
Statement or to enable such holder to use the Prospectus for resales of 
Registrable Securities until such holder has returned a completed and 
signed Notice and Questionnaire to the Company. 
 

(iii)   The term "Electing Holder" shall mean any holder of 
Registrable Securities that has returned a completed and signed Notice 
and Questionnaire to the Company in accordance with Section 3(a)(i) or 
3(a)(ii) hereof, (it being understood that, for purposes of this Section 
3 only, a person shall no longer be deemed an Electing Holder at such 
time as he ceases to be a holder of Registrable Securities). 
 

(b)     The Company shall furnish to each Electing Holder, counsel to the 
Electing Holders selected in accordance with Section 4(b) hereof, and the 
Managing Underwriters, if any, no fewer than five Business Days prior to the 
initial filing of the Shelf Registration Statement, a copy of such Shelf 
Registration Statement, and shall furnish to such holders, such counsel to 



such holders, and the Managing Underwriters, if any, no fewer than two 
Business Days prior to the filing of any amendment or supplement to the 
Prospectus, a copy of such amendment or supplement and shall use all 
reasonable efforts to reflect in each such document when so filed with the 
Commission such comments as such holders and such counsel reasonably may 
propose; provided, however, that the Company shall make the final decision as 
to the form and content of each such document.  If any such Shelf Registration 
Statement refers to any Electing Holder by name or otherwise as the holder of 
any securities of the Company, then such Electing Holder shall have the right 
to require (i) the insertion therein of language, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to such Electing Holder and the Company, to the effect 
that the holding by such Electing Holder of such securities is not to be 
construed as a recommendation by such Electing Holder of the investment 
quality of the Company's securities covered thereby and that such holding does 
not imply that such Electing Holder will assist in meeting any future 
financial requirements of the Company or (ii) in the event that such reference 
to such Electing Holder by name or otherwise is not required by the Securities 
Act or any similar Federal statute then in force, the deletion of the 
reference to such Electing Holder in any amendment or supplement to the 
Registration Statement filed or prepared subsequent to the time that such 
reference ceases to be required. 
 

(c)     From the date hereof until the end of the Effectiveness Period, 
the Company shall (subject to Section 3(j) hereof) promptly take such action 
as may be necessary so that (i) each of the Shelf Registration Statement and 
any amendment thereto and the Prospectus and any amendment or supplement 
thereto (and each report or other document incorporated by reference therein 
in each case) complies in all material respects with the Securities Act and 
the Exchange Act and the respective rules and regulations thereunder, (ii) 
each of the Shelf Registration Statement and any amendment thereto does not, 
when it becomes effective, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading and (iii) each of the Prospectus and any amendment 
or supplement to the Prospectus does not at any time include an untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in 
order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 
 

(d)     The Company shall promptly advise each Electing Holder, and shall 
confirm such advice in writing if so requested by any such holder (which 
notice pursuant to clauses (ii) through (iv) hereof shall be accompanied by an 
instruction to suspend the use of the Prospectus until the requisite changes 
have been made): 
 

(i)     when the Shelf Registration Statement and any amendment 
thereto has been filed with the Commission and when the Shelf 
Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto has 
become effective; 
 

(ii)    of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order 
suspending the effectiveness of the Shelf Registration Statement or the 
initiation of any proceedings for such purpose; 
 

(iii)   of the receipt by the Company of any notification with 
respect to the suspension of the qualification of the securities 
included in the Shelf Registration Statement for sale in any 
jurisdiction or the initiation of any proceeding for such purpose; and 
 

(iv)    if changes in the Shelf Registration Statement or the 
Prospectus are required in order that the Shelf Registration Statement 
and Prospectus do not contain an untrue statement of a material fact and 
do not omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of the Prospectus, 
in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not 
misleading. 
 

(e)     The Company shall use all reasonable efforts to prevent the 
issuance, and if issued to obtain the withdrawal, of any order suspending the 
effectiveness of the Shelf Registration Statement at the earliest possible 
time. 
 

(f)     The Company shall furnish to each requesting Electing Holder, 
without charge, at least one copy of the Shelf Registration Statement and all 



post-effective amendments thereto, including financial statements and 
schedules, and, if such holder so requests in writing, all reports, other 
documents and exhibits that are filed with or incorporated by reference in the 
Shelf Registration Statement. 
 

(g)     The Company shall, during the Effectiveness Period, deliver to 
each Electing Holder, without charge, as many copies of the Prospectus 
(including each preliminary Prospectus) and any amendment or supplement 
thereto as such Electing Holder may reasonably request; and the Company 
consents (except during the continuance of any event described in Section 
3(d)(iv) above) to the use of the Prospectus and any amendment or supplement 
thereto by each of the Electing Holders in connection with the offering and 
sale of the Registrable Securities covered by the Prospectus and any amendment 
or supplement thereto during the Effectiveness Period. 
 

(h)     Prior to any offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to the 
Shelf Registration Statement, the Company shall (i) use all reasonable efforts 
to register or qualify or cooperate with the Electing Holders and a single 
counsel for the Electing Holders in connection with the registration or 
qualification of such Registrable Securities for offer and sale under the 
securities or "blue sky" laws of such jurisdictions within the United States 
as any Electing Holder may reasonably request, (ii) keep such registrations or 
qualifications in effect and comply with such laws so as to permit the 
continuance of offers and sales in such jurisdictions for so long as may be 
necessary to enable any Electing Holder or underwriter, if any, to complete 
its distribution of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Shelf Registration 
Statement, and (iii) take any and all other actions necessary or advisable to 
enable the disposition in such jurisdictions of such Registrable Securities; 
provided, however, that in no event shall the Company be obligated to (A) 
qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any 
jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to so qualify but for 
this Section 3(h) or (B) file any general consent to service of process in any 
jurisdiction where it is not as of the date hereof so subject. 
 

(i)     The Company shall cooperate with the Electing Holders to 
facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing 
Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant to the Shelf Registration 
Statement, which certificates shall not bear any restrictive legends and, if 
so required by any securities exchange upon which any Registrable Securities 
are listed, shall be penned, lithographed or engraved, or produced by any 
combination of such methods, on steel engraved borders, and which certificates 
shall be free of any restrictive legends and in such permitted denominations 
and registered in such names as Electing Holders may request in connection 
with the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Shelf Registration 
Statement. 
 

(j)     Upon the occurrence of any fact or event contemplated by Section 
3(d)(iv) hereof, the Company shall (subject to the next sentence) promptly 
prepare a post-effective amendment or supplement to the Shelf Registration 
Statement or the Prospectus, or any document incorporated therein by 
reference, or file any other required document so that, as thereafter 
delivered to purchasers of the Registrable Securities included therein, the 
Prospectus will not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  If the 
Company notifies the Electing Holders in accordance with Sections 3(d)(ii), 
(iii) or (iv) hereof to suspend the use of the Prospectus until the requisite 
changes to the Prospectus have been made, then each Electing Holder shall 
suspend the use of the Prospectus and keep the notification provided pursuant 
to Section 3(d) hereof confidential until (i) such Electing Holder has 
received copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus contemplated by the 
preceding sentence or (ii) such Electing Holder is advised in writing by the 
Company that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed and has received copies 
of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated by reference 
in the Prospectus.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to Section 7 
hereof, the Company shall not be required to amend or supplement the Shelf 
Registration Statement, any related Prospectus or any document incorporated by 
reference for a period not to exceed 60 consecutive days if the Company is in 
possession of material non-public information. 
 

(k)     Not later than the Effective Time, the Company shall provide a 
CUSIP number for the Registrable Securities that are debt securities. 
 

(l)     The Company shall use all reasonable efforts to comply with all 
applicable Rules and Regulations, and to make generally available to its 
securityholders as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 



eighteen months after (i) the effective date (as defined in Rule 158(c) under 
the Securities Act) of the Shelf Registration Statement, (ii) the effective 
date of each post-effective amendment to the Shelf Registration Statement, and 
(iii) the date of each filing by the Company with the Commission of an Annual 
Report on Form 10-K that is incorporated by reference in the Shelf 
Registration Statement, an earnings statement of the Company and its 
subsidiaries complying with Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and the Rules 
and Regulations of the Commission thereunder (including, at the option of the 
Company, Rule 158). 
 

(m)     Not later than the Effective Time, the Company shall cause the 
Indenture to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act; in connection with 
such qualification, the Company shall cooperate with the Trustee under the 
Indenture and the Holders (as defined in the Indenture) to effect such changes 
to the Indenture as may be required for such Indenture to be so qualified in 
accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture Act; and the Company shall 
execute, and shall use all reasonable efforts to cause the Trustee to execute, 
all documents that may be required to effect such changes and all other forms 
and documents required to be filed with the Commission to enable such 
Indenture to be so qualified in a timely manner.  In the event that any such 
amendment or modification referred to in this Section 3(m) involves the 
appointment of a new trustee under the Indenture, the Company shall appoint a 
new trustee thereunder pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Indenture. 
 

(n)     In the event of an underwritten offering conducted pursuant to 
Section 7 hereof, the Company shall (subject to Section 3(j) hereof), if 
requested, promptly include or incorporate in a Prospectus supplement or post- 
effective amendment to the Shelf Registration Statement such information as 
the Managing Underwriters reasonably agree should be included therein and to 
which the Company does not reasonably object and shall (subject to Section 
3(j) hereof) make all required filings of such Prospectus supplement or post- 
effective amendment as soon as practicable after it is notified of the matters 
to be included or incorporated in such Prospectus supplement or post-effective 
amendment. 
 

(o)     The Company shall enter into such customary agreements (including 
an underwriting agreement in customary form in the event of an underwritten 
offering conducted pursuant to Section 7 hereof) and take all other 
appropriate action in order to expedite and facilitate the registration and 
disposition of the Registrable Securities, and in connection therewith, if an 
underwriting agreement is entered into, cause the same to contain 
indemnification provisions and procedures substantially identical to those set 
forth in Section 5 hereof with respect to all parties to be indemnified 
pursuant to Section 5 hereof; provided, however, the Company shall not be 
required to facilitate an underwritten offering pursuant to the Shelf 
Registration Statement by any holders unless the offering relates to at least 
$50,000,000 principal amount of the Securities or the equivalent number of 
shares of Common Stock into which such Securities are convertible. 
 

(p)     The Company shall: 
 

(i)(A)  make reasonably available for inspection by requesting 
Electing Holders, any underwriter participating in any disposition 
pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement, and any attorney selected 
in accordance with Section 4(b) hereof, one accountant and any other 
agent retained by such holders or any such underwriter (provided that 
any person who participates in such an inspection shall be a person that 
is customarily used by selling stockholders and underwriters for similar 
due diligence investigations and such person shall not be a person that 
is in the business of, or employed for the purpose of, analyzing or 
valuing securities) all relevant financial and other records, pertinent 
corporate documents and properties of the Company and its subsidiaries 
and (B) cause the Company's officers, directors and employees to supply 
all information reasonably requested by such holders or any such 
underwriter, attorney, accountant or agent in connection with the Shelf 
Registration Statement, in each case, at the time and in the manner as 
is customary for similar due diligence investigations related to the 
filing of a shelf registration statement or post-effective amendment 
thereto, as the case may be; provided, however, that all records, 
information and documents that are designated in writing by the Company, 
in good faith, as confidential shall be kept confidential by such 
holders and any such underwriter, attorney, accountant or agent, unless 
such disclosure is made in connection with a court proceeding or 
required by law, or such records, information or documents become 
available to the public generally or through a third party without an 
accompanying obligation of confidentiality; and provided further that 
such inspection and information gathering shall, to the greatest extent 



possible, be coordinated on behalf of the requesting Electing Holders 
and the other parties entitled thereto by one counsel designated by and 
on behalf of Electing Holders and other parties; 
 

(ii)    in connection with any underwritten offering conducted 
pursuant to Section 7 hereof, make such representations and warranties 
to the Electing Holders participating in such underwritten offering and 
to the Managing Underwriters, in form, substance and scope as are 
customarily made by the Company to underwriters in primary underwritten 
offerings of equity and convertible debt securities; 
 

(iii)   in connection with any underwritten offering conducted 
pursuant to Section 7 hereof, obtain opinions of counsel to the Company 
(which counsel and opinions (in form, scope and substance) shall be 
reasonably satisfactory to the Managing Underwriters) addressed to each 
requesting Electing Holder, covering such matters as are customarily 
covered in opinions requested in primary underwritten offerings of 
equity and convertible debt securities and such other matters as may be 
reasonably requested by such Electing Holders and underwriters (it being 
agreed that the matters to be covered by such opinions shall include, 
without limitation, as of the date of the opinion and as of the 
Effective Time or the date of the most recent post-effective amendment 
thereto, as the case may be, the absence from the Shelf Registration 
Statement and the Prospectus, including the documents incorporated by 
reference therein, of an untrue statement of a material fact or the 
omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary 
to make the statements therein (in the case of the Prospectus, in light 
of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading); 
 

(iv)    in connection with any underwritten offering conducted 
pursuant to Section 7 hereof, obtain "cold comfort" letters and updates 
thereof from the independent public accountants of the Company (and, if 
necessary, from the independent public accountants of any subsidiary of 
the Company or of any business acquired by the Company for which 
financial statements and financial data are, or are required to be, 
included in the Shelf Registration Statement), addressed to each 
requesting Electing Holder (if such Electing Holder has provided such 
letter, representations or documentation, if any, required for such cold 
comfort letter to be so addressed) and the underwriters, in customary 
form and covering matters of the type customarily covered in "cold 
comfort" letters in connection with primary underwritten offerings; 
 

(v)     in connection with any underwritten offering conducted 
pursuant to Section 7 hereof, deliver such documents and certificates as 
may be reasonably requested by any Electing Holders and the Managing 
Underwriters, if any, including without limitation certificates to 
evidence compliance with Section 3(j) hereof and with any conditions 
contained in the underwriting agreement or other agreements entered into 
by the Company. 
 

(q)     The Company shall use all reasonable efforts to cause the Common 
Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities to be listed for quotation on 
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations National 
Market System or other stock exchange or trading system, if any, on which the 
Common Stock primarily trades on or prior to the Effective Time. 
 

(r)     The Company shall use all reasonable efforts to take all other 
steps necessary to effect the registration, offering and sale of the 
Registrable Securities covered by the Shelf Registration Statement 
contemplated hereby. 
 

4.      Registration Expenses.  

(a)     All fees and expenses incident to the performance of or 
compliance with this Agreement by the Company shall be borne by it whether or 
not any Shelf Registration Statement is filed or becomes effective and whether 
or not any securities are issued or sold pursuant to any Shelf Registration 
Statement.  The fees and expenses referred to in the foregoing sentence shall 
include, without limitation, (i) all registration and filing fees (including 
without limitation fees and expenses (A) with respect to filings required to 
be made with the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and (B) in 
compliance with securities or Blue Sky laws (including without limitation and 
in addition to that provided for in (b) below, reasonable fees and 



disbursements of counsel for the underwriters or counsel for the holders of 
Registrable Securities in connection with Blue Sky qualifications of the 
Registrable Securities )), (ii) printing expenses (including without 
limitation expenses of printing certificates for Registrable Securities in a 
form eligible for deposit with DTC and of printing Prospectuses if the 
printing of Prospectuses is requested by the Managing Underwriters, if any), 
(iii) messenger, telephone and delivery expenses, (iv) fees and disbursements 
of counsel for the Company and one counsel for the holders of Registrable 
Securities (plus one local counsel deemed appropriate by the holders of 
Registrable Securities of a majority in amount of the Registrable Securities 
(determined on a fully converted basis)) in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 4(b) hereof (provided, however, that the Company's obligation 
hereunder with respect to fees and disbursements of such local counsel shall 
not exceed $10,000), (v) fees and disbursements of all independent certified 
public accountants referred to in Section 3(p)(iv) hereof (including without 
limitation the expenses of any special audit and "cold comfort" letters 
required by or incident to such performance), (vi) Securities Act liability 
insurance, if the Company desires such insurance, and (vii) fees and expenses 
of all other persons retained by the Company.  In addition, the Company shall 
pay its internal expenses (including without limitation all salaries and 
expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), 
the expense of any annual audit, and the fees and expenses incurred in 
connection with the listing of the securities on the National Association of 
Securities Dealers Automated Quotations National Market System. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything in this Agreement to the contrary, 
each holder of the Registrable Securities being registered shall pay all 
commissions, placement agent fees and underwriting discounts and commissions 
with respect to any Registrable Securities sold by it and the fees and 
disbursements of any counsel or other advisors or experts retained by such 
holders (severally or jointly), other than counsel and local counsel referred 
to in clause (iv) above. 
 

(b)     In connection with any registration hereunder, the Company 
shall reimburse the holders of the Registrable Securities being registered in 
such registration for the reasonable fees and disbursements of not more than 
one counsel (in addition to one appropriate local counsel) chosen by the 
holders of a majority in amount of the Registrable Securities (determined on a 
fully converted basis) for whose benefit the applicable Shelf Registration 
Statement is being prepared. 
 

5.      Indemnification and Contribution.

(a)     Indemnification by the Company.  Upon the registration of the 
Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2 hereof, the Company shall 
indemnify and hold harmless each Electing Holder and each underwriter, selling 
agent or other securities professional, if any, which facilitates the 
disposition of Registrable Securities, and each of their respective officers 
and directors and each person who controls such Electing Holder, underwriter, 
selling agent or other securities professional within the meaning of Section 
15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (each such person 
being sometimes referred to as an "Indemnified Person") against any losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which such Indemnified 
Person may become subject under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as 
such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) 
arise out of or are based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement 
of a material fact contained in any Shelf Registration Statement or any 
Prospectus contained therein or furnished by the Company to any Indemnified 
Person, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or arise out of or are based 
upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact 
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in 
light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading, and the 
Company hereby agrees to reimburse such Indemnified Person for any legal or 
other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or 
defending any such action or claim as such expenses are incurred; provided, 
however, that the Company shall not be liable to any such Indemnified Person 
in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability 
arises out of or is based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement 
or omission or alleged omission made in such Shelf Registration Statement or 
Prospectus, or amendment or supplement thereto, in reliance upon and in 
conformity with written information furnished to the Company by or on behalf 
of such Indemnified Person expressly for use therein; provided, further, 
however, that the foregoing indemnity agreement with respect to any 
preliminary Prospectus shall not inure to the benefit of any Indemnified 
Person who failed to deliver a final Prospectus (as then amended or 
supplemented, provided by the Company to the several Indemnified Persons in 
the requisite quantity and on a timely basis to permit proper delivery on or 
prior to the relevant transaction date) to the person asserting any losses, 



claims, damages and liabilities and judgments caused by any untrue statement 
or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any preliminary 
Prospectus, or caused by any omission or alleged omission to state therein a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, 
not misleading, if such material misstatement or omission or alleged material 
misstatement or omission was cured in the final Prospectus. 
 

(b)     Indemnification by the Holders and any Agents and Underwriters. 
Each Electing Holder agrees, as a consequence of the inclusion of any of such 
holder's Registrable Securities in any Shelf Registration Statement, and each 
underwriter, selling agent or other securities professional, if any, which 
facilitates the disposition of Registrable Securities shall agree, as a 
consequence of facilitating such disposition of Registrable Securities, 
severally and not jointly, to (i) indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its 
directors, officers who sign such Shelf Registration Statement and each 
person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of either Section 
15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act against any losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities to which the Company or such other persons may 
become subject, under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or 
are based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material 
fact contained in such Shelf Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any 
amendment or supplement thereto, or arise out of or are based upon the 
omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, in 
each case to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or 
alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission was made in reliance 
upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by or 
on behalf of such holder, underwriter, selling agent or other securities 
professional expressly for use therein and (ii) reimburse the Company, its 
directors, officers who sign such Shelf Registration Statement and each 
person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of either Section 
15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act for any legal or 
other expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in connection with 
investigating or defending any such action or claim as such expenses are 
incurred. 
 

(c)     Notices of Claims, Etc.  Promptly after receipt by an indemnified 
party under subsection (a) or (b) of this Section 5 of notice of the 
commencement of any action, such indemnified party shall, if a claim in 
respect thereof is to be made against an indemnifying party under this Section 
5, notify such indemnifying party in writing of the commencement thereof; but 
the omission so to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any 
liability which it may have to any indemnified party other than under this 
Section 5.  In case any such action shall be brought against any indemnified 
party and it shall notify an indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, 
such indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the 
extent that it shall wish, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly 
notified, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory 
to such indemnified party (who shall not, except with the consent of the 
indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying party), and, after notice 
from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to 
assume the defense thereof, such indemnifying party shall not be liable to 
such indemnified party under this Section 5 for any legal expenses of other 
counsel or any other expenses, in each case subsequently incurred by such 
indemnified party, in connection with the defense thereof other than 
reasonable costs of investigation.  No indemnifying party shall, without the 
written consent of the indemnified party, which consent will not be 
unreasonably withheld, effect the settlement or compromise of, or consent to 
the entry of any judgment with respect to, any pending or threatened action or 
claim in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought 
hereunder (whether or not the indemnified party is an actual or potential 
party to such action or claim) unless such settlement, compromise or judgment 
(i) includes an unconditional release of the indemnified party from all 
liability arising out of such action or claim and (ii) does not include a 
statement as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability or a failure to act, 
by or on behalf of any indemnified party. 
 

(d)     Contribution.  If the indemnification provided for in this Section 
5 is unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party 
under subsection (a) or (b) of this Section 5 in respect of any losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) referred to 
therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or 
payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages 
or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) (i) in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the indemnifying 
party or parties, on the one hand, and the indemnified party, on the other 
hand, from the registration of the Securities pursuant to the Shelf 



Registration Statement or (ii) if the allocation provided by the foregoing 
clause (i) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause 
(i) above but also the relative fault of the indemnifying party and the 
indemnified party in connection with the statements or omissions which 
resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect 
thereof), as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative 
fault of such indemnifying party and indemnified party shall be determined by 
reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue 
statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a 
material fact relates to information supplied by such indemnifying party or by 
such indemnified party, and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to 
information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. 
 The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if 
contribution pursuant to this Section 5(d) were determined by pro rata 
allocation (even if the Electing Holders or any underwriters, selling agents 
or other securities professionals or all of them were treated as one entity 
for such purpose) or by any other method of allocation which does not take 
account of the equitable considerations referred to in this Section 5(d).  The 
amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) referred to 
above shall be deemed to include any legal or other fees or expenses 
reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating 
or defending any such action or claim.  No person guilty of fraudulent 
misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) 
shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such 
fraudulent misrepresentation.   The obligations of the Electing Holders and 
any underwriters, selling agents or other securities professionals in this 
Section 5(d) to contribute shall be several in proportion to the percentage of 
principal amount of Registrable Securities registered or underwritten, as the 
case may be, by them and not joint. 
 

(e)     Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 5, in no event 
will any (i) Electing Holder be required to undertake liability to any person 
under this Section 5 for any amounts in excess of the dollar amount of the 
proceeds to be received by such holder from the sale of such holder's 
Registrable Securities (after deducting any fees, discounts and commissions 
applicable thereto) pursuant to any Shelf Registration Statement and (ii) 
underwriter, selling agent or other securities professional be required to 
undertake liability to any person hereunder for any amounts in excess of the 
discount, commission or other compensation payable to such underwriter, 
selling agent or other securities professional with respect to the Registrable 
Securities underwritten by it and distributed to the public. 
 

(f)     The obligations of the Company under this Section 5 shall be in 
addition to any liability that the Company may otherwise have to any 
Indemnified Person and the obligations of any Indemnified Person under this 
Section 5 shall be in addition to any liability that such Indemnified Person 
may otherwise have to the Company.  The remedies provided in this Section 5 
are not exclusive and shall not limit any rights or remedies that may 
otherwise be available to an indemnified party at law or in equity. 
 

6.      Liquidated Damages. 

 If (i) on or prior to 90 days after the 
Closing Date, a Shelf Registration Statement has not been filed with the 
Commission, (ii) on or prior to 180 days after the Closing Date, such Shelf 
Registration Statement is not declared effective or, (iii) the Shelf 
Registration Statement ceases to be effective or the Company otherwise 
prevents or restricts the  Electing Holders from making sales of Registrable 
Securities under such Shelf Registration Statement during the Effectiveness 
Period for a period in excess of 60 consecutive days (each, a "Registration 
Default"), liquidated damages ("Liquidated Damages") will accrue on the 
Registrable Securities at a rate equal to 0.5% of the principal amount of 
Registrable Securities per annum from and including the day following such 
Registration Default to but excluding the day on which such Registration 
Default has been cured or, if earlier, the last day upon which the Shelf 
Registration Statement is required to be kept effective.  The Company shall 
notify the Trustee as promptly as possible, but in no event more than three 
Business Days after each and every date on which a Registration Default 
occurs.  Liquidated Damages will be paid semi-annually in arrears, with the 
first semi-annual payment due on the first Interest Payment Date in respect of 
the Registrable Securities following the date on which such Liquidated Damages 
begin to accrue. 
 



7.      Underwritten Offering.  

Any holder of Registrable Securities who 
desires to do so may sell Registrable Securities (in whole or in part) in an 
underwritten offering; provided, however, the Company shall not be required to 
facilitate an underwritten offering pursuant to the Shelf Registration 
Statement by any holders unless the offering relates to at least $50,000,000 
principal amount of the Securities or the equivalent number of shares of 
Common Stock into which such Securities are convertible.  In any such 
underwritten offering, the investment banker or investment bankers and manager 
or managers that will administer the offering will be selected by, and the 
underwriting arrangements with respect thereto (including the size of the 
offering) will be approved by, the holders of a majority of the Registrable 
Securities to be included in such offering; provided, however, that such 
investment bankers and managers (including the personnel of such investment 
bankers and managers involved in any such underwritten offering) and 
underwriting arrangements must be reasonably satisfactory to the Company.  No 
holder may participate in any underwritten offering contemplated hereby unless 
(a) such holder agrees to sell such holder's Registrable Securities to be 
included in the underwritten offering in accordance with any approved 
underwriting arrangements, (b) such holder completes and executes all 
reasonable questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, underwriting 
agreements, lock-up letters and other documents required under the terms of 
such approved underwriting arrangements and (c) if such holder is not then an 
Electing Holder, such holder returns a completed and signed Notice and 
Questionnaire to the Company in accordance with Section 3(a)(ii) hereof within 
a reasonable amount of time before such underwritten offering.  The holders 
participating in any underwritten offering shall be responsible for any 
underwriting discounts and commissions and fees and, subject to Section 4 
hereof, expenses of their own counsel.  The Company shall pay all expenses 
customarily borne by issuers, including but not limited to filing fees, the 
fees and disbursements of its counsel and independent public accountants and 
any printing expenses incurred in connection with such underwritten offering. 
 Notwithstanding the foregoing or the provisions of Section 3(n) hereof, upon 
receipt of a request from the Managing Underwriter or a representative of 
holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities to be included in an 
underwritten offering to prepare and file an amendment or supplement to the 
Shelf Registration Statement and Prospectus in connection with an underwritten 
offering, the Company may delay the filing of any such amendment or supplement 
for up to 60 days if the Company is in possession of material non-public 
information. 
 

8.      Rules 144 and 144A.  

The Company agrees, for so long as any 
Registrable Securities remain outstanding and during any period in which the 
Company (a) is not subject to Section 13 of 15(d) of the Exchange Act, to make 
available, upon request of any holder of Registrable Securities, to such 
holder or beneficial owner of Registrable Securities in connection with any 
sale thereof and any prospective purchaser of such Registrable Securities 
designated by such holder or beneficial owner, the information required by 
Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act in order to permit resales of such 
Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act, and (b) is 
subject to Section 13 of 15 (d) of the Exchange Act, to make all filings 
required thereby in a timely manner in order to permit resales of such 
Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act. 
 

9.      Miscellaneous.

(a)     Other Registration Rights.  The Company will not, on or after the 
date of this Agreement, enter into any agreement with respect to its 
securities that is inconsistent with the rights granted to the holders of 
Registrable Securities in this Agreement or otherwise conflicts with the 
provisions hereof.  The Company shall not permit any securities other than the 
Registrable Securities to be included in any Shelf Registration Statement. 
The rights granted to the holders of Registrable Securities hereunder do not 
in any way conflict with and are not inconsistent with the rights granted to 
the holders of the Company's securities under any agreement in effect on the 
date hereof. 
 
 



(b)     Amendments and Waivers.  The provisions of this Agreement may not 
be amended, modified or supplemented, and waivers or consents to or departures 
from the provisions hereof may not be given unless (i) in the case of Section 
2 hereof and this Section 9(b)(i), the Company has obtained the written 
consent of holders of all outstanding Registrable Securities and (ii) in the 
case of all other provisions hereof, the Company has obtained the written 
consent of holders of a majority of the outstanding principal amount of 
Registrable Securities (determined on a fully converted basis) (excluding 
Registrable Securities held by the Company or its Affiliates). 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a waiver or consent to departure from the 
provisions hereof that relates exclusively to the rights of holders whose 
Registrable Securities are being sold pursuant to a Shelf Registration 
Statement and that does not affect directly or indirectly the rights of other 
holders of Registrable Securities may be given by the holders of a majority of 
the outstanding principal amount of Registrable Securities (determined on a 
fully converted basis) being sold by such holders pursuant to such Shelf 
Registration Statement. 
 

(c)     Third Party Beneficiary.  The holders of Registrable Securities 
shall be third party beneficiaries to the agreements made hereunder between 
the Company, on the one hand, and the Purchasers, on the other hand, and shall 
have the right to enforce such agreements directly to the extent they may deem 
such enforcement necessary or advisable to protect its rights or the rights of 
holders of Registrable Securities hereunder. 
 

(d)     Notices.  All notices and other communications provided for or 
permitted hereunder shall be given as provided in the Indenture. 
 

(e)     Parties in Interest.  The parties to this Agreement intend that 
all holders of Registrable Securities shall be entitled to receive the 
benefits of this Agreement and that any Electing Holder shall be bound by the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement by reason of such election with respect 
to the Registrable Securities that are included in a Shelf Registration 
Statement.  All the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding 
upon, shall inure to the benefit of and shall be enforceable by the respective 
successors and assigns of the parties hereto and any holder from time to time 
of the Registrable Securities to the aforesaid extent.  In the event that any 
transferee of any holder of Registrable Securities shall acquire Registrable 
Securities, in any manner, whether by gift, bequest, purchase, operation of 
law or otherwise, such transferee shall, without any further writing or action 
of any kind, be entitled to receive the benefits of and, if an Electing 
Holder, be conclusively deemed to have agreed to be bound by and to perform 
all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement to the aforesaid extent. 
 

(f)     Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts and by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which 
when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken 
together shall constitute one and the same agreement. 
 

(g)     Headings.  The headings in this agreement are for convenience of 
reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning, 
construction or interpretation hereof. 
 

(h)     Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, including without 
limitation New York General Obligations Laws  5-1401. 
 

(i)     Severability.  In the event that any one or more of the provisions 
contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect for any reason, the validity, 
legality and enforceability of any such provision in every other respect and 
of the remaining provisions hereof shall not be in any way impaired or 
affected thereby, it being intended that all of the rights and privileges of 
the parties hereto shall be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. 
 

(j)     Survival.  The respective indemnities, agreements, 
representations, warranties and other provisions set forth in this Agreement 
or made pursuant hereto shall remain in full force and effect, regardless of 
any investigation (or any statement as to the results thereof) made by or on 
behalf of any Electing Holder, any director, officer or partner of such 
holder, any agent or underwriter, any director, officer or partner of such 
agent or underwriter, or any controlling person of any of the foregoing, and 
shall survive the transfer and registration of the Registrable Securities of 



such holder. 
 

(k)     Entire Agreement.  This Agreement is intended by the parties as a 
final expression of their agreement and intended to be a complete and 
exclusive statement of the agreement and understanding of the parties hereto 
in respect of the subject matter hereof.  There are no restrictions, promises, 
warranties or undertakings, other than those set forth or referred to herein, 
with respect to the registration rights granted with respect to the 
Registrable Securities.  This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and 
understandings between the parties with respect to such subject matter. 
 

Please confirm by signing in the space provided below that the foregoing 
correctly sets forth the agreement between the Company and you. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 

PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC. 
 
 
 

By:  ____________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 
 

CIBC WORLD MARKETS CORP. 

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON CORPORATION 

SG COWEN SECURITIES CORPORATION 

WARBURG DILLON READ LLC 
 
 

By:  CIBC WORLD MARKETS CORP. 
 
 

By:  _____________________________ 

        Name: 

        Title: 
 

        EXHIBIT A

        Protein Design Labs, Inc.

        Notice of Registration Statement 
        and 
        Selling Securityholder Questionnaire

        (Date) 
 
 

Reference is hereby made to the Registration Rights Agreement (the 
"Registration Rights Agreement") between Protein Design Labs, Inc. (the 
"Company") and the Purchasers named therein.  Pursuant to the Registration 
Rights Agreement, the Company has filed with the United States Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-_ 
(the "Shelf Registration Statement") for the registration and resale under 
Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), of 
the Company's 5.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007 (the 



"Securities") and the shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the 
"Common Stock"), issuable upon conversion thereof.  A copy of the Registration 
Rights Agreement is attached hereto.  All capitalized terms not otherwise 
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Registration 
Rights Agreement. 
 

Each beneficial owner of Registrable Securities (as defined below) is 
entitled to have the Registrable Securities beneficially owned by it included 
in the Shelf Registration Statement.  In order to have Registrable Securities 
included in the Shelf Registration Statement, this Notice of Registration 
Statement and Selling Securityholder Questionnaire ("Notice and 
Questionnaire") must be completed, executed and delivered to the Company's 
counsel at the address set forth herein for receipt ON OR BEFORE [DEADLINE FOR 
RESPONSE].  Beneficial owners of Registrable Securities who do not complete, 
execute and return this Notice and Questionnaire by such date (i) will not be 
named as selling securityholders in the Shelf Registration Statement and (ii) 
may not use the Prospectus forming a part thereof for resales of Registrable 
Securities. 
 

Certain legal consequences arise from being named as a selling 
securityholder in the Shelf Registration Statement and related Prospectus. 
Accordingly, holders and beneficial owners of Registrable Securities are 
advised to consult their own securities law counsel regarding the consequences 
of being named or not being named as a selling securityholder in the Shelf 
Registration Statement and related Prospectus. 
 

The term "Registrable Securities" is defined in the Registration Rights 
Agreement to mean all or any portion of the Securities issued from time to 
time under the Indenture and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon 
conversion of such Securities; provided, however, that a security ceases to be 
a Registrable Security when it is no longer a Restricted Security. 
 

The term "Restricted Security" is defined in the Registration Rights 
Agreement to mean any Security or share of Common Stock issuable upon 
conversion thereof except any such Security or share of Common Stock that (i) 
has been registered pursuant to an effective registration statement under the 
Securities Act and sold in a manner contemplated by the Shelf Registration 
Statement, (ii) has been transferred in compliance with Rule 144 under the 
Securities Act (or any successor provision thereto) or is transferable 
pursuant to paragraph (k) of such Rule 144 (or any successor provision 
thereto), or (iii) has otherwise been transferred and a new Security or share 
of Common Stock not subject to transfer restrictions under the Securities Act 
has been delivered by or on behalf of the Company in accordance with Section 
2.6 of the Indenture. 
 

        ELECTION

The undersigned holder (the "Selling Securityholder") of Registrable 
Securities hereby elects to include in the Shelf Registration Statement the 
Registrable Securities beneficially owned by it and the Registrable Securities 
listed below in Item (3). The undersigned, by signing and returning this 
Notice and Questionnaire, agrees to be bound with respect to such Registrable 
Securities by the terms and conditions of this Notice and Questionnaire and 
the Registration Rights Agreement, including without limitation Section 5 of 
the Registration Rights Agreement, as if the undersigned Selling 
Securityholder were an original party thereto. 
 

The Selling Securityholder hereby provides the following information to 
the Company and represents and warrants that such information is accurate and 
complete: 
 
 

        QUESTIONNAIRE

Certain capitalized terms used in this Questionnaire are defined in 
Appendix l attached hereto.  Capitalized terms used in this Questionnaire but 
not defined in Appendix 1 have the meanings given to them in the accompanying 
letter. 
 



(1)     (a)     Full legal name of Selling Securityholder: 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 

(i)     Is such Selling Securityholder a: 
 

[ ] Corporation [ ] General Partnership 

[ ] Individual          [ ] Limited Partnership 

[ ] Other (please specify:____________________) 

(ii)    In what state is such Selling Securityholder organized or 
domiciled? 
 
_____________________________ 
 

        (b)     Full legal name of Registered Holder (if not the same as in (a) 
above) of Registrable Securities listed in Item (4) below: 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 

(c)     Full legal name of DTC participant (if applicable and if not the 
same as (b) above) through which Registrable Securities listed in 
Item (4) below are held: 
________________________________________________________________ 
 

(2)     Address for Notices to Selling Securityholder: 

____________________________ 

____________________________ 

____________________________ 

Telephone:              ____________________________ 

Fax:                    ____________________________ 

Contact Person: ____________________________ 

E-mail:         ____________________________ 
 

(3)     Beneficial Ownership of Securities by Another Entity or Individual: 
 

(a)     Is another entity or individual the Beneficial Owner of any 
Securities or shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion of any 
Securities? 
 

[ ] No (skip questions (b)-(e) below) 

[ ] Yes (answer questions (b)-(e) below) 
 

(b)     What is the full legal name of such Beneficial Owner? 
 

_____________________________________________________ 
 

(c)     Is such Beneficial Owner a: 
 

[ ] Corporation [ ] General Partnership 
 

[ ] Individual          [ ] Limited Partnership 
 

[ ] Other (please specify:____________________) 
 

(d)     In what state is such Beneficial Owner organized or domiciled? 
 

___________________________________________________ 
 



(e)     Please provide the name, address, telephone number, fax number and 
e-mail address of a contact person for such Beneficial Owner. 
 

___________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________ 
 

(4)     Beneficial Ownership of Securities: 
 

Except as set forth below in this Item (4), the undersigned is not a 
Beneficial Owner of any Securities or shares of Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of any Securities. 
 

(a)     Principal amount of Registrable Securities (as defined in the 
Registration Rights Agreement) Beneficially Owned: 
________________________________________ CUSIP No(s). of such 
Registrable Securities: _______________________________ 
 

Number of shares of Common Stock (if any) issued upon conversion 
of such Registrable Securities: 
_______________________________________ 
 
 

(b)     Principal amount of Securities other than Registrable Securities 
Beneficially Owned: 
__________________________________________________________________ 
CUSIP No(s). of such other Securities: 
____________________________________ 

Number of shares of Common Stock (if any) issued upon conversion 
of such other Securities: 
___________________________________________________________ 
 

(c)     Principal amount of Registrable Securities that the undersigned 
wishes to be included in the Shelf Registration Statement: 
        ________________________________ CUSIP No(s). of such Registrable 
Securities to be included in the Shelf Registration Statement: 
___________________________________________________________ 
 

Number of shares of Common Stock (if any) issued upon conversion 
of Registrable Securities that are to be included in the Shelf 
Registration Statement:__________ 
 

(5)     Beneficial Ownership of Other Securities of the Company: 
 

Except as set forth below in this Item (5), the undersigned Selling 
Securityholder is not a Beneficial Owner of any shares of Common Stock 
or any other securities of the Company, other than the Securities and 
shares of Common Stock listed above in Item (4). 
 

State any exceptions here: 
 
 
 

(6)     Relationships with the Company: 
 

Except as set forth below, neither the Selling Securityholder nor any of 
its Affiliates, officers, directors or principal equity holders (5% or 
more) has held any position or office or has had any other Material 
Relationship with the Company (or its predecessors or Affiliates) during 
the past three years. 
 



State any exceptions here: 
 
 
 
 

(7)     Plan of Distribution: 
 

Except as set forth below, the undersigned Selling Securityholder 
intends to distribute the Registrable Securities listed above in Item 
(4) only as follows (if at all): Such Registrable Securities may be sold 
from time to time directly by the undersigned Selling Securityholder or, 
alternatively, through underwriters, broker-dealers or agents who may 
receive discounts, concessions or commissions from the Selling 
Stockholder or the purchaser.  Such Registrable Securities may be sold 
in one or more transactions at fixed prices, at prevailing market prices 
at the time of sale, at prices relating to the prevailing market prices 
at the time of sale, at varying prices determined at the time of sale, 
or at negotiated prices.  Such sales may be effected in transactions 
(which may involve crosses or block transactions) (i) on any national 
securities exchange or quotation service on which the Registered 
Securities may be listed or quoted at the time of sale, (ii) in the 
over-the-counter market, (iii) in transactions otherwise than on such 
exchanges or services or in the over-the-counter market, (iv) through 
the writing of options, whether such options are listed on an option 
exchange or otherwise, or (iv) through the settlement of short sales. 
In connection with sales of the Registrable Securities or otherwise, the 
Selling Securityholder may enter into hedging transactions with broker- 
dealers or other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in 
short sales of the Registrable Securities in the course of hedging the 
positions they assume.  The Selling Securityholder may also sell 
Registrable Securities short and deliver Registrable Securities to close 
out such short positions, or loan or pledge Registrable Securities to 
broker-dealers that in turn may sell such securities. 
 

State any exceptions here: 
 
 

(8)     Are you a Member, an affiliate of a Member, or a person associated with 
a Member, of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the 
"NASD")? 
 

Yes _____ No _____ 
 

If the answer to Question 8 is "yes", state (a) the name of any such 
NASD Member, (b) the nature of your affiliation or association with such 
NASD Member, (c) information as to such NASD Member's participation in 
any capacity in the Offering or the original placement of the 
Securities, (d) the number of shares of equity securities or face value 
of debt securities of the Company owned by you, (e) the date such 
securities were acquired and (f) the price paid for such securities. 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________. 
 
 

(9)     If you answered "yes" to Question 8 above, please fill out the following 
table with respect to any purchases from the Company or any of its 
Affiliates in a private placement within twelve months prior to the date 
hereof (excluding your purchase of the Shares). 
 
 
 
 

Date of 
Purchase 
 

Seller 
 

Amount and Name 
of Securities 
 



Price or Other 
Consideration 
 
 

Note:  In no event may such method(s) of distribution take the form of 
an underwritten offering of the Registrable Securities without the prior 
agreement of the Company. 
 

By signing below, the Selling Securityholder acknowledges that it 
understands its obligation to comply, and agrees that it will comply, with the 
provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, 
particularly Regulation M.  The Selling Securityholder also acknowledges that 
it understands that the answers to this Questionnaire are furnished for use in 
connection with the Registration Statement and any amendments or supplements 
thereto filed with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
 

In the event that the Selling Securityholder transfers all or any 
portion of the Registrable Securities listed in Item (3) above after the date 
on which such information is provided to the Company, the Selling 
Securityholder agrees to notify the transferee(s) at the time of the transfer 
of its rights and obligations under this Notice and Questionnaire and the 
Registration Rights Agreement. 
 

By signing below, the Selling Securityholder consents to the disclosure 
of the information contained herein in its answers to Items (1) through (9) 
above and the inclusion of such information in the Shelf Registration 
Statement and related Prospectus.  The Selling Securityholder understands that 
such information will be relied upon by the Company in connection with the 
preparation of the Shelf Registration Statement and related Prospectus. 
 

The Selling Securityholder acknowledges that material misstatements and 
omissions of material facts in the Registration Statement and any amendments 
or supplement thereto may give rise to civil and criminal liabilities to the 
Company and to each officer and director of the Company signing the 
Registration Statement and to other persons signing such document.  As a 
result, in accordance with the Selling Securityholder's obligation under 
Section 3(a) of the Registration Rights Agreement to provide such information 
as may be required by law for inclusion in the Shelf Registration Statement, 
the Selling Securityholder agrees to promptly notify the Company of any 
inaccuracies or changes in the information provided herein which may occur 
subsequent to the date hereof at any time while the Shelf Registration 
Statement remains in effect.  All notices hereunder and pursuant to the 
Registration Rights Agreement shall be made in writing, by hand-delivery, 
first-class mail, or air courier guaranteeing overnight delivery as follows: 
 

(i)     to the Company: 
 

Protein Design Labs, Inc. 

34801 Campus Drive 

Fremont, California 94555 

Attention:  Senior Vice President Legal and Licensing 
 

(ii)    with a copy to: 
 

Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP 

400 Hamilton Avenue 

Palo Alto, California 94301-1825 

Attention:  Greg Gallo 
 

Once this Notice and Questionnaire is executed by the Selling 
Securityholder and received by the Company's counsel, the terms of this Notice 
and Questionnaire, and the representations and warranties contained herein, 
shall be binding on, shall inure to the benefit of and shall be enforceable by 
the respective successors, heirs, personal representatives, and assigns of the 
Company and the Selling Securityholder (with respect to the Registrable 
Securities Beneficially Owned by such Selling Securityholder and the 
Registrable Securities listed in Item (3) above).  This Agreement shall be 
governed in all respects by the laws of the State of New York. 



 
 

I confirm that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the foregoing 
statements (including without limitation the answers to this Questionnaire) 
are correct. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, by authority duly given, has caused 
this Notice and Questionnaire to be executed and delivered either in person or 
by its duly authorized agent. 
 

Dated: __________________ 
 

__________________________________________ 

Selling Securityholder 

(Print/type full legal name of beneficial 

owner of Registrable Securities) 
 

By: __________________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 
 
 

PLEASE RETURN THE COMPLETED AND EXECUTED NOTICE AND QUESTIONNAIRE FOR RECEIPT 
ON OR BEFORE [DEADLINE FOR RESPONSE] TO THE COMPANY'S COUNSEL AT: 
 

Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP 

400 Hamilton Avenue 

Palo Alto, California 94301-1825 

Attention:  Bradley Gersich 
 
 

        APPENDIX 1

        DEFINITIONS 
 
 

For the purpose of this Questionnaire, the following definitions apply: 
 

1.      Affiliate.  As used in Questions 1 - 7 and Question 9, a person is an 
"Affiliate" of a person if such person controls, is controlled by, or is under 
common control with, another person.  Please assume that an "Affiliate" of the 
Company includes without limitation, any 5% stockholder of the Company 
(including any person who owns, controls, or holds or holds an option to 
acquire, and has the power to vote, 5% or more of the Company's outstanding 
voting securities).  "Control" is the possession, directly or indirectly, of 
the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of 
an entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or 
otherwise. 
 

As used in Question 8 of this Questionnaire, an "affiliate" of an NASD 
member has the following meaning: 
 

(1)     a company which controls, is controlled by or is under common 
control with a member; 
 

(2)     the term affiliate is presumed to include, but is not limited to, 
the following: 
 

(a)     a company will be presumed to control a member if the 
company beneficially owns 10% or more of the outstanding 



voting securities of a member which is a corporation, or 
beneficially owns a partnership interest in 10% or more of 
the distributable profits or losses of a member which is a 
partnership; 
 

(b)     a member will be presumed to control a company if the member 
and persons associated with the member beneficially own (i) 
10% or more of the outstanding subordinated debt of a 
company, (ii) 10% or more of the outstanding voting 
securities of a company which is a corporation or (iii) a 
partnership interest in 10% or more of the distributable 
profits or losses of a company which is a partnership; 
 

(c)     a company will be presumed to be under common control with a 
member if: 
 

(i)     the same natural person or company controls both the 
member and company by beneficially owning 10% or more 
of the outstanding voting securities of a member or 
company which is a corporation, or by beneficially 
owning a partnership interest in 10% or more of the 
distributable profits or losses of a member or company 
which is a partnership; or 
 

(ii)    a person having the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management or policies of the member 
or the company also has the power to direct or cause 
the direction of the management or policies of the 
other entity in question. 
 

2.      Beneficial Owner.  A "Beneficial Owner" of a security includes any 
person who, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, 
understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares voting power and/or 
investment power with respect to such security.  Voting power includes "the 
power to vote, or to direct the voting, of such security" and investment power 
includes "the power to dispose, or to direct the disposition, of such 
security." 
 

A person is also a Beneficial Owner of a security if he has the right to 
acquire beneficial ownership of such security, at any time within sixty days, 
including but not limited to, any right to acquire through: (a) the exercise 
of an option, warrant or right, (b) the conversion of a convertible security, 
(c) the power to revoke a trust, discretionary account or similar arrangement, 
or (d) the automatic termination of a trust, discretionary account or similar 
arrangement; provided, however, that if the acquisition of an option, warrant, 
right, convertible security or power described in (a), (b) or (c) is for the 
purpose of maintaining or obtaining control over the issuer of the security, 
the holder of the option, warrant, right, convertible security or power shall, 
immediately upon such acquisition and regardless of when it is exercisable, be 
deemed a beneficial owner of the underlying securities. 
 

The possession of the legal power to vote and/or direct the disposition 
of securities, absent unusual circumstances, will be sufficient to confer 
beneficial ownership.  Such power may be held directly, or indirectly, through 
one or more controlled entities. 
 

3.      Material Relationship.  The term "material relationship" has not been 
defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").  The SEC, 
however, is likely to construe as material any relationship which tends to 
impact arm's length bargaining in dealings with a company, whether arising 
from a close business connection, family relationship, a relationship of 
control or otherwise.  For example, you should conclude that you have such a 
relationship with any organization of which you own, directly or indirectly, 
10% more of the outstanding voting stock, or in which you have some other 
substantial interest, and with any person or organization with whom you have, 
or with whom any relative (or any other person or organization as to which you 
have any of the foregoing other relationships) has, a contractual 
relationship. 
 

4.      Member.  Rule 0120 of the NASD's Rules of Fair Practice defines the term 
"member" to mean any individual, partnership, corporation or other legal 
entity admitted to membership in the NASD, and Article l of the NASD's By-Laws 
defines the term "person associated with a member" to mean every sole 
proprietor, partner, officer, director, or branch manager of any member, or 



any natural person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions, 
or any natural person engaged in the investment banking or securities business 
who is directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by such member (for 
example, any employee), whether or not such person is registered or exempt 
from registration with the NASD. 
 



 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration 
Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-87957, 33-65224, 33-50116, 33-50114, and 
33-96318) pertaining to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Outside 
Directors Stock Option Plan, 1991 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Nonstatutory 
Stock Option Plan and 1999 Stock Option Plan of Protein Design Labs, 
Inc. of our report dated February 1, 2000, with respect to the 
consolidated financial statements of Protein Design Labs, Inc. included 
in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 1999. 
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33-44562 effective January 28, 1992, as amended.)
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Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to
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effective as of October 25, 1994. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 1995.)

  10.17 Patent License Agreement between the Company and Celltech Limited dated as of September
30, 1994 (with certain confidential information deleted and marked by a box surrounding
the deleted information). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed March 31, 1995.)

  10.18 Development and License Agreement between the Company and Mochida Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. dated December 28, 1995 (with certain confidential information deleted and marked
by a box surrounding the deleted information). (Incorporated by Reference to Exhibit
10.38 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 1996.)

  10.19 Amendment No. 3 to Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul Properties,
effective as of November 27, 1996. (Incorporated by Reference to Exhibit 10.39 to
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed February 13, 1997.)

  10.20 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Agreement between the Company and Sloan-
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Outside Directors Stock Option Plan together with form of nonqualified stock option
agreement as amended effective February 6, 1997. (Incorporated by Reference to Exhibit
10.2 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 14, 1997.)

  10.22 Patent Licensing Master Agreement between the Company and Genentech, Inc., dated as of
September 25, 1998 (with certain confidential information deleted and marked by a box
surrounding the deleted information). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 16, 1998.)
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reference to Exhibit 10.47 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 15, 1999.)
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effective as of September 28, 1999 (with certain confidential portions deleted and
marked by notation indicating such deletion). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.49 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 15, 1999.)
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effective as of September 28, 1999 (with certain confidential portions deleted and
marked by notation indicating such deletion). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
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  10.28 Development and License Agreement between the Company and Smithkline Beecham
Corporation, effective as of September 28, 1999 (with certain confidential portions
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  10.30 Amended and Restated Agreement between the Company and F. Hoffmann- La Roche Ltd, dated
as of October 20, 1999 (with certain confidential portions deleted and marked by



notation indicating such deletion). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 15, 1999.)
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1999 Stock Option Plan, together with forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and
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Registration Statement No. 333-87957 effective September 29, 1999.)

  10.32 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, together with form Nonstatutory Stock Option
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a Delaware corporation, doing business in California as Delaware Fremont Management.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
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   This schedule contains summary financial information extracted from the 
           Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Operations included 
           in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and is 
           qualified in its entirety by reference to such Financial Statements. 
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